

THE THEORY OF GROUPS Hans J. Zassenhaus



DOVER BOOKS ON MATHEMATICS

A CONCISE HISTORY OF MATHEMATICS, Dirk J. Struik. (60255-9) \$8.95

STATISTICAL METHOD FROM THE VIEWPOINT OF QUALITY CONTROL, Walter A. Shewhart, (65232-7) \$8.95

VECTORS, TENSORS AND THE BASIC EQUATIONS OF FLUID MECHANICS, Rutherford Aris, (66110-5) \$9.95

THE THIRTEEN BOOKS OF EUCLID'S ELEMENTS, translated with an introduction and commentary by Sir Thomas L. Heath. (60088-2, 60089-0, 60090-4) \$34.85

INTRODUCTION TO PARTIAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS WITH APPLICATIONS, E.C. Zachmanoglou and Dale W. Thoe. (65251-3) \$11.95

NUMERICAL METHODS FOR SCIENTISTS AND ENGINEERS, Richard Hamming. (65241-6) \$16.95

ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, Morris Tenenbaum and Harry Pollard. (64940-7) \$19.95

TECHNICAL CALCULUS WITH ANALYTIC GEOMETRY, Judith L. Gersting. (67343-X) \$14.95

OSCILLATIONS IN NONLINEAR SYSTEMS, Jack K. Hale. (67362-6) \$7.95

GREEK MATHEMATICAL THOUGHT AND THE ORIGIN OF ALGEBRA, Jacob Klein. (27289-3) \$12.95

FINITE DIFFERENCE EQUATIONS, H. Levy & F. Lessman. (67260-3) \$8.95

APPLIED PROBABILITY MODELS WITH OPTIMIZATION APPLICATIONS, Sheldon M. Ross. (67314-6) \$8.95

INTRODUCTION TO THE CALCULUS OF VARIATIONS, Hans Sagan. (67366-9) \$13.95

INTRODUCTION TO PARTIAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, Arne Broman. (66158-X) \$7.95

AN INTRODUCTION TO ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, Earl A. Coddington. (65942-9) \$9.95

MATRICES AND LINEAR TRANSFORMATIONS, Charles G. Cullen. (66328-0) \$9.95

DIFFERENTIAL FORMS WITH APPLICATIONS TO THE PHYSICAL SCIENCES, Harley Flanders. (66169-5) \$9.95

THEORY AND APPLICATION OF INFINITE SERIES, KONRAD KNOPP. (66165-2) \$14.95

AN INTRODUCTION TO ALGEBRAIC STRUCTURES, JOSEPH Landin. (65940-2) \$8.95

GAMES AND DECISIONS: INTRODUCTION AND CRITICAL SURVEY, R. DUNCAN LUCE and Howard Raiffa. (65943-7) \$14.95

FIRST ORDER MATHEMATICAL LOGIC, Angelo Margaris. (66269-1) \$9.95 INTRODUCTION TO TOPOLOGY, Bert Mendelson. (66352-3) \$8.95

GEOMETRY: A COMPREHENSIVE COURSE, Dan Pedoe. (65812-0) \$15.95

FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS, Frigyes Riesz and Béla Sz.-Nagy. (66289-6) \$13.95

MATRICES AND LINEAR ALGEBRA, Hans Schneider and George Phillip Barker. (66014-1) \$12.95

MODERN ALGEBRA, Seth Warner. (66341-8) \$19.95

(continued on back flap)

THE THEORY OF GROUPS

Hans J. Zassenhaus

DOVER PUBLICATIONS, INC. Mineola, New York Published in Canada by General Publishing Company, Ltd., 30 Lesmill Road, Don Mills, Toronto, Ontario.

Bibliographical Note

This Dover edition, first published in 1999, is an unabridged republication of the Second Edition of the work, which was originally published in 1958 by the Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, New York.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Zassenhaus, Hans. [Lehrbuch der Gruppentheorie. English] The theory of groups / Hans J. Zassenhaus. — 2nd ed. p. cm. An unabridged republication of the second edition originally published in 1958 by Chelsea Pub. Co., New York. Includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 0-486-40922-8 (pbk.) 1. Group theory. I. Title. QA174.2.Z3713 1999 512:2—dc21 99-37651 CIP

Manufactured in the United States of America Dover Publications, Inc., 31 East 2nd Street, Mineola, N.Y. 11501

PREFACE

Investigations published within the last fifteen years have greatly deepened our knowledge of groups and have given wide scope to grouptheoretic methods. As a result, what were isolated and separate insights before, now begin to fit into a unified, if not yet final, pattern. I have set myself the task of making this pattern apparent to the reader, and of showing him, as well, in the group-theoretic methods, a useful tool for the solution of mathematical and physical problems.

It was a course by E. Artin, given in Hamburg during the Winter Semester of 1933 and the Spring Semester of 1934, which started me on an intensive study of group theory. In this course, the problems of the theory of finite groups were transformed into problems of general mathematical interest. While any question concerning a single object [e.g., finite group] may be answered in a finite number of steps, it is the goal of research to divide the infinity of objects under investigation into classes of types with similar structure.

The idea of O. Hölder for solving this problem was later made a general principle of investigation in algebra by E. Nöther. We are referring to the consistent application of the concept of homomorphic mapping. With such mappings one views the objects, so to speak, through the wrong end of a telescope. These mappings, applied to finite groups, give rise to the concepts of normal subgroup and of factor group. Repeated application of the process of diminution yields the composition series, whose factor groups are the finite simple groups. These are, accordingly, the bricks of which every finite group is built. How to build is indicated in principle at least—by Schreier's extension theory. The Jordan-Hölder-Schreier theorem tells us that the type and the number of bricks is independent of the diminution process. The determination of all finite simple groups is still the main unsolved problem.

After an exposition of the fundamental concepts of group theory in Chapter I, the program calls for a detailed investigation of the concept of homomorphic mapping, which is carried out in Chapter II. Next, Chapter III takes up the question of how groups are put together from their simple components. According to a conjecture of Artin, insight into the nature of simple groups must depend on further research on $p_{egroups}$. The elements of the theory of $p_{egroups}$ are expounded in Chapter IV. Finally, Chapter V describes a method by which solvable factor groups may be split off from a finite group.

For the concepts and methods presented in Chapter II, particularly those in § 7, one may also consult v. d. Waerden, Moderne Algebra I (Berlin 1937). [English translation: Modern Algebra, New York, 1949]. The first part of Chapter III follows a paper by Fitting, while the proof of the basis theorem for abelian groups, and Schreier's extension theory, are developed on the basis of a course by Artin. The presentation of the theory of p-groups makes use of a paper by P. Hall. The section on monomial representations and transfers into a subgroup has also been worked out on the basis of a course by Artin. In addition one should consult the bibliography at the end of the book.

Many of the proofs in the text are shorter and—I hope—more transparent than the usual, older, ones. The proof of the Jordan-Hölder-Schreier theorem, as well as the proofs in Chapter IV, §§ 1 and 6, owe their final form to suggestions of E. Witt.

I am grateful to Messrs. Brandt, Fitting, Koethe, Magnus, Speiser, Threlfall and v. d. Waerden for their valuable suggestions in reading the manuscript. I also wish to thank Messrs. Hannink and Koluschnin for their help.

The group-theoretic concepts taken up in this book are developed from the beginning. The knowledge required for the examples and applications corresponds to the contents of, say, the book by Schreier and Sperner, Analytische Geometrie und Algebra, Part I (Leipzig, 1935) [English translation: Introduction to Modern Algebra and Matrix Theory, Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1951]. A historical introduction to group theory may be found in the book by Speiser, Theorie der Gruppen von endlicher Ordnung (Berlin, 1937).

I would suggest to the beginner that he familiarize himself first with Chapters I and II, Chapter III, §§ 1, 3, 4, 6, and 7, and Chapter IV, §§ 1 and 3, and also with the corresponding exercises. Then the program outlined in this preface will become clear to him.

HANS ZASSENHAUS

PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION

The revision made in this work consists almost entirely of additions to the material of the first edition. In particular, there have been added in Chapters I and II some remarks and exercises concerning semi-groups, and in Chapter II an introduction to the theory of lattices. The remainder of the new material is to be found in Appendixes A-G, each of which is closely related to one of the chapters of the book.

Since the appearance of the first edition of this work, lattice theory has been developed, by the combined efforts of O. Ore, A. Kurosh, J. von Neumann, G. Birkhoff, and others, into an independent discipline of modern mathematics. As a consequence, attention has been drawn to certain aspects of abstract group theory, in particular, by H. Wielandt's work on the lattice formed by the subnormal subgroups of a finite group. An account of the connections between lattice theory and group theory, which I consider promising for further investigation, has accordingly been added (see Appendix B).

Appendix C is an introduction to the theory of products and groups with generators and defining relations; the latter is one of the most powerful tools for the construction of groups, which is the main theme of Chapter III.

Many advanced exercises have been supplied illustrating both latticetheoretical ideas and the extension of group-theoretical concepts to multiplicative domains (see Appendixes A, D, E, and F).

I am grateful to Professor C. Williams-Ayoub, Professor D. G. Higman, Professor B. Noonan, and to the editor for their valuable suggestions in reading the manuscript.

Finally, I wish to express my appreciation of the encouragement and assistance given me both by the Summer Research Institute of the Canadian Mathematical Congress at Kingston and by the Institute for Advanced Study at Princeton.

HANS ZASSENHAUS

McGill University July, 1956

- CONTENTS

| PREFACE | то | First | Edition | | | | ••• | | • • | | • | | v |
|---------|----|--------|----------|---|------|------|-----|------|-----|-------|-------|------|---------|
| PREFACE | то | SECONI | DEDITION | r | | | | | | • | | | vii |

I. ELEMENTS OF GROUP THEORY

| §1. | The Axioms of Group Theory | 1 |
|-------|----------------------------------|---|
| § 2. | Permutation Groups | 4 |
| § 3. | Investigation of Axioms | 9 |
| §4. | Subgroups 1 | 0 |
| § 5. | Cyclic Groups 1 | 5 |
| §6. | Finite Rotation Groups 1 | 6 |
| § 7. | Calculus of Complexes 1 | 9 |
| § 8. | The Concept of Normal Subgroup 2 | 3 |
| § 9. | Normalizer, Class Equation 2 | 4 |
| § 10. | A Theorem of Frobenius 2 | 7 |

II. THE CONCEPT OF HOMOMORPHY AND GROUPS WITH OPERATORS

| § 1. | Homomorphisms | 35 |
|------|---|----|
| § 2. | Representation of Groups by Means of Permutations | 39 |
| § 3. | Operators and Operator Homomorphies | 44 |
| §4. | On the Automorphisms of a Group | 47 |
| § 5. | Normal Chains and Normal Series | 57 |
| § 6. | Commutator Groups and Commutator Forms | 78 |
| §7. | On the Groups of an Algebra | 84 |

III. THE STRUCTURE AND CONSTRUCTION OF COMPOSITE GROUPS

| §1. | Direct Products |
|-------|----------------------------------|
| § 2. | Theorems on Direct Products |
| \$ 3. | Abelian Groups |
| § 4. | Basis Theorem for Abelian Groups |
| § 5. | On the Order Ideal |
| • | • |

Contents

| §6. | Extension Theory | .124 |
|------|--------------------------------------|-------|
| § 7. | Extensions with Cyclic Factor Group | .128 |
| § 8. | Extensions with Abelian Factor Group | . 130 |
| § 9. | Splitting Groups | .133 |

IV. SYLOW *p*-groups and *p*-groups

| § 1. | The Sylow Theorem1 | 35 |
|------|--|-----|
| § 2. | Theorems on Sylow p-Groups1 | 138 |
| § 3. | On <i>p</i> -Groups | 139 |
| § 4. | On the Enumeration Theorems of the Theory of p-Groups1 | 152 |
| § 5. | On the Descending Central Series1 | 55 |
| §6. | Hamiltonian Groups1 | 159 |
| § 7. | Applications of Extension Theory1 | 61 |

V. TRANSFERS INTO A SUBGROUP

| §1. | Monomial Representation and Transfers into a Subgroup | .164 |
|------|---|-------|
| § 2. | The Theorems of Burnside and Grün | . 169 |
| § 3. | Groups whose Sylow Groups are All Cyclic | .174 |
| §4. | The Principal Ideal Theorem | . 176 |

Appendixes

| А. | Further Exercises for Chap. II |
|------|---|
| B. | Structure Theory and Direct Products. A Treatment of |
| | Chap. III, § 2 on the Lattice-Theoretical Level |
| C. | Free Products and Groups Given by a Set of Generators and |
| | a System of Defining Relations |
| D. | Further Exercises for Chap. III |
| Ε. | Further Exercises for Chap. IV, § 5 |
| F. | Further Exercises for Chap. IV., §1243 |
| G. | A Theorem of Wielandt. An Addendum to Chap. IV |
| H. | Further Exercises for Chap. V, §1252 |
| En | |
| r K. | EQUENTLY USED SYMBOLS |
| BIE | BLIOGRAPHY |
| Αu | THOR INDEX |
| INI | DEX |
| | |

х

I. ELEMENTS OF GROUP THEORY

§ 1. The Axioms of Group Theory

DEFINITION: A group is a set in which an operation called multiplication is defined under which there corresponds to each ordered pair x, y of elements of the set a unique third element z of the set. z is called the *product* of the factors x and y, written z = xy. For this multiplication we have

I. The associative law: a(bc) = (ab)c.

II. The existence of a left identity e with the property ea = a for all elements a of the group.

III. The solvability of the equation xa = e for all elements a of the group.

The associative law states that a product of three factors is determined solely by the order of its factors, its value being independent of the insertion of parentheses.

We assert: A product of arbitrarily many factors is determined solely by the order of its factors.

In order to prove this, let *n* be a number greater than three and assume the statement true for products of fewer than *n* factors. We write, for every m < n, a product of *m* factors a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_m —in that order—as $P = a_1 \cdot a_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_m$ and have thus designated, unambiguously, an element of the group.

Now let P be a product of the n factors a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n . After all of the parentheses have been removed except the last two pairs, P can be decomposed into two factors

and

 $P_1 = a_1 \cdot a_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_m$ $P_2 = a_{m+1} \cdot \ldots \cdot a_n,$

with 0 < m < n. We shall show that P is equal to the particular product $a_1 \cdot (a_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_n)$ and so we may assume m > 1. Then

$$P = P_1 P_2 = (a_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_m) (a_{m+1} \cdot \ldots \cdot a_n)$$

= $(a_1 (a_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_m)) (a_{m+1} \cdot \ldots \cdot a_n)$
= $a_1 ((a_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_m) (a_{m+1} \cdot \ldots \cdot a_n))$
= $a_1 (a_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot a_n)$.

A non-empty system of elements in which multiplication is defined and is associative is called a *semi-group*.

For example the natural numbers form a semi-group under ordinary multiplication or addition as the operation.

The rational integers (positive, negative, and zero) form an additive group and a multiplicative semi-group. The rational numbers different from zero form a multiplicative group. All rational numbers form an additive group.

We assert that in a group every left unit e is also a right unit, (i.e., ae=a holds for all group elements a.) In order to prove this, we solve xa = e and yx = e. Then

$$(yx)a = ea = a$$

= $y(xa) = ye = y(ee) = (ye)e = ae.$

Similarly, ye = y, hence y = a, ax = xa = e.

We call one of the solutions of the equation xa = e the *inverse* element of a and denote it by a^{-1} . Thus

$$aa^{-1} = a^{-1}a = e$$

If xa = b, then on right multiplication by a^{-1} , it follows that $ba^{-1} = (xa)a^{-1} = x(aa^{-1}) = xe = x$.

Conversely $ba^{-1} \cdot a = b \cdot a^{-1}a = be = b$. Thus the equation xa = b has one and only one solution, $x = ba^{-1}$. Similarly it follows that the equation ay = b has one and only one solution, $y = a^{-1}b$.

Multiplication in a group has a unique inverse.

The element e is called the identity or unit element of the group. It is uniquely determined as the solution of either of the equations ax = aor ya = a. Similarly the inverse a^{-1} of the element a is uniquely determined as the solution of the equation xa = e or ay = e.

The product of n equal factors a is denoted by a^n . Furthermore, if we set $a^0 = e$, $a^1 = a$ and $a^{-n} = (a^{-1})^n$ then the two power rules

$$a^n \cdot a^m = a^{n+m},$$

 $(a^n)^m = a^n m,$

are valid for arbitrary integral exponents n, m, as can be shown by induction.

Axioms II. and III. are not symmetric; they can be replaced by the two symmetric axioms:

II. a. A group is non-empty.

III. a. Multiplication has an inverse, i.e., the equations

 $\begin{aligned} xa &= b\\ ay &= b \end{aligned}$

are solvable for all pairs of elements a, b of the group,

Obviously II. a. is an immediate consequence of II., and III. a. follows from I.-III. If, conversely, I., II. a., III. a. are assumed, then we can find an element a in the given set and solve the equations ea = a, ay = b. From this it follows that

$$eb = e(ay) = (ea)y = ay = b$$

for all elements b .

Thus II. is valid. III. is a consequence of III. a.

A group which consists of a finite number of elements is called a *finite group*. The number of its elements is called its *order*. The order of an infinite group is defined to be zero.

In every group the cancellation laws hold:

III. b. ax = ay implies x = y.

and

III. c. xa = ya implies x = y.

THEOREM 1: A finite semi-group in which the cancellation laws hold is a group.

In order to prove this, let a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n be the finite number of elements and let a be a particular element. From III. b. it follows that the n elements aa_1, aa_3, \ldots, aa_n are all distinct and so ay = b is solvable for every pair a, b in the semi-group. The solvability of xa = b follows similarly from the other cancellation law.

An abstract group is completely known if each of its elements is represented by a symbol and the product of any two symbols in any given order is exhibited.

The multiplication rule is given conveniently by a square table, in which the products in a row have the same left factor and the products in a column have the same right factor.

The multiplication tables of groups having at most three elements are the following:

The different multiplication tables of a group can be transformed into one another by row interchanges and column interchanges.

The existence of unique inverses is equivalent to the fact that each group element occurs exactly once in every row and column.

In order to exhibit' the associative law we agree to put the unit element of the group in the upper left corner of the square table. If we call the row starting with a, the a-row, and the column headed by bthe b-column, then we find the product of a by b at the intersection of the a-row and b-column. The initial elements of each row and column may thus be omitted.

A table, constructed as above, is called *normal*, if in addition every element of the main diagonal is the identity element of the group. For example, the normal multiplication tables for groups of four and five elements are as follows:

| Z_4 | | | | D_4 | | | | | $Z_{\mathfrak{s}}$ | | | | | |
|-------|---|---|---|-------|---|---|---|--|--------------------|---|----|---|---|--|
| e | a | b | c | e | a | b | c | | e | a | b. | c | d | |
| с | e | a | b | a | e | c | b | | d | e | a | b | с | |
| b | c | e | a | b | с | e | a | | c | d | e | a | b | |
| a | b | с | e | c | b | a | e | | ь | c | d | e | a | |
| | | | | | | | | | a | b | c | d | e | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

The element a_{ik} at the intersection of *i*-th row and the **k**-th column is $a_{i1}a_{k1}^{-1}$, so that the rectangle rule

$$a_{ik}a_{kl} = a_{il}$$

holds. This may be seen from the following section of the table:

The rectangle rule is equivalent to the associative law.

The problem of abstract group theory is to examine all multiplication tables in which Axioms I.-III. are satisfied.

§ 2. Permutation Groups

For finite groups, the problem stated at the close of the last section can be solved by trial. For example, it can easily be established that the

¹Brandt, Über eine Verallgemeinerung des Gruppenbegriffs, Math. Ann. 96 (1927) p. 365.

only multiplication tables for groups whose order is at most five are those which we have given previously. We can see, however, even from these first examples, that the direct verification of the associative law is time-consuming.

We must look about for more serviceable realizations of abstract groups. Naturally we require that the multiplication table be determined easily from the realization. An example of a domain in which arbitrary abstract groups can be realized is the group of permutations of a set of objects.

We denote single-valued mappings of a given set \mathfrak{M} onto itself by lower case Greek letters, and elements of the set itself by lower case Roman letters. Let πx be the image of x under the mapping π . Any two single-valued mappings π , ϱ can be combined into a third singlevalued mapping $\pi \varrho$ according to the rule $(\pi \varrho) x = \pi (\varrho x)$. The associative law is valid for this relation, since

$$(\pi(\varrho\sigma))x = \pi((\varrho\sigma)x) = \pi(\varrho(\sigma x)) = (\pi\rho)(\sigma x) = ((\pi\rho)\sigma)x.$$

The identity mapping $\underline{1}$, defined by $\underline{1} x = x$, is the unit element of this multiplicative set of mappings.

The single-valued mappings of a set onto itself form a semi-group with unit element.

A one-to-one mapping of a given set onto itself is called a permutation.

A permutation is a single-valued mapping π , for which $\pi x = a$ is solvable for every a and for which $\pi x = \pi y$ implies x = y. Therefore $\pi x = a$ is uniquely solvable for every a, and the solution is designated by $\pi^{-1}a$. $\pi(\pi^{-1}a) = a$, for every a. Therefore $\pi \pi^{-1} = 1$.

Similarly $\pi^{-1}(\pi a) = a$, and therefore $\pi^{-1}\pi = \underline{1}$. Conversely, if the single-valued mapping π has an inverse mapping π^{-1} , defined by $\pi\pi^{-1} = \pi^{-1}\pi = \underline{1}$, then π is a permutation, since the equation $\pi x = a$ has the solution $\pi^{-1}a$ and $\pi x = \pi y$ implies $\pi^{-1}\pi x = \pi^{-1}\pi y$ and therefore x = y.

The inverse of the permutation π is the permutation π^{-1} ; and if π , ϱ are two permutations, then the two-sided (i.e., right and left) inverse of $\pi \varrho$ is $\varrho^{-1} \pi^{-1}$. We conclude that the totality of permutations of the objects of a set form a group.

In order to see at a glance the effect of a single-valued mapping π we write it

$$\begin{pmatrix} x, y, \dots \\ \pi x, \pi y, \dots \end{pmatrix}$$
 (functional notation).

Here x, y, \ldots run through the elements of the given set in any order. Under every element is placed its image element. A shorter functional notation for π is $\binom{x}{\pi x}$. Multiplication is indicated by

$$\binom{x}{\varrho x}\binom{x}{\pi x} = \binom{x}{\varrho(\pi x)}.$$

 π is a permutation, then, if and only if every element of \mathfrak{M} occurs exactly once in the lower row of the parenthesis symbol indicated above.

 $\pi = \begin{pmatrix} x, & y, & \cdots \\ \pi x, & \pi y, & \cdots \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \pi x \end{pmatrix}, \text{ which indicates the mapping } x \to \pi \quad (x) \text{ . Then} \\ \pi^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \pi x, & \pi y, & \cdots \\ x, & y, & \cdots \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \pi x \\ x \end{pmatrix}.$

Groups whose elements are permutations of a given set and are also multiplied like the permutations are called *permutation groups*.

THEOREM 2: Every group can be represented as a permutation group (Cayley).

Proof: We take the permuted objects to be the elements of the group. The mapping $\pi_a = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ ax \end{pmatrix}$ is a permutation since ax = b has a unique solution x. From the associative law it follows that the corresponding permutations multiply like the group elements. Since $\pi_a e = a$, the correspondence $\pi_a \leftrightarrow a$ is one-to-one. The parenthesis notation for π_a is derived from the multiplication table of the group by writing the *a*-row under the *e*-row. This permutation group is called the (left) regular permutation group of the given abstract group.

The group of all permutations of a finite set of n things is denoted by \mathfrak{S}_n and is called the symmetrical group on n objects. The permuted objects may be numbered from 1 to n, and we may think not of the permuted objects themselves but merely of their numbers. The latter are permuted just as the objects to which they correspond. Every permutation may be written uniquely as $\binom{1, 2, \dots, n}{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n}$, where i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n run through the n integers 1, 2, ..., n in a definite order. We shall refer to these n consecutive integers hereafter as the *ciphers* of the permutation. Since there are n! permutations of n elements, \mathfrak{S}_n has the order n!.

^{*} Editor's note: Since these permutations are mappings applied as operators from the left it follows that in the product $\varrho \pi$ the permutation π is followed by the permutation φ . This is contrary to the order used by such authors as Burnside, Speiser, and Dubreil.

The permutations of n letters can be written still more simply in cycle notation.

A permutation π is called *d*-cycle if π permutes cyclically a certain set of *d* letters i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_d :

 $\pi i_m = i_{m+1}, \ \pi i_d = i_1 \ (m = 1, 2, \ldots, d-1)$

and if π leaves every other letter fixed. For example

 $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 2 & 1 & 3 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$ is a 2-cycle (transposition) and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 2 & 3 & 1 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$ is a 3-cycle.

We may then denote the d-cycle by (i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_d) . However the same d-cycle has d different cycle notations, one for each different initial symbol.

Every permutation of n letters can be written as the product of disjoint cycles (i.e., cycles having no letter in common).

For example $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 \\ 5 & 3 & 4 & 2 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = (15) (234)$. This decomposition is naturally unique up to the order of factors, as regards the set of elements in any cycle.

In order to prove the above, let π be a permutation of n letters 1, 2, ..., π . Among the n + 1 letters 1, $\pi 1, \ldots, \pi^n$ 1 certainly two are equal. Let $\pi^{i_1} = \pi^{i_1}$ with $i > k \ge 0$ be the first equation of this sort. If k > 0, then we could conclude that $\pi^{i_{-1}1} = \pi^{k_{-1}1}$. Therefore k = 0 and $z_1 = (1, \pi 1, \ldots, \pi^{i_{-1}1})$ is an *i*-cycle. Now we construct a cycle z_2 containing a letter not occurring in z_1 . Continue this process. z_2 must be disjoint from z_1 and since finally all the letters are used, π is a product of disjoint cycles.

(1) represents uniquely the identical permutation 1. If the 1-cycles are deleted from the set of other permutations in \mathfrak{S}_n , then the cycle notation remains unambiguous, e.g.,

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 \\ 2 & 1 & 4 & 3 & 5 \end{pmatrix} = (12)(34)(5) = (12)(34).$$

Multiplication of permutations in cycle notation can easily be carried out. E.g., to calculate(123) (45) (234), proceed as follows: The cycle farthest to the right containing 1 indicates $1 \rightarrow 2$. The cycle farthest to the right containing 2 indicates $2 \rightarrow 3$, the one farthest to the right containing 3, but to the left of the one just used, gives $3 \rightarrow 1$. Hence (12) is one cycle of the product. Continuing to work from right to left.* $3 \rightarrow 4 \rightarrow 5$, $5 \rightarrow 4$, $4 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3$, giving (354). Hence

^{*} Editor's Note: In Burnside, Speiser, et al., the procedure would be to start from the left and work to the right.

(123) (45) (234) = (12) (354).

The simplest non-identical permutations are the transpositions.

Every cycle of n letters is a product of n-1 transpositions

 $(12), (23), \ldots, (n-1, n),$

i.e. every interchange of n letters can be arrived at by interchange of neighboring letters.

This follows from

(1)
$$(i, i+k) = (i+k-1, i+k) \dots (i+1, i+2)$$

 $(i, i+1) (i+1, i+2) \dots (i+k-1, i+k)$

(2) $(i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_m) = (i_1, i_2) (i_2, i_3) \ldots (i_{m-1}, i_m).$

DEFINITION: A permutation of n > 1 letters is called even or odd according to whether the number

$$\varepsilon_{\pi} = \prod_{i < k} \frac{\pi k - \pi i}{k - i}$$
 (here \prod indicates ordinary product.)

is equal to +1 or -1.¹

If π and ϱ are two permutations in \mathfrak{S}_n , then

$$\epsilon_{\varrho,\pi} = \prod_{i < k} \frac{\varrho\pi k - \varrho\pi i}{k - i} = \prod_{i < k} \frac{\varrho\pi k - \varrho\pi i}{\varrho k - \varrho i} \cdot \prod_{i < k} \frac{\varrho\pi k - \varrho i}{k - i} = \epsilon_{\varrho} \cdot \epsilon_{\pi}.$$

Thus all the even permutations form a group. It is called the alternating permutation group of n letters and is denoted by \mathfrak{A}_n . The transposition (j, j + 1) is an odd permutation as can immediately be seen. A permutation is even or odd according to whether it is the product of an even or odd number of transpositions.

From (1) and (2) it follows that an m-cycle is even or odd according to whether m is odd or even. An arbitrary permutation is even or odd according to whether the number of cycles with an even number of members in its decomposition is even or odd.

To every even permutation π there corresponds an odd permutation (12) π , and this correspondence is one-to-one, i.e., there are as many even as odd permutations.

The alternating permutation group on n letters thus has order $\frac{1}{2}n!$.

^{&#}x27;For each ordered pair of digits i < k just one of the two differences k - i, i - k appears in the numerator. The occurrence of i - k is called an *inversion* in π . \mathcal{E}_{π} is the product of as many factors -1 as there are inversions, and π is even or odd according to the number of inversions in π . The number of inversions and hence the value of \mathcal{E}_{π} will not change if a permutation ϱ is applied to each digit in numerator and denominator.

§3. Investigation of Axioms

If the *e*-row is made equal to the *e*-column by means of appropriate row and column interchanges in the multiplication tables of § 1, then for these special cases the tables are symmetric about the main diagonal. In a group whose order is less than 6 the equation ab = ba is valid.

We call a group *abelian* (or *commutative*) if the commutative law IV. ab = ba holds.

In an abelian group a product of n factors is uniquely determined by its factors, irrespective of order and insertion of parentheses.

We must show that $a_1 \cdot a_2 \dots \cdot a_n = a_{i_1} \cdot a_{i_1} \dots \cdot a_{i_n}$, where $\begin{pmatrix} 1, 2, \dots, n \\ i_1, i_1, \dots, i_n \end{pmatrix}$ is a permutation. Since every interchange of *n* factors can be effected by the interchange of neighboring factors, we merely have to prove that

 $a_1 \cdot a_2 \dots \cdot a_i \cdot a_{i+1} \dots \cdot a_n = a_1 \cdot a_2 \dots \cdot a_{i+1} \cdot a_i \dots \cdot a_n$ This follows from the associative and commutative laws.

In general, groups are non-commutative, e.g., \mathfrak{S}_3 has a multiplication table which is not symmetric:

| | e | a | b | С | d | 1 |
|-----------|-----|---|---|---|---|---|
| e | e | a | b | С | d | 1 |
| (123) = a | a | ь | e | d | f | с |
| (132) = b | b | e | a | t | c | d |
| (12) = c | c | t | d | e | b | a |
| (13) = d | d | с | ţ | a | e | b |
| (23) = t | f f | d | c | ь | a | e |

The independence of axiom IV. from the group axioms I.-III. is shown by the above example. Similarly we show that the axioms I.-III. are independent of one another.

1. III. does not follow from I., II. and the solvability of ax = e, e.g.,

| | е | e' |
|----|---|----|
| е | е | e' |
| e' | e | e' |

2. There are multiplicative domains in which II., III.a., IV. are valid but I. is not, e.g.,

| 1. Elements of Group 1 | l'heory |
|------------------------|---------|
|------------------------|---------|

| t e |
|--------------------|
| e |
| |
| d we have |
| a |
| c $(ab)b =$ |
| $b \qquad a(bb) =$ |
| a c Z |

DEFINITION: A subset \mathfrak{U} of a given group \mathfrak{G} is called a *subgroup* if the elements of \mathfrak{U} form a group with the multiplication defined for \mathfrak{G} .

(9 and e are trivial subgroups of (9. A subgroup different from (9 is called a proper subgroup. A subgroup different from (9 and e is called a non-trivial subgroup. A proper subgroup 1 is called a largest (maximal) subgroup if there is no subgroup of (9 containing 11 and different from 11 and (9. The subgroup 11 is called a smallest (minimal) subgroup if e is the largest proper subgroup of 11.

DEFINITION: Two elements a and b are called right congruent under \mathfrak{U} if $a = b\mathcal{U}$ where $\mathcal{U} \in \mathfrak{U}^{1}$. Thus two elements are called right congruent if they differ by a factor on the right which is in \mathfrak{U} . We denote the right congruence of a to b by $a \equiv b(\mathfrak{U}r)$. This symbol, \equiv , has the following three properties:

1. $a \equiv a$ (since a = ae, $e \in \mathfrak{U}$);

2. a = b implies b = a (a = bU implies $b = aU^{-1}$;

3. a = b, b = c implies $a = c(a = bU_1, b = cU_2$ implies $a = cU_2U_1$ where $U_2U_1 \in \mathfrak{U}$.

A right congruence may be multiplied on the right by a factor from 11 and by any factor on the left. Thus from a = b(1tr) it follows that xa = xb(1tr) and conversely. Also either side of a right congruence may be multiplied on the right by an element of 11.

All the elements congruent to an element *a* form the left coset* belonging to *a*. Every element of the group belongs to one and only one left coset. Since the mapping $U \rightarrow aU$ is one-one, there are as many elements in each left coset as there are in \mathfrak{U} . The number of different left cosets is called the *index* of \mathfrak{U} in \mathfrak{G} , and is denoted by $\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{U}$.

 $^{{}^{}i}U \in \mathfrak{U}$ is read: The element U belongs to the set \mathfrak{U} .

^{*} The terms residue class, coset and remainder class are synonymous. (Ed.)

DEFINITION: A system of elements which contains exactly one element from each left coset is called a system of right representatives.

To each representative system of the cosets of (9 there corresponds a mapping $G \to \overline{G}$, which maps each element G of (9 onto its representative \overline{G} . A representative function of the left cosets of (9 is characterized as a single-valued function $G \to \overline{G}$ defined on (9 with the three properties

1. $\overline{\overline{G}} = \overline{G}$

 $2.\vec{G}^{-1}G \in \mathfrak{U}$

3. $\overline{GU} = \overline{G}$ for all U belonging to \mathfrak{U} .

Furthermore the rule $\overline{HG} = \overline{HG}^{-}$ is valid. Such a mapping will be called a *right representative function* of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{U} , written $\mathfrak{G}(\mathfrak{U}r)$.

Let $\{a_i\}$ be a system of right representatives of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{ll} and $\{b_k\}$ a system of right representatives of \mathfrak{ll} with respect to the subgroup \mathfrak{ll} of \mathfrak{B} . We will show that $\{a_i b_k\}$ is then a system of right representatives of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{B} :

From $a_i b_k \equiv a_i b_m (\mathfrak{B}r)$ it follows that $a_i b_k \equiv a_i b_m (\mathfrak{U}r)$,

whence $a_i \equiv a_l(\mathfrak{U}r)$. Hence i = l.

Therefore $a_i b_k \equiv a_i b_m(\mathfrak{B}r)$,

whence $b_k \equiv b_m(\mathfrak{B}r)$. Hence k = m.

If a belongs to $(\emptyset$, then $a = a_i U$ has a solution $U \in \mathfrak{U}$, and $U = b_k \cdot V$ has a solution $V \in \mathfrak{B}$. Hence $a \equiv a_i b_k(\mathfrak{B}r)$, Q.E.D. We therefore have:

If $G \to \overline{G}$ is a representative function $\mathfrak{G}(\mathfrak{U}r)$ and $U \to \underline{U}$ a representative function $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{V}r)$, then $G \to \overline{G} = \overline{G} \ \overline{\underline{G}}^{-1}\underline{G}$ is a representative function

We see, then, that the formula $\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{B} = (\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{U})(\mathfrak{U}:\mathfrak{B})$ holds for indices. If \mathfrak{G} is finite, then $\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{e} = \mathfrak{G}: 1$ is the order of \mathfrak{G} , and so the following relation holds:

$$\mathfrak{G}: \mathbf{1} = (\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{U}) (\mathfrak{U}: \mathbf{1}).$$

We state this relation in the form-

Number of cosets
$$\mathfrak{G}(\mathfrak{U}r) = \frac{Number \ of \ elements \ in \ group}{Number \ of \ elements \ in \ subgroup}$$

(i.e., the order of any subgroup divides the order of the group.)

We call two elements a and b left congruent with respect to \mathfrak{l} if a = Ub with $U \in \mathfrak{l}$, and we write $a \equiv b(\mathfrak{l} \mathfrak{l})$. The three rules mentioned above are also valid for the left congruence. Cancellation and multiplication on the right of a left congruence preserves the congruence. Either side of a left congruence may be altered on the left only by an element in \mathfrak{l} . The definitions of right coset and system of left representatives are analagous to those of left coset and system of right representatives.

A left residue (representative) function is characterized by the three properties: -

1.
$$G = G_{\mathbb{R}}$$

2. $G\overline{G}^{-1} \in \mathfrak{U}$
3. $\overline{UG} = G$

for all $U \in \mathfrak{U}$.

From the right congruence $a \equiv b(\mathfrak{U}r)$ follows the left congruence $a^{-1} \equiv b^{-1}(\mathfrak{U}l)$ and conversely. Therefore if $\{a_i\}$ is a system of left representatives, then $\{a_i^{-1}\}$ is a system of right representatives.

A group has just as many right residue classes as left residue classes with respect to a subgroup. Moreover,

THEOREM 3: If the index of a group with respect to a subgroup is finite, then the right and left cosets have a common system of representatives.

If \mathfrak{U} is finite, then r right residue classes contain at most r left residue classes. The same is true if only ($\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{U}$ is finite, as follows from a remark on p.41.

We shall prove the more general theorem:

THEOREM 4: If a set \mathfrak{M} is subdivided into n disjoint classes in two ways and if any r classes of the first subdivision contain at most r classes of the second subdivision, then the two subdivisions have a common system of representatives.

The first to prove Theorem 4 (in the language of graph theory) was D. König (Uber Graphen und ihre Anwendungen auf Determinantentheorie und Mengenlehre, Math. Ann., vol. 77 (1916), pp. 453-465). Frobenius claimed the theorem for matrix theory whereas, van der Waerden, O. Sperner, P. Hall, and W. Maak claimed it for set theory.

12

Eventually it was treated by H. Weyl, Halmos, and P. and H. Vaugham as the solution of a marriage problem (Amer. J. Math. vol. 72 (1950), pp. 214-215).

Proof: Let $\mathfrak{M} = \Sigma \mathfrak{N}_i = \Sigma \mathfrak{B}_i$ be the two decompositions. The incidence matrix $A = (a_{ik})$, where $a_{ik}' = 0$ if \mathfrak{N}_i and \mathfrak{B}_k are distinct, $a_{ik} = 1$ otherwise, is normal in the sense that A is a quadratic matrix with its coefficients equal to 1 or 0, so that for every submatrix consisting entirely of 0's (zero-submatrix) the total number of rows and columns does not exceed the degree of A. We have to prove that a normal $(n \times n)$ -matrix $A = (a_{ik})$ can be rearranged (by application of a suitable row permutation as well as a suitable column permutation) so that $a_{11} = a_{22} = \ldots = a_{ni} = 1$.

This is clear for n = 1. Apply induction on n. If n > 1 we wish to show that A can be rearranged so that for some r between 1 and n-1 both the top left $(r \times r)$ -minor and the bottom right $(n - r) \times (n - r)$ -minor are normal. Then, by the induction hypothesis, A can be rearranged so that $a_{11} = \ldots = a_{nr} = 1$; moreover $a_{r+1,r+1} = \ldots = a_{nr} = 1$.

Indeed, if there is a $r \times (n - r)$ -zero-submatrix then A can be rearranged in such a way that $a_{ik} = 0$ if $1 \le i \le r < k \le n$. Now, if the top left $(r \times r)$ -minor were not normal, then, after further rearrangement of A, we would have $a_{ik} = 0$ for $1 \le i \le s \le k \le n$ and some sbetween 1 and r - 1, contradicting the normality of A. Hence the top left $(r \times r)$ -minor of A is normal. Similarly it follows that the bottom $(n - r) \times (n - r)$ -minor of A is normal. If, however, there is no $r \times (n - r)$ -zero-submatrix of A, then every $(n - 1) \times (n - 1)$ -submatrix is normal, and we simply rearrange A so that $a_{11} = 1$.

A Remark on Congruence Relations

A congruence relation R is defined in a set if for two elements a, b of a is congruent to b: $a \equiv b$ or R(a, b)

a is non-congruent to b: $a \equiv b$ or $\sim R(a, b)$.¹

A normal congruence satisfies the following three requirements:

1. (Reflexitivity) Every element is congruent to itself.

2. (Symmetry) The sides of a congruence may be interchanged: $a \equiv b$ implies $b \equiv a$.

'~ means not.

3. (Transitivity) $a \equiv b, b \equiv c$ implies $a \equiv c$.

For example, the ordinary equality relation in the set is a normal congruence relation.

Exercise: To a normal congruence relation corresponds a decomposition of the given set into disjoint classes in accordance with the rule:

Exactly those elements of the set which are congruent to a are put into the class \Re_a . Two classes are regarded as equal if they are the same subset of the given set. Two classes having any element in common are equal.

Exercise: If the set \mathfrak{M} has a decomposition $\mathfrak{M} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathfrak{R}_i$ into disjoint non-empty subsets \mathfrak{R}_i , then this decomposition is the class decomposition which corresponds to the following normal congruence relation:

a is congruent to b if a and b lie in the same subset of the decomposition.

a is not congruent to b if a and b do not lie in same subset of the decomposition.

A subset \mathfrak{S} of a given set \mathfrak{M} is called a *residue system* relative to a normal congruence relation, if \mathfrak{S} contains exactly one element from each class, this element being called the *representative* of the class.

We obtain the residue system by choosing an element from each class and forming the subset \mathfrak{S} of \mathfrak{M} consisting of precisely these chosen elements. Then there corresponds to every residue system \mathfrak{S} a *repre*sentative function which associates an \overline{a} of \mathfrak{S} to every element a in \mathfrak{M} according to the rule: \overline{a} is the element of \mathfrak{S} congruent to a.

Exercise: A single-valued function on a given set \mathfrak{M} , which maps a on \bar{a} , is a representative function if and only if $\bar{a} = \bar{a}$.

Here, given the representative function, the congruence relation is defined by the rule:

a is congruent to *b*, if $\bar{a} = \bar{b}$; *a* is non-congruent to *b*, if $\bar{a} \neq \bar{b}$.

Exercise: If the left cancellation rule: ab = ac implies b = c, holds for a normal congruence relation in a group 6, then the relation is a right congruence with respect to the subgroup \mathfrak{U} which consists of all elements congruent to e.

If the right cancellation rule: $ba \equiv ca$ implies $b \equiv c$, holds, then the normal congruence is a left congruence with respect to the subgroup \mathfrak{l} which consists of all the elements congruent to e.

14

§ 5. Cyclic Groups

§ 5. Cyclic Groups

A group is called *cyclic* if it can be generated by one of its elements through multiplication and the taking of inverses (i.e., the group consists precisely of the set of all powers of the element a, positive, negative and zero).

The group \mathfrak{G} generated by a is denoted by (a). Every element of \mathfrak{G} is a power of a.

We wish to determine the subgroups **u** of a cyclic group **G**. If **u** is different from (e), then \mathfrak{l} contains a power of a with an exponent different from zero. Since, if a^m lies in \mathfrak{U} , a^{-m} does also, we can assume that for some m > 0, a^m lies in \mathfrak{U} . Let d be the smallest of these natural numbers m. Then $e, a, a^2, \ldots, a^{d-1}$ must be mutually noncongruent with respect to \mathfrak{U} ; therefore $(\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{U} \geq d$. Every rational integer m can be put in the form m = qd + r where the quotient q is a rational integer and the remainder r is a non-negative integer less than d. The element a^m in (6) has the form $a^r \cdot (a^d)^q$, therefore $a^m \equiv a^r$ and $\mathfrak{G}\mathfrak{U} \leq d$. From the two inequalities it follows that $\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{U} = d$ and that $e, a, a^2, \ldots, a^{d-1}$ is a system of representatives of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{U} . \mathfrak{U} consists of all powers of a^d .

Every subgroup of a cyclic group is cyclic. The index of a subgroup different from e is finite, and for every divisor d > 0 of (0:1), there is only the one subgroup (a^d) of index d.

We shall see later that this last property characterizes the cyclic groups.

If G has an order *n* different from zero, then two of the powers $a^{o} = e, a, \ldots, a^{n}$ are equal. From $a^{r} = a^{s}$ it follows that $a^{r-s} = e$; thus a power of a with positive exponent lies in the subgroup e. Since $\mathfrak{G}: e = n$. we have $(a^n) = e$ and (9 consists of the *n* elements $e, a, a^2, \ldots, a^{n-1}$.

n is the smallest positive number for which $a^n = e$. If $a^x = e$ then x is divisible by n.

DEFINITION: In an arbitrary group, the order of the cyclic subgroup generated by the element a is called the order of the element a. The order of an element is therefore either zero or the smallest positive number for which $a^n = e$.

The order of a group element is a divisor of the order of the group.

For a finite group of order N we have as a consequence the analog of the Fermat theorem.for groups:

 $a^N = e$

How can the order of a permutation in \mathfrak{S}_n be read off from its decomposition into cycles?

If $\pi = (i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_d)$ is a d-cycle, then $\pi^d = \underline{1}$. If 0 < y < d, then $\pi^y i_1 = i_{1+y} \neq i_1$, therefore $\pi^y \neq \underline{1}$. The order of a d-cycle is d. Now let $\pi = z_1 \cdot z_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot z_k$ be the cycle representation of π , where z_i is a d_r -cycle. If $\pi^d = \underline{1}$ then $z_i^d = \underline{1}$; thus d_i is a divisor of d. The least common multiple d' of all the d_i is a divisor of d. Since conversely $z_i^{d'} = \underline{1}$ and therefore $\pi^{d'} = 1$ we have:

The order of a permutation of n letters is equal to the least common multiple of the orders of cycles in its cycle representation.

§ 6. Finite Rotation Groups

As an example of the meaning of the previous concepts, let us examine the finite rotation groups.

The rotations of cartesian three-dimensional space about the fixed point O have the following properties:

1. Every rotation about O permutes the points of the unit sphere \Re with center O and is uniquely determined by its effect on the points of the surface of the unit sphere.

2. Two rotations carried out consecutively produce a rotation.

If σ and τ are two rotations about O, then $\sigma\tau$ is the rotation which transforms the point P into the point $\sigma(\tau P)$.

3. A rotation either leaves all points on \Re fixed or it leaves exactly two points fixed.

In the latter case, the two fixed points are called the *poles* of the rotation. The rotation which leaves all points fixed, is denoted by $\underline{1}$.

4. A rotation angle φ_a is associated with every rotation σ . φ_a is uniquely determined to within addition of an integral multiple of 2π . Two rotations σ , τ with two common fixed points satisfy $\varphi_{a\tau} \equiv \varphi_a + \varphi_r(2\pi)$.

We wish to know which multiplication tables represent finite multiplicative domains (8 of rotations.

Since (6) consists of a finite number of permutations, (9) is a finite group. The unit element of (6) is <u>1</u>. Let the number N of rotations in (6) be greater than 1.

We say two points are *conjugate* under (6) if there is a rotation in (6) which sends one of the two points into the other. The finite number of poles of rotations in (6) fall into classes of conjugate poles; let us call them $\mathfrak{P}_1, \mathfrak{P}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{P}_{H}$.

All the rotations in (% which have the same pole P, together with 1.

form a subgroup \mathfrak{q} . We call \mathfrak{q} the subgroup belonging to P.

The p poles conjugate to P have the form $\sigma_1 P, \sigma_2 P, \ldots, \sigma_n P$ with $\sigma_i \in \mathfrak{G}$. If $\sigma \in \mathfrak{G}$ then $\sigma P = \sigma_i P$ is solvable, i.e.,

$$\sigma_i^{-1}$$
. $\sigma P = \mathbf{1}P = P$, $\sigma_i^{-1}\sigma \in \mathfrak{g}$, $\sigma \equiv \sigma_i(\mathfrak{g}r)$.

Thus all the rotations in \mathfrak{G} fall into p left cosets with respect to \mathfrak{q} and these are determined by their effect on P. a is one of these complexes and contains n = N/p elements. P is called n-tuple pole in \mathfrak{G} .

If a belongs to P, we determine the group belonging to τP .

If σ_1 is such that $\sigma_1 \tau P = \tau P$, it follows that $\tau^{-1} \sigma_1 \tau P = P$; therefore $\sigma = \tau^{-1}\sigma_1\tau \in gand \ \sigma_1 = \tau\sigma\tau^{-1}$, If $\sigma P = P$, then $\tau\sigma\tau^{-1}(\tau P) = \tau P$. Therefore the group $\tau_{q\tau^{-1}}$ belongs to τP . In that account we also say: $\tau \sigma \tau^{-1}$ is conjugate to σ .

We determine the number of poles of rotations in (6. There are exactly 2(N-1), since there are precisely N-1 non-identity rotations in (6). On the other hand there are exactly $n_i = N/p_i$ rotations in (6) which leave a pole of the *i*-th class fixed. Hence a totality of $p_i(n_i - 1)$ nonidentical rotations leave some pole of the *i*-th class fixed.

Therefore
$$2N-2 = \sum_{i=1}^{H} p_i (n_i - 1),$$

i.e., $2(1-1/N) = \sum_{i=1}^{H} (1-1/n_i).$

i

From the further conditions $N \ge n_i \ge 2$ it follows that $2 \le H \le 3$. Furthermore

I. if H = 2, $n_1 = n_2 = N$ arbitrary > 1. II. if H = 3, $2 = n_1 \le n_2 \le n_3$, $n_2 \le 3$: $n_1 = n_2 = 2, \ n_3 = N/2,$ $n_1 = 2, n_2 = n_3 = 3, N = 12,$ $n_1 = 2, n_2 = 3, n_3 = 4, N = 24.$ $n_1 = 2, n_2 = 3, n_3 = 5, N = 60$

I. H=2: All rotations $\neq 1$ have the same poles. Let φ_{σ} be the smallest of all the positive rotation angles corresponding to rotations in (9. If τ is any rotation in (8 there exists a rational integer m such that $m\varphi_{a} \leq \varphi_{a} < (m+1)\varphi_{a}$. Since $\varphi_{a-1} = -\varphi_{a}$, $\varphi_{a} = m\varphi_{a}$, we have $0 \leq \varphi_{\sigma^{-m}\tau} < \varphi_{\sigma}$. Therefore $\varphi_{\sigma^{-m}\tau} = 0$ and $\tau = \sigma^{m}$ because of property 4 of rotations.

(9) is a cyclic group of order N generated by σ , where $\varphi_{\sigma} = 2\pi/N_{s}$ and is designated by Z_N .

II.a.
$$H = 3$$
, $n_1 = n_2 = 2$, $n_3 = N/2$.

 $\mathfrak{P}_{\mathfrak{s}}$ consists of two poles P, Q, and therefore a rotation in \mathfrak{G} either will leave both poles fixed or will interchange the poles; thus $\mathfrak{g}_{P} = \mathfrak{g}_{Q}$. \mathfrak{G} decomposes into \mathfrak{g} and $\tau \mathfrak{g}$; the square of any rotation σ in \mathfrak{G} , which does not lie in \mathfrak{g} , is \mathfrak{l} , since it leaves the fixed points of σ fixed, and also leaves P and Q fixed.

From $\tau^2 = (\tau \sigma)^2 = 1$ for all σ in g, it follows that $\tau \sigma = \sigma^{-1} \tau$. Therefore

$$\tau \sigma_1 \cdot \tau \sigma_2 = \sigma_1^{-1} \tau \tau \sigma_2 = \sigma_1^{-1} \sigma_2.$$

Since g is cyclic, by **I**., the multiplication table of \mathfrak{G} is uniquely determined by its order. The table on page 9 shows \mathfrak{G} for N=6. \mathfrak{G} is called a dihedral group and is denoted by D_N .

II.b. $n_1 = 2$, $n_2 = n_3 = 3$, N = 12.

The eleven rotations ± 1 permute the four triple poles of the second (and third) class in 3-cycles and double transpositions. Thus \mathfrak{G} is the alternating permutation group on the four triple poles of one of the latter two classes. \mathfrak{G} is called the tetrahedral group.

II.c.
$$n_1 = 2$$
, $n_2 = 3$, $n_3 = 4$, $N = 24$.

The eight triple poles fall into four pairs of poles, such that a rotation in (9 either has both poles of a pair as fixed points or else has neither. A rotation σ which takes each of the four pole pairs into itself has the identity as its square. If $\sigma \neq 1$, then σ interchanges the two poles in each pair and since, for every τ in (9, $\tau\sigma\tau^{-1}$ has the same property, $\sigma\tau\sigma\tau^{-1}=1$. If, however, τ is a rotation of order 3, then $\sigma\tau$ interchanges the poles of τ and consequently $\sigma\tau\sigma\tau=1$. But this would give $\tau^{-1} = \tau$, $\tau^2 = 1$, a contradiction, and so σ must be 1 and (9 is the symmetric permutation group of its four pair of triple poles. (9 is called the octahedral group.

II.d.
$$n_1 = 2$$
, $n_2 = 3$, $n_3 = 5$, $N = 60$.

The 30 poles fall into 15 pairs of double poles, such that a rotation in \mathfrak{G} leaves neither or both of the poles of each pair fixed. Let (PQ) be one of these pairs and let σ be a rotation $\neq 1$ in \mathfrak{G} with poles P, Q.

There exists in (6 a rotation τ which maps P onto Q. $\tau \sigma \tau^{-1}$ leaves the point Q fixed; therefore since Q is a double pole,

$$\tau \sigma \tau^{-1} = \sigma, \ \tau \sigma = \sigma \tau, \ Q = \tau \sigma Q = \sigma \tau Q.$$

Since τQ is a pole of σ , it follows that $\tau Q = P$. If conversely ϱ is a rotation in (9 which leaves (PQ) fixed, then either ϱ or $\varrho \tau^{-1}$ leaves each of the points P, Q fixed. Of the elements of (9 only $\underline{1}, \sigma, \tau, \sigma \tau$ leave

the pole-pair (PQ) fixed. These four rotations are exactly those rotations in \mathfrak{G} which commute with $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$. The square of a rotation in \mathfrak{G} which leaves (PQ) fixed has more than two fixed points and therefore is 1. From this we conclude: If a pole-pair (PQ) remains fixed under a rotation in \mathfrak{G} , then the three rotations ± 1 , which leave (PQ) fixed, leave the polepairs of each of them fixed. In this way the 30 double poles fall into five sextuples of poles which are permuted by G. By their effect upon a sextuple, the 60 rotations of (§ fall into five complexes, each consisting of twelve rotations. All the rotations which leave a sextuple fixed form a subgroup of order 12 which has double and triple poles only; therefore the subgroup is the tetrahedral group. This tetrahedral group is generated by its elements of order 3. If a rotation of order 3 leaves each of the five sextuples of poles fixed, then all the rotations in (% of order 3 have this property, since they are all conjugate to one another under G. Then all the rotations in the tetrahedral group which belong to a sextuple leave every sextuple fixed. A rotation of order 2 does not have this property. Therefore the 59 rotations ± 1 in (% permute the five pole sextuples in either a 3-cycle, a 5-cycle, or a double transposition. (9 is the alternating permutation group on its five sextuples of double poles. (8 is called the icosahedral group.

The names of the last four types are related to the regular polyhedra whose vertices are poles of the third class. Geometrically it can be seen that 6 consists of all the rotations of space which carry the corresponding regular polyhedron into itself. Conversely, from the existence of the regular polyhedra we can deduce the existence of the rotation groups named after them.

In cases b) - d, the poles of the second class are the vertices of the dual regular polyhedra: tetrahedron, hexahedron (cube), dodecahedron. If the poles of third (second) class are at the vertices of the regular polyhedron, then the poles of second (third) class lie on the lines from O to the midpoints of the faces.

The double poles of the first class lie on the lines from O to the midpoints of the edges. The five sextuples of double poles of the icosahedral group are similar to the five vertex sextuples of the five octahedra inscribed in the icosahedron.

§ 7. Calculus of Complexes

In order to know the structure of a given group (9, we must investigate its subsets.

We call any subset of a semi-group (9 a *complex*. Let the empty subset be denoted by 0.

The set-theoretic relations of complexes are expressed by means of the symbols $=, \leq, <, \land, \lor, +, -$. The equality of two complexes is expressed by $\Re_1 = \Re_2$ i.e., \Re_1 and \Re_2 contain the same elements. The three well-known rules are valid for this equality relation.

 $\Re_1 \leq \Re_2$ means that the complex \Re_1 is contained in the complex \Re_2 , i.e., every element in \Re_1 , lies in \Re_2 . Equivalent to this is $\Re_2 \geq \Re_1$ i.e., \Re_2 contains \Re_1 . We have the rules:

a) ℜ ≤ ℜ

b) If $\Re_1 \leq \Re_2$ and $\Re_2 \leq \Re_3$ then $\Re_1 \leq \Re_3$.

The equality of two complexes \Re_1 , \Re_2 is equivalent to: $\Re_1 \leq \Re_2$ and $\Re_2 \leq \Re_1$.

If the complex \Re_1 is a proper subset of \Re_2 , we denote this condition by $\Re_1 < \Re_2$, i.e., \Re_1 lies in \Re_2 but there is an element in \Re_2 which is not in \Re_1 . The following two rules are valid:

a) £ (£ .

b) $\Re_1 \subset \Re_2$, $\Re_2 \subset \Re_3$ imply $\Re_1 \subset \Re_3$.

The totality of all elements which lie simultaneously in *n* given complexes \Re_1 , \Re_2 , ..., \Re_n is called the *intersection* of the \Re_i . It is denoted by $\Re_1 \land \Re_2 \land \Re_3 \land \ldots \land \Re_n$.

The following rules are valid for the intersection:

$$\begin{split} & \Re \cap \Re = \Re, \\ & \Re_1 \cap \Re_2 = \Re_2 \cap \Re_1 \quad (\text{commutative law}) \\ & (\Re_1 \cap \Re_2) \cap \Re_3 = \Re_1 \cap (\Re_2 \cap \Re_3) \quad (\text{associative law}) \end{split}$$

 $(\Re_1 \land \Re_2 \land \ldots \land \Re_n) \land (\Re_{n+1} \land \ldots \land \Re_{n+m}) = \Re_1 \land \Re_2 \land \ldots \land \Re_{n+m}.$

The inequality $\Re_1 \leq \Re_2$ is equivalent to $\Re_1 \wedge \Re_2 = \Re_1$. $\Re_1 < \Re_2$ is equivalent to $\Re_1 \wedge \Re_2 = \Re_1$ and $\Re_1 \neq \Re_2$.

If $\mathbf{f}_i \leq \hat{\mathbf{R}}_i$, then $(\mathbf{f}_1 \wedge \mathbf{f}_2) \leq (\hat{\mathbf{R}}_1 \wedge \hat{\mathbf{R}}_2)$.

The totality of all elements that lie either in \Re_1 or in \Re_2 ... or in \Re_n is called the sum of \Re_1 , \Re_2 , ..., \Re_n . It is denoted by $\Re_1 \cup \Re_2 \cup ... \cup \Re_n$. The above four rules are valid if \wedge is replaced by \vee . The relation $\Re_1 \leq \Re_2$ is equivalent with $\Re_1 \cup \Re_2 = \Re_2$. $\Re_1 < \Re_2$ is equivalent with $\Re_1 \cup \Re_2 = \Re_2$. $\Re_1 < \Re_2 = \Re_2$ and $\Re_1 = \Re_2$. If $t_i \leq \Re_i$, then $t_i \cup t_2 \leq \Re_1 \cup \Re_2$. The relation between sum and intersection is distributive :

$$\begin{split} & \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \cap (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2 \cup \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3) = (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \cap \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2) \cup (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \cap \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3), \\ & \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \cup (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2 \cap \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3) = (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \cup \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2) \cap (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \cup \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3). \end{split}$$

The sum of pairwise disjoint complexes $\Re_1, \Re_2, \ldots, \Re_n$ is denoted by $\Re_1 + \Re_2 + \cdots + \Re_n$.

The rules for the symbol \lor remain valid if + is substituted for \lor everywhere and it is assumed that the sets on the left connected by the plus symbol are disjoint. The second distributive law is an exception.

If \Re_1 is contained in \Re_2 , then the difference set, denoted by $\Re_2 - \Re_1$, consists of those elements of \Re_2 which are not in \Re_1 . It follows that:

 $\Re_2 = \Re_1 + (\Re_2 - \Re_1)$, and $\Re_2 - \Re_1$ is uniquely determined by this equation. Beside these set-theoretic operations we also introduce the *product* of *n* complexes $\Re_1, \Re_2, \ldots, \Re_n : \Re_1 \cdot \Re_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot \Re_n$ is the set of all products $x_i \cdot x_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot x_n$, where $x_i \in \Re_i$ and *n* is a positive integer. We have:

 $\Re_1(\Re, \Re_2) = (\Re, \Re_2) \Re_2 = \Re_1 \Re_2 \Re_2$ (the associative law).

The combination of product with sum or intersection satisfies

$$\begin{split} & \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \left(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2 \land \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3 \right) \leq \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \, \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2 \land \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \, \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3, \\ & \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \left(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2 \lor \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3 \right) = \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \, \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_2 \lor \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \, \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_3. \end{split}$$

If $\tilde{t}_i \leq \Re_i$, then $\tilde{t}_1 \tilde{t}_2 \leq \Re_1 \Re_2$.

In a group (6) we define the *inverse complex* of a non-empty complex as the complex consisting of all the inverses of the elements of \Re . It is denoted by \Re^{-1} .

 $\Re \Re^{-1} \ge e$, but $\Re \Re^{-1} = e$ if and only if \Re consists of exactly one element. Furthermore: $(\Re^{-1})^{-1} = \Re$

$$(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{1} \cup \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{2})^{-1} = \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{1}^{-1} \cup \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{2}^{-1},$$
$$(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{1} \cap \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{2})^{-1} = \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{1}^{-1} \cap \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{2}^{-1},$$
$$(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{1} \cdot \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{2})^{-1} = \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{2}^{-1} \cdot \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}_{1}^{-1},$$

and if $\mathbf{t} \leq \Re$, then $\mathbf{t}^{-1} \leq \Re^{-1}$.

Necessary and sufficient conditions that a complex $\,\mathfrak{u}\,$ be a subgroup, are:

$$\mathfrak{u} = 0,$$

 $\mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{u} \leq \mathfrak{u},$
 $\mathfrak{u}^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{u}.$

The latter two conditions can be replaced by

$$\mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{u}^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{u},$$

for then $e \leq \mathfrak{U}$, and so it follows that $\mathfrak{U}^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{U}$. Taking inverses in this inequality, we get $\mathfrak{U} \leq \mathfrak{U}^{-1}$; therefore $\mathfrak{U} = \mathfrak{U}^{-1}$, $\mathfrak{U} \mathfrak{U} \leq \mathfrak{U}$.

The intersection of two subgroups is itself a subgroup. The product of two subgroups is a subgroup when the two factors can be interchanged.

If a non-empty complex \mathfrak{U} contains only a finite number of elements, then the condition $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{U} \leq \mathfrak{U}$ is necessary and sufficient for \mathfrak{U} to be a subgroup, since the cancellation laws hold in \mathfrak{U} .

Let \Re be a non-empty complex. Let $\Re_1 = \Re \cup \Re^{-1}$. Then $\Re_1^{-1} = \Re_1$ and $\Re_1 \cup \Re_1^2 \cup \Re_1^3 \dots$ is a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} which lies in every subgroup which contains \Re . The subgroup is called the subgroup generated by \Re and is denoted by $\{\Re\}$. We set $\{0\} = \epsilon$.

Then the following rules hold:

$$\{ \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_1 \land \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_2 \} \leq \{ \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_1 \} \land \{ \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_2 \}, \\ \{ \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_1 \lor \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_2 \} = \left\{ \{ \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_1 \} \lor \{ \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_2 \} \right\}.$$

If $\mathfrak{k} \subset \mathfrak{R}$ then $\{\mathfrak{k}\} \subset \{\mathfrak{R}\}$; furthermore $\{\mathfrak{R}^{-1}\} = \{\mathfrak{R}\}$.

The following useful rule of the calculus of subgroups can be proven. If $u \in U$ and $v \in \mathfrak{B}$, then

$$\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{v} \cap \mathfrak{V} = (\mathfrak{u} \cap \mathfrak{V}) \cdot (\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{v}).$$

PROOF: It is immediate that $ll \cap uv \cap \mathfrak{V} \supset (u \cap \mathfrak{V}) \cdot (ll \cap v)$. Moreover, let $x \in U \cap uv \cap \mathfrak{V}$. Then x is of the form uv where $u \in u, v \in v$. Since $x \in U$, it follows that $v \in U$. Since $x \in \mathfrak{V}$, $u \in \mathfrak{V}$. Consequently x is in $(u \cap \mathfrak{V}) \cdot (ll \cap v)$, whence the rule follows.

If we set $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{G}$ in the rule, we obtain:

If $\mathfrak{u} \subset \mathfrak{U}$ and \mathfrak{v} is arbitrary then $\mathfrak{u} \cdot (\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{v}) = \mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{u} \mathfrak{v}$.

We consider an ordered ascending chain of subgroups of a group, i.e, an ordered set of subgroups for which $\mathfrak{U} \subset \mathfrak{B}$ implies $\mathfrak{U} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}$.

The sum of all \mathfrak{U} in this subgroup chain, which has an arbitrary cardinal number of members, is itself a subgroup which we denoted by \mathfrak{B}

If a complex \Re has no element in common with any member of the chain, then the intersection of \Re and \Re is empty.

We prove the following existence theorem on maximal subgroups.

THEOREM 5: If \Re is an arbitrary complex in \mathfrak{G} and \mathfrak{U} is a subgroup disjoint from \Re , then among the subgroups which contain \mathfrak{U} and are disjoint from \Re , there exists a maximal one \mathfrak{B} . Thus \mathfrak{B} is defined as a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} such that:

- 1. u⊆v,
- 2. $\mathfrak{V} \cap \mathfrak{R} = 0$.
- 3. $\{\mathfrak{B}, x\} \cap \mathfrak{R} = 0$ implies $x \in \mathfrak{B}$.

We consider the elements of (9 as well ordered: $e < v_2 < v_3 \ldots$. We define an ascending chain of subgroups $\mathfrak{U}_e \subseteq \mathfrak{U}_*, \ldots$ by means of transfinite induction: $\mathfrak{U}_e = \mathfrak{U}$. Assume that the subgroup \mathfrak{U}_e has already been defined for all $v < \omega$ and that it has been shown that $\mathfrak{U}_r \leq \mathfrak{U}_\mu$ for $v \leq \mu < \omega$ and that $\mathfrak{U}_r \land \mathfrak{R} = 0$. Then let \mathfrak{U}_ω be the union \mathcal{E}_ω of all \mathfrak{U}_r for $v < \omega$ if $\{\mathcal{E}_\omega, \omega\} \land \mathfrak{R} = 0$, but let $\mathfrak{U}_\omega = \{\mathcal{E}_\omega, \omega\}$ if $\{\mathcal{E}_\omega, \omega\} \land \mathfrak{R} = 0$. Since \mathcal{E}_ω is a subgroup, \mathfrak{U}_ω is also a subgroup and $\mathfrak{U}_r \leq \mathfrak{U}_\omega$, for $v \leq \omega$. Furthermore $\mathcal{E}_\omega \land \mathfrak{R} = 0$ by the construction of \mathcal{E}_ω , therefore $\mathfrak{U}_\omega \land \mathfrak{R} = 0$.

The union $\mathfrak B$ of all the $\mathfrak U_{\! \varphi}$ is the maximal subgroup the existence of which was to be proven.

§ 8. The Concept of Normal Subgroup

What condition must a subgroup \mathfrak{U} of a group \mathfrak{G} satisfy in order that left congruency shall be equivalent to right congruency?

From $au \equiv a(\mathfrak{U}r)$ where $u \in \mathfrak{U}$ it should follow that

| | $au \equiv a(\mathfrak{U}l),$ |
|-----------------|-------------------------------------|
| and therefore | $aua^{-1} \equiv e(\mathfrak{U}l).$ |
| If, conversely, | $aua^{-1} \equiv e(\mathfrak{U}l),$ |
| then | $au \equiv a$ |

for both left and right congruency.

We come upon the normality condition

$$a \mathfrak{U} a^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{U}$$
.

We arrive at this same condition if we ask when congruences can be multiplied. Then it should follow from $a \equiv a(\Pi l)$ and $u \equiv e(\Pi l)$ that: $au \equiv a(\Pi l)$ and this implies $a\Pi a^{-1} \leq \Pi$. If conversely $x\Pi x^{-1} \leq \Pi$ for all x in \mathfrak{G} , then we can drop the *l*, *r*-symbols from the congruences and it follows from

that

 $c \equiv d,$ $ac \equiv bc$ $bc \equiv bd,$ $ac \equiv bd.$

 $a \equiv b$

and therefore

DEFINITION: A subgroup \Re of \mathfrak{G} for which $x \Re x^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{R}$ holds for all x in \mathfrak{G} is called a normal subgroup.

Left congruency is equivalent to right congruency if both are with respect to the same normal subgroup. Congruences with respect to a normal subgroup may be multiplied together.

 $\begin{array}{ll} \operatorname{From} x \mathfrak{N} x^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{N} & \operatorname{and} x^{-1} \mathfrak{N} x \leq \mathfrak{N} &, \text{ it follows that} \\ \mathfrak{N} = x x^{-1} \mathfrak{N} x x^{-1} \leq x \mathfrak{N} x^{-1}, \\ \text{and therefore} & x \mathfrak{N} x^{-1} = \mathfrak{N}, \\ & x \mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N} x. \end{array}$

A normal subgroup commutes with every complex.

If conversely a subgroup commutes with every complex, then it is a normal subgroup, since $x\mathfrak{U} = \mathfrak{U}x$ implies $x\mathfrak{U}x^{-1} = \mathfrak{U}$.

The product of a normal subgroup and a subgroup \mathfrak{U} is a subgroup.

DEFINITION: A group with no non-trivial normal subgroups is said to be simple. Any other group is called **composite**.

A group without a non-trivial subgroup is simple. Moreover,

THEOREM 6: A group with no non-trivial subgroups is cyclic of prime order, or consists of merely the unit element e.

Proof: If (9 $\neq e$, then there is an element $a \neq e$ in (9. By hypothesis (9 = (a). If (9 were infinite then $(a) \neq (a^2) \neq e$, and consequently (9 is finite. If p is a prime dividing (9:1 then $(a) \neq (a^p)$ and therefore $a^p = e$. and (9:1 = p.

The converse was seen earlier.

A congruence relation in a multiplicative domain is said to be *multiplicative* if $a \equiv b, c \equiv d$ implies $ac \equiv bd$.

Example: In the multiplicative group of positive real numbers the relation:

a is congruent to b, if $a \ge b$, a is not congruent to b, if a < b,

is a multiplicative congruence relation.

Exercise: A multiplicative normal congruence relation in a group is the congruence relation of the group of elements with respect to the normal subgroup consisting of all the elements congruent to e.

§ 9. Normalizer, Class Equation

The following investigation shows the meaning of the concepts of subgroup and of right congruence.

Let \mathfrak{P} be a group of permutations of the objects of a given set \mathfrak{M} .

DEFINITION: Two objects in the set \mathfrak{R} are said to be conjugate under the permutation group $\mathfrak{P}(\mathfrak{P}$ -conjugate) if there is a permutation in \mathfrak{P} which maps one of the two objects onto the other.

The relation "a is conjugate to b" fulfills our three requirements:

1. a is \mathfrak{P} -conjugate to itself since the identity permutation in \mathfrak{P} maps a on itself.

2. If a is \mathfrak{P} -conjugate to b, then there is a permutation in \mathfrak{P} which maps a onto b. The permutation which is the inverse of the latter lies likewise in \mathfrak{P} and maps b onto a. Thus b is conjugate to a.

3. If $b = \pi a$, $c = \rho b$, then $\rho \pi$ as well as π , ρ lies in \mathfrak{B} , and $\rho \pi a = \rho b = c$; therefore a is \mathfrak{B} -conjugate to c.

Under the action of a permutation group a set splits into disjoint classes of \mathfrak{P} -conjugate elements.

We call a class of \mathfrak{B} -conjugate objects of a set \mathfrak{M} a system of transitivity for the permutation group \mathfrak{P} . The system of transitivity in which a lies consists of all πa with $\pi \in \mathfrak{P}$.

How many objects lie in a system of transitivity? The answer is given by THEOREM 7: All the permutations of a permutation group \mathfrak{P} which leave an object a of the permutad set \mathfrak{M} fixed, form the subgroup \mathfrak{P}_a of \mathfrak{P} belonging to a. All the objects \mathfrak{P} -conjugate to a can be found as images of a, each once, under the permutations of a right representative system of \mathfrak{P} with respect to \mathfrak{P}_a . Therefore the number of objects which are \mathfrak{P} -conjugate to a is equal to the index of \mathfrak{P}_a in \mathfrak{P} .

Proof: Let \mathfrak{P}_a be the set of permutations in \mathfrak{P} which leave a fixed. 1 belongs to \mathfrak{P}_a . If π belongs to \mathfrak{P}_a , then π^{-1} is in \mathfrak{P} and $\pi^{-1}a = \pi^{-1}(\pi a) = a$, and therefore π^{-1} also belongs to \mathfrak{P}_a . If ϱ and π are in \mathfrak{P}_a then $\varrho\pi$ is in \mathfrak{P} and $\rho\pi a = \varrho(\pi a) = \varrho a = a$; therefore $\varrho\pi$ is also in \mathfrak{P}_a .

Ba is a subgroup of B.

If the permutations ϱ and π in \mathfrak{P} have the same effect on a then they are right congruent with respect to \mathfrak{P}_a since $\pi a = \varrho a$ implies $\varrho^{-1}\pi a = a$, $\varrho^{-1}\pi \in \mathfrak{P}_a$, $\varrho \equiv \pi(\mathfrak{P}_a r)$, and conversely. If, then, $\pi \to \overline{\pi}$ is a right representative function of \mathfrak{P} with respect to \mathfrak{P}_a , then every conjugate πa of a is equal to $\overline{\pi} a$ and $\overline{\pi} a = \overline{\varrho} a$ implies $\overline{\pi} = \overline{\varrho} = \overline{\pi} = \overline{\varrho}$, as was to be shown.

DEFINITION: We say that two subsets of the set \mathfrak{M} are conjugate under the permutation group \mathfrak{P} if there is a permutation in \mathfrak{P} which maps one subset onto the other.

Since \Re also permutes the subsets of \mathfrak{M} , the above statements remain valid if "object" is replaced by "subset".

However, we denote by $\mathfrak{P}_{(m)}$ the subgroup of permutations in \mathfrak{P} which map a subset m of \mathfrak{M} onto itself, whereas \mathfrak{P}_m will denote the subgroup of all permutations in \mathfrak{P} which leave each element of m fixed.

We now take the set of all elements of a group (% as an example of a permuted set.

For every element x in (9, we define the "x-transformation" as the single-valued mapping $\begin{pmatrix} a \\ xax^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$. xax^{-1} is called the x-transform of a. The x-transformations of (9 form a permutation group, since $\begin{pmatrix} a \\ eae^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ a \end{pmatrix}$ is the identity permutation 1:

(1)
$$\binom{a}{xax^{-1}}\binom{a}{yay^{-1}} = \binom{a}{xya(xy)^{-1}}$$
, and in particular

(2)
$$\binom{a}{x a x^{-1}} \cdot \binom{a}{x^{-1} a x} = \binom{a}{a} = \underline{1}.$$

The group of transformations of \mathfrak{G} is denoted by $J_{\mathfrak{G}}$ or simply by J.

DEFINITION: Two complexes in \mathfrak{G} are said to be *conjugate (under* \mathfrak{G}) if one complex is the transform of the other: $\Re_2 = x \Re_1 x^{-1}$, or equivalently, $x \Re_1 = \Re_2 x$.

From equations (1), (2) we immediately see that in \mathfrak{G} , all elements x whose corresponding transformations lie in a given subgroup of J form a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . We can therefore define, in accordance with Theorem 7:

The normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ of the complex \mathfrak{R} is the subgroup consisting of all elements x of \mathfrak{G} which transform \mathfrak{R} into itself: $x \mathfrak{R} x^{-1} = \mathfrak{R}$, or equivalently $x \mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{R} x$.

If x_1, x_2, \ldots is a representative system of \mathfrak{G} with respect to $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$, then $x_1 \mathfrak{K} x_1^{-1}, x_2 \mathfrak{K} x_2^{-1}, \ldots$ are the complexes conjugate to \mathfrak{K} , each occurring exactly once; and conversely. Thus

The number of complexes conjugate to a given complex is equal to the index of its normalizer.

The group \mathfrak{G} falls into classes of conjugate elements relative to the transformations in J, giving the direct decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_1 + \mathfrak{G}_2 + \cdots$. The number of classes of conjugate elements of a group is called the *class-number* of the group. The direct decomposition

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{C}_1+\mathfrak{C}_2+\cdots+\mathfrak{C}_r$$

of the group ${\ensuremath{\mathfrak{G}}}$ into classes of conjugate elements corresponds to the equation

(3) $\mathfrak{G}: \mathbf{1} = h_1 + h_2 + \ldots + h_r \qquad (class equation)$

where h_i is the number of elements in \mathbb{G}_i .

DEFINITION: All the elements of a group (9) which transform each
element of \mathfrak{G} into itself, i.e., those which commute with every element of \mathfrak{G} , form a subgroup called the *center* $\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G})$ of \mathfrak{G} . \mathfrak{z} is obviously the intersection of all the normalizers of elements in \mathfrak{G} .

It follows from the definition that the center is an abelian normal subgroup. The center is just that domain of all elements which are transformed into themselves by every element in 6. Therefore we may write the class-equation as follows:

(4)
$$\mathfrak{G}: 1 = \mathfrak{z}: 1 + \sum_{h_i > 1} h_i.$$

It is important in the above to note that the summation is performed over some group indices different from 1.

The subgroups which are transformed into themselves by every element in (6) are precisely the normal subgroups of (6).

The normalizer of an arbitrary subgroup \mathfrak{l} of (5) is the (uniquely determined) maximal subgroup containing \mathfrak{l} as normal subgroup.

We wish to determine the classes of conjugate elements in the symmetric and alternating permutation groups of n letters.

Let π and ϱ be two permutations in \mathfrak{S}_n ; then $\varrho \pi \varrho^{-1}(\varrho x) = \varrho \pi x$, and therefore $\varrho \pi \varrho^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \varrho x \\ \varrho \pi x \end{pmatrix}$, i.e.: The ϱ -transform of π originates from π by replacing the letter x by ϱx in the functional symbol for π . The same also holds for the cycle symbol.

Two permutations are conjugate under \mathfrak{S}_n if and only if they have cycle decompositions with like groupings.

Let π be a product of a_1 1-cycles, a_2 2-cycles, ..., a_n n-cycles. Then the number of permutations that commute with π is just as large as the number of formally different ways that π can be written as a product of first a_1 1-cycles, then a_2 2-cycles, and finally a_n n-cycles, and this is $a_1! 1^{a_1} \cdot a_2! 2^{a_1} \ldots a_n! n^{a_n}$ Consequently the class \mathbb{G}_n of elements conjugate to π under \mathfrak{S}_n contains $\frac{n!}{a_1! 1^{a_1} \cdots a_n! n^{a_n}}$ permutations.

Now let n > 1, $\pi_1 = (12)\pi(12)^{-1}$. Every permutation in \mathfrak{C}_{π} is conjugate either to π or π_1 under \mathfrak{A}_n , the alternating group. Therefore \mathfrak{C}_{π} decomposes into two classes under \mathfrak{A}_n , each with an equal number of elements, or it does not decompose. The latter takes place if and only if π commutes with an odd permutation. This last is equivalent to the condition: There is an $\mathfrak{a}_{2i} > 0$ or an $\mathfrak{a}_{2i+1} > 1$.

§ 10. A Theorem of Frobenius

The following theorem is not yet fitted into a wider context in a satisfactory way.

THEOREM OF FROBENIUS: The number of solutions of $x^n = c$, where c belongs to a fixed class \mathfrak{C} of h elements conjugate under a finite group \mathfrak{G} of order N, is divisible by the greatest common divisor of hn and N.

Proof: The complex consisting of those elements in (3) whose *n*-th powers lie in the complex \Re is denoted by $\mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}$. Let $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}$ be the number of elements in $\mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}$. If N=1, then the theorem is true. Now let N>1 and let the theorem be proven for groups whose order is less than N. If n=1, then $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}=h$. Therefore the statement is true. Now let n>1 and let the statement be proven for all smaller *n*. (We are using induction twice) Since the elements in \mathfrak{C} are conjugate under (3), $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}=h\cdot\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{e},\mathfrak{n}}$. $\mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{e},\mathfrak{n}}$ lies in the normalizer N_e of *c*. If h>1, then, applying the induction hypothesis to N_e , we find* that $\left(n,\frac{N}{h}\right)/\mathcal{A}_{e,\mathfrak{n}}$, and therefore $(hn, N)/\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}$.

Now let h = 1. If $n = n_1 n_2$, $(n_1, n_2) = 1$, $n_1, n_2 + 1$ and if $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{G}, n_i}$ then $\mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{G}, n} = \mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{D}, n_i}$. By the induction hypothesis (n_i, N) is a divisor of $A_{\mathfrak{D}, n_i}$, and therefore also a divisor of $A_{\mathfrak{G}, n}$. Similarly it follows that (n_z, N) is a divisor of $A_{\mathfrak{G}, n}$ and since n_i is relatively prime to n_z , we have (n, N) as divisor of $A_{\mathfrak{G}, n}$.

It can now be assumed that $n = p^a$ is the *a*-th power of a prime number p with a > 0. If p divides the order ϱ of c, then an element xin $\mathfrak{A}_{c,n}$ has the order $n \cdot \varrho$. Then exactly n elements of $\mathfrak{A}_{c,n}$ lie in (x), and all these n elements generate the same subgroup, namely (x). The number of elements in $\mathfrak{A}_{c,n}$ is consequently divisible by n.

Finally we may assume that *n* is relatively prime to the order of the center element *c*. All the elements of the center whose order is prime to *n* form a subgroup g of G of order *g* prime to n^{1} Since every element in g is an *n*-th power², the equation $c_{1} = c_{2} x^{n}$ is solvable in g for every pair of elements c_{1}, c_{2} , and since g lies in the center of G, we have $A_{\varepsilon_{1},n} = A_{\varepsilon_{2},n}$. It now follows from the class equation that

$$N = \sum_{\mathfrak{G} \not\subseteq \mathfrak{g}} A_{\mathfrak{G}, n} + g \cdot A_{c, n}.$$

In the above, N and all the $A_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}$ with $\mathfrak{G} \leq \mathfrak{g}$ are divisible by (n, N). Therefore $g \cdot A_{\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{n}}$ is divisible by (n, N). Since (g, n) = 1, we have

 $(n, N)/A_{c,n},$

Q.E.D.

^{*} Since the index of No equals h. (Ed.)

¹ See Exercises 2, 3 at the end of the Chapter.

² See Exercise 3 at the end of the Chapter.

Exercises

Exercises

1. The complex of all n-th powers of elements of a complex \Re in a group is denoted by \Re $_{n}$. The complex of all elements in \Re whose n-th power is equal to e is denoted by \Re $_{n}$.

We have

$$\mathfrak{K}^{1} = \mathfrak{K}, \ \mathfrak{K}^{-1} = \mathfrak{K}^{-1}, \ \mathfrak{K}^{\underline{n}\underline{m}} = (\mathfrak{K}^{\underline{n}})^{\underline{m}}, \ \mathfrak{K}_{\underline{n}} \cap \mathfrak{K}_{\underline{m}} = \mathfrak{K}_{(\underline{n},\underline{m})}$$

2. If a commutes with b then

$$(ab)^n = a^n b^n$$

and the order of ab is a divisor of the least common multiple of the orders of a and b.

3. If the rational integer n is relatively prime to the order of \mathfrak{G} then $\mathfrak{G}^{(n)} = \mathfrak{G}$. (Exercises 4-6 in Burnside.)

4. In a group G if the equation

$$(ab)^n = a^n b^n$$

holds for every pair a, b of group elements, then \mathfrak{G}^n and \mathfrak{G}_n are subgroups of \mathfrak{G} . Then, moreover, $\mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{G}^n = \mathfrak{G}_n: 1$.

(Hint: The elements of \mathfrak{G} whose *n*-th power is a fixed element of \mathfrak{G} form a (right) coset of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{G}_n .)

G n-1 commutes elementwise with G n. (Young.)

5. If \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{B} are finite subgroups of the group \mathfrak{G} , then $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{B}$ contains exactly $(\mathfrak{U}:1)(\mathfrak{B}:1)$ elements

 $(\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{B}: 1)$

6. If the index of the normal subgroup \Re of a finite group \emptyset is relatively prime to the order *n* of \Re , then \Re contains every subgroup of \emptyset whose order is a divisor of *n*. (Use Exercise 5.)

7. The alternating permutation group of n > 2 letters can be generated by (123), (124), ..., (12n).

8. A well known puzzle requires that 15 numbered stones on a board divided into 16 squares be moved horizontally and vertically until we obtain the situation of Fig. 1, p. 30.

We may assume that in the initial position the lower right corner of the board is vacant, so that the initial position can be described uniquely, with the use of Fig. 1, by a permutation of the fifteen letters. It is to be shown that Fig. 1 is attainable precisely when the permutation for the initial position is even. (Generalization?)

9. If \mathfrak{A} is a normal subgroup of the finite group \mathfrak{G} , then a normal multiplication table of \mathfrak{G} can be constructed so that it is possible to divide the table into squares having the following properties:

1). Each square contains the same number of compartments. (The number of squares is $(\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A})^2$.

2). The rows of each square are the same to within the order of elements.

3). The square in the upper left corner contains exactly the elements of \mathfrak{N} (Example, Fig. 2).

What sort of elements are in a square?

Conversely if it is possible to divide a normal multiplication table of G into squares, such that 1, 2. hold and e is in the upper left corner of a square, then it is to be shown that we have a division into squares with respect to a normal subgroup.

I. Elements of Group Theory

What divisions of G occur if we omit the condition that the multiplication table be normal?

| 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | e | a | | b |
|----|-----|------|----|---|--------|---|---|
| 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | a | e | l | c |
| 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | b | C | | e |
| 13 | 14 | 15 | | | ь | | a |
| | Fig | . 1. | | - | Fig. 2 | | |

10. If $\mathfrak F$ is a set of complexes of a given group with the properties: 1). Every element in $\mathfrak G$ is in at least one of the complexes of $\mathfrak F$.

2). No complex in F is a proper subset of any other complex of F.

3). The product of two complexes in F is contained in a third complex of F, then F is the set of cosets of G, with respect to a normal subgroup, and F is a group.

Additional Exercises

11. Let U, % be two subgroups of finite index in the group G. Denote by US:U the number of right cosets modulo U in US and by US:S the number of left cosets modulo S in US. Show that

a) $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{V}:\mathfrak{U}=\mathfrak{V}\mathfrak{U}:\mathfrak{U}=\mathfrak{V}:(\mathfrak{U}\wedge\mathfrak{V}).$

b) $\mathfrak{G}:(\mathfrak{U} \land \mathfrak{F}) = (\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{U})(\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{F}:\mathfrak{F}) = (\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{F}:\mathfrak{U})(\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{F}) \leq (\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{U})(\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{F}).$

c) If $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}$ and $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{B}$ are coprime then $\mathfrak{G}:(\mathfrak{U} \land \mathfrak{B}) = (\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{U})(\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{B}).$

12. Let a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n be *n* elements, not necessarily distinct, of a group of order *n*. Show that there exist integers *p* and *q*, $1 \le p \le q \le n$, such that $a_ra_{r+1} \ldots a_q = e$. (Moser.)

13. Let \mathfrak{G} be a group and let \mathfrak{R} be a complex consisting of the elements a_i, a_z, \ldots, a_n of \mathfrak{G} such that \mathfrak{R}^* does not contain e. Consider the n^* (not necessarily distinct) elements of \mathfrak{G} of the form $a_i a_j$ and prove that at most n(n-1)/2 of these products are themselves in \mathfrak{R} . (*Hint*: One has $a_i a_j = a_i$ as often as $a_i a_j = a_i$.)

Seek the best estimate for the number of elements in $\Re^2 - \Re$ depending only on *n*. (Moser.)

14. Decomposition with respect to a double module.

a) For any two subgroups \mathfrak{l} and \mathfrak{B} of a group \mathfrak{G} a normal congruence relation is defined by the rule: $a \equiv b \pmod{\mathfrak{l}}$, \mathfrak{B}) if b = uav with $u \in \mathfrak{l}$, $v \in \mathfrak{B}$.

b) For a given representative system a_1, a_2, \ldots modulo $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}$ there is the decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \Sigma \ \mathfrak{U} a_1 \mathfrak{B}$ of \mathfrak{G} into residue classes with respect to the double module $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}$. The residue class $\mathfrak{U} a_1 \mathfrak{B}$ consists of $\mathfrak{B}: (\mathfrak{B} \land a_1^{-1} \mathfrak{U} a_1)$ right cosets of \mathfrak{G} modulo \mathfrak{U} or of $\mathfrak{U}: (\mathfrak{U} \land a_1 \mathfrak{B} a_1^{-1})$ left cosets of \mathfrak{G} modulo \mathfrak{P} .

c) Is it possible to interpret the left congruence modulo a given subgroup \mathfrak{ll} as a congruence with respect to a suitable double module? Is there a similar possibility for right congruence? What is the congruence with respect to a double module $\mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{R}$ if \mathfrak{R} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} ?

15. A set \mathfrak{G} is called a *groupoid* if for certain ordered pairs of elements a, b of \mathfrak{G} the product ab is uniquely defined in \mathfrak{G} in such a way that

a(bc) = (ab)c

Ĭ.

in the sense that whenever one side of the equation can be formed in \mathfrak{G} , the other side can also be formed, and both sides are equal,

II. with any two elements a, b of \mathfrak{G} there can be associated at least one element x such that both ax and xb are defined in \mathfrak{G} ,

III. if a, b have a common left multiplier x such that both xa and xb are defined, then the equation ay = b can be solved, and if c, d have a common right multiplier, then the equation ua = b can be solved.

Trivial example: Let Σ be a system of sets with the same cardinality. The set $\mathfrak{G}(\Sigma)$ of all one-to-one correspondences between any two (not necessarily different) sets in Σ is a groupoid, if the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and the one-to-one mapping π of S, onto S, and only if $S_n = S$, where the product π_{ρ} is defined according to the rule $(\pi_{\rho})x = \pi(\rho x)$ for $x \in S$, which first occurred in § 2.

We may interpret a groupoid & as a semi-group with special properties by doing the following:

(1) Introduce a new symbol n.

(2) Extend the given multiplication in \mathfrak{G} , enlarged by n, by defining ab = n whenever ab is not defined in \mathfrak{G} and an = na = nn = n for any element a in \mathfrak{G} .

16. Using the definition of a groupoid G as given in the preceding exercise prove that:

a) For each element a there exists a left unit e_a and a right unit $_ae$ such that $e_aa = a = a_ae$.

b) If a, b have a common left multiplier then a left unit of a is a left unit of b. Show that $e_a e_a$ is defined, and hence $e_a e_a = e_a$.

c) For each left unit e_a of a there is an inverse a^{-1} satisfying $aa^{-1} = e_a$. Deduce from the equations

$$e_a' = e_a e_a' = (a a^{-1}) e_a' = a (a^{-1} e_a')$$

 $a^{-1} e_a' = a^{-1}$

which are valid for any left unit e_a' of a that there is only one left unit of a. Similarly, show there is only one right unit of a.

- d) $a^{-1}a = {}_{a}e, e_{a^{-1}} = {}_{a}e, a^{-1}e = e_{a}.$
- e) There is only one inverse of a.
- f) $(a^{-1})^{-1} = a$.
- g) (Uniqueness of division.) If ay = b, then $y = a^{-1}b$. If uc = d, then $u = dc^{-1}$.
- h) $(ab)^{-1} = b^{-1}a^{-1}$.

i) Those elements having a given unit e as their left and right unit form a group \mathfrak{G}_{ϵ} .

(Exercises 17-21 inclusive extend the concepts of § 4.)

17. Any congruence relation R generates a normal congruence relation R^* as follows: $R^*(a, b)$ is true if and only if there is a chain of elements $a = a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n = b$ such that for any two consecutive elements a_1, a_1, \ldots at least one of the three statements

 $a_i = a_{i+1}, R(a_i, a_{i+1}), R(a_{i+1}, a_i)$

is true, R^* is called the ancestral relation of R.

Example: The relation "b is child of a" generates the relation "c and d have a common ancestor."

18. Show that:

a) By symmetrization of the binary relation R on a set \mathfrak{M} one obtains the symmetric relation R' defined by: $a R^{s} b$ if and only if a R b or b R a, such that every symmetric relation implying R also implies R^{s} ;

b) By forming the ancestral relation of R one obtains the transitive relation R^a defined by: $aR^a b$ if and only if there is a finite chain: $a = a_0$, $a_R R a_1$, $a_R a_5$, ..., $a_n \dots R a_n$, $a_n = b$ (n > 0) such that every transitive relation implying R also implies R^a (note that the ancestral relation of 'a is parent of b' is 'a sancestor of b'); c) The ancestral relation of a symmetric relation is symmetric, but the symmetrization of a transitive relation need not be transitive;

d) By normalization of R one obtains the normal relation R^n defined by: $a R^n b$ if and only if there is a finite chain $a = a_0, a_1, R a_{1+1}$ or $a_{21} = a_{21+1}, a_{21+1}$ or $a_{21+2} = a_{21+1}$ ($i = 0, 1, 2, \dots, n \leftarrow 1; n > 0$), $a_1 = b$, such that every normal relation implying R also implies R^n ,

e) If R is reflexive and symmetric, then Rⁿ = R^a.

19. A multiplicative domain is a set \emptyset in which a multiplication is uniquely defined. For any subset \Re of \emptyset we define the right congruence modulo \Re as the ancestral relation of the relation $a \equiv ak$ for $a \in \emptyset$, $k \in \Re$. Similarly, we define left congruence modulo \Re as the ancestral relation generated from $a \equiv ka$ for $a \in \emptyset$, $k \in \Re$.

With these definitions we can introduce left cosets, right representative systems, right cosets, left representative systems modulo &.

Both left and right congruence modulo the empty set coincide with the equality relation in $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{G}}$.

If \mathfrak{G} has a unit element e and if e is in \mathfrak{K} , then the right coset \mathfrak{ll} represented by e is closed under multiplication and coincides with the left coset represented by e modulo \mathfrak{K} . It is the smallest subset of \mathfrak{G} containing \mathfrak{K} and closed under multiplication

If \mathfrak{G} is a semigroup then right (left) congruence modulo \mathfrak{K} coincides with right (left) congruence modulo \mathfrak{U} .

Give examples in which the number of left cosets is different from the number of right cosets modulo \Re .

20. If It is a subgroup of the semigroup 64, then right (left) congruence modulo II, as defined in the preceding exercise, has the same meaning as in groups. Each coset contains as many elements as II.

21. If \mathfrak{G} is a group, then right (left) congruence modulo a subset \mathfrak{K} coincides with the same relation modulo the smallest subgroup of \mathfrak{G} containing \mathfrak{K} .

(Exercises 22-28 extend the concepts of \S 8.)

22. Every subgroup of an abelian semigroup is normal.

23. The ancestral relation of a multiplicative and reflexive congruence relation is a multiplicative normal congruence relation.

24. Let (9 be a multiplicative domain with a subset \Re . The ancestral relation of the relation " $a \equiv b$ if and only if there is a factorization of both a and b with the same number of factors, and with the same distribution of brackets such that corresponding factors are either right congruent modulo \Re or left congruent modulo \Re " is a normal multiplicative congruence relation $NM(\Re)$.

If \Re is empty, then $NM(\Re)$ coincides with the equality relation.

It is always true that all elements of \mathfrak{R} belong to the same residue class \mathfrak{R}^* modulo $NM(\mathfrak{R})$. Show that $NM(\mathfrak{R})$ coincides with $NM(\mathfrak{R}^*)$ and that \mathfrak{R}^* is closed under multiplication. I. Elements of Group Theory

25. A normal divisor of the multiplicative domain (9) may be defined as a nonempty subset \mathfrak{N} , closed under multiplication, such that a product in \mathfrak{N} of several elements of (9) remains in \mathfrak{N} after any one of its factors has been multiplied from the left or the right by an element of \mathfrak{N} .

Show that any normal divisor \mathfrak{R} of \mathfrak{G} is a residue class (called the unit residue class) of the multiplicative normal congruence relation $NM(\mathfrak{R})$ generated by the rule $au \equiv ua \equiv a$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{G}$, $u \in \mathfrak{R}$, and, conversely, show that the subset \mathfrak{R}^* constructed at the end of the preceding exercise is a normal divisor of \mathfrak{G} . (*E.Lyapin*).

26. If there is a unit residue class \Re , as defined in the preceding exercise, for a certain multiplicative normal congruence relation R, then \Re is a normal divisor of \mathfrak{G} and the other residue classes with respect to R are obtained by uniting some of the residue classes re $NM(\mathfrak{R})$, i.e. R is somewhat of a blurring of $NM(\mathfrak{R})$.

27. (3 is a normal divisor of (3. What is NM((3))?

28. In a group, the notion of the normal divisor as defined in 25. coincides with the notion of normal subgroup.

II. THE CONCEPT OF HOMOMORPHY AND GROUPS WITH OPERATORS

§ 1. Homomorphisms

1. The Concept of Homomorphy.

Let 6 and 6 be sets in which a multiplication is uniquely defined (multiplicative domains).

DEFINITION: A single valued mapping of the elements in (6) onto a certain subset of $(6)^*$ is called a *homomorphy*, if the product of two elements is mapped onto the product of the image elements.

Example: The mapping, defined on page 8, of \mathfrak{S}_n into the group consisting of ± 1 is a homomorphy.

If the image of x is denoted by σx then σ must satisfy the functional equation:

$$\sigma(xy) = \sigma x \cdot \sigma y$$

The homomorphy is said to be a homomorphic mapping or a homomorphism if every element of \mathfrak{G}^* is an image element. \mathfrak{G}^* is said to be homomorphic to \mathfrak{G} . We denote this by: $\mathfrak{G} \sim \mathfrak{G}^*$.

A homomorphy is a mapping *into* $(\mathfrak{g}^*$ while a homomorphism is a mapping *onto* \mathfrak{G}^* .

Example: From Chapter I. § 6 we see that the mapping of the group of surface rotations of a regular tetrahedron into \mathfrak{S}_4 is a homomorphy, but onto \mathfrak{A}_4 the mapping is a homomorphism.

Under every homomorphy the set $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ of image elements is homomorphic to \mathfrak{G} .

The relation of homomorphy is transitive. If $x \to \sigma x$ is a homomorphy of \mathfrak{G} into \mathfrak{G}^* and $x^* \to \tau x^*$ a homomorphy of \mathfrak{G}^* into \mathfrak{G}^{**} , then the product of τ by σ is defined by means of the equation: $\tau \sigma x = \tau(\sigma x)$.

 $\tau\sigma$ is a single-valued mapping of the elements of G onto a certain subset of G**.

Since.

$$(\tau\sigma)(xy) = \tau(\sigma(xy)) = \tau(\sigma x \cdot \sigma y) = \tau(\sigma x) \cdot \tau(\sigma y) = \tau \sigma x \cdot \tau \sigma y,$$

 $\tau\sigma$ is a homomorphy of (6) into (6**. We have the following rule for calculation with homomorphies:

If $\tau \sigma$ and $\varrho \tau$ are defined, then $\varrho(\tau \sigma)$ and $(\varrho \tau)\sigma$ are also defined and $\varrho(\tau \sigma) = (\rho \tau)\sigma = \rho \tau \sigma$.

The defining equation $(\sigma \tau)x = \sigma(\tau x)$ shows that $\sigma \tau x$ can be written instead of $(\sigma \tau)x$ without misunderstanding. Thus the homomorphy relation is transitive.

From (8~(8*, (8*~(8** it follows that (8 ~ 6**.

The homomorphy relation is reflexive. That is, the identity mapping $\underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}}$ of \mathfrak{G} , defined by $\underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}} x = x$, has \mathfrak{G} as its set of images.

If we speak of the product of two homomorphies, then it will be assumed at the same time that it is definable in terms of the above relations.

In this sense

$$\sigma \underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}} = \sigma \text{ and } \underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}} \sigma = \sigma.$$

The image of the complex \Re in \mathfrak{G} under the homomorphy σ is denoted by $\sigma \mathfrak{K}$. If \Re is a multiplicative subdomain, then \Re is mapped homomorphically onto $\sigma \Re$ by σ .

We say σ induces a homomorphy of \Re into \Im^* .

The homomorphic image of a group U in G is a group:

If \mathfrak{U} is a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , then it follows from $x, y \in \mathfrak{U}$ that $xy \in \mathfrak{U}$; therefore $\sigma x \cdot \sigma y = \sigma(xy) \in \sigma \mathfrak{U}$; $(\sigma x \cdot \sigma y) \sigma z = \sigma x (\sigma y \cdot \sigma z) = \sigma(xyz)$.

Furthermore ex = xe = x, $\sigma e \cdot \sigma x = \sigma x \cdot \sigma e = \sigma x$; therefore σe is the unit element of σu . We have $\sigma(xx^{-1}) = \sigma x \cdot \sigma(x^{-1}) = \sigma e$ and therefore $\sigma(x^{-1})$ is the inverse of σx . Therefore σu is a group.

If $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ is a subgroup of the image domain \mathfrak{G} , then the set of all the elements of \mathfrak{G} whose image is in $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ forms a subgroup \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{G} , and

Every element in $\overline{\mathfrak{u}}$ is of the form σx for x in \mathfrak{U} ; if $x, y \in \mathfrak{U}$, then $\sigma(x y) = \sigma x \cdot \sigma y \in \overline{\mathfrak{u}}, xy \in \mathfrak{U}, \sigma(x^{-1}) = (\sigma x)^{-1} \in \overline{\mathfrak{u}}, x^{-1} \in \mathfrak{U}.$

2. The Isomorphy Concept.

If a group \mathfrak{G} is mapped onto the group $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ homomorphically, then multiplication in $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ parallels that in \mathfrak{G} . However, we consider two groups as the same in abstract group theory only if their tables differ merely in notation, order of rows and columns: Homomorphic groups are not always equivalent in the abstract sense. If, for example, the group \mathfrak{G} contains more than one element, then there is a homomorphism of \mathfrak{G} which maps every element of \mathfrak{G} onto the unit element, but the tables of \mathfrak{G} and e have a different number of rows.

36

Those homomorphic mappings under which the table of the group is preserved are called *isomorphic mappings*. That the homomorphic mapping is *one-one* is necessary and sufficient for the latter.

DEFINITION: A homomorphy σ of the multiplicative domain (9) into the multiplicative domain (9)* is called an *isomorphy*, if (9) is mapped onto the set (6) of image elements in a one-one manner, i.e., if $\sigma x = \sigma y$ implies x = y.

An isomorphy which is a also homomorphic mapping is called an *isomorphic mapping* (*isomorphism*). \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ under every isomorphy.

Example: The group of rotations of an equilateral triangle is isomorphic to \mathfrak{S}_3 ; the group of rotations of a regular tetrahedron is isomorphic to \mathfrak{A}_4 (§ 6 of the previous chapter).

The existence of an isomorphic mapping of \mathfrak{G} onto $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ is denoted by $\mathfrak{G} \simeq \overline{\mathfrak{G}}$.

The three well-known rules hold for isomorphism:

1) The identity isomorphism maps (8 onto itself.

2) If $\mathfrak{G} \simeq \overline{\mathfrak{G}}$, $\overline{\mathfrak{G}} \simeq \overline{\mathfrak{G}}$, then $\mathfrak{G} \simeq \overline{\mathfrak{G}}$, since $\sigma \tau x = \sigma \tau y$ implies $\tau x = \tau y$ and x = y.

3) If $\mathfrak{G} \simeq \overline{\mathfrak{G}}$, then every element y in $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ can be written uniquely in the form $y = \sigma x$. $\sigma^{-1}y = x$ now defines an isomorphic mapping of $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ onto \mathfrak{G} : Let $y_1 = \sigma x_1, y_2 = \sigma x_2$; then

 $\sigma^{-1}(y_1y_2) = \sigma^{-1}(\sigma x_1 \cdot \sigma x_2) = \sigma^{-1}(\sigma (x_1x_2)) = x_1x_2 = \sigma^{-1}y_1 \cdot \sigma^{-1}y_2.$

Moreover, the mapping σ^{-1} is one-one, since σ is one-one. Therefore it follows from $\mathfrak{G} \simeq \mathfrak{G}$ that $\mathfrak{G} \simeq \mathfrak{G}$. Calculation with inverse mappings satisfies the following rules:

If the equation $\tau \sigma = \underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}}$ is solvable for a homomorphy σ , then σ is an isomorphy, since $\sigma x = \sigma y$ implies $\tau \sigma x = \tau \sigma y$ and therefore x = y.

An isomorphic mapping can also be defined as a homomorphy for which $\tau \sigma = \underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}}$ and $\sigma \varrho = \underline{1}_{\mathfrak{G}^*}$ are solvable. Then for all $y \in \mathfrak{G}^* : y = \sigma \varrho y$ and therefore $\mathfrak{G}^* = \mathfrak{G}$. Moreover $\tau = \varrho = \sigma^{-1}$.

3. Factor Group. Isomorphy Theorems.

Under what circumstances is it possible to read off the multiplication table of a homomorphic image of a given group (% from the multiplication table of (% itself?

We have first the following theorem:

If \mathfrak{R} is a normal subgroup of (9, then there is a homomorphism σ of (9 under which the set of elements of (9 mapped onto σe is precisely \mathfrak{R} .

We set $\sigma a = a \mathfrak{N}$, Then $\sigma(ab) = ab \mathfrak{N} = a(b \mathfrak{N}) \mathfrak{N} = a \mathfrak{N} \cdot b \mathfrak{N} = \sigma a \cdot \sigma b$.

From the above we realize that the set of cosets of \mathfrak{G} with respect to a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} form a group homomorphic to \mathfrak{G} . The group of residue classes of a group \mathfrak{G} with respect to a normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} is called a *factor group* and is denoted by $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$. The order of a factor group is equal to $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{R}$. The unit element of the factor group is the normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} .

If, conversely, the left cosets, formed with respect to a subgroup, form a group under the usual complex multiplication, then the subgroup is a normal subgroup, as we saw previously.

FIRST ISOMORHISM THEOREM: Under a homomorphism σ of a given group \mathfrak{G} onto a group $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$, all the elements of \mathfrak{G} which are mapped onto the unit element of $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ form a normal subgroup \mathfrak{G} of \mathfrak{G} , called the kernel of σ . The factor group of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$.

Proof: All the elements of \mathfrak{G} which are mapped on the unit element \overline{e} of \mathfrak{G} under σ form a subgroup \mathfrak{E} .

 $\sigma(a\mathfrak{G}) = \sigma a$ gives a one-valued mapping.

 $\sigma(a \mathfrak{E} \cdot b \mathfrak{E}) = \sigma(ab \mathfrak{E}) = \sigma(ab) = \sigma a \cdot \sigma b = \sigma(a \mathfrak{E}) \cdot \sigma(b \mathfrak{E}).$

From $\sigma(a \mathfrak{E}) = \sigma(\mathfrak{E}) = \sigma e$ it follows that $\sigma a = \sigma e$; and therefore

Therefore

 $a\in \mathfrak{E},\; a\mathfrak{E}=\mathfrak{E}.$

$$i \mathfrak{E} \cdot b \mathfrak{E} = a b \mathfrak{E},$$

 \mathfrak{G} is a normal subgroup, and from the isomorphism it follows that the homomorphic image of \mathfrak{G} has the same table as the factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}$. Therefore the question of the multiplication tables of homomorphic images will be resolved if we can give all the normal subgroups of the original group. (See Exercises 9, 10 at the end of Chap. I.)

SECOND ISOMORPHISM THEOREM: If \mathfrak{U} is a subgroup and \mathfrak{N} is a normal subgroup of the group (9, then the intersection $\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N}$ is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{U} and

 $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U} \wedge \mathfrak{N} \simeq \mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N}.$

The isomorphism is obtained by means of the mapping:

 $U(\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N}) \rightarrow U(\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N}) \cdot \mathfrak{N} = U\mathfrak{N}.$

Proof: The homomorphism $a \to a \mathfrak{N}$ of \mathfrak{G} onto $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$ is again denoted by σ . Then $\mathfrak{U} \sim \sigma \mathfrak{U}$. Under the mapping of \mathfrak{U} onto $\sigma \mathfrak{U}$, precisely the elements of $\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N}$ map onto e; therefore $\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N}$ is a normal subgroup

38

of \mathfrak{U} , and $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N} \simeq \sigma \mathfrak{U}$. If we replace \mathfrak{U} by $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}$ then the same argument shows that $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N} \simeq \sigma \mathfrak{U}$. The theorem follows from both isomorphisms.

If \mathfrak{H} is a normal subgroup of the group \mathfrak{G} , then for every homomorphism σ the group $\mathfrak{H} = \sigma \mathfrak{H}$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{G} = \sigma \mathfrak{G}$ since $\sigma x \cdot \mathfrak{H}(\sigma x)^{-1} = \sigma(x \mathfrak{H} x^{-1}) = \sigma \mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}$. If, conversely, \mathfrak{H} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , then all the elements of \mathfrak{G} whose image is in \mathfrak{H} form a normal subgroup \mathfrak{H} of \mathfrak{G} , since

$$\sigma(x\,\mathfrak{H}\,x^{-1}) = \sigma(x)\,\overline{\mathfrak{H}}\,(\sigma x)^{-1} = \overline{\mathfrak{H}},$$

and therefore $x \mathfrak{H} x^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{H}$. Information on the relation between factor groups is given by the

THIRD ISOMORPHISM THEOREM: Let σ be a homomorphic mapping of \mathfrak{G} onto \mathfrak{G} . Let \mathfrak{E} be the normal subgroup composed of the elements of \mathfrak{G} which map onto the unit element of \mathfrak{G} ; let \mathfrak{F} be a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , let \mathfrak{H} be the group of elements in \mathfrak{G} whose image falls in \mathfrak{F} .

Then § is a normal subgroup of G, and

$$\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{H} \simeq \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{H} \simeq \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}.$$

Proof: We have $\mathfrak{G} \sim \mathfrak{G}$ and $\mathfrak{G} \sim \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}$. Under the second homomorphism exactly the elements of \mathfrak{F} map onto the identity coset \mathfrak{F} . Under the first homomorphism precisely the elements of \mathfrak{F} map onto \mathfrak{F} . Therefore $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F} \simeq \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}$. If we set $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}$, then $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F} \simeq \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}/\mathfrak{F}$.

§ 2. Representation of Groups by Means of Permutations

We want to find the homomorphisms of given abstract groups onto permutation groups.

DEFINITION: A single-valued mapping $x \to \pi_x$ of the elements x of a group (3) onto the permutations π_x of ω letters is called a representation of (3) (as a permutation group) of degree a if

$$\pi_{xy} = \pi_x \cdot \pi_y.$$

All permutations π_x form a group \mathfrak{B} , the representation group.

A representation is said to be faithful if the homomorphy induced by the representation is an isomorphy.

Two representations Δ , Δ' by means of letters from \mathfrak{M}_1 , \mathfrak{M}_2 respectively, are said to be *equivalent* if there is a 1-1 mapping $a \to a'$ of the letters of \mathfrak{M}_1 onto those of \mathfrak{M}_2 such that $(\pi_z a)' = \pi_z' a'$ for all x; in short if the representations are the same except for the naming of the letters.

If the permuted letters form a system of transitivity under **B**, then

the permutation group B and the representation of (8 by B are called transitive, otherwise they are called intransitive.

If \mathfrak{T} is a system of transitivity of \mathfrak{P} , then $\pi_{\mathbf{x}'} = \begin{pmatrix} t \\ \pi_{-t} \end{pmatrix}$, where $t \in \mathfrak{T}$, is a permutation of letters in \mathfrak{T} , and the mapping $x \to \pi_{x'}$ gives a transitive representation $\Delta_{\mathbf{r}}$ of (6. The representation group belonging to $\Delta_{\mathbf{x}}$ is called a *transitive component* of the original representation.

Since, clearly, every representation can be constructed from the transitive sub-representations, it is sufficient to investigate the transitive representations of a given group (%.

Let a transitive representation Δ of degree ω of the group (9 be given. We choose a letter a and consider two elements of (8) to be in the same class if the corresponding permutations have the same effect on the letter a. With the help of this decomposition into classes, a normal congruence relation is definable. Moreover, $x \equiv y$ implies $\pi_x a = \pi_y a$, which implies $\pi_{zx}a = \pi_z\pi_xa = \pi_z\pi_ya = \pi_{zy}a$, and thus $zx \equiv zy$; therefore we have a right congruence with respect to the subgroup & which consists of all elements of (8 whose corresponding permutation leaves the letter a fixed. If we call the left coset consisting of all elements x for which $\pi_x a = b$, R_b , then

$$y R_b = R_{\pi_y b}$$
 or also $\pi_y = {R_b \choose y R_b}$.

The subgroups $\mathfrak{G}_a, \mathfrak{G}_b, \ldots$ form a family of conjugate subgroups of \mathfrak{G} , since $x \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{a}} x^{-1} = \mathfrak{G}_{\pi_{\mathfrak{a}} \mathfrak{a}}$. The same family of conjugate subgroups belongs to all equivalent transitive representations of \mathfrak{G} . Conversely we assert: If \mathfrak{l} is a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} and $\mathfrak{G} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} R_i$ is the

decomposition of \mathfrak{G} into left cosets with respect to \mathfrak{U} , then the mapping

$$x \to \pi_x = \begin{pmatrix} R_i \\ x R_i \end{pmatrix}$$

is a transitive representation of degree ω of \mathfrak{B} as a permutation aroun of left cosets.

In fact $x R_i$ is also a coset; moreover

$$\pi_{xy} = \binom{R_i}{x \, y \, R_i} = \binom{R_i}{x \, R_i} \binom{R_i}{y \, R_i} = \pi_x \pi_y$$

and $\pi_{e} = {R_{i} \choose R} = 1$; therefore the π_{x} are permutations and the mapping $x \rightarrow \pi_x$ is a homomorphy. Transitivity follows from the remark that for every index pair i, k the equation $xR_i = R_k$ is solvable. The transitive representation just found is called the representation belonging to \mathfrak{U} . Equivalent representations belong to conjugate subgroups and to them only.

The degree of the representation belonging to \mathfrak{U} is equal to the index of \mathfrak{U} in \mathfrak{G} .

Under the representation belonging to l, exactly those elements in the intersection \mathfrak{N} of all the subgroups conjugate to l are mapped onto \underline{l} . Consequently the representation group is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$ and the representation is faithful only when $\mathfrak{N} = e$.

We denote the corresponding representation group by \mathfrak{G}_n and the image of a subset $\,\,\Re\,$ of G by $\,\,\Re_n.$

If the subgroup \mathfrak{U} is of finite index in \mathfrak{G} , then the representation group is finite, and conversely.

The left and right representative systems of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{U} go into left and right representative systems of $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{U}}$ with respect to $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{U}}$ and conversely; therefore Theorem 4 of Chap. I. holds for infinite groups \mathfrak{G} .

If we set $\mathfrak{U} = e$, we obtain the regular representation of \mathfrak{G} known from Chap. I., Theorem 2. The degree of the regular representation is equal to the order of \mathfrak{G} .

The representation group \mathfrak{G}_{σ} is transitive and every permutation in \mathfrak{G}_{σ} either leaves every letter fixed, or leaves none fixed.

Permutation groups with the two preceding properties are called *regular permutation groups*. Regular permutation groups are their own regular representations. *Moreover, every transitive representation group* of an abelian group is regular (since every subgroup is a normal subgroup.)

The permutations π of a regular permutation group have the property that $\pi^{i}a = a$ implies $\pi^{i} = 1$.

Permutations with this last property are said to be regular. A permutation of a finite number of letters is regular if and only if all its cycles are of the same length.

A transitive permutation group consisting of regular permutations only is a regular permutation group.

How does the representation of a group \mathfrak{H} , properly between \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{G} , look in the transitive representation group $\mathfrak{P}=\mathfrak{G}_u$?

We decompose $\mathfrak{G} = \sum_{1}^{r} G_{i} \mathfrak{H}$ and $\mathfrak{H} = \sum_{1}^{r} H_{k} \mathfrak{U}$ into left cosets and observe that the multiplication of left cosets of \mathfrak{G} (with respect to \mathfrak{U}) by any x in \mathfrak{G} permutes them in bundles: Either the cosets of $\mathfrak{G}(\mathfrak{U}r)$ in a

complex $G_{k}\mathfrak{H}$ are left there or they are mapped onto a complex $G_{k}\mathfrak{H}$ disjoint from it.

Therefore there is a decomposition of the aggregate \mathfrak{M} of the permuted objects into mutually disjoint systems $\mathfrak{F}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{F}_r$, each containing s elements and such that the permutations in \mathfrak{P} permute the systems $\mathfrak{F}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{F}_r$ and r>1, s>1.

We call the system \Im_1, \ldots, \Im_r a family of (conjugate) systems of imprimitivity.

If the letters permuted by a transitive permutation group \mathfrak{P} can be decomposed into a family of systems of imprimitivity, then \mathfrak{P} is said to be imprimitive. Otherwise \mathfrak{P} is said to be *primitive*.

Correspondingly, the representation of \mathfrak{G} by \mathfrak{U} is said to be primitive or imprimitive according as the representation group $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{U}}$ is primitive or imprimitive.

To a decomposition of the totality \mathfrak{M} of permuted objects of a transitive representation group $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{u}}$ of the group \mathfrak{G} into a family of systems $\mathfrak{Z}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{Z}_r$ of imprimitivity, there belongs a group \mathfrak{F} properly between \mathfrak{G} and \mathfrak{U} such that the left cosets of $\mathfrak{G}(\mathfrak{U}_r)$ in \mathfrak{F}_r form a left coset of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{H} .

Let us suppose that the left coset \mathfrak{U} of $\mathfrak{G}(\mathfrak{U}r)$ is in \mathfrak{F}_1 . Then we say two elements of \mathfrak{G} are congruent if their corresponding permutations map \mathfrak{F}_1 onto the same \mathfrak{F}_r . This is a normal congruence relation. Furthermore it follows from $\pi \equiv \varrho$ that $\sigma \pi \equiv \sigma \varrho$, and therefore that we are considering a right congruence of \mathfrak{G} with respect to a group \mathfrak{F} which contains \mathfrak{U} in any case. From the definition of imprimitivity and transitivity of \mathfrak{F} it follows that \mathfrak{F} is a group properly between \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{G} , thus the theorem is proven.

The transitive representation $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{u}}$ is primitive if and only if \mathfrak{l} is a maximal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . For example transitive representations of prime order are primitive.

When is a letter system \Im a system of imprimitivity? As a criterion for this we have: If \Im contains more than one, but not all, the permuted letters and if $\pi\Im \subseteq \Im$ whenever a permutation π in \Im leaves a letter of \Im in \Im , then \Im is a system of imprimitivity.

In any case the condition is necessary. If the condition is fulfilled, then two letters a and b are called congruent if there is a permutation π in \mathfrak{P} which maps a and b into \mathfrak{J} . The symmetry of the congruence is clear. Since \mathfrak{P} is transitive, the congruence is reflexive. If, moreover, $\pi a, \pi b, \varrho b, \varrho c$ are contained in \mathfrak{J} , then $\pi \varrho^{-1}(\varrho b) \in \mathfrak{J}$, and therefore by assumption $(\pi \varrho^{-1})\varrho c \in \mathfrak{J}, \pi c \in \mathfrak{J}$, so that the congruence

§ 2. Representation of Groups by Means of Permutations

relation is also transitive. Consequently the totality of permuted letters is decomposed into disjoint classes of congruent letters. Among these letter systems we find \mathfrak{F} , since two elements in \mathfrak{F} are congruent and if, on the other hand, $a \in \mathfrak{F}$, πa , $\pi b \in \mathfrak{F}$, then it follows that $\pi^{-1}(\pi a) \in \mathfrak{F}$, and therefore by assumption $\pi^{-1}(\pi b) \in \mathfrak{F}$, $b \in \mathfrak{F}$. Obviously the letter systems found in this way are conjugate under \mathfrak{P} . It follows from the assumption that \mathfrak{F} is a system of imprimitivity.

A letter system \Im of a finite number of letters is a system of imprimitivity if it contains more than one, but not all of the permuted letters, and if for a fixed letter a_0 in \Im and all permutations π in \Re , $\pi a_0 \in \Im$ implies $\pi \Im \subseteq \Im$.

Proof: For every letter a in \mathfrak{F} , there is a permutation ϱ in \mathfrak{P} which maps a_o onto a. It follows from the assumption that $\varrho\mathfrak{F} \subseteq \mathfrak{F}$, and, since \mathfrak{F} is finite, $\varrho\mathfrak{F} = \mathfrak{F}$. If $\pi a \in \mathfrak{F}$ holds for a permutation π in \mathfrak{P} , then $\pi \varrho a_0 \in \mathfrak{F}$, $\pi \varrho \mathfrak{F} = \pi \mathfrak{F} \subseteq \mathfrak{F}$. Now we need merely apply the previous criterion.

THEOREM 1: A normal subgroup $\Re \neq 1$ of a primitive permutation group \Re is transitive.

Proof: Let \mathfrak{T} be a system of transitivity of \mathfrak{R} having at least two letters and let a_0 be a letter in \mathfrak{T} . If the permutation π in \mathfrak{R} leaves the letter a_0 in \mathfrak{T} , then for any permutation r in \mathfrak{R} , $\pi r \pi^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \pi a \\ \pi r a \end{pmatrix}$ lies in \mathfrak{R} and therefore whenever πa_0 lies in \mathfrak{T} , $\pi r a_0$ lies in \mathfrak{T} also. Since $\mathfrak{R} a_0 = \mathfrak{T}$, we have $\pi \mathfrak{T} \leq \mathfrak{T}$. Since this conclusion holds for every letter a_0 in \mathfrak{T} , \mathfrak{T} is either a system of imprimitivity of \mathfrak{R} , or \mathfrak{T} contains all the letters. It follows from the assumptions that \mathfrak{R} is transitive.

As examples of primitive groups we have the *multiply transitive* permutation groups.

DEFINITION: A permutation group \mathfrak{P} is said to be *k*-tuply transitive if the number of permuted letters is at least *k* and for any two (ordered) *k*-tuples of letters (a_1, \ldots, a_k) and (b_1, \ldots, b_k) there is a permutation π in \mathfrak{P} which maps a_i onto b_i , a_c onto b_c , \ldots , a_k onto b_k .

 \mathfrak{P} is called exactly k-tuply transitive if \mathfrak{P} is k-tuply but not k+1-tuply transitive.

Every k-tuply transitive permutation group is transitive.

A permutation group \mathfrak{P} is k-tuply transitive if for a fixed k-tuple $(1, \ldots, k)$ and every k-tuple (a_1, \ldots, a_k) there is a permutation π in \mathfrak{P} which maps 1 onto a_1 , 2 onto a_2 , \ldots , k onto a_k . Then for any other k-tuple (b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_k) , there is a permutation ϱ in \mathfrak{P} which maps 1 onto b_1 .

2 onto b_2, \ldots, k onto b_k , and therefore $e^{\pi^{-1}}$ maps a_1 onto b_1, a_2 onto b_2, \ldots, a_k onto b_k .

For example, the symmetric permutation group is the only n-tuply transitive permutation group of n letters.

An (n-1)-tuply transitive permutation group of $n \ge 2$ letters is also *n*-tuply transitive and therefore symmetric.

The alternating permutation group of n > 2 letters is exactly (n-2)-tuply transitive, for one of the two permutations

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 2 \ \dots \ n \ - \ 2 \ n \ - \ 1 \ n \\ a_1 \ a_2 \ \dots \ a_{n-2} \ a_{n-1} \ a_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 2 \ \dots \ n \ - \ 2 \ n \ - \ 1 \ n \\ a_1 \ a_2 \ \dots \ a_{n-2} \ a_n \ a_{n-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

is always even.

A doubly transitive permutation group \mathfrak{P} is also said to be *multiply* transitive and is primitive. Since a permutation can be found in \mathfrak{P} which leaves a letter *a* fixed but maps a letter *b* different from *a* onto any letter $\pm a$, *a* lies in no system of imprimitivity.

A transitive permutation group \mathfrak{P} is k-tuply transitive with k > 1if the subgroup U_a of all permutations which leave a fixed permutes the remaining letters in a (k-1)-tuply transitive manner. There is a permutation π in \mathfrak{P} which maps a_1 onto a, a permutation ϱ which maps b_1 onto a and a permutation σ which leaves a fixed and maps πa_2 onto ϱb_2 , πa_5 onto ϱb_5 , ..., πa_k onto ϱb_k . But then $\varrho^{-1}\sigma\pi$ maps the letter a_1 onto b_1 , a_2 onto b_2 , ..., a_k onto b_k .

There is a conjecture that any sextuply transitive permutation group of *n*-th degree (and, apart from a finite number of exceptions, even any quadruply transitive permutation group of *n*-th degree) contains the alternating permutation group of *n*-th degree.

The construction of all finite multiply transitive permutation groups is an interesting but still unsolved problem.

§ 3. Operators and Operator Homomorphies

DEFINITION: A homomorphy of a multiplicative domain into itself is called an operator (or endomorphism).

If the image of x is denoted by x^{Θ} , then an operator Θ is defined as a single-valued mapping of \mathfrak{G} into itself with the properties

$$x^{\Theta} \in \mathfrak{G}, \ (xy)^{\Theta} = x^{\Theta} \cdot y^{\Theta} \text{ for all } x, y \in \mathfrak{G}$$

and the product of two operators Θ_1 and Θ_2 is defined by the equation

$$x^{\Theta_1 \Theta_2} = (x^{\Theta_1})^{\Theta_1},$$

44

The identity mapping of (8 onto itself is an operator with the property

$$\underline{1}\Theta = \Theta \underline{1} = \Theta$$

for all operators Θ .

All operators of a multiplicative domain form a semi-group with a unit element.

A semi-group with unit element denoted by $\{ \mathcal{Q} \}$ is generated by a complex \mathcal{Q} of operators by adjoining a unit element and forming all possible products of elements of \mathcal{Q} . Every semi-group of operators which contains $\underline{1}$ and \mathcal{Q} also contains the domain $\{ \mathcal{Q} \}$ of operators generated by \mathcal{Q} .

DEFINITION: The multiplicative domains $\mathfrak{G}_1, \, \mathfrak{G}_2, \, \ldots$ have a common operator domain Ω if

1) a multiplication is defined in Ω ,

2) to every element Θ in Ω , there corresponds an operator Θ of \mathfrak{G}_{i} ,

3) to the product $\Theta_1 \Theta_2$ of two elements in Ω , there corresponds the product of the operators Θ_1 and Θ_2 in \mathfrak{S}_1 .

In all the following considerations a fixed common operator domain is assumed unless something else is explicitly stated.

DEFINITION: A homomorphy σ of (% into (%* is said to be an operator homomorphy if $\sigma(x^{\Theta}) = (\sigma x)^{\Theta}$

for all x in \mathfrak{G} and for all operators $\boldsymbol{\varTheta}$ in the common operator domain $\boldsymbol{\varOmega}$.

This relation is transitive and reflexive.

If we talk of a homomorphy we shall, if nothing is said to the contrary, mean an operator homomorphy over Ω ¹. If other homomorphies are also considered, then we shall explicitly give an operator domain belonging to them. For example a <u>1</u>-homomorphy means an ordinary homomorphy.

DEFINITION: For a given operator domain, a multiplicative subdomain \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{G} is said to be *admissible*² if for all Θ in $\Omega: \mathfrak{U}^{\Theta} \subseteq \mathfrak{U}$.

Given two admissible multiplicative sub-domains, their intersection and the multiplicative sub-domain generated by them are also admissible.

An operator in Ω maps an admissible subdomain onto an admissible subdomain. Moreover, for an arbitrary complex \Re , the multiplicative subdomain $\{\Re^{\Theta_i} \cup \Re^{\Theta_i} \cup \ldots\}$ generated by the union of all \Re^{Θ_i} with $\Theta_i \in \Omega$ forms an admissible subdomain which contains \Re . It is called

¹Also called an Ω -homomorphism. See JACOBSON, Theory of Rings (Amer. Math Soc.)

³Also called an Ω -subdomain. (Ed.)

the subdomain generated by \mathfrak{R} over \mathfrak{Q} and is denoted by $\{\mathfrak{R}\}_{\mathfrak{Q}}$. Every admissible subdomain which contains \mathfrak{R} also contains $\{\mathfrak{R}\}_{\mathfrak{Q}}$.

We assume now that (9 is a group.

Subgroups which are mapped into themselves by all operators of the entire group, are said to be *fully invariant subgroups*.

The unit element and the entire group are fully invariant subgroups. An admissible subgroup is mapped homomorphically onto an admissible subgroup by an operator homomorphy.

This is because, for all x in $\mathfrak{U}: (\sigma x)^{\Theta} = \sigma(x^{\Theta}) \in \mathfrak{out}$, since $x^{\Theta} \in \mathfrak{U}$.

If \overline{u} is an admissible subgroup of the image domain \overline{w} , then all the elements in \mathfrak{W} whose images lie in $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ form an admissible subgroup \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{G} and $\overline{\mathfrak{U}} = \sigma \mathfrak{U}$.

Every element in $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ is of the form σx with x in \mathfrak{U} ; from $x \in \mathfrak{U}, \Theta \in \mathfrak{Q}$ it follows that

$$\sigma x \in \overline{\mathfrak{U}} \ni (\sigma x)^{\Theta} = \sigma(x^{\Theta}), \ x^{\Theta} \in \mathfrak{U}.$$

In the following investigations it will be assumed that the subgroups used are admissible, if another operator domain is not explicitly assigned to the subgroup in question. For example a <u>1</u>-group is an ordinary subgroup.

Let \mathfrak{G} be a group with operator domain \mathfrak{Q} . Given a homomorphism σ of \mathfrak{G} we wish to consider the operator domain also as the operator domain of $\sigma \mathfrak{G}$ so that σ becomes an operator homomorphism.

Then $\sigma(x^{\Theta}) = (\sigma x)^{\Theta}$ for all Θ in Ω . In order that this mapping Θ be single-valued in $\sigma \mathfrak{G}$, the normal subgroup \mathfrak{E} of all elements of \mathfrak{G} which are mapped by σ onto σe must be admissible with respect to Ω .

If conversely the normal subgroup \mathfrak{F} of all elements in the group \mathfrak{G} which map onto σe under the homomorphism σ is admissible with respect to the operator domain Ω , then we define the *extension* of Ω to $\sigma \mathfrak{G}$ by the condition

$$(\sigma x)^{\Theta} = \sigma (x^{\Theta})$$

for all Θ in Ω . Then Θ is an operator of $\sigma \mathfrak{G}$.

For it follows from $\sigma x = \sigma y$ that x = a y, where $a \in \mathfrak{E}$.

By assumption $a^{\Theta} \in \mathfrak{E}, \ (\sigma x)^{\Theta} = \sigma(x^{\Theta}) = \sigma(a^{\Theta} \cdot y^{\Theta}) = \sigma(y^{\Theta}).$ Moreover, $(\sigma x \cdot \sigma y)^{\Theta} = (\sigma(xy))^{\Theta} = \sigma((xy)^{\Theta}) = \sigma(x^{\Theta} \cdot y^{\Theta}) = \sigma(x^{\Theta}) \cdot \sigma(y^{\Theta}) = (\sigma x)^{\Theta} \cdot (\sigma y)^{\Theta}.$

 Ω is a common operator domain of (3 and σ (3) since $\Theta_1 \Theta_2 = \Theta_3$ in Ω over (3 implies $(\sigma x^{\Theta_1})^{\Theta_1} = \sigma (x^{\Theta_1})^{\Theta_1} = \sigma (x^{\Theta_1})^{\Theta_1} = \sigma x^{\Theta_1}$, and there-

fore $\Theta_3 = \Theta_1 \Theta_2$ in $\sigma \mathfrak{G}$. From the definition of Ω over $\sigma \mathfrak{G}$ it follows that σ is an operator homomorphism.

The operator domain Ω of \mathfrak{G} is extended to the factor group of \mathfrak{G} with respect to the admissible normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} by the condition

$$(a \mathfrak{N}) \stackrel{\Theta}{=} = a^{\Theta} \mathfrak{N}$$

for all Θ in Ω .

If we regard $(a \mathfrak{N})^{\Theta}$ as a coset mod \mathfrak{N} we can delete the dash without misunderstanding.

We apply the new concepts to a cyclic group $\mathfrak{G} = (\mathbf{A})$. The homomorphic image of a cyclic group is cyclic.

From $\sigma A^m = (\sigma A)^m$, it follows that $\sigma \mathfrak{G} = (\sigma A)$ and the above statement is proven. Every subgroup of a cyclic group is admissible.

This is because $A^{\Theta} = A^{i}$, and therefore

$$(A^m)^{\Theta} = (A^{\Theta})^m = A^{tm} \leq (A^m).$$

Every cyclic group has as many operators as it has elements.

This follows from the fact that an operator $\boldsymbol{\Theta}$ is uniquely determined by its effect on A:

$$(A^m)^{\Theta} = (A^{\Theta})^m = A^{m t}.$$

Conversely, the mapping $(A^m)^{\Theta} = A^{mt}$ is an operator.

§ 4. On the Automorphisms of a Group

DEFINITIONS: An isomorphy of a group with itself is called a *meromorphy*.

An isomorphic mapping of a group onto itself is called an *automorphic* mapping (automorphism).

An isomorphic mapping of a group onto a subgroup is called a meromorphic mapping (meromorphism). The mapping is called a proper meromorphism if the subgroup is a proper subgroup.

If a group \mathfrak{G} has a proper meromorphism σ , then \mathfrak{G} contains the infinite and decreasing sequence of subgroups:

$\mathfrak{G} \supset \sigma \mathfrak{G} \supset \sigma^2 \mathfrak{G}, \ldots$

A finite group, therefore, has no proper meromorphism. Every operator of the infinite cyclic group which is different from 0, ± 1 , is a proper meromorphism.

The product of two proper meromorphisms is also a proper meromorphism.

All the automorphisms of a group & form a group.

The group of automorphisms of a group (9) without operators is denoted by A_{α} .

The group of automorphisms admissible over an operator domain Ω is denoted by $(\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{G}})_{\Omega}$.

1. Inner Automorphisms.

The "transformation" of the elements of a group G by a fixed element x is an automorphism. First we have the simple but important rule: $xax^{-1} \cdot xbx^{-1} = xabx^{-1}$; secondly, the transformations form a group with the identity automorphism as unit element.

We call the automorphism $\begin{pmatrix} a \\ x a x^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ a z \end{pmatrix}$ an inner automorphism of the group. All the inner automorphisms of (9) form a group J_{a} .

We saw previously that the mapping $x \to \underline{x}$ defines a homomorphism between \mathfrak{G} and $J_{\mathfrak{G}}$. Precisely those elements in the center of \mathfrak{G} are mapped onto the identity automorphism, so that we have the isomorphy

$$(1) \qquad \Im/\mathfrak{z} \simeq J_{\mathfrak{G}},$$

The group of inner automorphisms is a normal subgroup of the group of all automorphisms. This is because for every operator Θ

(2)
$$(a^{\underline{x}})^{\underline{\Theta}} = (x a x^{-1})^{\underline{\Theta}} = x^{\underline{\Theta}} a^{\underline{\Theta}} (x^{\underline{\Theta}})^{-1},$$

and therefore $\Theta x = x^{\Theta} \Theta$; and if Θ is an automorphism, then

$$\Theta \underline{x} \Theta^{-1} = \underline{x}^{\Theta}.$$

The factor group of $A_{\rm G}$ over $J_{\rm G}$ is called the group of outer automorphisms.

From formula (2) we see that:

An automorphism maps a series of complexes which are conjugate under (9) onto a series of complexes which are again conjugate under (9).

In particular, classes of conjugate elements go into classes of conjugate elements. But not every automorphism of a finite group which maps every class of conjugate elements onto itself is an inner automorphism (see Ex. 10, Appendix).

2. Complete groups.

A group is said to be complete if its center is e and every automorphism is an inner automorphism.

THEOREM 2: The automorphism group of a simple non-abelian group is complete.

Proof: Let (6) be simple but non-abelian. Since the center of (6) is a

normal abelian subgroup, it must be e. Therefore \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to the group J of inner automorphisms. We may even identify \mathfrak{G} with J so that in the full automorphism group A of \mathfrak{G} : $\alpha x \alpha^{-1} = \alpha^{\sigma}$ for all x in J, and $x^{\alpha} = x$ for all x implies $\alpha = 1$. Therefore the center of A is 1, and the only element in A with which all the elements of J commute, is 1.

An automorphism σ of A onto itself maps J onto a normal subgroup J^{σ} of A. J^{σ} is isomorphic to J and therefore simple. The intersection of J and J^{σ} is a normal subgroup of J, and therefore $J = J^{\sigma}$ or $J \cap J^{\sigma} = 1$.

But in the latter case J and J^{σ} commute elementwise, since $\alpha \in J, \ \beta \in J^{\sigma}$ imply:

$$\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} \in J^{\sigma}, \ \beta \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \in J,$$

$$\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \in J \land J^{\sigma}, \ \alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} = 1,$$

$$\alpha \beta = \beta \alpha.$$

Since $J \neq 1$, we must have $J = J^{\sigma}$. Consequently the mapping $x \to x^{\sigma}$ for all x in J is a certain automorphism σ' of J. We want to prove that the automorphism σ of A is an inner automorphism and may, for this purpose, replace σ by the automorphism $\tau = \sigma'^{-1}\sigma$ of A. Now $x^{\tau} = x$ for all x in J. Therefore, $\alpha x \alpha^{-1} = x^{\sigma} \in J$ implies $\alpha^{\tau} x (\alpha^{\tau})^{-1} = (x^{\sigma})^{\tau} = x^{\sigma}$, and therefore $\alpha^{\tau} = \alpha$. Thus τ is the identity automorphism of A, Q.E.D.

Are there any simple non-abelian groups? Since every subgroup of an abelian group is a normal subgroup, it follows that:

A simple abelian group $\neq e$ is cyclic of prime order.

Conversely a group of prime order is cyclic and simple.

Thus "simple and non-abelian" is equivalent to "simple of composite order."

THEOREM 3: The alternating permutation group on five letters is simple.

Proof: A normal subgroup of \mathfrak{N}_{0} can be divided into classes of elements conjugate under \mathfrak{N}_{0} among which 1 must occur, and its order divides the order of \mathfrak{N}_{0} . The classes of \mathfrak{N}_{0} , as previously shown, are: (1) The identity permutation, (2) The 15 double transpositions, (3) The 20 3-cycles, (4) and (5) 12 5-cycles each. But no sum of two or more integers from the set 1, 15, 20, 12, 12 is a proper divisor of 60. Therefore \mathfrak{N}_{0} contains no proper normal subgroup, as was to be proved.

3. Characteristic Subgroups. Centralizers.

A subgroup of a group (9) which is mapped into itself by all automorphisms of (9) is said to be a *characteristic subgroup*. (9) and *e* are *characteristic subgroups*. The subgroups admissible under all inner automorphisms are precisely the normal subgroups. Consequently, *characteristic subgroups* are always normal subgroups.

The center of a group is a characteristic subgroup.

Proof: Since $\bigotimes^{\alpha} = \bigotimes$ for an automorphism α and xz = zx for all x implies that $x^{\alpha}z^{\alpha} = z^{\alpha}x^{\alpha}$ for all x, we have z^{α} in the center for each z in the center.

The factor group over the center is likewise characteristic. We can even form a series of characteristic subgroups, the ascending central series, by defining recursively: $\mathfrak{z}_0 = e$, $\mathfrak{z}_1 = \mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G})$; if \mathfrak{z}_i has already been defined as a characteristic subgroup, then $\mathfrak{z}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{z}_i$ will be the center of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{z}_i$.

A group is said to be *characteristically simple* if it does not contain any proper characteristic subgroup. The investigation of the structure of the finite characteristically simple groups will later be reduced to the investigation of the structure of simple groups.

If \mathfrak{A} is a group of automorphisms of the group \mathfrak{G} , and \mathfrak{R} is a normal subgroup admissible under \mathfrak{R} , then we can derive the structure of \mathfrak{A} from the structure of certain groups of automorphisms of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$ and \mathfrak{R} in the following way: All the automorphisms of \mathfrak{A} which leave the elements of \mathfrak{R} fixed form a normal subgroup \mathfrak{R}_1 of \mathfrak{R} . All the automorphisms of \mathfrak{A} which leave the elements of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$ fixed form a normal sugroup \mathfrak{R}_2 of \mathfrak{R} . By the first isomorphy theorem, $\mathfrak{R}/\mathfrak{R}_1$ is isomorphic to a group of automorphisms of \mathfrak{R} such that automorphisms α in \mathfrak{R} such that

1) $v^{\alpha} = v$ for all v in \mathfrak{N} ,

2) $x^{\alpha}x^{-1} \in \mathfrak{N}$ for all x in \mathfrak{G} .

See exercise 6 at the end of the chapter concerning this point.

Now we apply the first isomorphy theorem to the normalizer N_{u} of a subgroup \mathfrak{U} .

The mapping $x \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} U \\ x U x^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ of the elements x in $N_{\mathfrak{l}}$ is a homomorphism onto a group of automorphisms of \mathfrak{U} .

50

Consequently all the elements of \mathfrak{G} which commute with every element of \mathfrak{U} form a subgroup $Z_{\mathfrak{U}}$. $Z_{\mathfrak{U}}$ is called the centralizer of \mathfrak{U} . The centralizer of a subgroup is a normal subgroup of its normalizer and the factor group is isomorphic to a group of automorphisms of the subgroup.

The centralizer of the whole group (6) is equal to its center.

4. The $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ - subgroup.

An automorphism of the group (9 is uniquely determined by its effect on the elements of a system of generators of (9. In order to state this circumstance more sharply, we introduce the following concept.

DEFINITION: The set Φ of all the elements which may be deleted from every system of generators of a non-trivial group is a subgroup, the Φ -subgroup of \mathfrak{G} :

1) Since $\mathfrak{G} \neq e, e$ is a member of Φ_i

2) If $x \in \Phi$ and $y \in \Phi$, then it follows from $\mathfrak{G} = \{xy, \mathfrak{R}\}$ that $\mathfrak{G} = \{x, y, \mathfrak{R}\}$ and therefore $\mathfrak{G} = \{y, \mathfrak{R}\}$; therefore $\mathfrak{G} = \{\mathfrak{R}\}$; xy also belongs to Φ ;

3) If $x \in \Phi$ then it follows from $\mathfrak{G} = \{x^{-1}, \mathfrak{K}\}$ that $\mathfrak{G} = \{x, \mathfrak{K}\}$ and therefore $\mathfrak{G} = \{\mathfrak{K}\}$; x^{-1} also belongs to Φ .

The Φ -subgroup is a characteristic subgroup (since every automorphism maps a system of generators onto a system of generators), hence also normal.

The Φ -subgroup is the intersection of the whole group with all of its maximal subgroups.

If \mathfrak{D} is this intersection then we shall show 1) $\Phi \leq \mathfrak{D}$, in other words: If x does not lie in the maximal subgroup \mathfrak{U} then it is not in Φ either. This is because $\{x,\mathfrak{U}\} = \mathfrak{G} + \mathfrak{U}$. 2) $\mathfrak{D} \leq \Phi$; in other words: If x does not lie in Φ , then neither does it lie in every maximal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . If $\{x,\mathfrak{K}\} = \mathfrak{G} + \{\mathfrak{K}\}$, then x is not in $\{\mathfrak{K}\}$. By the theorem on maximal subgroups', there is a largest possible subgroup \mathfrak{U} which contains \mathfrak{K} but not x. \mathfrak{U} is moreover a maximal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , since any larger subgroup would contain x and \mathfrak{K} and therefore also the group

$$\{x, \Re\} = \emptyset.$$

If every proper subgroup can be embedded in a maximal (proper) subgroup, then we have the

¹ Theorem 5, Chap. I.

BASIS THEOREM : If a complex \Re together with ϕ generates \Im , then \Re alone generates \Im .

If $\{\Re\} \neq \emptyset$, then $\{\Re\}$ could be embedded in a maximal subgroup \mathfrak{U} . But then $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ would also lie in \mathfrak{U} . Therefore the group (6) generated by \Re and $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ would lie in \mathfrak{U} , which is a contradiction.

Now let \mathfrak{G} be finite, $A_{\mathfrak{G}}$ the automorphism group of \mathfrak{G} , \mathfrak{B} the normal subgroup consisting of all automorphisms which leave every coset of \mathfrak{G} with respect to Φ fixed. Then $A_{\mathfrak{G}}: \mathfrak{B}$ is isomorphic to a group of automorphisms of \mathfrak{G}/Φ . The factor group \mathfrak{G}/Φ has a finite number of generators R_1, \ldots, R_d . Since, by the basis theorem, a representative system S_1, \ldots, S_d generates the whole group \mathfrak{G} , there are as many different systems conjugate to S_1, \ldots, S_d under \mathfrak{B} as there are elements in \mathfrak{B} . The $(\Phi:1)^d$ representative systems decompose, therefore, into a certain number of classes of systems conjugate under \mathfrak{R} , such that the classes each contain $\mathfrak{R}:1$ elements. Thus we obtain the divisibility condition

(4)
$$(A_{\mathfrak{G}}:1) \quad (\Phi:1)^d \cdot (A_{\mathfrak{G}}) \to (\Phi:1)^d$$

5. Normal and Central Operators.

An operator is said to be a normal operator if

$$xy^{\Theta}x^{-1} = (xyx^{-1})^{\Theta}$$

for all x, y in $(\emptyset, i.e.)$

An operator is normal if it commutes with all the inner automorphisms.

Therefore a normal operator maps a normal subgroup onto a normal subgroup.

If α is a normal automorphism, then $x^{\alpha}y^{\alpha}x^{-\alpha} = x y^{\alpha}x^{-1}$ or $x^{-1}x^{\alpha}y^{\alpha} = y^{\alpha}x^{-1}x^{\alpha}$

for all x, y and, since $\mathfrak{G}^{x} = \mathfrak{G}$, $x^{-1}x^{x}$ is in the center of \mathfrak{G} , and conversely. An automorphism is normal if and only if it multiplies every element of \mathfrak{G} by an element of the center.¹

The mapping $x \rightarrow x^{-1}x^{\alpha}$ is an operator $-1 + \alpha$, since

$$(x y)^{-1+a} = (x y)^{-1} (x y)^a = y^{-1} x^{-1} x^a y^a = x^{-1} x^a y^{-1} y^a = x^{-1+a} y^{-1+a}$$

An operator which maps every element of the group onto a center element is said to be a *central operator*. Every central operator is normal.

6. The Holomorph of a Group.

¹ Because of this property a normal automorphism is also called a *center auto*morphism.

Is it possible to extend a given group \mathfrak{G} to a group \mathfrak{F} so that every automorphism of \mathfrak{G} can be induced by a transformation by an element in \mathfrak{F} ?

Let \mathfrak{M} be any group of automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} , and consider the set \mathfrak{F} of permutations $\begin{pmatrix} x \\ yx^{a} \end{pmatrix}$ with $x, y \in \mathfrak{G}, \alpha \in \mathfrak{M}$.

Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ y x^{lpha} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ z x^{eta} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y z^{lpha} x^{lpha eta} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The permutations $\pi_y = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ yx \end{pmatrix}$ form a group $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ of permutations in \mathfrak{H} , and by I, Theorem 2, the mapping $y \to \pi_y$ gives the regular representation of \mathfrak{G} . $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ is therefore a regular permutation group which we may identify with \mathfrak{G} .

The permutations $\begin{pmatrix} x^* \\ x^* \end{pmatrix}$ form a permutation group $\overline{\mathfrak{M}}$ in \mathfrak{H} isomorphic to \mathfrak{M} and we identify \mathfrak{M} with \mathfrak{M} .

We can verify easily that

(5)
$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ x^{*} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y x \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y^{*} x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ x^{*} \end{pmatrix},$$

and consequently $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{K}$ is a group of permutations.

According to (5), transforming by $\begin{pmatrix} z \\ x^* \end{pmatrix}$ in 5 induces the automorphism α in 69.

The permutation group just constructed is called the *holomorph of* the automorphism group \mathfrak{M} over \mathfrak{G} . The holomorph of the group of all automorphisms over \mathfrak{G} is called simply the *holomorph* of \mathfrak{G} .

Now we wish to start, in the reverse order, with a transitive permutation group \mathfrak{G} , and we form the group \mathfrak{F} of all permutations that form \mathfrak{G} onto itself.

Which automorphisms of the abstract group can be induced by transformation with elements of \mathfrak{H} ?

Let \mathfrak{G}_i be the subgroup of all permutations in \mathfrak{G} which leave the letter *i* fixed. For a permutation π in \mathfrak{H} it follows that

$$\pi \mathfrak{G}_i \pi^{-1} \subseteq \mathfrak{G}, \ \pi \mathfrak{G}_i \pi^{-1} (\pi i) = \pi i,$$

and therefore $\pi \mathfrak{G}_i \pi^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{G}_{\pi i}$,likewise $\pi^{-1} \mathfrak{G}_{\pi i} \pi \leq \mathfrak{G}_i$ $\mathfrak{G}_{\pi i} \leq \pi \mathfrak{G}_{\pi i} \pi^{-1}$

therefore

$$\pi \mathfrak{G}_i \pi^{-1} = \mathfrak{G}_{\pi i}.$$

Conversely, let α be an automorphism of (\mathfrak{G}) which maps $(\mathfrak{G})_1$ onto $(\mathfrak{G})_1$. We wish to show that there is a permutation π in \mathfrak{H} such that

$$\pi x \pi^{-1} = x^a$$

for all x in (9. In order to prove this we look for a permutation y in (9) which maps i onto 1. (There are such, since (9) is transitive.) Then $\mathfrak{G}_1^{yu} = \mathfrak{G}_1$, and so without loss of generality we may replace $y\alpha$ by a new α with

$$\mathfrak{G}_1^{\alpha} = \mathfrak{G}_1$$

Let R_i be the left coset of (0 over (0, consisting of all permutations)which map 1 onto *i*. The mapping $\binom{R_i}{R_i}$ is a permutation $\binom{R_i}{R_{ii}}$ of the left cosets since $(0, 1^a = (0, 1^a))$.

Then

$$\binom{R_i}{(x R_i)^a} = \binom{R_i}{x^a R_i^a} = \binom{R_i}{x^a R_{ii}},$$

and therefore

$$\pi x i = x^{\alpha} \pi i$$
$$\pi x \pi^{-1} = x^{\alpha}.$$

We have as a result:

THEOREM 4: Let S be the group of all automorphisms, of a transitive group \mathfrak{G} which permute the subgroups \mathfrak{G}_i (previously described and belonging to the given transitive representation of \mathfrak{G}). Then this group S is precisely that induced by all transformations of \mathfrak{G} by the elements of the normalizer of \mathfrak{G} in the group of all permutations on the letters of \mathfrak{G} .

We determine which permutations π in \mathfrak{H} are elementwise commutative with \mathfrak{G} . Let $\pi^{-1}\mathbf{l} = i$. By assumption $\pi R_i = R_i \pi$ and also $\pi R_i \mathbf{l} = \mathbf{l}$; therefore $\mathbf{l} = R_i \pi \mathbf{l}$. If we set $R_i = x \mathfrak{G}_1$, then it follows that

$$x \bigotimes_1 x^{-1} 1 = x \bigotimes_1 x^{-1} \cdot x \pi 1$$
$$= R_i \pi 1 = 1,$$

therefore

$$\mathfrak{G}_i = x \mathfrak{G}_1 x^{-1} \subseteq \mathfrak{G}_1.$$

Since $\pi i = 1$, we find through similar considerations that: $\mathfrak{G}_1 \leq \mathfrak{G}_i$, and therefore $\mathfrak{G}_i = \mathfrak{G}_1$.

54

Conversely, let $\mathfrak{G}_i = x \mathfrak{G}_1 x^{-1} = \mathfrak{G}_1$ with $x \in R_i$. Since $\mathfrak{G}_1 x = x \mathfrak{G}_1$, the mapping $\binom{R_i}{R_i x}$ is a permutation $\binom{R_i}{R_{\tilde{x}_i}}$ of the left cosets of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{G}_i .

Since

$$\binom{R_i}{y R_i} \cdot \binom{R_i}{R_i x} = \binom{R_i}{R_i x} \binom{R_i}{y R_i} = \binom{R_i}{y R_i x},$$

 \overline{x} commutes with all the permutations in G. The mapping $x \to \overline{x}^{-1}$ gives a homomorphy, between the normalizer of G, in G and the group of all permutations commuting elementwise with G, under which \mathfrak{G}_1 is mapped onto <u>1</u>.

If however π commutes with (6) elementwise, and $\pi l = l$, then

$$\pi i = \pi R_i \mathbf{1} = R_i \pi \mathbf{1} = R_i \mathbf{1} = i,$$

and therefore $\pi = \underline{1}$.

We obtain as the result:

THEOREM 5: The centralizer of a transitive permutation group \mathfrak{G} in the group of all permutations is isomorphic to the factor group $N_{\mathfrak{G}_1}(\mathfrak{G}_1$ of the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{G}_1}$ in \mathfrak{G} of a subgroup \mathfrak{G}_1 which belongs to the transitive representation of \mathfrak{G} . It consists wholly of regular permutations.

As a special case we obtain the THEOREM OF JORDAN: The centralizer of a group G in its holomorph consists of the permutations

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{y}} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x} \, \mathbf{y}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{y}^{-1} \, \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{y}} \end{pmatrix},$$

which form a regular permutation group isomorphic to G.

Moreover it follows that the center of a primitive permutation group is <u>1</u>, or the group consists of the powers of a cycle whose length is a prime.

A transitive permutation group \mathfrak{H} which contains a regular normal subgroup \mathfrak{B} is, by what has just been proven, the holomorph of the group \mathfrak{M} of all permutations in \mathfrak{H} which leave a letter fixed over the group \mathfrak{B} .

Thus the holomorph of a group (G is primitive if and only if the group is characteristically simple', since a system of imprimitivity which contains e consists of the elements of a non-trivial characteristic subgroup of (G).

THEOREM 6: If the holomorph of a finite group is doubly transitive, then \mathfrak{G} is abelian and there is a prime integer p such that the p-th power of every element in \mathfrak{G} is equal to e.

¹ i.e., has no proper characteristic subgroups.

Proof: It follows from the hypothesis that the automorphisms of (9) permute transitively all the elements $\neq e$ of (9). Therefore all the elements $\neq e$ of (9) have the same order p. Since (9) $\neq e$, there are elements of prime order in (9) and therefore p is a prime. Moreover all the normalizers of elements $\neq e$ in (9) have the same order $\frac{(9)!}{h}$. Thus there are h elements in each class of conjugate elements $\neq e$ in (9). If there are r+1 classes it follows that

$$\mathfrak{B}: \mathbf{1} = \mathbf{rh} + \mathbf{1}.$$

On the other hand h is a divisor of (0:1); therefore h = 1, i.e., (0) is abelian, Q.E.D.

THEOREM 7: If the holomorph of a group (8 consisting of more than three elements is triply transitive, then (8 is abelian and the square of every element is e.

Proof: It follows from the hypothesis that the automorphisms of (9) permute the elements $\neq e$ in (9) in a doubly transitive manner. If, for an x in (9), $x^2 \pm e$, $x^3 \pm e$, then there is an automorphism which maps x onto x^3 but leaves x^3 fixed. But then $(x^2)^3 = x^3$ and therefore $x^3 = e$. If, how-ever, $x^2 \pm e$, $x^3 = e$, then by hypothesis there is an element y in (9) which does not lie in (x) and we can find an automorphism of (9) which maps x^2 onto y but leaves x fixed. But then $x^2 = y$ which is a contradiction. Consequently for all x in (9, $x^2 = e$, i.e., $x = x^{-1}$. From this it follows that $xy = x^{-1}y^{-1} = (yx)^{-1} = yx$. Therefore (9) is abelian, Q-E.D.

If the holomorph \mathfrak{H} of a group \mathfrak{G} is quadruply transitive, then \mathfrak{G} must consist of exactly four elements:

By the previous theorem the square of every element in \mathfrak{G} is equal to e. Moreover \mathfrak{G} contains at least four elements e, x, y, xy. If there were a fifth element z in \mathfrak{G} then an automorphism could be found which leaves x and y fixed but maps xy onto z and this is a contradiction, which establishes the above. There does, in fact, exist a group of four elements whose holomorph is quadruply transitive. In the symmetric permutation group of four letters, the three double transpositions (12) (34), (13) (24), (14) (23) together with 1 form a regular normal subgroup \mathfrak{R}_4 of four elements, as is easily seen. (\mathfrak{R}_4 is called the *Klein Four Group*.)

§ 5. Normal Chains and Normal Series

Let 6 be a group with operators.

A normal chain of length r is a chain of (r+1) subgroups:

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_0 \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_1 \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_2 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_r = 1,$$

which begins with 6 and terminates with e, and is such that every member of the chain is a normal subgroup of the preceding member. The factor groups $\mathfrak{G}_d/\mathfrak{G}_{i+1}$ $(i=0,1,2,\ldots,r-1)$ are called the *factors* of the chain.

A normal chain in which successive members are different is said to be a normal chain without repetitions.

A normal chain is said to be a *refinement* of a given normal chain if the members of the given chain are among the members of the new chain.

THEOREM 8 (Jordan - Hölder - Schreier): Two given normal chains can be refined so that the series of factors of the two new chains are identical up to order and isomorphism.

In order to carry out the proof, we ask not only if a refinement process can be found, but still more, namely:

Are there convenient methods for constructing the refinement? Let the two given chains be:

and

The following example shows that in general at least s-1 groups must be inserted between adjacent members of the first chain and similarly that at least r-1 groups must be inserted between adjacent members of the second chain.

Let p_{ik} (i=1, 2, ..., r; k=1, 2, ..., s) be r.s distinct prime numbers. Let \mathfrak{G} be the cyclic group of order $n = \prod_{i=1}^{r} p_{ik}$. Then set

$$d_i = \prod_{k=1}^{i} p_{ik}, \quad e_k = \prod_{i=1}^{r} p_{ik},$$

and $\mathfrak{G}_{0} = \mathfrak{G}_{1}$; let \mathfrak{G}_{1} be the subgroup of order $n/\prod_{i=1}^{t} d_{i}$ $(i=1,\ldots,r)$; similarly let $\mathfrak{H}_{0} = \mathfrak{G}$ and let \mathfrak{H}_{k} be the subgroup of order $n/\prod_{i=1}^{t} e_{\mu}$ $(k=1,2,\ldots,s)$. By inserting s-1 groups and r-1 between the adjacent members of the first and second chain respectively, both given chains can be refined so that the orders of the new factors run through all the primes p_{il} . Since there is only one group of a given prime order, the resulting refinements are isomorphic. On the other hand isomorphic refinements between $\mathfrak{G}_{i\rightarrow}$ and \mathfrak{G}_i (or $\mathfrak{H}_{i\rightarrow}$ and \mathfrak{H}_k) can not contain a factor whose order is divisible by two primes, since only common factor groups of order p_{ik} or 1 can lie between $\mathfrak{G}_{i\rightarrow1}, \ldots, \mathfrak{G}_i$ (and $\mathfrak{H}_{k-1}, \ldots, \mathfrak{H}_k$). The intersection of two admissible subgroups and the product of an admissible normal subgroup with an admissible subgroup are again admissible subgroups. Consequently, multiplication of an intersection lying in $\mathfrak{G}_{i\rightarrow}$ with the normal subgroup \mathfrak{G}_i yields a group between $\mathfrak{G}_{i\rightarrow}$ and \mathfrak{G}_i . In what follows, it will be shown that the intercalation of the s-1 groups

$$\mathfrak{G}_{i,k} = \mathfrak{G}_i \cdot (\mathfrak{G}_{i-1} \wedge \mathfrak{H}_k) \qquad (k = 1, 2, \dots, s-1)$$

between \mathfrak{G}_{i-1} and \mathfrak{G}_i and of the r-1 groups

$$\mathfrak{F}_{i,k} = \mathfrak{F}_k \cdot (\mathfrak{F}_{k-1} \land \mathfrak{G}_i) \qquad (i = 1, 2, \dots, r-1)$$

between \mathfrak{H}_{k-1} and \mathfrak{H}_{k} refines the given chains isomorphically.

 \mathfrak{G}_{i_jk} and \mathfrak{H}_{i_jk} are defined for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r-1$; $k=1, 2, \ldots, s-1$ by the above formulae. Moreover set

$$\mathfrak{G}_{i,0} = \mathfrak{G}_{i-1}, \ \mathfrak{F}_{0,k} = \mathfrak{F}_{k-1}; \quad \mathfrak{G}_{i,k} = \mathfrak{G}_{i}, \ \mathfrak{F}_{r,k} = \mathfrak{F}_{k}.$$

If it is shown that $\mathfrak{G}_{i,k}$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{G}_{i,k-1}$ $(k=1,2,\ldots,s)$, then the $\mathfrak{G}_{i,k}$ form a refinement of \mathfrak{G}_{i} . Correspondingly for the $\mathfrak{H}_{i,k}$. If it is shown that

$$\frac{\mathfrak{G}_{i,k-1}}{\mathfrak{G}_{i,k}} \simeq \frac{\mathfrak{F}_{i-1,k}}{\mathfrak{F}_{i,k}} \qquad \qquad \begin{pmatrix} i=1,2,\ldots,r\\ k=1,2,\ldots,s \end{pmatrix},$$

then the refinements are isomorphic. The desired results are given by the following theorem concerning four groups:

If a subgroup \mathfrak{u} is a normal subgroup of the subgroup \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{G} , and the subgroup \mathfrak{v} is a normal subgroup of the subgroup \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{G} , then $\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U} \wedge \mathfrak{v})$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U} \wedge \mathfrak{B})$, and $\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \wedge \mathfrak{u})$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \wedge \mathfrak{U})$; and

$$\frac{\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U}\wedge\mathfrak{V})}{\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U}\wedge\mathfrak{v})}\simeq\frac{\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{V}\wedge\mathfrak{U})}{\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{V}\wedge\mathfrak{u})}.$$

Proof: By the second isomorphism theorem $\mathfrak{u} \cap \mathfrak{B}$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{B}$ and

$$\frac{\mathfrak{U} \wedge \mathfrak{B}}{\mathfrak{u} \wedge \mathfrak{B}} \simeq \frac{\mathfrak{u} \, (\mathfrak{U} \wedge \mathfrak{B})}{\mathfrak{u}}.$$

Since $\mathfrak{u} \wedge \mathfrak{V}$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{U} \wedge \mathfrak{V}$, so is $\mathfrak{v} \wedge \mathfrak{U}$, and therefore

 $(\mathfrak{u} \land \mathfrak{V})$ $(\mathfrak{v} \land \mathfrak{U})$ is also a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{U} \land \mathfrak{V}$. Under the above isomorphy, $(\mathfrak{u} \land \mathfrak{V})(\mathfrak{v} \land \mathfrak{U})$ is mapped onto $\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{u} \land \mathfrak{V})$ $(\mathfrak{v} \land \mathfrak{U}) = \mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{v} \land \mathfrak{U})$. Therefore by the third isomorphy theorem $\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U} \land \mathfrak{v})$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U} \land \mathfrak{V})$, and

$$\frac{\mathfrak{l} \wedge \mathfrak{B}}{(\mathfrak{u} \wedge \mathfrak{B})(\mathfrak{v} \wedge \mathfrak{l})} \simeq \frac{\mathfrak{u} (\mathfrak{u} \wedge \mathfrak{B})}{\mathfrak{u} (\mathfrak{u} \wedge \mathfrak{v})}.$$

Since the hypotheses are symmetric, it follows likewise that $\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{u})$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{u})$ and that

$$\frac{\mathfrak{l} \land \mathfrak{B}}{(\mathfrak{u} \land \mathfrak{B})(\mathfrak{v} \land \mathfrak{l})} \simeq \frac{\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \land \mathfrak{l})}{\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \land \mathfrak{u})},$$

from which we obtain the desired isomorphy.



The method of proof can be made more meaningful by means of a diagram which shows the position of the groups occurring in the proof. In order to do this let a line between two groups, one of which is above the other, mean that the group at the upper end contains the group at the lower end of the line.¹

The given method of refinement, applied for a second time, gives no new refinement of the first refinement. Nevertheless it may refine isomorphic chains still further.

Example: Let (9) be cyclic of order 12. Let (9), be the subgroup of order 6, \mathfrak{H}_1 the one of order 2. $\mathfrak{G}_2 = \mathfrak{H}_2 = e$. Then

$$\mathfrak{G}_{2,1} = \mathfrak{H}_1, \ \mathfrak{H}_{1,1} = \mathfrak{G}_1.$$

A refinement is said to be a *proper refinement* if a new subgroup of (% actually occurs in the new chain.

A normal chain is said to be a *normal series* if it has no proper refinements.

If (9) has a normal series then by the theorem of Jordan - Hölder -Schreier it follows that every normal chain can be refined so as to give a normal series. The series of factors in different normal series is identical up to sequence and isomorphy.

The existence of a normal series is assured if the *Double chain condi*tion of group theory holds:

¹ Often called a Hasse diagram.

1. Minimal condition: In every decreasing sequence of subgroups $\mathfrak{U}_1 \geq \mathfrak{U}_2 \geq \cdots$ there is an index after which all the members are equal. Equivalent to this is:

1. a) In every set of subgroups there is a subgroup which contains no other subgroup of the set.

2. Maximal condition: In every increasing sequence of groups $\mathfrak{U}_1 \leq \mathfrak{U}_2 \leq \mathfrak{U}_3 \leq \ldots$ there is an index after which all the members are equal.

2. a) In every set of subgroups there is a subgroup which is contained in no other subgroup of the set.

From the maximal condition it follows that (\emptyset contains a largest normal subgroup (\emptyset , or is equal to e, that (\emptyset , contains a largest normal subgroup (\emptyset , or is equal to e, etc. It follows from the minimal condition that this sequence terminates at e after a finite number of steps. The normal chain thus obtained is a normal series.

If, conversely, every admissible subgroup is a normal subgroup of (9, then the double chain theorem follows from the existence of a normal series.

The normal series in group theory have received different names, depending on the underlying domain of operators:

1. Composition Series: Every member of the chain

 $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_0 \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_1 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_{r-1} \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_r = e$

which is different from (% is a maximal normal subgroup of the previous member.

2. Principal Series: Every member of the chain different from (%) is a normal subgroup of (%, maximal in the set of all proper subgroups of the preceding member.

3. Characteristic Series: Every member of the chain different from (§ is a characteristic subgroup of (§, maximal in the set of proper subgroups of the preceding member.

As an example we shall determine the structure of the symmetric and the alternating permutation groups.

The following theorem is useful when investigating the simplicity of a group.

THEOREM 9: A transitive and primitive permutation group (8) which contains no proper regular normal subgroups, and in which the subgroup of all permutations which leave a letter fixed is simple, must itself be simple.

60

Proof: By Theorem 1 of this chapter, any normal subgroup \Re other than <u>1</u>, of the primitive permutation group \Im is transitive. Let \Im , be the group of all permutations of \Im which leave the letter 1 fixed. Since \Re is assumed not to be regular, the intersection \Re , of \Re with the group \Im_1 is distinct from <u>1</u>. According to the 2nd isomorphy theorem \Re , is a normal subgroup of \Im , and inasmuch as \Im_1 is simple by hypothesis, we must have $\Re_1 = \Im_1$. Since \Re is transitive.

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{N}\,\mathfrak{G}_1=\mathfrak{N}\,\mathfrak{N}_1=\mathfrak{N},$$

as was to be proved.

THEOREM 10:1 The alternating permutation group of $n \neq 4$ letters is simple.

Proof: \mathfrak{A}_1 , \mathfrak{A}_2 , \mathfrak{A}_3 are of orders 1, 1, 3, and are therefore simple. By Theorem 3, \mathfrak{A}_3 is simple. Now assume that we know that \mathfrak{A}_{n-1} is simple and n>5. Then \mathfrak{A}_n is quadruply transitive, therefore primitive, and according to the remark following Theorem 7, \mathfrak{A}_n contains no regular normal subgroups.

The subgroup of all permutations in \mathfrak{N}_n which leave the letter *n* fixed **permutes** the remaining letters $1, \ldots, n-1$ as \mathfrak{N}_{n-1} does, and thus is simple by the induction assumption. By the preceding theorem \mathfrak{N}_n itself is simple, as was to be shown.

THEOREM 11: If $n \neq 4$, n > 2, then the symmetric permutation group \mathfrak{S}_n has exactly the one composition series

 $\mathfrak{S}_n \supset \mathfrak{A}_n \supset e^2$

Proof: If n > 2, then \mathfrak{S}_n is doubly transitive and therefore primitive; consequently a proper normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{S}_n is transitive. By the second isomorphy theorem $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{A}_n$ is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{A}_n ; moreover $\mathfrak{N} : \mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{A}_n/2$, while the transitivity of \mathfrak{N} implies $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{A}_n = 1$. If moreover $n \neq 4$, then because of the previously proven simplicity of \mathfrak{A}_n

$$\mathfrak{N} \cap \mathfrak{A}_n = \mathfrak{A}_n,$$

and therefore $\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{A}_n$, as was to be shown.

By the same method of proof, it follows that for a proper normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{N}_{4} , the intersection $\mathfrak{N}_{4} = \mathfrak{N} \cap \mathfrak{N}_{4}$ is a normal subgroup ± 1 of \mathfrak{N}_{4} . Since \mathfrak{N}_{4} is doubly transitive, \mathfrak{N}_{1} is transitive. Therefore the order of \mathfrak{N}_{1} , is divisible by 4. Either \mathfrak{N}_{1} contains 3-cycles so that $\mathfrak{N}_{1} = \mathfrak{N}_{4}$, or \mathfrak{N}_{1} consists of double transpositions and 1. \mathfrak{N}_{4} actually con-

¹ With the help of Exercise 9 at the end of the chapter, the reader can develop the usual proof of Theorem 10.

³ Naturally this is also the principal series, indeed the characteristic series.

tains the transitive normal subgroup $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ which consists of the three double transpositions and 1. The subgroup $\mathfrak{S}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ of all permutations which leave the letter 4 fixed can be taken as a representative system of $\mathfrak{S}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ over $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ and so we finally obtain: *Every composition series of* $\mathfrak{S}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ begins with $\mathfrak{S}_{\mathfrak{g}} \supset \mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{g}} \supset \mathfrak{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$.

Since the abelian group \mathfrak{B}_4 contains three proper subgroups, \mathfrak{S}_4 has three different compositions series.

Close inspection of the proof of the Jordan-Hölder-Schreier theorem shows that its validity in a given group depends more on the relation between the subgroups of the group than on the behavior of the individual elements. This observation lead Oystein Ore¹ to consider problems of this type from an abstract point of view, and for this purpose he defined a new algebraic system which he called a *structure*. In more recent times the theory of structures has been developed into a new branch of mathematics.

To begin with, we define a *partially ordered set* (*poset*) as a set S in which a binary relation is defined between certain of its elements; this may be denoted by

$$a \leq b$$
 or by $b > a$

or, in case it should be necessary to indicate the poset to which a and b belong, by

$$a \leq b$$
 and $b \geq a$,

respectively. This relation is required to be subject to the conditions of reflexivity and transitivity:

$$(1) a \leq a$$

(2) if
$$a \leq b$$
 and $b \leq c$ then $a \leq c$.

Example: The set $\Sigma(S)$ consisting of all subsets of a given set S is a poset when we define the binary relation as set-theoretical inclusion.

Every subset T of a poset S is a poset if we take as its binary relation the one induced by the binary relation of S. We call two elements a, b of a poset S equivalent, if $a \leq b$ and $b \leq a$. This equivalence is normal. Furthermore it satisfies the law of substitution:

If a is equivalent to a' and b equivalent to b' then from $a \leq b$ it follows that $a' \leq b'$.

¹Many results and problems have been anticipated by Dedekind.
Therefore we are able to define uniquely the relation between the classes of equivalent elements of S by the following rule:

$$\overline{a} \leq \overline{b}$$
 if and only if $a \leq b$,

where \overline{x} denotes the class of all elements of S equivalent to the element x of S.

It follows that the classes of equivalent elements of a partially ordered set \overline{S} satisfying the additional rule:

If $\overline{a} \leq \overline{b}$ and $\overline{b} \leq \overline{a}$ then $\overline{a} = \overline{b}$.

Usually in dealing with partially ordered sets we assume that equivalence amounts to equality. This certainly holds for the posets $\Sigma(S)$ formed by all the subsets of a set S. At any rate, the fundamental concepts remain invariant if equivalent elements are substituted.

Let us observe that reflexivity and transitivity are self-dual concepts inasmuch as a poset S is carried over into another poset S^* if we introduce the new relation

$$a \leq b$$
 if and only if $a \geq b$.

 S^* is called the *dual poset* of S. The dual poset of S^* is S. For any concept employing the symbol \leq we obtain the *dual concept* by employing the symbol \geq instead.

The principle of duality states that every theorem concerning posets remains true if the symbols \leq , \geq are interchanged and every derived concept is replaced by the corresponding dual concept.

1. Homomorphisms and anti-homomorphisms.

A one-to-one correspondence between two posets that preserves the binary relation in both directions is called an *isomorphism* between the two posets. Naturally, the fundamental concepts of the theory of structures are so chosen that they remain invariant under isomorphisms.

We define more generally: A single-valued mapping q of the elements of a poset S onto a certain subset of a poset S, is called a homomorphy if from $a \leq b$ in S it always follows that $q a \leq q b$ in S, and if from $q c \leq q d$ in S_1 it always follows that there exist two elements a, b of S such that q a = q c and q b = q d and $a \leq b$. This defines a homomorphic mapping or a homomorphism of the poset S onto the poset q S consisting of all the images $q a (a \epsilon S)$.

The most important poset for the theory of groups is the poset $S(\mathfrak{G})$ formed by all the subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} , where \leq is taken as settheoretical inclusion. We observe that a homomorphism of a group \mathfrak{G} onto another group \mathfrak{H} induces a homomorphism of $S(\mathfrak{G})$.

Every homomorphy φ of a poset S gives rise to a normal congruence relation $R\varphi$ in S defined by:

$$a \equiv b$$
 ($R\varphi$)

if and only if $\varphi a = \varphi b$. This congruence relation is *isotonic*: If $a \leq b$, $b' \leq c$ and $b' = b(R\varphi)$ then there are elements a', c' in S satisfying $a' = a(R\varphi)$, $c' = c(R\varphi)$ and $a' \leq c'$. For any isotonic normal congruence relation R in S, denote by a(R) the residue class represented by a modulo R. These classes themselves form a poset S/R in which the binary relation is defined by:

$$(3) a(R) \leq b(R)$$

if and only if there are elements a', b' in S satisfying $a' \equiv a(R)$, $b' \equiv b(R)$ and $a' \leq b'$.

The mapping $a \to a(R)$ defines a homomorphism between S and S/Rwhich we may call the natural homomorphism between S and S/R. For a homomorphism φ of S we find that the mapping $a(R\varphi) \to \varphi a$ defines an isomorphism between the posets $S/R\varphi$ and φS which we may call the natural isomorphism between $S/R\varphi$ and φS . Also, φ induces the natural homomorphism between S and $S/R\varphi$. Two homomorphisms, say φ mapping poset S into poset S, and φ mapping poset S into poset S, may be multiplied if and only if ψS_2 is part of S. The rule of multiplication is given by

(4)
$$(\varphi \psi) a = \varphi(\psi a)$$
 $(a \varepsilon S_2)$

and $\varphi \psi$ turns out to be a homomorphism of S_2 into S_1 .

This multiplication is associative. A left identity for the homomorphisms into a poset S is given by the identity 1_s of S. This also acts as right identity for all homomorphisms of the poset S into another poset.

A homomorphism φ of the poset S onto the poset φ S is an isomorphism if and only if it is one-to-one. In this case the inverse mapping φ^{-1} of φ S onto S characterized by

$$\varphi^{-1}\varphi = 1_s$$

is an isomorphism between φS and S. Its inverse is φ itself:

§ 5. Normal Chains and Normal Series

 $\varphi \varphi^{-1} = 1 \varphi_8.$

If there exists an isomorphism between two posets then the posets are called *isomorphic*. If there is given a number of isomorphic posets, then all the isomorphisms between any two of them form a groupoid under multiplication, with the identity mappings of the members of the system acting as units.

The isomorphisms of a poset with itself are called the *automorphisms* of the poset. They form a group under multiplication. Isomorphic posets have isomorphic groups of automorphisms. A single-valued mapping φ of the poset S onto the poset φS will be said to be an *anti-homomorphism* if φ induces a homomorphism between the poset S and the dual poset of φS . Two single-valued mappings φ , ψ which are either anti-homomorphisms (denote by a) or homomorphisms (denote by h) are multiplied according to the same rule as was given for the multiplication of homomorphism as given by the following "multiplication table" of a and h:



A one-to-one anti-homomorphism is called *anti-isomorphism*. E.g., the one-to-one correspondence by which an element a of a poset S corresponds to itself in the dual poset S^* defined in the introduction is an anti-isomorphism.



An anti-isomorphism of a poset S with itself is an *anti-automorphism*. A poset S which admits an anti-automorphism is called *self-dual*. In this case all the automorphisms and anti-automorphisms of S together form

II. Homomorphies and Groups with Operators

a group containing the group of automorphisms of S as normal subgroup of index 2. An example of a self-dual poset is provided by $S(\mathfrak{S}_s)$, the Hasse diagram of which is exhibited just above. The automorphism group of $S(\mathfrak{S}_s)$ is isomorphic to \mathfrak{S}_s . There are 24 anti-automorphisms one of which may be obtained by simply interchanging \mathfrak{S}_s and (1), leaving the other subgroups invariant. Only six of the automorphisms of $S(\mathfrak{S}_s)$ are induced by the six automorphisms of the group \mathfrak{S}_s , which is the largest number possible because \mathfrak{A}_s , as the only non-trivial normal subgroup, is necessarily invariant under all automorphisms of the group.

The correspondence between any automorphism a of a group \mathfrak{G} and the automorphism $a_{\mathfrak{S}}$ induced by a on $S(\mathfrak{G}) = S$ provides a homomorphism between the group $A_{\mathfrak{G}}$, of all automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} and a subgroup $A_{\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{S}}$ of the group $A_{\mathfrak{S}(\mathfrak{G})}$ of all automorphisms of $\mathfrak{S}(\mathfrak{G})$. The kernel of this homomorphism consists of all automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} that map every subgroup of \mathfrak{G} onto itself (not necessarily elementwise).

2. Meet and join.

66

Let S be a poset. We describe sets formed by some elements of S by taking a non-empty index set A and assigning to each α in A an element a_{α} of S. We define: The element x of S is the *meet* of the elements a_{α} ($\alpha \epsilon A$) if and only if $x \leq a_{\alpha}$ for all α in A and if from $y \leq a_{\alpha}$ for all α in A it always follows that $y \leq x$. We write $x = \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} a_{\alpha}$. We also write

 $x = a_1 \cap a_2 \cap \ldots \cap a_n$ if the index set is finite.

It may happen that the meet does not exist. *E.g.*, if no inclusions other than the trivial ones $a \leq a$ hold in *S*, then it is impossible to form the meet of two or more different elements. But if the meet does exist then it is uniquely determined up to equivalence: If $x = \bigcap_{a \in A} a_a, y = \bigcap_{a \in A} a_a$

then $x \leq a_a$ and $y \leq a_a$ for all a in A and thus $x \leq y, y \leq x$. Hence we are allowed to deal with $\bigcap_{a_a} a_a$ as with an element of S.

We always have:

- (5) $\bigcap_{a \in A} a_a = a \quad \text{if } a_a = a \text{ for all } a \in A.$
- (6) $a \wedge b = b$ if $b \leq a$, and conversely.

Furthermore,

(7a) $\bigcap_{a \in A} a_a \leq \bigcap_{a \in A} b_a \quad \text{if } a_a \leq b_a \text{ for } a \in A,$ (7b) $\bigcap_{a \in B} a_a \geq \bigcap_{a \in A} a_a$

for a subset B of A provided both sides of the inequality can be formed. (7b) turns into an equality if each element a_a that is removed also occurs among the remaining elements, i.e. if $a \varepsilon A - B$, $a_a = a_\beta$ for some $\beta \varepsilon b$. Finally, we have

(8)
$$\bigcap_{\beta \in B} b_{\beta} = \bigcap_{a \in A} a_{a},$$

where B denotes a second set of indices and to each β of B there corresponds a subset A_{β} of A such that $b_{\beta} = \bigcap_{\alpha \in A_{\beta}} a_{\alpha}$ can be formed and A is the union of all subsets A_{β} , provided at least one of the two sides of (8) can be formed.

The previous rules imply the rules

$$(9) a \wedge a = a$$

$$(10) a \wedge b = b \wedge a$$

(11) $a \wedge (b \wedge c) = (a \wedge b) \wedge c$

provided all but one of the meets involved can be formed.

In the poset $S_1 = \Sigma(S)$ of all subsets of a set S the meet coincides with the set-theoretical intersection. This remains true for the poset $S(\mathfrak{G})$ of all subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} . But, for a poset S_z formed from certain subsets of a set S, we may by no means infer that meet and intersection coincide. The reason is simply that the intersection of certain subsets a_a of S(aeA) belonging to S_z may not belong to S_z . E.g., Let S be the set of all real numbers, and let S_z be the set of all open intervals -e < x < e (e > 0) together with the empty subset. The meet of these intervals taken in S_z will be the empty subset, but the intersection will be the origin.

More generally, let S_z be a subposet of the poset S_z and assume that $\left(\sum_{a \in A} a_a \text{ exists } (a_a \in S_z \text{ for } a \in A)$. Then $\left(\sum_{a \in A} a_a \text{ may not exist at all, or it } a \in A \atop \max a \in A$ we only can infer the rule

(12)
$$\begin{array}{c} (s_2 \\ a \in A \end{array} = \begin{array}{c} s_1 \\ a_2 u \in S_2 \\ for a \in A \end{array}$$

The dual operation of meet is called *join*. The element x of the poset S is called the *join* of the elements a_a of $S(a\varepsilon A)$ if for all a in A, $a_a \leq x$ and if, for all $y \varepsilon S$ satisfying $a_a \leq y$ for all a in $A, x \leq y$. We write $x = \bigcup_{a \in A} a_a$. The same considerations as for the meet hold for

the join if we replace the symbol \land by the symbol \lor .

Meet and join are interdependent in the following way. If for the subset U of all elements u of S satisfying $a_a \leq u$ for all a of A the meet \bigcap u can be formed, then we have

if one of the two sides can be formed. In fact, since $a_a \leq u$ for all $u \in U$ it follows that $a_a \leq \bigcap_{u \in U} u$ and this holds for all a in A. But if $a_a \leq b$ for

all a in A, then we have $b \in U$, $\bigcap_{u \in U} u \leq b$, and hence (13).

A poset in which the meet and the join can always be formed, is called complete. E.g., the poset S(S) of all subsets of a given set S is complete. If the sum of all elements of a poset can be formed then the result will be an all element characterized as an element including every other element of the poset. If there is an all element and if the meet always can be formed, then from (13) it follows that the join always can be formed, and hence the poset is complete. This happens, for example, for the poset $S(\mathfrak{G})$ of all subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} in which \mathfrak{G} is all element and in which the intersection always can be formed. The join of any number of subgroups coincides with the intersection of all subgroups of \mathfrak{G} containing each subgroup of the given system of subgroups. Hence the join coincides with the subgroup generated by all the subgroups of the given system.

If the meet of all elements of a poset exists, then it is called *null* element of S. It is characterized up to equivalence as an element of S included in every element of S.

If there should not be a null element of S then we enlarge S artificially by the addition of an element m subject to the inequalities $m \leq a$ for all $a \in S$ and $m \leq m$. The enlarged set is a poset with null element m. Similarly, we may add an all element if there is none.

3. Lattices.

A lattice or a structure is a set L with two binary operations \wedge and \cup such that for any two elements a, b there are always uniquely

defined elements $a \land b$, $a \lor b$ in L. The operations are called *meet* and *join* respectively and are subject to the rules

- (15) (idempotency)
 - a) $a \wedge a = a$
 - b) $a \cup a = a$
- (16) (commutativity)
 - a) $a \wedge b = b \wedge a$
 - b) $a \cup b = b \cup a$
- (17) (associativity)
 - a) $a \wedge (b \wedge c) = (a \wedge b) \wedge c$
 - b) $a \cup (b \cup c) = (a \cup b) \cup c$

(18) a) $a \wedge (a \cup b) = a$

b) $a \cup (a \wedge b) = a$.

For example, a poset S in which equivalence amounts to equality and in which the meet and the join of any two elements can always be formed, is a lattice. According to (6) and the dual rule, we have

(19) $a \leq b$ if and only if $a \wedge b = a$,

(20) $a \leq b$ if and only if $a \cup b = b$.

Conversely, in an arbitrary lattice we may define a binary relation by (19). From (16a) follows $a \leq a$. If $a \leq b, b \leq c$, then $a \land b = a, b \land c = b, a \land c = (a \land b) \land c = a \land (b \land c) = a \land b = a$ so that $a \leq c$. If $a \leq b, b \leq a$, then $a \land b = a, b \land a = b, a = a \land b = b \land a = b$.

Hence a lattice determines a poset in which equivalence amounts to equality. Furthermore we have $(a \land b) \land a = (b \land a) \land a =$ $b \land (a \land a) = b \land a = a \land b$, hence $a \land b \leq a$; similarly $a \land b \leq b$. If $x \leq a, x \leq b$, then $x \land a = x, x \land b = x, x \land (a \land b) = (x \land a) \land b =$ $x \land b = x$, so that $x \leq a \land b$. Hence $a \land b$ coincides with the meet of a and b formed in the poset L. Using (18) we prove the equivalence of (19) with (20). By dual arguments it follows now that $a \lor b$ coincides with the join of a, b formed in the poset L.

We have found that lattices may be defined as posets in which equivalence amounts to equality and in which the meet and join of any two elements always can be formed.

-

From the definition it follows that the concept of a lattice is a selfdual concept.

A subset of a lattice is called a *sublattice* if it is closed under both lattice operations. A sublattice is itself a lattice.

Trivially, L is a sublattice of L. For any pair of elements a, b of L satisfying $b \leq a$ there is defined the factor lattice a/b consisting of all elements x of L which satisfy $b \leq x \leq a$ ("x is between b and a"). This is a sublattice of L. Another sublattice of L is the lattice L/a of all elements x of L which satisfy $a \leq x$; the dual notion a/0 is defined to be the sublattice consisting of all elements x of L satisfy a $\leq x$; the dual notion a/0 is defined to be the sublattice consisting of all elements x of L satisfy $a \leq x$; the dual notion a/0 is defined to be the sublattice consisting of all elements x of L satisfying $x \leq a$. In case there is an element M, it follows that M/a = L/a. If there is a null element m then we have a/m = a/0.

A complete poset in which equivalence amounts to equality is a lattice. Not every lattice is complete—e.g, the lattice consisting of all open non-empty intervals containing the origin on the real axis is not complete. However every finite lattice is complete. More generally, a lattice satisfying the maximal condition that in every non-empty subset of the lattice there is an element which is not included in any other element of the subset, is a complete lattice provided that there is an all element and a null element. In fact, for any subset U of the lattice the set V of all elements of the lattice included in every element of U will not be empty; hence it contains an element a not included by any other element of V. But the join of a and any other element of V also belongs to V and so includes a; hence it must coincide with a. Thus a includes every element of U, so that a is the meet of the elements of U.

4. Projections and antiprojections.

For any lattice L and any element a of L there is defined a homomorphism φ_a of the poset L onto the poset a/0 by the rule

$$x \to \varphi_a x = a \land x;$$

This homomorphism may be called the *projection* of L with respect to a or onto a/0. In fact, we even have

(21a)
$$\varphi_a(x \wedge y) = \varphi_a x \wedge \varphi_a y,$$

as follows from (17a) and (18a).

The dual concept is the *antiprojection* of L with respect to the element a of L which is defined as the homomorphic mapping φ^{a} given by

$$x \to \varphi^a x = a \cup x$$

of the poset L onto the poset L/a. This homomorphism preserves the join operation

(21b) $\varphi^a(x \cup y) = \varphi^a x \cup \varphi^a y,$

as follows from (17b) and (18b).

The projection φ_a induces in any factor lattice b/c a homomorphism of b/c into $(a \land b)/(a \land c)$ such that $\varphi_a b = a \land b, \varphi_a c = a \land c$. But we can by no means infer that φ_a maps b/c onto $(a \land b)/(a \land c)$.

E.g., in $S(\mathfrak{S}_4)$ let $a = \{(123), (12)\}$, $b = \mathfrak{S}_4$, c = ((1234)). There is exactly one subgroup x between c and b other than c and b itself viz. $x = \{(1234), (24)\}$ but we have $a \land b = a, a \land c = a \land x = m = (1)$; hence the subgroup y = ((123)) of a/m is not in φ_a (b/c). The six subgroups involved form a sublattice whose Hasse diagram is given below. (Hexagon lattice.)



Generally we have

(22)

$$\varphi_a x = \varphi_a(\varphi_a x \cup c) \quad \text{if } c \leq x,$$

because

$$\varphi_a x \leq x, \ \varphi_a x \cup c \leq x \cup c = x,$$
$$\varphi_a (\varphi_a x \cup c) \leq \varphi_a x \leq a \land \varphi_a x \leq a \land (\varphi_a x \cup c) = \varphi_a (\varphi_a x \cup c).$$

Hence a necessary and sufficient condition that φ_a induce an isomorphism of b/c into a/0 is that $x = \varphi_a x \cup c$ whenever $c \leq x \leq b$, or (23) $\varphi^c \varphi_a x = x$ for all elements x of b/c.

This condition guarantees that φ_a induces an isomorphism between b/cand some subset of $(a \land b)/(a \land c)$, but it still may happen that there are elements in $(a \land b)/(a \land c)$ not belonging to $\varphi_a(b/c)$ as is the case for the *pentagon* which one obtains from the last figure by omitting x, and which looks as follows: II. Homomorphies and Groups with Operators



If φ_a induces an isomorphism of b/c into a/0 then its inverse is induced by φ^c according to (23). Hence in order to be sure that φ_a induces an isomorphism between b/c and $(a \land b)/(a \land c)$ we have to amplify (23) by

(24)
$$\varphi_a \varphi^c y = y$$
 for all y in $(a \land b) / (a \land c)$.

DEFINITION: The factor lattice b/c is projective with the factor lattice d/e if φ_a induces an isomorphism of b/c onto d/e or what is equivalent, if φ^c induces an isomorphism of d/e onto b/c.

This relation between b/c and d/e is described properly by the formulas:

$$(25) c \cup d = b, c \wedge d = e$$

and the identities

$$(26) \qquad ((x \cup c) \land d) \cup c = (x \cup c) \land (c \cup d)$$

$$(27) \qquad ((y \land d) \lor c) \land d = (y \land d) \lor (c \land d)$$

for all x and y of L.

The relation is reflexive: φ_b induces the identity isomorphism between b/c and b/c.

The relation is transitive: If b/c is projective with d/e and d/e projective with f/g, then we have $f \leq d$, and hence from the associative law

$$\varphi_f \varphi_d = \varphi_f.$$

It follows that φ_f induces an isomorphism between b/c and f/g, viz., the product of the isomorphism induced by φ_f between d/e and f/g and the isomorphism induced by φ_d between b/c and d/e.

Moreover if b/c is projective with d/e and if also b/c is projective with f/g such that $f \leq d$, then d/e is projective with f/g. (Cancellation Law).

Proof: φ_d induces an isomorphism $\overline{\varphi}_d$ between b/c and d/e, φ_f induces an isomorphism $\overline{\varphi}_f$ between \overline{b}/c and f/g. Since $f \leq d$, we find that $\varphi_f = \overline{\varphi}_f \overline{\varphi}_d$ where $\overline{\varphi}_f$ denotes the homomorphism induced by $\overline{\varphi}_f$ on d/e. It follows that $\overline{\varphi}_f$ is an isomorphism between d/e and f/g.

By duality we find: If b/c is projective with f/g and if d/e is projective with f/g and if in addition the inequality $c \ge e$ holds, then b/c is projective with d/e.

Finally, let us notice the rule of inclusion: If b/c is projective with d/eand if $c \leq c' \leq b' \leq b$, then b'/c' is projective with $(b' \land d) / (c' \land d)$. And the dual rule: If b/c is projective with d/e and if $e \leq e' \leq d' \leq d$, then $(d' \land c) / (e' \land c)$ is projective with d'/e'.

The first of the two rules follows from the fact that φ_d induces an isomorphism between b'/c' and $(b' \cap d) / (c' \cap d)$ which according to the associative law also is induced by φ_{xnd} . The dual rule follows by duality.

An important application of these concepts can be made to the lattice $S(\mathfrak{G})$ of all subgroups of a given group \mathfrak{G} . First, \mathfrak{G} is the all element of $S(\mathfrak{G})$, (1) the null element of $S(\mathfrak{G})$. Second, if $\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{C} \in S(\mathfrak{G}), \mathfrak{C} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}$, then $\mathfrak{C}/\mathfrak{B}$ will be the lattice formed by all subgroups of \mathfrak{C} between \mathfrak{C} and \mathfrak{B} . If \mathfrak{C} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{B} , then for brevity we introduce the notation

€ ⊲ 9

for this relation between C and B.

If $\mathfrak{G} \lhd \mathfrak{B}$ and if for a certain subgroup \mathfrak{A} of \mathfrak{G} it holds that $\{\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{G}\} = \mathfrak{B}$ then it follows from the second isomorphy theorem that there is the isomorphism $\varphi_{\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{G}}$ between $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{G}$ and $\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{G}$ defined by the formula

(28)
$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{C}}(\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{C}) = \mathfrak{a}(\mathfrak{A} \wedge \mathfrak{C})$$

for all a of \mathfrak{A} , which may be called the *projection* of $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ onto $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{C}$. The group-theoretical isomorphism $\varphi_{\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{C}}$ induces an isomorphism between the corresponding lattices $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ and $(\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{B})/(\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{C})$ and from (28) it becomes clear that the group-theoretical projection induces a lattice-theoretical projection.

5. The Dedekind elements of a lattice.

A. Kurosh has generalized the concept of normality to all lattices by making the following definition:

The element c of the lattice L is called a *Dedekind element* of L if and only if for each element a the mapping φ_c induces an isomorphism of $(a \cup c)/c$ onto $a/(a \land c)$. This amounts to the identities (26) and (27) for all a, x, y of L. Or, using the terminology introduced by O. Ore: $(a \cup c)/c$ is projective with $a/(a \land c)$ for all elements a of L. We write $c \in L$ if c is a Dedekind element of L. Furthermore, we write $c \in b$ if cis a Dedekind element of the lattice b/0. It is convenient to call the relation $c \in b$ Kurosh invariance.

We have seen in the last section that the relation $\mathfrak{C} \lhd \mathfrak{B}$ between two subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} implies the Kurosh invariance $\mathfrak{C} \ltimes \mathfrak{B}$. But the converse is not true in general, as may be seen from $S(\mathfrak{S}_s)$ where every element is Kurosh invariant but not every element is normal.

Kurosh invariance has the following five properties proved by Kurosh:

I. $c \ \kappa \ c$. II. If $c \ \kappa \ L$, then $c \ \kappa \ a \cup c$ for all a of L.

Proof: For xeL we find that $(x \cup c)/c$ is projective with $x/(x \wedge c)$, and this holds a fortiori if $xe(a \cup c)/0$

Applying II to b/0 we find

IIa. If $c \ltimes b$ then $c \ltimes ((a \cap b) \cup c)$ for all a of L.

III. If $c \ltimes L$ it follows that $a \cap c \ltimes a$.

Proof: If $a' \varepsilon a/0$, then

$$a' \leq a, a \wedge c \leq (a' \cup (a \wedge c)) \wedge c \leq (a \cup (a \wedge c)) \wedge c = a \wedge c,$$
$$(a' \cup (a \wedge c)) \wedge c = a \wedge c,$$

hence, since c K L, $((a' \cup (a \cap c)) \cup c)/c$ is projective with

$$(a' \cup (a \land c)) / (a \land c).$$

But

$$(a' \cup (a \land c)) \cup c = a' \cup ((a \land c) \cup c) = a' \cup c;$$

hence $(a' \cup c)/c$ is projective with $(a' \cup (a \cap c))/(a \cap c)$. We also have that $(a' \cup c)/c$ is projective with $a'/(a' \cap c)$. Observing that $a' \cap c =$ $a' \cap (a \cap c)$ and using the cancellation rule proved at the end of the last section, we find that $(a' \cup (a' \cap c))/(a \cap c)$ is projective with

$$a'/(a' \wedge (a \wedge c)).$$

Applying III to b/0 we find

IIIa. If $c \ltimes b$, then $c \land a \ltimes b \land a$ for all a of L.

IV. If $c \in L$ and if $x \in L/c$, then $x \in L$. Conversely, if $c \leq x$ and $x \in L$, then $x \in L/c$.

Applying IV to b/0 we find

IVa. If $c \\ \\ \mathsf{K} b$ and if $c \\ \\ \leq x \\ \leq b$, then $x \\ \\ \mathsf{K} b$ if and only if $x \\ \\ \mathsf{K} b/c$.

V. If $c_1 \ltimes L$, $c_2 \ltimes L$, then $c_1 \cup c_2 \ltimes L$.

Applying V to b/0 we find:

Va. If $c_1 \ltimes b$, $c_2 \ltimes b$, then $c_1 \cup c_2 \ltimes b$.

Proof: Let $\times K L/c$, acL. It follows that $(x \cup (a \cup c))/x$ is projective with $(a \cup c)/(x \cap (a \cup c))$. Furthermore, from $c \in K L$ it follows that $(a \cup c)/c$ is projective with $a/(a \cap c)$, hence $(a \cup c)/(x \cap (a \cup c))$ is projective with $a/(a \cap (x \cap (a \cup c)))$. Observing that

$$x \cup (a \cup c) = (x \cup c) \cup a = x \cup a,$$
$$a \land (x \land (a \cup c)) = (a \land (a \cup c)) \land x = a \land x$$

we find that $(x \cup a)/x$ is projective with $(a \cup c)/(x \land (a \cup c))$ and $(a \cup c)/(x \land (a \cup c))$ is projective with $a/(a \land x)$. From the transitivity of the 'projective' relation it follows that $(x \cup a)/x$ is projective with $a/(a \land x)$. Since this holds for all a of L it follows that $x \ltimes L$. Conversely if $x \ltimes L$, then for $c \leq a$ it follows that $(x \cup a)/x$ is projective with $a/(x \land a)$; hence we have $x \ltimes L/c$.

Let $c_1 \leq x$. Since $c_2 \in L$, it follows that $(c_2 \cup x)/c_2$ is projective with $x/(c_2 \cap x)$. Hence $(c_2 \cup x)/(c_2 \cup c_1)$ is projective with $x/((c_2 \cup c_1) \cap x)$. Since $c_1 \leq x$, it follows that $c_2 \cup x = c_2 \cup (c_1 \cup x) = (c_1 \cup c_2) \cup x$. Hence $((c_1 \cup c_2) \cup x)/(c_1 \cup c_2)$ is projective with $x/(x \cap (c_1 \cup c_2))$. Hence $c_1 \cup c_2 \in L/c_1$. From IV it follows that $c_1 \cup c_2 \in L$. Finally we observe that Kurosh-invariance is not a self-dual concept, which may be seen from the pentagon (p. 72). We have $a \\ k \\ b, y \\ k \\ b,$ but there is an anti-automorphism interchanging a and y.

6. The Jordan-Hölder-Schreier Theorem for lattices.

As minimum requirements of any concept of normality in a lattice we lay down the following rules:

1) Between certain pairs of elements c, b of the lattice L there is defined a relation: c is normal with respect to (or: under) b. We write $c \ge b$.

2) If $c \in b$, then $c \in b$ and hence in particular c < b.

- 3) c N c.
- 4) If $c \ N \ b$, $a \in L$, then $a \land c \ N \ a \land b$.
- 5) If $c \ N \ a \cup c$, $y \ N \ a$, then $c \cup y \ N \ c \cup a$.
- 6) If $c_1 \otimes b$, $c_2 \otimes b$, then $c_1 \cup c_2 \otimes b$.

From 4) follows:

4a) If $c \ N b$, $c \leq x \leq b$, then $c \ N x$.

These rules are satisfied by Kurosh-invariance

Proof of 5): From IIIa follows $a \wedge c \quad Ka$. From Va follows $y \cup (a \wedge c) \quad Ka$. From IVa it follows that $y \cup (a \wedge c) \quad Ka/(a \wedge c)$. Applying the isomorphism induced by ψ^c we find that $y \cup c \quad K(a \cup c)/c$. From IVa it follows that $y \cup c \quad Ka \cup c$. They are also satisfied by the concept of 'normal subgroup' in the lattice of all subgroups of a given group. We proceed to prove the Jordan-Hölder-Schreier Theorem for lattices. First we prove the

LEMMA ON FOUR ELEMENTS: If $u \in U$, $v \in V$, then we have

$$u \cup (v \land U) \land u \cup (V \land U)$$
$$v \cup (u \land V) \land v \cup (U \land V)$$

and

(29) $(u \cup (V \cap U)) / (u \cup (V \cap U)) \simeq (v \cup (U \cap V)) / (v \cup (u \cap V))$

In fact, we have:

§ 5. Normal Chains and Normal Series

 $u \wedge V \ N \ U \wedge V, \ v \wedge U \ N \ U \wedge V \qquad \text{from rule 4},$ $(u \wedge V) \cup (v \wedge U) \ N \ U \wedge V \qquad \text{from rule 6},$ $u \ N \ u \cup (U \wedge V) \qquad \text{from rule 4a},$ $u \cup (v \wedge U) \ N \ u \cup (U \wedge V) \qquad \text{from rule 5},$

 $(u \cup (U \cap V)/u$ is projective with $(U \cap V)/(u \cap (U \cap V))$ from rule 2).

Observing that

 $u \cup ((u \land V) \cup (v \land U)) = u \cup (u \land V) \cup (v \land U) = u \cup (v \land U)$ and

$$u \wedge (U \wedge V) = (u \wedge U) \wedge V = u \wedge V \subset (u \wedge V) \cup (v \wedge U)$$

we conclude that also

$$(u \cup (U \cap V))/(u \cup (U \cap v))$$
 is projective with
 $(U \cap V)/((u \cap V) \cup (v \cap U))$

Hence it follows that

$$(u \cup (U \cap V)) / (u \cup (U \cap v)) \simeq (U \cap V) / ((u \cap V) \cup (v \cap U))$$

and from arguments of symmetry

$$(v \cup (V \cap U)) / (v \cup (u \cap V)) \simeq (U \cap V) / ((u \cap V) \cup (v \cap U)).$$

Since the right-hand sides coincide, comparison of the left-hand sides gives us (29).

In a lattice L with all element M and null element m and with a normality relation a normal chain of length r is a chain of r+1 elements

$$M == a_0 \wedge a_1 \wedge a_2 \dots \wedge a_r = m.$$

The factor lattices a_i/a_{i+1} are called the *factors* of the chain. If successsive numbers are different, then the normal chain is said to be a normal chain *without repetitions*. A normal chain is said to be a *refinement* of a given normal chain if the members of the given chain are among

the members of the new chain. Now Theorem 8 can be reformulated as follows: Two given normal chains of a lattice with normality relations and extreme elements can be refined so that the series of factors of the two new chains are identical up to order and isomorphisms.

The proof is carried out as before by basing it on the lemma. The applications to the situations in groups gives us back Theorem 8.

§ 6. Commutator Groups and Commutator Forms

We saw on page 9 that there are groups in which the commutative law ab=ba does not hold. If we wish nevertheless to calculate in an arbitrary group G in commutative fashion we must create a multiplicative normal congruence relation between its elements for which the condition

(1) ab = ba

holds. By page 22 the congruence relation sought is the congruence in \mathfrak{G} with respect to a normal subgroup $\mathfrak{G}'_{,c}$ consisting of all elements which are to be congruent to e. From the proposed congruence, we conclude, upon multiplication by the congruence $(ba)^{-1} \equiv (ba)^{-1}$, that all elements $ab(ba)^{-1}$ must be in $\mathfrak{G}'_{,c}$

DEFINITION: The element $ab a^{-1} b^{-1}$ is called the *commutator* of the elements a, b and is denoted by (a, b).

According to the defining equation,

$$(2) ab = (a, b) ba$$

the commutator indicates the deviation from the commutative law.

The subgroup generated by all the commutators is called the *commutator subgroup* of \mathfrak{G} , and is denoted by $D \mathfrak{G}$ or by \mathfrak{G}' .

If we actually wish to calculate commutatively in G, then we must look upon two elements as congruent if their quotient lies in the commutator group. However if we do this, we calculate in an abelian manner, since from (2) it follows that

$$ab \equiv ba (D \otimes l)$$

and from $a \equiv b$, $c \equiv d$ it follows that

$$ac \equiv bc \equiv cb \equiv db \equiv bd (D \otimes l).$$

The commutator group is the smallest normal subgroup with an abelian factor group.

The commutator group is invariant under every operator of the given group, since

(3) $(a, b)^{\Theta} = (a b a^{-1} b^{-1})^{\Theta} = a^{\Theta} b^{\Theta} (a^{\Theta})^{-1} (b^{\Theta})^{-1} = (a^{\Theta}, b^{\Theta}),$ and therefore \mathfrak{G}'^{Θ} lies in \mathfrak{G}' .

We now define higher commutator groups ("higher derivatives") recursively setting

It is clear that the r-th commutator group $D^r(0)$ is a fully invariant subgroup of (9) and that the successive factor groups of the normal subgroup chain

$$\mathfrak{G} = D^{\mathfrak{g}} \mathfrak{G} \supseteq \mathfrak{G}' = D^{\mathfrak{g}} \mathfrak{G} \supseteq D^{\mathfrak{g}} \mathfrak{G} \dots \supseteq D^{\mathfrak{r}} \mathfrak{G}$$

are abelian.

For a subgroup \mathfrak{l} of (8) it follows from the definition of the commutator group that $D\mathfrak{l} \subset D\mathfrak{G}$

and by induction $D^r \mathfrak{U} \leq D^r \mathfrak{G}$.

For the factor group over a normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} we have

 $D^r(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}) = (D^r\mathfrak{G})\mathfrak{R}/\mathfrak{R}.$

The usefulness of these concepts is obvious from the following

DEFINITION: A group (G) is said to be *solvable*, if the series of higher commutator groups terminates with e.

To a solvable group $\mathfrak{G} \neq e$ there corresponds a uniquely defined number k such that $D^*\mathfrak{G} = e$, $D^{k-1}\mathfrak{G} \neq e$. Since in the normal chain, $\mathfrak{G} > D^1\mathfrak{G} > D^2\mathfrak{G} > \cdots > D^k\mathfrak{G} = e$ just k abelian factor groups different from e appear, we say that the group \mathfrak{G} is k-step metabelian.

The group consisting of only the unity element is said to be 0-step metabelian. The 1-step metabelian groups are exactly the abelian groups $\pm e$.

It follows immediately from our remarks above that every subgroup and every factor group of a k-step metabelian group is itself at most k-step metabelian.

-

II. Homomorphies and Groups with Operators

If the group (8 has a normal chain

 $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_0 \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_1 \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_2 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathfrak{G}_k = e$

which has only abelian factor groups $\mathfrak{G}_i(\mathfrak{G}_{i+1})$, then \mathfrak{G} is at most k-step metabelian since $\mathfrak{G}' \subseteq \mathfrak{G}_1$, because $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}_1$ is abelian, and it follows by induction that $D^r \mathfrak{G} \subseteq \mathfrak{G}_r$, $D^k \mathfrak{G} = e$.

Since the higher derivatives are fully invariant in (9, and the subgroups and factor groups of an abelian group are themselves abelian, it follows from the Jordan - Hölder - Schreier theorem that the factor groups of a normal series of a solvable group are abelian.

Since an abelian group is simple if and only if it is of prime order, it follows that:

A solvable group has a composition series if and only if it is finite. A finite group is solvable if and only if its composition factors are cyclic of prime order.

The following rules hold for calculation with commutators:

(4) (a, b) = eis equivalent to ab = ba.

and in particular, we have

(4a) (e, a) = (a, e) = e

(4b)
$$(a, a) = e.$$

(5)
$$(a, b) (b, a) = e,$$

(6)
$$aba^{-1} = b^a = (a, b)b_a$$

$$(a, b) = a^{1-b} = b^{a-1}$$

(7)
$$(ab, c) = (b, c)^a (a, c)$$

(8) $(a, bc) = (a, b) (a, c)^{b}$.

If the commutator group lies in the center, then rules (7) and (8) can be simplified to

(7a)
$$(ab, c) = (a, c) (b, c)$$

(8a)
$$(a, bc) = (a, b) (a, c),$$

in particular

(9)
$$(a^n, c) = (a, c^n) = (a, c)^n$$

From this we can derive the useful power rule :

For (a, b) in the center of the group,

(10)
$$(a b)^n = (b, a)^{\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)} a^n b^n$$

Proof: For n = 0 the rule is trivially true. Now let n > 0 and assume we have already proven

$$(a b)^{n-1} = (b, a) \frac{1}{2} (n-1) (n-2) a^{n-1} b^{n-1}.$$

$$(a b)^n = (a b)^{n-1} \cdot a b$$

$$a^{n-1} b^{n-1} a b = a^{n-1} (b^{n-2}, a) a b^n$$

$$= a^{n-1} (b, a)^{n-1} a b^n \qquad \text{by (9)}$$

$$= (b, a)^{n-1} a^n b^n, \text{ since } (b, a) \text{ is in the center}$$
wherefore
$$(a b)^n = (b, a) \frac{1}{2} (n-2) (n-2) (b, a)^{n-1} a^n b^n.$$

and therefore

Now

from which the rule follows for positive n. For negative exponents the rule follows from the equations

$$(ab)^{-n} = (b^{-1}a^{-1})^n, a^nb^n = (a^n, b^n)b^na^n$$

= $(a, b)^{n^n}b^na^n = (b, a)^{-n^n}b^na^n.$

The mutual commutator group (U, B) of two complexes 11 and B of given group \mathfrak{G} is the subgroup generated by all the commutators (U, V)where $U \in \mathbb{1}$, $V \in \mathbb{R}^{1}$ 11 commutes with \mathfrak{B} elementwise if and only if $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}) = e$..

From (5) we have

$$(11) \qquad (\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{B})=(\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{U}).$$

If 11 and 28 are normal subgroups of (8 then it follows from (3) and (6) that (11, \Re) is a normal subgroup of (\Re and is contained in $\mathbb{U} \cap \Re$. Then by (7) and (8), for an arbitrary complex \Re :

(12) $(\mathfrak{RU},\mathfrak{V})=(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{V})(\mathfrak{R},\mathfrak{V}),$

$$(13) \qquad (\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{RB}) = (\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{R})(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{B}).$$

Let \Re_1 and \Re_2 be two complexes, $\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2$ the subgroups generated by them.

THEOREM 12: The normal subgroup \Re of $(\mathfrak{G}$ generated by $(\mathfrak{R}_1, \mathfrak{R}_2)$ is equal to the normal subgroup \mathfrak{R}_1 of (8 generated by $(\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2)$.

Proof: In any case \Re is contained in \Re_1 . We must show that

'If confusion with the commutator is to be feared then we write {(U, B)}.

 $\mathfrak{R}=e$ implies $\mathfrak{R}_1=e^1$. In fact, then \mathfrak{R}_1 , \mathfrak{R}_2 commute elementwise and from (4), (7), (8) it follows that \mathfrak{U}_1 , \mathfrak{U}_2 commute elementwise, as was to be shown.

It is useful to introduce higher commutators,e.g.,

(14)
$$(a, b, c) = (a, (b, c))$$

(15)
$$(a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n) = (a_1, (a_2, \ldots, a_n))$$

(16)
$$(a, b; c, d) = ((a, b), (c, d))$$

Rules (7) and (8) can now be written

(7b)
$$(ab, c) = (a, b, c) (b, c) (a, c)$$

(8b)
$$(a, bc) = (a, b) (b, a, c) (a, c)$$

In order to understand these multiple commutators completely we define recursively a "linear expression of weight w and type s", in symbols x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_w . The linear expression of weight 1 in x is the symbol x itself. Let this correspond to type 0. As a separating symbol of the first type we use a comma; for the second type, a semi-colon; for the third type, a triple point; ; and in general for the sth type the symbol (s) is used. Now let w > 1 and assume that all the linear expressions of weight < w are defined, and let a type correspond to each of them. Then we define expressions $(f_1(s) f_2)$ as linear expressions of weight w and of type s > 0 where f_1 is of weight w_1 in x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_w and of type s_1 , and f_2 is of weight w_2 in x_{w_1+1} , x_{w_1+2} , ..., $x_{w_1+w_2}$ and of type s_2 , such that $w = w_1 + w_2$, $s = \text{Max}(s_1 + 1, s_2)$. The weight is therefore simply the number of symbols in the "linear expression" and the type is equal to the highest type of separation symbol.

If $f(x_1, \ldots, x_w)$ is a linear expression of weight w and type s, then for arbitrary elements G_1, \ldots, G_w in the group (6) we define :

 $f(G_1, \ldots, G_w)$ is a commutator of weight w and type s in the G_i . Moreover for arbitrary subgroups $\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{U}_w$ we define: $f(\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{U}_w)$ is a commutator form of weight w and of type s in the \mathfrak{U}_i .

In the successive construction of corresponding linear expressions the separation symbols are to indicate commutator formation. E.g.,

 $D \otimes = (\otimes, \otimes)$ is of weight 2 and type 1,

 $D^2 \mathfrak{G} = (\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{G}; \mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{G})$ is of weight 4 and type 2,

 $D^r \mathfrak{G} = (D^{r-1} \mathfrak{G} \mathcal{T} D^{r-1} \mathfrak{G})$ is of weight 2^r and type r in the components $\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{G}, \ldots, \mathfrak{G}$.

^{&#}x27;We calculate in the factor group G/R!

§ 6. Commutator Groups and Commutator Forms

If the complexes \Re_1, \ldots, \Re_w are transformed into themselves by every element in \mathfrak{G} , then every commutator form formed from them is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , since from (3) it follows, by induction on the weight w, that for each operator Θ of \mathfrak{G} :

(3a)
$$(f(G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_w))^{\Theta} = f(G_1^{\Theta}, G_2^{\Theta}, \ldots, G_w^{\Theta}).$$

If the subgroup generated by the complex \Re_i is equal to the normal subgroup \Re_i of \mathfrak{G} then we actually have:

THEOREM 13: The commutator form $f(\mathfrak{N}_1, \mathfrak{N}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{N}_w)$ is equal to the subgroup \mathfrak{N} of $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{R})$ being generated by all the elements $f(N_1, \ldots, N_w)$ with \mathfrak{R}_i in \mathfrak{R}_i .

Proof: For w = 1 the theorem is clear. Let w > 1 and assume that the theorem is proven for commutator forms of lower weight.

 $f = (f_1 \odot f_2)$, where the weights w_1 , w_2 of f_1 , f_2 are lower than w. By the induction hypothesis,

 $f_1(\mathfrak{N}_1, \mathfrak{N}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{N}_{w_1})$ is generated by all $f_1(N_1, \ldots, N_{w_1})$, $f_2(\mathfrak{N}_{w_1+1}, \mathfrak{N}_{w_1+2}, \ldots, \mathfrak{N}_{w})$ is generated by all $f_2(N_{w_1+1}, \ldots, N_w)$.

Now the statement of the theorem follows from Theorem 12. From the previous definitions and the last theorem the following "substitution principle" follows immediately:

If $f(y_1, y_2, ..., y_w)$ is a linear expression of weight ω and if $\varphi_i(x_1^{(i)}, x_2^{(i)}, ..., x_{w_i}^{(i)})$ $(i=1, 2, ..., \omega)$ are linear expressions of weight w_i , then $f(\varphi_1, \varphi_2, ..., \varphi_m)$ is a linear expression g of weight $w=w_1+w_2+$... $+w_w$ in $x_1^{(1)}..., x_w^{(i)}, ..., x_w^{(i)}$. For normal subgroups $\Re^{(i)}(v=1, 2, ..., w)$

of a group S, we have

$$g(\mathfrak{N}_{\mathbf{y}}^{(i)}) = f(\mathfrak{M}_1, \mathfrak{M}_2 \dots \mathfrak{M}_{\omega}),$$

where $\mathfrak{M}_i = \varphi_i (\mathfrak{R}_1^{(i)}, \ldots, \mathfrak{R}_{w_i}^{(i)})$.

In a group G with abelian commutator group G'we have the following important rule:

$$(17) (a, b, c) (b, c, a) (c, a, b) = e,$$

which we derive in the following way:

^{&#}x27;The type of the separating symbols in f may have to be raised by the substitution.

$$c(a, b)c^{-1} = (a, b)^{a} = (c, a, b) (a, b)$$

= $cac^{-1} \cdot cbc^{-1} \cdot (cbc^{-1} \cdot cac^{-1})^{-1}$
= $(c, a)a \cdot (c, b)b \cdot ((c, b)b (c, a)a)^{-1}$
= $(c, a) (a, c, b) (c, b)ab ((c, b) (b, c, a) (c, a)ba)^{-1}.$

(17a) $(c, a, b) (a, b) = (c, a) (a, c, b) (c, b) (a, b) (c, a)^{-1} (b, c, a)^{-1} (c, b)^{-1}$. Since 0' is abelian we have

$$(c, a, b) = (a, c, b) (b, c, a)^{-1}$$

and moreover by (8) (a, e) = e = (a, b, c) (a, c, b);

and therefore finally we have (17). Now we can prove the following important theorem.

THEOREM 14: In a group \mathfrak{G} with the three normal subgroups $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{G}$, each of the three normal subgroups $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}), (\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{A}), (\mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B})$ is contained in the product of the two others.

Proof: We may assume that $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}) \cdot (\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{A}) = e$, and must then prove that $(\mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}) = e$. By Theorem 13, $(\mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B})$ is generated by all (c, a, b) where $a \in \mathfrak{A}, b \in \mathfrak{B}, c \in \mathfrak{C}$, so that we must prove (c, a, b) = e. In any case $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}) = (\mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{A}) = e$, and therefore also $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{B}) = e$. In formula (17a) we may insert (a, c, b) = (b, c, a) = e, so that

$$(18) (c, a, b) (a, b) = (c, a) (c, b) (a, b) (c, a)^{-1} (c, b)^{-1}.$$

Since \mathfrak{A} is a normal subgroup, $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}) \leq \mathfrak{A}$, and therefore, $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}) \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{G}) = e$ and $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{G}; \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{G}) = e$. Since \mathfrak{B} is a normal subgroup, $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}) \leq \mathfrak{B}, (\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}; \mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{A}) = e$. The factors on the right of (18) may be permuted so that we finally obtain (c, a, b) = e.

§ 7. On the Groups of an Algebra

In this paragraph we give a short survey of the groups occurring in an algebra and of groups with operators.

1. Modules.

A commutative group in which the symbol of combination is written as the (+) symbol, is called a **module**.

Consequently, the sum of two summands a and b is denoted by a+b. The following laws must then be valid for this *addition*:

I. a+(b+c) = (a+b)+c.

- II. There is a null element 0 with the property 0+a=a for all a.
- III. The equation x+a=b is solvable for all pairs a, b.
- IV. a+b=b+a.

As we saw earlier, it follows from this that in a sum of a finite number of summands the order and parenthesizing can be changed arbitrarily, without altering the value of the sum.

A sum consisting of the *n*-summands a_1, \ldots, a_n is written

$$a_1+a_2+\ldots+a_n ext{ or } \quad \sum_{i=1}^n a_i.$$

Addition has a unique inverse, i.e., the equation x+a=b has exactly one solution for each pair a, b. By the commutative law, the equation a+x=b is equivalent to x+a=b. Zero has the property: 0+a=a, a+0=a and it is uniquely defined by any of these equations. The solution of x+a=0 is denoted by -a and is uniquely determined. We have

$$a + - a = -a + a = 0$$

and therefore
$$-(-a) = a$$

The difference $a + (-b)$ of a and b will be denoted by $a - b$.

The sum of n equal summands a is denoted by n a. 0a is defined as 0 and (-n) a is defined as -(n a).

Then we have rules analogous to the power rules:

$$(1) n (a+b) = n a+n b ,$$

(2)
$$(n+m) a = n a + m a$$
,

$$(3) (n m) a = n (m a),$$

for all rational integers n, m. Consequently the mapping $a \to n a$ is an operator \underline{n} of the module such that the rules for calculation

$$(4) n+m=n+m$$

(5)
$$\underline{n} \underline{m} = \underline{n} \underline{m}$$

are valid. 1 leaves each element fixed; 0 maps each element onto 0.

For example, the rational integers 0, ± 1 , ± 2 , ... form a module o. σ is additively generated by 1 and is therefore cyclic; moreover σ is infinite.

By I § 5, the submodules of o are exactly the modules (n), consisting of all multiples m n of the non-negative rational integer, n.

Two numbers are said to be *congruent* mod (n) if their difference is in (n) and therefore divisible by n. The number of residue classes of o with respect to (n) is n if n > 0. They form a module o(n), the *factor*module of o with respect to (n).

For an arbitrary module \mathfrak{M} , all the rational integers *m* for which $\underline{m=0}$ form a submodule of \mathfrak{o} , the so-called *exponential module* of \mathfrak{M} . The non-negative rational integer generating the exponential module is

-

called the *characteristic* of the module. For example, the factor-module $\mathfrak{o}/(n)$ is of characteristic n.

The sum $\mathfrak{m}_1 + \mathfrak{m}_2$ of two submodules $\mathfrak{m}_1, \mathfrak{m}_2$ of \mathfrak{M} consists of all sums $a_1 + a_2$ with $a_i \in \mathfrak{m}_i$. It is a submodule.

The sum of the two submodules (n) and (m) of o is generated by the greatest common divisor (g. c. d.) (n, m) of n and m. The intersection of (n) and (m) is generated by the least common multiple of n and m (l. c. m.) From the second isomorphy theorem it follows that

n. m = (n, m). (l. c. m. (n, m))

The maximal submodules of \mathfrak{o} are exactly the submodules generated by the prime natural numbers.

2. Rings.

DEFINITION: A *ring* is a module in which besides addition, a multiplication of elements is defined such that

- 1. a (b c) = (a b) c (associative law)
- 2. a (b+c) = a b+a c (left distributive law)

(b+c) a=b a+c a (right distributive law).

Thus a ring is an abelian group in which a right and a left operator is associated with each element.

In particular,

$$a. 0=0. a=0, a. -b=-a. b=-(a. b).$$

DEFINITION: The admissible subgroups of a ring are said to be *ideals*.

A right ideal is a submodule in which ρa is contained in the submodule if ρ is in the submodule; similarly a left ideal is a submodule which contains $a\lambda$ if it contains λ , where a in each case runs through all the elements of the ring \mathfrak{S} .

A submodule which is at the same time a right and left ideal is said to be a *two-sided ideal*.

As the *product* $\mathfrak{m}_1\mathfrak{m}_2$ of two submodules $\mathfrak{m}_1,\mathfrak{m}_2$ of a ring \mathfrak{S} we define the set of all finite sums

 $a_1b_1+a_2b_2+\cdots+a_rb_r$,

where $a_i \in \mathfrak{m}_1$, $b_i \in \mathfrak{m}_2$, r arbitrary.

With this definition, $m_1 m_2$ first becomes a submodule of \mathfrak{S} .

The sum, intersection and product of two ideals of the same sort are also ideals of this same sort.

The residue classes (cosets) over a right- (left-) ideal have \mathfrak{S} as a right- (left-) domain of operators. The residue classes with respect to a two-sided ideal form a ring, the factor-ring, where the residue class R_{ab} is defined as the product of the residue classes R_a and R_b .

The ring \mathfrak{f} is said to be *homomorphic* to the ring \mathfrak{S} if there is a singlevalued mapping σ of \mathfrak{S} on \mathfrak{f} such that $\sigma(a+b) = \sigma a + \sigma b$, $\sigma(ab) = \sigma a \cdot \sigma b$. If the mapping is one-one, then \mathfrak{f} is said to be isomorphic to \mathfrak{S} .

Here the first isomorphy theorem reads:

A ring [homomorphic to the ring \mathcal{E} is isomorphic to the residue class ring of \mathcal{E} with respect to the two-sided ideal consisting of all the elements of \mathcal{E} which are mapped onto 0 by the homomorphic mapping of \mathcal{E} onto [.

An example of a ring is the operator domain of a module \mathfrak{M} . An operator Θ of \mathfrak{M} is a single-valued mapping of \mathfrak{M} into itself such that $\theta(a+b) = \Theta a + \Theta b$. The product of two operators is defined by $(\Theta_1 \Theta_2)a = \Theta_1(\Theta_2 a)$ which we encountered previously; on the other hand the sum is defined by $(\Theta_1 + \Theta_2)a = \Theta_1 a + \Theta_2 a$. One can easily show that the operators of \mathfrak{M} form a ring with the unit element <u>1</u>.

3. Division Rings, Commutative Rings, and Fields.

DEFINITION: A ring in which the elements different from zero form a multiplicative group is said to be a *division ring*.

This would follow from the additional conditions:

3. There are at least two different elements;

4. The equations a.x=b and y.a=b are solvable if $a\neq 0$. (If $a\neq 0$, $b\neq 0$, then the equations ae=a and bx=e are solvable and give $abx=ae=a\neq 0$, therefore $ab\neq 0$. Thus the non-zero elements form a semi-group which is actually a group because of 4.)

A ring is said to be a *commutative ring* if the commutative law for multiplication holds in it.

A commutative ring which is at the same time a division ring is called a *field*.

For example all the rational numbers, as well as the domain of all real numbers, form a field.

DEFINITION: The *center* of a ring is the (commutative) ring of all elements which commute with every element of the ring.

The center of a division ring is a field.

¹ Also called skew fields, s-fields, non-commutative fields, etc.

In a commutative ring with unit element, the residue class ring with respect to an ideal is a field if and only if the ideal is maximal.

For example, the set of all the rational integers form a commutative ring o. Every submodule of o is also an ideal of o. The residue class ring of o with respect to the ideal (n) is a field if and only if n is a prime. Therefore for every prime p we obtain a field k_p of p elements.

In an arbitrary division ring K, all the elements obtainable from 1 by combinations of the four operations form a sub-field k, the *prime field* of K. Either none of the sums 1, 1+1, 1+1+1, ... is equal to zero in K, in which case k is isomorphic to the field of rational numbers, or a sum $1+1+\ldots+1$ is equal to zero, in which case k is isomorphic to a field k_p of p elements.

The characteristic of a division ring is equal to the characteristic of its prime field and is therefore zero or a natural prime, since from n = 0, $a \neq 0$ it follows that n = 0.

4. S-Modules.

DEFINITION: A module with a ring S, as operator domain is said to be an S-module.

We define in greater detail:

The module \mathfrak{M} , given a ring \mathfrak{S} , is said to be a *left* \mathfrak{S} -module if a multiplication of elements α in \mathfrak{S} with elements u in \mathfrak{M} is uniquely defined so that

| 1. | $\alpha u \in \mathfrak{M},$ |
|----|------------------------------|
| | |

- 2. $\alpha(u+v) = \alpha u + \alpha v$,
- 3. $(\alpha+\beta)u = \alpha u + \beta u$

4. $(\alpha\beta)u = \alpha(\beta u).$

We also speak of an S-module in the case where S is only a semi-group in which case requirement 3. becomes meaningless.

 \mathfrak{M} is said to be a proper \mathfrak{S} -module if 5. $\mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{M}=\mathfrak{M}$; 6. $\alpha \mathfrak{M}=0, \mathfrak{M}=0$, imply $\alpha = 0$.

If \mathfrak{S} contains a unit element 1, then condition 5. is equivalent to condition 5a): 1. $\mathfrak{M}=\mathfrak{M}$. 5a) is equivalent to 5b): 1.u=u for all u.

If \mathfrak{S} is a division ring, then condition 5 suffices to make \mathfrak{M} a proper \mathfrak{S} -module: for from $\alpha \mathfrak{M} = 0$ and $\alpha \neq 0$ we would have $\mathfrak{S} \alpha \mathfrak{M} = 0$, and since $\mathfrak{S} \alpha = \mathfrak{S}$, then $\mathfrak{S} \mathfrak{M} = 0$.

The concept of a right S-module is defined similarly, the module being multiplied on the right.

An \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} is said to be a *finite* \mathfrak{S} -module if \mathfrak{M} can be generated over \mathfrak{S} by a finite number of its elements, and therefore if there are a finite number of elements u_1, \ldots, u_n in \mathfrak{M} such that every element in \mathfrak{M} is of the form

$$u = \alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n u_n$$

with $\alpha_i \in \mathfrak{S}$.

Examples of \mathfrak{S} -modules are the *n*-dimensional \mathfrak{S} -vector module consisting of all ordered *n*-tuples $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_n)$ (vectors) with components α in \mathfrak{S} , among which only a finite number are different from zero; and with the calculation rules

$$\begin{aligned} &(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_n) + (\beta_1, \beta_2, \ldots, \beta_n) = (\alpha_1 + \beta_1, \alpha_2 + \beta_2, \ldots, \alpha_n + \beta_n) \\ &\alpha(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_n) = (\alpha \alpha_1, \alpha \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha \alpha_n). \end{aligned}$$

If \mathfrak{S} contains a unit element 1, then the *n*-dimensional \mathfrak{S} -vector module over \mathfrak{S} is generated by the *n* unit vectors

$$u_i = (0, \ldots, 0, 1, 0, \ldots, 0)$$
 $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n).$

The u_i are then called a *basis* of the \mathfrak{S} -module.

In an arbitrary \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} , the expression $\alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_r u_r$ is called a *linear combination* of the u_i . The elements u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r are said to be *linearly independent* if

1.
$$u_i \neq 0$$
 $(i=1,\ldots,r)$

2. $\alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_r u_r = 0$ implies $\alpha_i u_i = 0, i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$.

Now we generalize the definition of basis. A system \mathfrak{B} of elements u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_m is said to be an \mathfrak{E} -basis system if each element of \mathfrak{M} is of the form $u = \alpha_{r_1} u_{r_1} + \cdots + \alpha_{r_r} u_{r_r}$ and every finite set of elements $u_{r_1}, u_{r_2}, \ldots, u_{r_r}$ is linearly independent $(r_1 < r_2 < \cdots < r_r)$.

If a module \mathfrak{M} over a division ring K has a finite basis, then it is a vector module.²

Since $K\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{M}$, \mathfrak{M} is a proper K-module. If, moreover, u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n is the basis, then it follows from $\alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n u_n = 0$ that $\alpha_i u_i = 0$. If we were to have $\alpha_i \neq 0$ then $\alpha_i^{-1}(\alpha_i u_i) = 1 u_i = u_i = 0$. Therefore we must have $\alpha_i = 0$ $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$. Every element of \mathfrak{M} can be represented in only one way as $\alpha_1 u_1 + \alpha_2 u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_n u_n$.

^{&#}x27; The number n can be any ordinal number whatsoever.

[&]quot; More precisely: is operator-isomorphic to an G-vector module.

THEOREM 15: For any division ring K, every proper K-module $\mathfrak{M} \neq 0$ has a basis.

Proof: With the help of transfinite induction we shall give a method of construction only. The reader can carry out the proof himself without difficulty.

We first pick a system of generators $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\omega}$ of \mathfrak{M} over K, for example, \mathfrak{M} itself, for which we can assume that $v_1 \neq 0$ and that the indices 1, 2, ..., ω_{ar} well ordered. Let \mathfrak{M}_{μ} be the K-module of all linear combinations of the elements $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\mu}$. We wish to define a basis system \mathfrak{B}_{μ} of \mathfrak{M}_{μ} . In order to do this, let \mathfrak{B} , be the set consisting of v_1 alone. Moreover let $\nu > 1$ and let \mathfrak{B}_{μ} be defined for all $\mu < \nu$. Let \mathcal{L}_{μ} be the union of all \mathfrak{B}_{μ} with $\mu < \nu$, and let \mathfrak{M}_{μ} be the K-module: union of all \mathfrak{M}_{μ} with $\mu < \nu$, in the the K-module of τ_1 , we define: $\mathfrak{M}_{\mu} = \mathcal{L}_{\mu}$ if $v_{\mu} \in \mathfrak{m}$, but $\mathfrak{M}_{\mu} = \mathfrak{L}_{\mu}$ and \mathfrak{L}_{μ} and $\mathfrak{L}_{\mu} \in \mathfrak{M}$.

Then \mathfrak{B}_m is the desired basis system.

It is shown in the theory of linear algebra that for a division ring K the dimension of a finite K-vector module \mathfrak{M} is uniquely determined (also see Chap. III. § 2).

The dimension of \mathfrak{M} over K is denoted by $[\mathfrak{M}/K]$ or simply by $[\mathfrak{M}]$.

The dimension of a K-module in \mathfrak{M} is at most equal to the dimension of \mathfrak{M} . If the dimension of \mathfrak{M} is finite then a K-module in \mathfrak{M} is identical with \mathfrak{M} if and only if their dimensions are equal. Consequently, then, the double chain theorem holds in \mathfrak{M} over the operator domain K.

If k is a division subring in K, then K can be conceived of as a proper left k-module. The dimension of K over k is called the *degree* of K over k. If K is a finite k-module, then K is said to be a *finite extension* of k.

In this case, the elements of K can be represented uniquely in the form

$$\Theta = \lambda_1 u_1 + \lambda_2 u_2 + \cdots + \lambda_n u_n$$

where $\lambda_i \in k$ and u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n is a basis of K over k. If k contains q elements, then K contains q^n elements.

5. Semi-modules, semi-rings, quasi-rings, E-rings, algebras.

Many concepts defined for modules can be extended to additive semigroups. For example, a sum of a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n , in this order, is written as $a_1 + a_2 + \ldots + a_n$ or $\sum_{i=1}^n a_i$. A zero element of an additive semi-group a is defined to be an element 0 satisfying 0 + x = x + 0 for all x of a. There is at most one zero element, since 0 + 0' = 0 = 0' for any two zero elements 0, 0'. If there is an element x such that a + x = x + a = 0 then x is called the *negative* of a, and it is denoted by -a. If a has a negative, then for any element b the two equations a + x = b, y + a = b are uniquely solvable, the solutions being x = (-a) + b, y = b + (-a), which is abbreviated as x = -a + b, y = b - a. For any natural number n, the sum of n equal summands a is denoted by na. For natural numbers the rules (2), (3) are satisfied. If there is a zero element then we define 0a = 0. If a is an additive group, then for negative integers -n we define (-n)a = -(na), which is abbreviated as -na. The rules (2), (3) remain valid for all rational integers.

A normal divisor of an additive semi-group \mathfrak{a} is defined as an additive sub-semigroup \mathfrak{b} of \mathfrak{a} which has the property that for $a_1\mathfrak{e}\mathfrak{a}$, $a_2\mathfrak{e}\mathfrak{a}$, $x\mathfrak{e}\mathfrak{b}$,

> $a_1 + x + a_2 \epsilon \mathbf{b}$ if and only if $a_1 + a_2 \epsilon \mathbf{b}$, $a_1 + x \epsilon \mathbf{b}$ if and only if $a_1 \epsilon \mathbf{b}$, $x + a_2 \epsilon \mathbf{b}$ if and only if $a_2 \epsilon \mathbf{b}$.

This definition is in agreement with the one given in Exercise 25 at the end of Chap. I. The congruence modulo b is the normal additive congruence relation generated from

$$a + b \equiv a$$
, $b + a \equiv a$ for aea , beb .

The congruence modulo a normal divisor is additive in the sense that for $a_1 \equiv a_2$ (modulo **b**), $b_1 \equiv b_2$ (modulo **b**) we have $a_1 + b_1 \equiv a_2 + b_2$ (modulo **b**). The residue classes modulo a normal divisor are added according to the rule: $\overline{a} + \overline{b} \equiv \overline{a} + \overline{b}$, where \overline{x} denotes the residue class modulo **b** that is represented by the element x of **a**.

The residue classes of a modulo the normal divisor **b** form an additive semi-group which is called the *factor semi-group* of a over **b** and is denoted by a/b. The mapping $a \rightarrow \overline{a}$ establishes a homomorphism of a onto a/b called the natural homomorphism of a onto a/b. The elements of **b** form a residue class \overline{b} which is the zero element of a/b.

For a homomorphism Θ of the additive semi-group \mathfrak{a} onto the additive semi-group $\Theta \mathfrak{a}$ having a zero element, all those elements of \mathfrak{a} mapped onto the zero element of $\Theta \mathfrak{a}$ form a normal divisor \mathfrak{a}_{Θ} of \mathfrak{a} which is called the kernel of Θ . The homomorphism Θ induces the homomorphism $\overline{\Theta}$ of $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{b}$ onto $\Theta \mathfrak{a}$ defined by $\overline{\Theta} \overline{\mathfrak{a}} = \Theta \mathfrak{a}$ having \mathfrak{a}_{Θ} as its kernel. If $\mathfrak{a}/\mathfrak{a}_{\Theta}$ is an additive group, then $\overline{\Theta}$ is an isomorphism and the First Isomorphism Theorem

applies.

DEFINITION: An additive abelian semi-group is called a *semi-module*. A semi-module is called a halfmodule if it can be embedded into a module.

The natural numbers, for example, form a halfmodule. The rule (1) for natural numbers as multipliers holds true in semi-modules.

DEFINITION: An additive sub-semigroup of an additive semigroup \mathfrak{a} is a non-empty subset \mathfrak{b} of \mathfrak{a} which is closed under addition. \mathfrak{b} is itself an additive semi-group. It is called a sub-semimodule if it is commutative.

DEFINITION: An element s of the additive semi-group \mathfrak{a} is called a subtrahend, if

(1)
$$s+a = a+s$$
 for all $a \in a$

(2) from
$$s + a = s + b$$
 it follows that $a = b$.

Exercise 1: All subtrahends of a form a sub-semimodule $S(\mathfrak{a})$ satisfying the cancellation laws of addition, provided there is at least one subtrahend in \mathfrak{a} .

Exercise 2: All elements of a together with the formal differences a - s (aca, seS(a)) and the symbol 0 form an additive semi-group $\delta(a)$ (difference semi-group) containing a sadditive sub-semigroup if equality is defined as follows:

a = b as in \mathfrak{a} ; a = b - s if a + s = b; $a_1 - s_1 = a_2 - s_2$ if $a_1 + s_2 = a_2 + s_1$; 0 = a, a = 0 if a is zero element of \mathfrak{a} and if addition is defined as follows:

 $a + b \operatorname{as in} \mathfrak{a}; (b - s) + a = (b + a) = s; a + (b - s) = (a + b) - s;$ (a - s) + (b - t) = (a + b) - (s + t); s - s = 0, 0 + a = a + 0 = a;0 + (b - s) = (b - s) + 0 = b - s; 0 + 0 = 0.

Exercise 3: The subtrahends of $\delta(\mathfrak{a})$ form a module $S\delta(\mathfrak{a})$ which coincides with $\delta S(\mathfrak{a})$. Prove also that the formal differences $\mathfrak{a} - s$ occurring in the construction of $\delta(\mathfrak{a})$ are actual differences between \mathfrak{a} and s as defined above.

Exercise 4: $d(\mathfrak{a})$ is a module if and only if \mathfrak{a} is a semi-module satisfying the cancellation laws of addition. This is the case if and only if \mathfrak{a} is a halfmodule.

DEFINITION: A semi-module for which a multiplication is uniquely defined is called a *semi-ring* if the distributive laws

$$a(b+c) = ab + ac$$
$$(b+c) a = ba + ca$$

are satisfied.

A sub-semimodule of a semi-ring closed under multiplication is called a *sub-semiring*. A sub-semiring is itself a semi-ring.

Exercise 5: The operators of a semi-module \mathfrak{a} form a semi-ring $O(\mathfrak{a})$. Here an operator of \mathfrak{a} is a unique mapping Θ of \mathfrak{a} into \mathfrak{a} satisfying $\Theta(a+b) = \Theta a + \Theta b$. The addition and multiplication of two operators Θ_1, Θ_2 of \mathfrak{a} is defined as usual by the rules

$$(\Theta_1 + \Theta_2) a = \Theta_1 a + \Theta_2 a, \ \Theta_1 \Theta_2 a = \Theta_1 (\Theta_2 a).$$

The following three exercises show that we may interpret semirings as a special case of semi-modules with operators.

Exercise 6: For a semi-ring S the mapping

$$a \rightarrow a_l = ({x \atop a x})(x \in \mathfrak{S})$$

of the elements a of S onto the left multiplications as well as the mapping

$$a \rightarrow a_r = ({x \atop x a})(x \in \mathfrak{S})$$

of the elements of \mathfrak{S} onto the *right multiplications* establishes homomorphic mappings of the semi-module \mathfrak{S} onto the sub-semimodule \mathfrak{S}_i , and \mathfrak{S}_i , of $O(\mathfrak{S})$ respectively.

Exercise 7: To each homomorphic mapping $a \rightarrow a_i$ of a semi-module \mathfrak{S} into the operator-semi-ring $O(\mathfrak{S})$ of \mathfrak{S} there belongs one semi-ring defined over the semi-module \mathfrak{S} as follows:

$$ab = a_i(b)$$
 for $a \in \mathfrak{S}, b \in \mathfrak{S}$.

The associative case is treated in

Exercise 8: The associative law of multiplication in a semi-ring \mathfrak{S} is equivalent to each of the following three statements:

1. The correspondence $a \to a_i$ maps the semi-ring \mathfrak{S} homomorphically onto a sub-semiring \mathfrak{S}_i of $O(\mathfrak{S})$ such that $a_i + b_i = (a+b)_i$, $a_i b_i = (ab)_i$.

2. The correspondence $a \to a_r$ maps the semi-ring \mathfrak{S} homomorphically onto a sub-semiring \mathfrak{S}_r of $O(\mathfrak{S})$ such that $a_r + b_r = (a+b)_r$, $a_r b_r = (ab)_r$.

3. The two sub-semimodules \mathfrak{S}_i and \mathfrak{S}_r of $O(\mathfrak{S})$ are elementwise permutable, i.e., $a_i b_r = b_r a_i$ for $a \in \mathfrak{S}, b \in \mathfrak{S}$.

DEFINITION: The normal divisors of the semi-module formed by the elements of a semi-ring under addition which are invariant under $\mathfrak{S}_i, \mathfrak{S}_r, \mathfrak{S}_i \cup \mathfrak{S}_r$ are called, respectively, left ideals, right ideals, and twosided ideals of \mathfrak{S} .

It is clear that the sum and the intersection of two ideals of one kind is itself an ideal of the same kind. The factor semi-module $\mathfrak{S}/\mathfrak{b}$ of \mathfrak{S} over a two-sided ideal \mathfrak{b} becomes a semi-ring with the introduction of the multiplication $\overline{ab} = \overline{ab}$, where \overline{x} denotes the residue class modulo \mathfrak{b} represented by the element x of \mathfrak{S} . The residue class \mathfrak{b} consisting of the elements of \mathfrak{b} is the zero element, and multiplication by zero always yields zero. The natural homomorphism of \mathfrak{S} onto $\mathfrak{S}/\mathfrak{b}$ also preserves multiplication. Conversely, for a homomorphic mapping Θ of \mathfrak{S} onto a semi-ring $\Theta\mathfrak{S}$ having a zero element such that multiplication by zero yields zero, the kernel \mathfrak{S}_{Θ} of Θ is a two-sided ideal. Θ induces a homomorphism Θ of the semi-ring $\mathfrak{S}/\mathfrak{S}_{\Theta}$ onto the semi-ring $\Theta\mathfrak{S}$ mapping only the residue class \mathfrak{S}_{Θ} onto the zero element of $\Theta\mathfrak{S}$. If $\mathfrak{S}/\mathfrak{S}_{\Theta}$ is a module, then Θ is an isomorphism and $\mathfrak{S}/\mathfrak{S}_{\Theta} \simeq \Theta\mathfrak{S}$.

For any two sub-semimodules m_1, m_2 of the semi-ring \mathfrak{S} the set of products $x_1 x_2 (x_i e m_i)$ is not necessarily closed under addition. It is customary to denote by $m_1 m_2$ the set of all expressions

 $\Sigma_{i}^{r} x_{1i} x_{2i}$ ($x_{1i} \epsilon m_1, x_{2i} \epsilon m_2; r$ any natural number),

that is, the smallest sub-semimodule of \mathfrak{S} containing all products x_1x_2 with $x_1 \epsilon m_1$, $x_2 \epsilon m_2$.

Exercise 9: If the subtrahends of a semi-ring \mathfrak{S} form a two-sided ideal $S(\mathfrak{S})$ of \mathfrak{S} , then the difference semi-module becomes a semi-ring (difference semi-ring) if multiplication is defined as follows:

$$ab$$
 as in S, $a(b-s) = ab - as$, $(b-s)a$
= $ba - bs$, $(a-s)(b-t) = (ab + st) - (at + sb)$.

This is the only possibility for extending the multiplication so that $\delta(\mathfrak{S})$ becomes a semi-ring.

DEFINITION: A *halfring* is a semi-ring which is sub-semiring of a ring. The natural numbers, for example, form a halfring.

Exercise 10: Show that a semi-ring is a halfring if and only if it is associative and satisfies the cancellation laws of addition. In other words, the axioms defining a halfring are obtained from the ring axioms by weakening it through the replacement of existence of subtraction by the cancellation law of addition.

DEFINITION: A quasi-ring is a semi-ring which under addition is a module. In other words, the axioms of a quasi-ring are obtained from the ring axioms by omitting the associative law of multiplication.

A sub-semiring of a quasi-ring closed under subtraction is called a *subring*. Each subring of a quasi-ring is a quasi-ring. E.g., we obtain a commutative quasi-ring $J(\mathfrak{R})$ from a ring \mathfrak{R} according to the new multiplication rule $a^*b = ab + ba$. This ring is called the *Jordan ring* belonging to \mathfrak{R} .

The Lie-ring $L(\mathfrak{R})$ belonging to \mathfrak{R} is obtained by replacing the rule of multiplication given in \mathfrak{R} by the Lie-multiplication

$$a \circ b = ab - ba$$
 $(a, b \in \Re)$

The Lie product of a and b can be interpreted as a measure of the non-commutativity of a and b in terms of the ring \Re since

$$a \circ b = 0$$

is equivalent to the statement

$$ab = ba$$
.

Besides the axioms of a quasi-ring the following axioms are satisfied

by the Lie multiplication:

 $(6) a \circ a = 0$

(7) (Jacobi identity) $a \circ (b \circ c) + b \circ (c \circ a) + c \circ (a \circ b) = 0$,

which follow from obvious computations.

Generalizing this remark we obtain the following definition.

DEFINITION: A Lie-ring is a quasi-ring in which multiplication satisfies the rules (6), (7), where it is customary to denote the product of a, b by $a \circ b$.¹

Each subring of a Lie-ring is a Lie-ring. From the distributive laws and from (6) follows the *anti-commutative law* of multiplication

$$b \circ a = -a \circ b$$

as follows:

$$b \circ a = b \circ a + a \circ a + b \circ b - (a + b) \circ (a + b) =$$

$$b \circ a - (a \circ b + b \circ a) = -a \circ b.$$

Conversely, if in a quasi-ring the anticommutative law holds and if from x + x = 0 it always follows that x = 0, then (6) holds, i.e.,

```
a \circ a = -a \circ a,
a \circ a + a \circ a = 0,
a \circ a = 0.
```

From the anticommutative law it follows that each ideal of a Lie-ring is two-sided. Any factor ring is itself a Lie-ring. Also

$$(8) m_1 \circ m_2 = m_2 \circ m_1$$

for any two submodules $m_1 m_2$ of a Lie-ring L. From the Jacobi identity we derive

¹ Formerly written also as [a, b], (a, b), or (ab).

(9)
$$m_1 \circ (m_2 \circ m_3) \leq m_2 \circ (m_3 \circ m_1) + m_3 \circ (m_1 \circ m_2)$$

for any three submodules m_1, m_2, m_3 of L. From (8), (9) for $m_1 = L$, and m_2, m_3 ideals of L, we obtain

$$L\circ(m_2\circ m_3)\subseteq m_2\circ(m_3\circ L)+m_3\circ(L\circ m_2)\subseteq m_2\circ m_3+m_3\circ m_2\subseteq m_2\circ m_3,$$

which means that the product of any two ideals of a Lie-ring is itself an ideal.

In the last part of this section we discuss briefly rings and quasirings over coefficient rings.

DEFINITION: Let \mathfrak{M} be a semi-ring. An operator Θ of \mathfrak{M} considered as a semi-module is called a *left scalar* if $(\Theta a) b = \Theta(ab)$. In other words,

$$(\Theta a)_l = \Theta \cdot a_l.$$

From this definition it follows that all the left scalars form an associative semi-ring. Similarly, the right scalars, i.e., the members ψ of $O(\mathfrak{M})$ satisfying $a(\psi b) = \psi(ab)$, i.e., $(\psi b)_r = b.\psi$ for all $be\mathfrak{M}$, form an associative semi-ring. The intersection of the two semi-rings just defined is an associative semi-ring whose elements we will call scalars. These are the mappings $x \to \varphi x$ of \mathfrak{M} into itself satisfying

$$\varphi(x+y) = \varphi x + \varphi y$$
$$\varphi(xy) = (\varphi x)y = x(\varphi y)$$

Each left scalar Θ_1 commutes with each right scalar Θ_2 for $\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{M}$ since

$$\begin{aligned} \Theta_1 \Theta_2(x_1 x_2) &= \Theta_1(\Theta_2(x_1 x_2)) = \Theta_1(x_1(\Theta_2 x_2)) = \Theta_1 x_1 \cdot \Theta_2 x_2 \\ &= \Theta_2((\Theta_1 x_1) x_2) = \Theta_2(\Theta_1(x_1 x_2)) = \Theta_2 \Theta_1(x_1 x_2). \end{aligned}$$

This fact explains why one usually only defines the notion of an \mathfrak{S} -ring for *commutative* rings of coefficients. However a generalization of the narrower concept is possible by using the concept of left and right scalars as follows.

DEFINITION: Let \mathfrak{S} be an associative semi-ring. The semi-ring \mathfrak{M} is called an \mathfrak{S} -semi-ring if for each element λ of \mathfrak{S} and each element a of \mathfrak{M} there are defined unique products λa and $a\lambda$ also in \mathfrak{M} such that

1)
$$\lambda(a+b) = \lambda a + \lambda b, \ (a+b)\lambda = a\lambda + b\lambda$$

2)
$$(\lambda + \mu)a = \lambda a + \mu a, a(\lambda + \mu) = a\lambda + a\mu$$

3)
$$(\lambda \mu) a = \lambda(\mu a), (a\lambda) \mu = a(\lambda \mu)$$

4)
$$\lambda(ab) = (\lambda a)b, \ (ab)\lambda = a(b\lambda), \ (a\lambda)b = a(\lambda b)$$

5)
$$(\lambda a) \mu = \lambda (a \mu)$$

The S- semi-ring M is called proper if

$$\mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{M}=\mathfrak{M}=\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{S}.$$

For example, if \mathfrak{S} is a sub-semiring of the associative semi-ring \mathfrak{M} , then the multiplication of the elements of \mathfrak{M} by elements of \mathfrak{S} as defined in \mathfrak{M} itself defines \mathfrak{M} as an \mathfrak{S} -semi-ring. To give an illustration, the *linear* transformations of an \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} , \mathfrak{S} being an arbitrary ring, are defined as operators of \mathfrak{M} which are permutable with the elements of \mathfrak{S} as applied to \mathfrak{M} . In other words, a linear transformation is a mapping \mathcal{O} of \mathfrak{M} into \mathfrak{M} satisfying

$$\Theta(u+v) = \Theta u + \Theta v, \ \Theta(\lambda u) = \lambda(\Theta u) \text{ for } u, v \in \mathfrak{M}, \lambda \in \mathfrak{S}.$$

The linear transformations of the \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} form a ring $L(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{S})$. If \mathfrak{S} is a commutative ring and if \mathfrak{M} is a proper \mathfrak{S} -module then $L(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{S})$ becomes an \mathfrak{S} -ring if the product of a linear transformation θ and an element λ of \mathfrak{S} is defined as the linear transformation $\lambda \mathfrak{D} = \Theta \lambda = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ \lambda(\mathfrak{O}u) \end{pmatrix}$ of \mathfrak{M} . In fact, since \mathfrak{M} is a proper \mathfrak{S} -module and since \mathfrak{S} is commutative, it follows that the mapping $\lambda \to \begin{pmatrix} u \\ \lambda u \end{pmatrix}$ provides an isomorphism between \mathfrak{S} and a subring of $L(\mathfrak{M},\mathfrak{S})$ which may take the place of \mathfrak{S} in defining $L(\mathfrak{M},\mathfrak{S})$ as an \mathfrak{S} -ring.

We remark that 6) is equivalent to

$$1a = a = a1 \text{ for } a \in \mathfrak{M}$$
if \mathfrak{S} contains a unit element 1. For a commutative ring \mathfrak{S} of coefficients the concept of a *quasi-ring* over the coefficient ring \mathfrak{S} is ordinarily defined as a *quasi-ring* \mathfrak{M} which is an \mathfrak{S} -module subject to the further conditions

4a)
$$\lambda(ab) = (\lambda a)b = a(\lambda b)$$
 for λe_{γ} ; $a, b \in \mathfrak{M}$,

6a) SM = M.

However, this becomes a symmetric S-quasi-ring in the more general sense defined above by the definition

7)
$$\lambda a = a \lambda$$

where 7) simply expresses the symmetry.

DEFINITION: Let \mathfrak{S} be a ring with a unit element and let \mathfrak{M} be an \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring. A subset \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{M} is called a *basis* of \mathfrak{M} over \mathfrak{S} if

a)
$$\lambda b = b\lambda$$
 for $\lambda \in \mathfrak{S}$, $b \in \mathfrak{B}$

b) We have for $a \in \mathfrak{M}$,

$$a = \sum_{b \in B} \lambda_b b$$

where only a finite number of $\lambda_b b + 0$ and a is the sum of this finite number of elements. Such a sum is called a linear combination of the basis elements. Since such sums are finite, we can multiply one of them by a scalar and add two of them term by term.

c) A basis is linearly independent in the strict sense: A linear combination vanishes if and only if each coefficient vanishes.

It follows that for any two basis elements x, y there are equations

(8)
$$xy = \sum_{b \in B} \gamma_{x,y,b} b$$

. with uniquely determined "combination constants" $\gamma_{\sigma, y, b}$ which are con-

tained in \mathfrak{S} and are such that for every fixed pair of basis elements x, y all but a finite number of the combination constants vanishes. Furthermore, because of the distributive laws, the laws 4), and the condition a), the multiplication rule in \mathfrak{M} is given as

(9)
$$\sum_{x \in B} a_x x \cdot \sum_{y \in B} \beta_y y = \sum_{b \in B} a_x \beta_y \gamma_{x,y,b} b$$

and the rule 4) finds its expression in

100

(10)
$$\lambda \gamma_{x,y,b} = \gamma_{x,y,b} \lambda$$

i.e., the multiplication constants belong to the center of the coefficient ring.

Conversely, if a set of elements $\gamma_{x,y,b}$ of \mathfrak{S} satisfying the previous conditions is given, then an \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring \mathfrak{M} with the given set \mathfrak{B} as basis can be constructed as the set of all formal linear combinations

$$\sum_{b \in B} a_b b$$

of the elements of \mathfrak{B} over the coefficient ring \mathfrak{S} , where all but a finite number of the coefficients α , vanish. The set \mathfrak{M} of all those formal linear combinations is subject to the rules

 $\sum_{b \in B} a_b b = \sum_{b \in B} \beta_b b \text{ if and only if } a_b = \beta_b \text{ for } b \in \mathfrak{B},$

(11)
$$\sum_{b \in B} \sum_{b \in B} \sum_{b \in B} \sum_{b \in B} \sum_{b \in B} (a_b + \beta_b) b$$

(12)
$$\lambda \sum_{b \in B} a_b b = \sum_{b \in B} (\lambda a_b) b, \quad (\sum_{b \in B} a_b b) \lambda = \sum_{b \in B} (a_b \lambda) b$$

and (9). We may consider each element x of \mathfrak{B} as an element of \mathfrak{M} after identification of x with that linear combination of the elements of \mathfrak{B} which bears the coefficient 1 in front of x and zero elsewhere. After this identification each formal linear combination is the actual linear combination of the elements of \mathfrak{B} with the same set of coefficients, and

 \mathfrak{B} turns out to be a basis of \mathfrak{M} . The \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring \mathfrak{M} is associative, if and only if the associativity relations

(13)
$$\sum_{b \in B} \gamma_{x, y_{7}b} \gamma_{b, z, u} = \sum_{b \in B} \gamma_{x, b, u} \gamma_{y, z, b}$$

are true for all quadruples x, y, z, u. The \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring \mathfrak{M} is a Lie-ring if and only if

(14)
$$\gamma_{x,x,b} = 0, \ \gamma_{x,y,b} + \gamma_{y,x,b} = 0$$

(15)
$$\sum_{b\in B} (\gamma_{x,b,u}\gamma_{y,s,b} + \gamma_{y,b,u}\gamma_{z,x,b} + \gamma_{z,b,u}\gamma_{x,y,b}) = 0.$$

for $x, y, z, u \in \mathfrak{B}$.

For example, let \mathfrak{M} be the \mathfrak{S} -vector module with the basis elements $x^{u}=1$, $x^{i}=x$, x^{2} , x^{3} , \ldots and with the rule of combination $x^{n} \cdot x^{m} = x^{n+m}$. The ring defined by this is called the *polynomial domain of* one variable x over \mathfrak{S} and is denoted by $\mathfrak{S}[x]$. Every element of $\mathfrak{S}[x]$ is uniquely of the form

(16)
$$f(x) = \alpha_n x^n + \alpha_{n-1} x^{n-1} + \cdots + \alpha_n,$$

with $\alpha_i \in \mathfrak{S}$ and $\alpha_n \neq 0$, if n > 0. The number n is called the *degree of* the polynomial f(x) if $f(x) \neq 0$.

The S-matrix rings are other examples of S rings.

Let \mathfrak{M} be the *n*-dimensional left vector module with basis u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n . We wish to find all the operators σ of \mathfrak{M} which map \mathfrak{M} into itself operatorhomomorphically with respect to \mathfrak{S} . Accordingly we define: A *linear* transformation σ of \mathfrak{M} is a single-valued mapping $u \to u\sigma$ of \mathfrak{M} into itself such that

-

(17)
$$(u+v)\sigma = u\sigma + v\sigma,$$

(18)
$$(\alpha u) \sigma = \alpha (u \sigma).$$

Therefore we have

II. Homomorphies and Groups with Operators

(19)
$$u_i \sigma = \alpha_{i1} u_1 + \alpha_{i2} u_2 + \cdots + \alpha_{in} u_n$$

and for
$$u = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i u_i$$
,

(20)
$$u \sigma = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{ik} \right) u_{k}.$$

Conversely, every system of elements α_{tk} (*i*, $k=1, 2, \ldots, n$) in \mathfrak{S} defines a linear transformation of \mathfrak{M} uniquely by means of the above formulae.

We order the n^2 elements α_{ik} in a square configuration

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{11} \alpha_{12} \cdots \alpha_{1n} \\ \alpha_{21} \alpha_{22} \cdots \alpha_{2n} \\ \cdots \cdots \\ \alpha_{n1} \alpha_{n2} \cdots \alpha_{nn} \end{pmatrix} = (\alpha_{ik})$$

and call this configuration the matrix of n-th degree associated with σ .

According to the earlier definitions and statements, the linear transformations of $\mathfrak M$ form a ring.

$$u_i \sigma = \sum_{k=1}^n \alpha_{ik} u_k \qquad (i=1,2,\ldots,n)$$
$$u_i \tau = \sum_{k=1}^n \beta_{ik} u_k, \qquad (i=1,2,\ldots,n)$$

then we defined

Τf

(21)
$$u_i(\sigma+\tau) = u_i\sigma + u_i\tau = \sum_{k=1}^n (\alpha_{ik} + \beta_{ik}) u_k,$$

(22)
$$u_i(\sigma\tau) = (u_i\sigma)\tau = (\sum_{r=1}^n \alpha_i, u_r)\tau = \sum_{r=1}^n \alpha_{i,r}(u, \tau) = \sum_{k=1}^n (\sum_{r=1}^n \alpha_i, \beta_{r,k}) u_k$$

Accordingly we define the sum and product of the matrices

$$A = (\alpha_{ik}), \quad B = (\beta_{ik}) :$$

$$A + B = (\alpha_{ik} + \beta_{ik}) ,$$

$$A B = (\sum_{v=1}^{n} \alpha_{iv} \beta_{vk}).$$

All the matrices of the n-th degree with coefficients in the ring \mathfrak{S} with unit element form a ring M_n isomorphic to the ring of all linear transformations of the n-dimensional \mathfrak{S} -vector module.

 M_n is said to be a matrix ring of n-th degree over \mathfrak{S} . M_n is an \mathfrak{S} -ring.

The basis elements are n^{2} matrix unities e_{ik} (i, k=1, 2, ..., n), where e_{ik} is the matrix which has a 1 at the intersection of the *i*-th column and k-th row, and otherwise all zeros. The multiplication rules of the matrix unities are

(23)

$$\begin{array}{c} c_{ik} e_{ri} = o_{kr} e_{is} \\ (i, k, r, i-1, 2, \dots, n; d_{kr} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } k-r \\ 0, & \text{if } k+r \end{cases} \\ \end{array} \\ The unit element of M_n is the identity matrix $E = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \cdot & 1 \end{pmatrix} \\ e \text{ zero element is the matrix of all scores} \end{array}$$$

The zero element is the matrix of all zeros.

If the ring S of matrix coefficients is commutative, then one usually applies the linear transformation σ of the vector module \mathfrak{M} on the left, so that σ is a single-valued mapping of \mathfrak{M} into itself for which

1.
$$\sigma(u + v) = \sigma u + \sigma v$$
,
2. $\sigma(\alpha u) = \alpha \sigma u$.

Moreover we set, differing from (19) above.

(24).
$$\sigma u_k = \sum_{1}^{n} \alpha_{ik} u_i, \qquad (k=1,2,\ldots,n)$$

but define the associated matrix again as

$$A_{\sigma} = (\alpha_{i\,k}).$$

Since \mathfrak{S} is now a commutative ring, the mapping $\sigma \to A_{\sigma}$ is again an isomorphism between the ring of linear transformations of M and the matrix ring M_{π} .

DEFINITION: A quasi-ring over a field as coefficient ring is called an algebra. An algebra always has a basis over its coefficient field. An associative algebra is an algebra satisfying the associative law of multiplication. An example is the semi-group ring of a given semi-group over a field k. As a basis of the k-ring, we take the elements of the given semi-group, and as multiplication rule we take the multiplication table of the given semi-group.

An algebra which is a Lie-ring, is called a Lie-algebra. The Lie-ring belonging to an associative algebra, for example, is a Lie-algebra. An algebra with a finite number of basis elements over its coefficient field is called *finite dimensional* or simply *finite*. A finite associative algebra also is called a hupercomplex system. For example, the group ring of a given finite group over a field is a hypercomplex system. Another example is provided by the *finite extensions* of a given field of reference k. The *extensions* of k are defined simply as the fields containing k as sub-field. They are finite if and only if they contain a finite basis over k.

6. Galois Fields.

104

A field with a finite number of elements is called a Galois field.

The number of elements of the prime field k contained in a Galois field K is finite, and is therefore a natural prime p. Since K contains only a finite number of elements, K is a finite extension of k. The number of elements in a Galois field is thus a prime power p^n . The exponent n is equal to the degree of K over the prime field consisting of p elements.

In order to investigate the multiplicative group of a Galois field, we need the

LEMMA: A finite group must be cyclic if, for every natural number n, it has at most n elements whose n-th power is e.¹

Proof: Let \mathfrak{G} have the order N; let \mathfrak{Z} be the cyclic group with order N. An element in \mathfrak{G} generates a cyclic subgroup \mathfrak{U} whose order d is a divisor of N. It was shown earlier that \mathfrak{Z} contains exactly one cyclic subgroup \mathfrak{B} of order d. The d-th power of each of the d elements of \mathfrak{U} is e; therefore by hypothesis \mathfrak{U} contains all the elements of \mathfrak{G} whose d-th power is e. Since \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{B} have the same structure, \mathfrak{G} contains at most as many elements of order d as \mathfrak{Z} does. This holds for every divisor of N. Since $\mathfrak{G}: \mathbf{1} = \mathfrak{F}: \mathbf{1}, \mathfrak{G}$ and \mathfrak{F} contain the same number of elements of order d. \mathfrak{F} contains an element of order N and therefore \mathfrak{G} contains one also, Q.E.D.

In a field, according to a familiar theorem, the equation $x^n=1$ has at most *n* different solutions. Therefore by the preceding lemma, the multiplicative group of any finite field is cyclic.

The multiplicative group of a Galois field is cyclic.

In the proof of the following theorem some acquaintance with cyclotomic polynomials is assumed.

THEOREM 16: A finite division ring is a field.²

Witt's Proof: Let K be a division ring with a finite number of elements. If k is a division ring contained in K then K is a finite k-module, and by 4. the number of elements of K is a power of the number of elements of k.

¹Equivalently: For each given index, or for each given order, there is only one subgroup.

² J. H. M. Wedderburn, A theorem on finite algebras, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., Vol. 6, p. 349.

The center of K is (as was shown earlier) a field; say it has q elements. Then K consists of q^n different elements. All the elements of K which commute with an element a form a division ring k_a , which contains the center of K. Therefore k_{ja} contains q^d elements, where d is a positive divisor of n. We decompose the multiplicative group of K into classes of conjugate elements and obtain as the class equation

$$q^n - 1 = (q - 1) + \sum_{\substack{\text{semi } d \mid n \\ 0 < d < n}} \frac{q^n - 1}{q^d - 1}.$$

Each summand $\frac{q^n-1}{q^d-1}$ and the number q^n-1 are divisible by $\varphi_n(q)$ where $\varphi_n(x)$ is the *n*-th cyclotomic polynomial. Therefore q-1 is also divisible by $\varphi_n(q)$. If n > 1, then in the decomposition $\varphi_n(q) = \prod_{i=1}^{\varphi(n)} (q - \zeta_i)$, where the ζ_i are the primitive *n*-th roots of unity, each factor is greater than q - 1 in absolute value, and therefore $\varphi_n(q)$ is also greater than q - 1 in absolute value. Therefore n = 1 and K is identical with its center, as was to be shown.

7. Near-Rings and Near-Fields.

We wish to add the operators of a given group (9) and investigate the rules of combination which will obtain.

Single-valued mappings $\begin{pmatrix} x \\ x^{\pi} \end{pmatrix}$ of a group into itself are added in the following way:

$$x^{\pi+\varrho} = x^{\pi} \cdot x^{\varrho}.$$

In general this addition is not commutative. All the single-valued mappings of **G** into itself form an additive group. Moreover we know that they form a multiplicative semi-group.

In the domain $\Pi_{\mathfrak{G}}$ of all single-valued mappings of \mathfrak{G} into itself, we also have the right distributive law

$$(\pi + \varrho)\sigma = \pi\sigma + \varrho\sigma,$$

which can be verified immediately. The left distributive law holds for all π and ϱ in $\Pi_{\mathfrak{G}}$ if and only if σ is an operator belonging to \mathfrak{G} .

Under what conditions is the sum of two operators an operator?

When, therefore, is

$$(xy)^{\Theta_1+\Theta_2} = x^{\Theta_1+\Theta_2} \cdot y^{\Theta_1+\Theta_2}$$

for two operators Θ_1, Θ_2 ?

Since by definition

$$\begin{aligned} (x y)^{\Theta_1+\Theta_2} &= (x y)^{\Theta_1} (x y)^{\Theta_2} = x^{\Theta_1} y^{\Theta_1} x^{\Theta_2} y^{\Theta_2}, \\ x^{\Theta_2} \cdot y^{\Theta_2} &= y^{\Theta_1} \cdot x^{\Theta_2} \end{aligned}$$

we have

as a necessary and sufficient condition.

DEFINITION: Two operators θ_1 , θ_2 are said to be *additive* if \mathfrak{G}^{θ_1} commutes with \mathfrak{G}^{θ_2} elementwise.

The sum of two operators is an operator if and only if the summands are additive. For additive operators θ_1 , θ_2 , addition is commutative: $\theta_1 + \theta_2 = \theta_2 + \theta_1$, as is immediately seen. The sum of *n* operators is certainly additive if the summands are pairwise additive. The sum of pairwise additive operators is independent of order or parenthesizing.

It is precisely the center operators that are additive with respect to any operator. (If Θ is additive with respect to $\underline{1}$, then x^{Θ} is in the center of (9). Two automorphisms are additive if and only if (9 is abelian.

In the domain $\Pi_{\mathfrak{G}}$ with operators of \mathfrak{G} as multipliers, almost all the ring axioms are fulfilled. We call such a domain a *near-ring*.

The axioms which must be fulfilled in a (left-) near-ring are:

I. A near-ring F is an additive group, not necessarily commutative.

II. There is a multiplier domain \mathfrak{M} in F, such that for every element μ in \mathfrak{M} and α in F the product $\mu\alpha$ is defined uniquely as an element in F. The following rules hold:

$$(\mu \mu') \alpha = \mu (\mu' \alpha)$$
 $(\mu, \mu' \in \mathbf{R})$
 $\iota (\alpha + \beta) = \mu \alpha + \mu \beta$ $(\alpha, \beta \in \mathbf{P}).$

The near-fields are special near-rings. A near-field is a near-ring whose multiplier domain forms a group. If 1 is the identity element of \mathfrak{M} , then we should have $1 \cdot \alpha = \alpha$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbf{F}$, and we should have the cancellation law:

$$\mu \alpha = \mu' \alpha, \ \alpha \neq 0$$
$$\mu = \mu'.$$

implies

The multiplicative group \mathfrak{M} of a near-field F is mapped isomorphically onto a group of automorphisms of the additive groups of F by the mapping $\mu \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \mu \alpha \end{pmatrix}$. Because of the cancellation law we have a group of regular automorphisms.¹

³ An automorphism is said to be *regular* if it permutes regularly the group elements different from the identity. A *regular automorphism group* is a group consisting entirely of regular automorphisms.

If conversely a regular automorphism group \mathfrak{M} of a group \mathfrak{G} , which contains at least two elements, is given, then we consider \mathfrak{G} as an additive group, find a non-zero element, denote it by 1, and introduce the notation $\mu = \mu(1)$ for all μ in \mathfrak{M} . Since \mathfrak{M} is regular, the notation is single-valued. Now we define multiplication by the statement $\mu \alpha = \mu(\alpha)$ for all μ in \mathfrak{M} . Then we have found a near-field F with the additive group \mathfrak{G} and the multiplicative group \mathfrak{M} .

The holomorph of \mathfrak{M} over \mathfrak{G} is the group of all permutations $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta + \mu \alpha \end{pmatrix}$ of elements of F.

This permutation group can be formed for every near-field F and is denoted by \mathfrak{P}_{p} . \mathfrak{P}_{p} is transitive and each permutation in \mathfrak{P}_{p} either leaves all of the elements of F fixed or leaves at most one element of F fixed. In order to prove the last property we must show that

$$\beta + \mu \alpha = \alpha, \ \beta + \mu \alpha' = \alpha', \ \alpha = \alpha',$$

implies $\mu = 1, \beta = 0$. In fact

$$\alpha - \alpha' = \mu \alpha - \mu \alpha' = \mu (\alpha - \alpha'),$$

and since $\alpha - \alpha' \neq 0$, we find $\mu = 1$. Since $\beta + \alpha = \alpha$, we have $\beta = 0$. The permutations $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta + \alpha \end{pmatrix}$ form a regular normal subgroup of \mathbf{p}_{p}

isomorphic to the additive group of F.

If conversely the permutation group \mathfrak{P} contains a regular normal subgroup \mathfrak{G} and each permutation leaves either all or at most one letter fixed, then we can consider the group \mathfrak{P} as a holomorph of a certain automorphism group \mathfrak{M} over \mathfrak{G} because of a remark in § 4, 6. Because of the second assumption, \mathfrak{M} is a group of regular automorphisms. Consequently we can construct a near-field F with additive group \mathfrak{G} and with \mathfrak{M} as multiplier group, so that $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}_{p}$.

A near-ring in which every element is a multiplier is said to be a *complete near-ring* or in accordance with a suggestion of Mr. Wieland a *stem*. For example, the previously constructed near-ring $\Pi_{\mathbf{G}}$ is a *right stem*.

A near-field is said to be a *complete near-field* if the group of multipliers consists of all non-zero elements. For example every division ring is a complete near field.

The determination of all the types of complete near-fields which contain a finite number of elements, is an interesting problem which will be solved later.

Exercises

1. We have lost the first row and first column of a group table. Show that the associated abstract group is still uniquely determined by the incomplete table.

2a. All rational integers a, for which $X^a = e$ for all elements X of a group \mathfrak{G} , form a module—the exponential module.

2b. The non-negative rational integer generating the exponential module is called the *exponent*. The exponent is the least common multiple of the orders of all the elements of \mathfrak{G} .

3. The exponent is the smallest natural number a such that $X^a = e$ for all X, if there are any rational integers different from zero with this property.

The exponent is a divisor of the group order. The exponent of a cyclic group is equal to its order. Is the converse true for finite groups?

A finite abelian group whose exponent is equal to its order, is cyclic. More generally, show that in a finite abelian group every divisor of the exponent occurs as the order of an element.

Hint: Prove and use the fact that the product of two elements which have relatively prime orders and which commute has an order equal to the product of the orders of the factors.

4. The exponent of a subgroup is a divisor of the exponent of the whole group. The same holds true for a homomorphic image of \mathfrak{G} ; in particular, the exponent of a factor group is a divisor of the exponent of \mathfrak{G} .

5. The greatest common divisor of all rational integers *n* with the property $X^{n} = e$ implies $X^{p,n} = e$, is called the *p*-exponent (*p* is a natural prime). Set up and prove statements analogous to those made in Exercises 2 - 4.

6. An automorphism α of a group \mathfrak{G} which leaves both the normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} and the factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$ elementwise fixed multiplies each element in \mathfrak{G} by an element of the center \mathfrak{z} of \mathfrak{R} . Its order is a divisor of the exponent of \mathfrak{z} . All such automorphisms α form an abelian group.

 A finite group has a non-zero central operator precisely when the order of the factor commutator group and the order of the center have a common prime factor. (Use Exercise 3 of Chap. 1).

8. A normal subgroup of a finite group contains every subgroup whose order is relatively prime to the index of the normal subgroup.

9. Prove the simplicity of \mathfrak{A}_n for n>4 by the following method.

a) If the permutation π moves (does not leave fixed) more than 3 letters, then there is a three-cycle ϱ , such that $\varrho\pi\varrho^{-1}\pi^{-1}$ leaves more letters fixed than π but is not the identity permutation.

b) In any normal subgroup of \mathfrak{A}_n which is different from 1 there is a three-cycle.

c) Apply Exercise 7 of Chapter I (following v.d. Waerden, Modern Algebra I.)

III. THE STRUCTURE AND CONSTRUCTION OF COMPOSITE GROUPS

§ 1. Direct Products

By the second isomorphy theorem in a group \mathfrak{G} which is the product of two normal subgroups \mathfrak{R}_1 and \mathfrak{R}_2 , the factor groups are isomorphic to the factor groups of the \mathfrak{R} , with respect to their intersection \mathfrak{D} : that is,

$$\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}_1 \simeq \mathfrak{R}_2/\mathfrak{D}, \quad \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}_2 \simeq \mathfrak{R}_1/\mathfrak{D}.$$

We ask to what extent the structure of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{D}$ is uniquely determined by the structures of $\mathfrak{R}_1/\mathfrak{D}$ and $\mathfrak{R}_2/\mathfrak{D}$.

To do this we can and will assume that \mathfrak{G} is the product of the two normal subgroups \mathfrak{R}_1 and \mathfrak{R}_2 with e as their intersection:

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{R}_1\mathfrak{R}_2,\ \mathfrak{R}_1\cap\mathfrak{R}_2=e.$$

THEOREM 1. Every element in (8 can be represented as the product of an element from \Re_1 and one from \Re_2 in one and only one way.

The multiplication rule is

$$(a_1a_2) \cdot (b_1b_2) = (a_1b_1) \cdot (a_2b_2),$$

where a_i, b_i are in \mathfrak{R}_i .

Proof: Since $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{N}_1 \cdot \mathfrak{N}_2$, every element in \mathfrak{G} is of the form $a_1 \cdot a_2$ with a_i in \mathfrak{N}_i .

From $a_1a_2 = b_1b_2$ with b_i in \mathfrak{R}_i , it follows that

$$b_1^{-1}a_1 = b_2a_2^{-1} = a_1$$

Since $\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2 = e_1$

$$d = e, \ b_1 = a_1, \ b_2 = a_2.$$

Next,
$$a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1} a_2^{-1} = a_1 (a_2 a_1^{-1} a_2^{-1}) \in \mathfrak{R}_1$$
$$= (a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1)} a_2^{-1} \in \mathfrak{R}_2,$$

because \Re_1 and \Re_2 are normal subgroups, and therefore it follows from $\Re_1 \cap \Re_2 = e$ that $a_1.a_2 = a_2.a_1$. It follows from this that we have the multiplication rule, as was to be proved.

Conversely we now form a group 6 with given normal subgroups \Re_1 and \Re_2 by defining it as follows: 6 consists of all ordered pairs (a_1, a_2) with a_i in \Re_i .

We define multiplication by

$$(a_1, a_2) \cdot (b_1, b_2) = (a_1b_1, a_2b_2).$$

We immediately verify the validity of the group axioms. The identity element is $e = (e_1, e_2)$.

The mappings $a_1 \rightarrow (a_1, e_2)$ and $a_2 \rightarrow (e_1, a_2)$ are, respectively, isomorphisms of \mathfrak{N} , and \mathfrak{N}_2 with normal subgroups $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$, and $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}_2$ of \mathfrak{G} and

$$\overline{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \overline{\mathfrak{R}}_2 = \mathfrak{G}; \ \overline{\mathfrak{R}}_1 \wedge \overline{\mathfrak{R}}_2 = e.$$

The group \mathfrak{G} just constructed is called the *direct product* of the groups \mathfrak{R}_1 and \mathfrak{R}_2 ; in symbols:

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{R}_1\times\mathfrak{R}_2.$$

We restate the previous theorem as follows:

If \mathfrak{G} is the product of the normal subgroups \mathfrak{R}_1 and \mathfrak{R}_2 with intersection \mathfrak{D} , then the factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{D}$ is the direct product of the factor groups $\mathfrak{R}_1/\mathfrak{D}$ and $\mathfrak{R}_2/\mathfrak{D}$.

As the direct product of three groups \mathfrak{H}_i , i=1, 2, 3, we define

 $\mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \mathfrak{H}_3 = (\mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2) \times \mathfrak{H}_3.$

It it obvious that there is a simple isomorphism between

 $(\mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2) \times \mathfrak{H}_3$ and $\mathfrak{H}_1 \times (\mathfrak{H}_2 \times \mathfrak{H}_3)$,

and likewise between

 $\mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2$ and $\mathfrak{H}_2 \times \mathfrak{H}_1$.

Accordingly $\mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$ is uniquely defined as the direct product of the \mathfrak{H}_i in any order and with any parenthesizing; and indeed we may define $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$ as the set of all ordered *n*-tuples $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ of elements x_i in \mathfrak{H}_i with the multiplication rule

 $(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n) \cdot (y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_n) = (x_1y_1, x_2y_2, \ldots, x_ny_n).$

After we have identified x_i with the element $(e_1, \ldots, e_{i-1}, x_i, e_{i+1}, \ldots, e_n)$, \mathfrak{G} becomes the direct product of its normal subgroups \mathfrak{H}_i .

Necessary and sufficient conditions that a group \mathfrak{G} with normal subgroups $\mathfrak{H}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{H}_n$ be the direct product of these normal subgroups, are:

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{H}_1\cdot\mathfrak{H}_2\cdot\ldots\cdot\mathfrak{H}_n,$$

2.
$$\tilde{\mathfrak{P}}_i \cap (\tilde{\mathfrak{P}}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mathfrak{P}}_{i-1}, \tilde{\mathfrak{P}}_{i+1}, \ldots, \tilde{\mathfrak{P}}_n) = e \quad (i = 1, 2, \ldots, n).$$

Condition 2. can be replaced by

2 a.
$$\mathfrak{H}_i \wedge (\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}, \mathfrak{H}_{i+2}, \ldots, \mathfrak{H}_n) = e$$
 $(i=1, 2, \ldots, n-1)$

 \mathbf{or}

1.

2b. The representation $e = e_1 \cdot e_2 \cdot \ldots \cdot e_n$ with e_i in \mathfrak{H}_i , of the identity element of \mathfrak{G} is unique.

We say that the x_i are the \mathfrak{H}_i components of an element x of \mathfrak{G} . The

mapping $x \to x_i$ is an operator H_i of (9. H_i is said to be the *i*-th decomposition operator of $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$. The H_i are additive operators and $x = x^{H_1} \cdot x^{H_2} \cdots x^{H_n}$; hence

 $H_1 + H_2 + \cdots + H_n = 1$

Moreover $H_i H_k = 0$ if $i \neq k$ and $H_i^2 = H_i$.

If, conversely, we are given additive operators H_i with the properties $\sum_{i=1}^{n} H_i = 1$, $H_i = 0$ for $i \pm k$, then they are associated with the direct decomposition

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}^{H_1} \times \mathfrak{G}^{H_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{G}^{H_n}$$

 H_i is a normal operator over (9 since for all b in (9) H_i , x in (9), we have $b^x = b^{xH_i} = b^{xH_i}$, and therefore for all a in G, $a^{xH_i} = a^{xH_iH_i} = a^{H_ix}$. The order of a direct product is equal to the product of the orders of its factors, as the component representation shows.

The center, the commutator group and the comutator form of a direct product are the direct products of the centers, the commutator groups and the commutator forms of the factors, respectively.

If G is decomposed into the direct product of characteristic factors, then the automorphism group of G is the direct product of the automorphism groups of the factors.

Every group is the direct product of the identity element and itself. A group which has only this direct decomposition is said to be *directly indecomposable*.

Direct products occur in the investigation of factors of a principal series of a given group. These factors are simple over a certain automorphism domain, and therefore are characteristically simple.

THEOREM 2: If the group @=e is characteristically simple and the double chain law holds for normal subgroups, then it is the direct product of (merely) simple groups which are isomorphic to each other.

Proof: Since the minimal chain law holds, there is a minimal normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} in G. The automorphisms α of G map \mathfrak{N} onto the minimal normal subgroups \mathfrak{N}^{α} of G, all isomorphic to \mathfrak{N} . We wish to form the largest possible direct product of these. By the maximal chain law, there is certainly a largest direct product $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_1} \times \mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_2} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_r}$. If \mathfrak{M} were not equal to G, then by hypothesis \mathfrak{M} would not be mapped into itself under all automorphisms of G; therefore there is an automorphism α of G such that \mathfrak{N}^{α} does not lie in \mathfrak{M} . However we would then have

 $\mathfrak{N}^{\alpha} \cap \mathfrak{M} = e$, since \mathfrak{N}^{α} is a smallest normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , and therefore $\mathfrak{N}^{\alpha} \times \mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_r}$ is greater than \mathfrak{M} . Consequently

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_1}\times\mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_1}\times\cdots\times\mathfrak{N}^{\alpha_r}.$$

The factors of this direct decomposition are the minimal normal subgroups of 6 and therefore simple, as can easily be seen.

Remark: Every factor of a principal series (or of a characteristic series) of a finite solvable group is the direct product of cyclic groups of equal prime order.

§ 2. Theorems on Direct Products¹

The following theorems also hold for groups with an operator domain Ω .

From the first isomorphism theorem we derive:

THEOREM 3: If a homomorphism of a group \mathfrak{G} onto a multiplicative system \mathfrak{H} induces an isomorphism with \mathfrak{H} of a normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} of \mathfrak{G} , then \mathfrak{G} is the direct product of the normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} , of \mathfrak{G} , consisting of all elements of \mathfrak{G} which map onto \overline{e} , with the normal subgroup \mathfrak{R}_2 .

Proof: From the hypothesis, $\mathfrak{N}_1\mathfrak{N}_2 = \mathfrak{G}$, $\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2 = e$.

THEOREM 4: If σ is a homomorphism of the group \mathfrak{G} which is different from e, onto the normal subgroup \mathfrak{F} of the indecomposable group \mathfrak{H} , τ a homomorphy of \mathfrak{H} onto \mathfrak{J} , $\tau\sigma$ a $\mathfrak{G}\mathfrak{F}$ -isomorphism, then σ is a $\mathfrak{G}\mathfrak{F}$ -isomorphism and τ an \mathfrak{F} -isomorphism.

Proof: One can show easily that σ is a $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{S})$ -isomorphy and that τ is a $\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{S}$ -isomorphy. Since $\tau \mathfrak{G} = \tau \sigma \mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{Z}, \tau$ is a $\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{S}$ -isomorphism. Since $\mathfrak{G} \neq e$, \mathfrak{G} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{H} that is distinct from e. From the indecomposability of \mathfrak{H} it follows, by Theorem 3, that $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}$, and therefore σ is a $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{S})$ -isomorphism, \mathfrak{Q} .E.D.

If ω is an operator of (9, then all the elements of (9 for which $x^{\omega} = e$ form a normal subgroup π_{ω} of (9. All the elements of (9 for which $x^{\omega^m} = e$ is solvable likewise form a normal subgroup of (9, which is denoted by \mathfrak{R}_{ω} . \mathfrak{R}_{ω} is the union of all π_{ω^m} . ω is a meromorphism of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}_{\omega}$, and every normal subgroup of (9 for which ω induces a meromorphism in its factor group, contains \mathfrak{R}_{ω} .

If the minimal chain condition holds in \mathfrak{G} , then ω is actually an automorphism of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}_{\omega}$. It follows from this that $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{N}_{\omega} \cdot \mathfrak{G}^{\omega^m}$ for all *m*. If the maximal chain condition also holds in \mathfrak{G} , then the chain

¹ Following Fitting, Math. Zeitschr. 39 (1934); one will find further bibliographical material there.

 $\mathbf{n}_{\omega}, \mathbf{n}_{\omega}, \mathbf{n}_{\omega}, \dots$ terminates, and $\mathfrak{R}_{\omega} = \mathbf{n}_{\omega^n}$ is solvable. The intersection of \mathfrak{G}^{ω^n} with \mathfrak{R}_{ω} is e, since an element x of this intersection satisfies the equation $x^{\omega^n} = e$ and is of the form $x = y^{\omega^n}$ but $y^{\omega^n} = x^{\omega^n} = e$ implies $y^{\omega^n} = x = e$. If, conversely, $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{R}_{\omega} \cdot \mathfrak{U}$, where \mathfrak{U} is a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} with the properties $\mathfrak{R}_{\omega} \wedge \mathfrak{U} = e$, $\mathfrak{U}^{\omega} \leq \mathfrak{U}$, then ω induces a meromorphism of \mathfrak{U} , and from the minimal chain condition of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}_{\omega}$, it follows that $\mathfrak{U}^u = \mathfrak{U}$, and therefore $\mathfrak{U} = \mathfrak{U}^{\omega^n} = \mathfrak{R}^{\omega^n} \mathfrak{U}^u = \mathfrak{G}^{\omega^n}$. We specialize to the case for which the operator domain \mathfrak{Q} of \mathfrak{G} contains the inner automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} whenever it contains ω , and we thus obtain

THEOREM 5.' With a normal operator ω of a group in which the double chain theorem for normal subgroups is fulfilled is associated a direct decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{R}_{\omega} \times \mathfrak{G}^{\omega \alpha}$. The second factor of the decomposition is uniquely determined by having \mathfrak{R}_{ω} as the first factor.

Hereafter we shall assume that the double chain condition for the normal subgroups holds in \mathfrak{G} .

THEOREM 6: If the sum of additive normal operators of a directly indecomposable G is an automorphism, then the same is true of one of the summands.

Proof: We can assume immediately that the sum contains only two summands.

If $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = \omega$ is an automorphism then $\omega^{-1}\omega_1 + \omega^{-1}\omega_2 = \underline{1}$, and if we prove the theorem for this sum, it follows for the other. Therefore let $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = \underline{1}$ be the sum of additive normal operators ω_1 and ω_2 . From $\omega_1 = \omega_1(\omega_1 + \omega_2) = (\omega_1 + \omega_2)\omega_1$ it follows that $\omega_1\omega_2 = \omega_2\omega_1$. If we had both $\omega_1^{\alpha_1} = \underline{0}$ and $\omega_2^{\alpha_2} = \underline{0}$, then

$$\underline{\mathbf{l}} = (\omega_1 + \omega_2)^{2n} = \sum_{0}^{2n} c_i \omega_1^{i} \omega_2^{2n-i} = \underline{\mathbf{0}}$$

i.e., $\mathfrak{G} = e$. In this case the theorem is trivial. If $\mathfrak{G} \neq e$ then for at least one of the two operators ω_i , let us say ω_i , every power is different from zero. From Theorem 5 and the indecomposability of \mathfrak{G} , it follows that $\mathfrak{R}_{\omega_i} = e$. ω_1 is a meromorphism, and, because of the minimal chain condition for normal subgroups, it is an automorphism, Q.E.D.

DEFINITION: A direct decomposition of a group into directly indecomposable factors not equal to e is said to be a *Remak decomposition*. If the group is directly indecomposable, then it is itself the only factor of its Remak decomposition.

-

^{&#}x27;This is known as Fittings Lemma. (See Jacobson, Theory of Rings.) (Ed.)

THEOREM 7: a) Every group (satisfying the double chain condition for normal subgroups) has a Remak decomposition.

b) If $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$

and \cdot

are two Remak decompositions with decomposition operators H_1, H_2, \ldots, H_n and J_1, J_2, \ldots, J_m , respectively, then n=m, and the \mathfrak{F}_i can be renumbered so that

 $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{R} \times \mathfrak{R} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{R}$

$$\omega = J_1 H_1 + J_2 H_2 + \cdots + J_n H_n$$

is a normal automorphism of (4 which maps the H-decomposition onto the H-decomposition.

c) For the appropriate ordering of the $\mathfrak{Z}_{\mathbf{i}}$ we have the exchange equations

$$\emptyset = \mathfrak{J}_1 \times \mathfrak{J}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{J}_k \times \mathfrak{H}_{k+1} \times \mathfrak{H}_{k+2} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n.$$

Proof: a) Among all the decompositions $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \ldots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$ with indecomposable factors $\mathfrak{H}_1, \mathfrak{H}_2 \ldots, \mathfrak{H}_{n-1}$ different from $e, \mathfrak{H}_n \neq e$, and n any natural number, choose one with minimal \mathfrak{H}_n . Among all the decompositions $\mathfrak{H}_n = \mathfrak{H} \times \mathfrak{B}$ having $\mathfrak{H} \neq e$, choose one with minimal \mathfrak{H} . It follows that \mathfrak{H} is indecomposable and not equal to $e, \mathfrak{H} \subset \mathfrak{H}_n$; there $\mathfrak{B} = e$, $\mathfrak{H}_n = \mathfrak{H}$; and hence we have obtained a Remak decomposition.

b) We remark that the additivity of two operators ω_1 and ω_2 implies the additivity of $\omega_1 J_i$ and ω_2 , and of $J_1 \omega_1$, and ω_2 . Therefore

$$\sum_{1}^{m} H_{1}J_{k} = H_{1} \cdot \sum_{1}^{m} J_{k} = H_{1},$$

and, by Theorem 6, at least one of the operators $H_i J_k$ induces an automorphism in \mathfrak{H}_{\bullet} .

The J_k can be re-indexed so that it is H_1J_1 that induces an automorphism in \mathfrak{H}_1 . By Theorem 4, J_1 induces an $\mathfrak{H}_1\mathfrak{F}_1$ -isomorphism. By the remark made above,

$$\omega_1 = J_1 H_1 + \sum_2^{\tilde{}} H_i$$

is a normal operator. An equation $x^{w_1} = e$ implies $e = x^{H_1w_1} = x^{H_1J_1H_1}$, and since H_1J_1 induces an automorphism of \mathfrak{H}_1 , we have $x^{H_1} = e$. But then $x^{w_1} = x^{w_1H_1} \cdots x^{w_1H_n} = x^{H_1} \cdot x^{H_2} \cdots x^{H_n} = e$, and therefore

$$x^{H_1} = e, x = e$$

The normal operator ω_1 is a meromorphism, and by the double chain

condition it is, in fact, an automorphism of (9 which maps the $\mathfrak{H}\text{-decomposition}$ onto the Remak decomposition

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{J}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \mathfrak{H}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n.$$

If n=1, then the theorem is now complete. We apply induction with respect to n and assume n > 1, $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}_1$ has $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$ as well as $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$ as well as $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$, as well as $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$, as well as $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$, as well as $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$, as well as $\mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$, induction hypothesis n=m, and the \mathfrak{F}_i with i>0, can be reindexed so that $\overline{\omega} = \sum_{2}^{n} J_i \overline{H}_i$ transforms the \mathfrak{H} -decomposition of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}_1$ into the \mathfrak{F} -decomposition. Here \overline{H}_i and \overline{J}_i are the decomposition operators in $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$ and $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{F}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_2 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$ respectively. From this it follows that $\sum_{2}^{n} J_i H_i$ maps the decomposition $\mathfrak{F}_3 \times \mathfrak{F}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{F}_n$, and hence $\omega = \sum_{1}^{n} J_i H_i$ is the normal automorphism of \mathfrak{G} which was sought.

c) Moreover it also follows from the induction hypothesis that, after appropriate reindexing of the \mathfrak{F}_i for i > 1,

$$\mathfrak{Z}_2 \times \mathfrak{Z}_3 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{Z}_h \times \mathfrak{Y}_{h+1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{Y}_n$$

is a representative system of (8 over \mathfrak{F}_1 . Therefore the exchange equations

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{J}_1 \times \mathfrak{J}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{J}_h \times \mathfrak{H}_{h+1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n.$$

follow.

THEOREM 8: If $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2$, then a homomorphism σ of \mathfrak{H}_1 onto \mathfrak{H}_2 is normal' if and only if \mathfrak{H}_1^{σ} is in the center of \mathfrak{G} .

Proof: 1. Let σ be normal, $a \in \mathfrak{H}_1$, $b \in \mathfrak{H}_2$. Then $a^{b\sigma} = a^{\sigma b} = a^{\sigma}$. a^{σ} is in the center of \mathfrak{H}_2 and therefore of \mathfrak{H} .

2. Let \mathfrak{H}_1^{σ} is in the center of \mathfrak{H}_2 . Then it follows that for all b in \mathfrak{H}_2 : $a^{b\,\sigma} = a^{\sigma b}$. If b is in \mathfrak{H}_1 , then $a^{\sigma} \cdot b^{\sigma} = b^{\sigma} \cdot a^{\sigma}$. Therefore $(a^b)^{\sigma} = a^{\sigma}$, $a^{\sigma b} = a^{\sigma} = (a^{\sigma})^b = a^{b\sigma}$, and therefore σ is normal in (9.

From Theorem 8, with the notation of Theorem 7, there follows:

THEOREM 9: A non-abelian factor of the S-decomposition is normally isomorphic in \mathfrak{G} to one and only one factor of the S-decomposition.

Proof: If \mathfrak{H}_2 is normally isomorphic to \mathfrak{H}_1 , \mathfrak{H}_2 , then it is also normally isomorphic to \mathfrak{H}_2 , and by Theorem 8, \mathfrak{H}_1 is then abelian.

^{&#}x27;The mapping σ of \mathfrak{H}_1 onto \mathfrak{H}_1 is said to be normal in \mathfrak{G} if $a^{b\sigma} = a^{\sigma b}$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{H}_1, b \in \mathfrak{G}$.

THEOREM 10: The Remak decomposition is uniquely determined if and only if all of its factors are invariant under normal operators of \mathfrak{G} .

Proof: We need only prove the second part of the statement. Therefore, let ω be a normal operator of (6 which does not transform the factor \mathfrak{H}_1 of the Remak decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$ into itself. ω is the sum of the normal operators $\omega_{ik} = H_i \omega H_k$. By Theorem 8 the operators ω_{ik} with $i \neq k$ are central operators.

If, for all i > 1, $\omega_{i1} = 0$, then we would have

$$\mathfrak{F}_1^{\omega} = \mathfrak{F}_1^{\Sigma_{\omega_i k}} = \mathfrak{F}_1^{\Sigma_{\omega_i 1}} = \mathfrak{F}_1^{\omega_{11}} \leq \mathfrak{F}_1,$$

and therefore there would be an i>1, say i=2, such that $\omega_{21} \neq \underline{0}$. Since the operator ω_{21} is central, $\pi = \omega_{21} + \underline{1}$ is an operator. It does not map \mathfrak{H}_1 into itself.

Since
$$\omega_{21}^2 = \underline{0}$$
, then
 $(\omega_{21} + \underline{1}) \cdot (-\omega_{21} + \underline{1}) = \underline{1}$, $(-\omega_{21} + \underline{1}) \cdot (\omega_{21} + \underline{1}) = \underline{1}$,

and therefore π is an automorphism of (\emptyset, π) maps the original Remak decomposition onto a different Remak decomposition

THEOREM 11: If $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2$, then \mathfrak{H}_1 is invariant under normal operators of \mathfrak{G} if and only if there exists no $\mathfrak{H}_1\mathfrak{H}_2$ -homomorphy normal in \mathfrak{G} other than the trivial one: $\mathfrak{H}_1 \to \mathfrak{e}$.

Proof: 1. Let ω be a non-trivial normal $\mathfrak{H}_1, \mathfrak{H}_2$ -homomorphism. Then ωH_1 is a normal operator of \mathfrak{G} which does not map \mathfrak{H}_1 onto itself.

2. If $\overline{\omega}$ is a normal operator of 6 which does not map \mathfrak{H}_1 onto itself, then $H_2\overline{\omega}$ induces a non-trivial normal $\mathfrak{H}_1\mathfrak{H}_2$ -homomorphy, Q.E.D.

By Theorem 8, a normal $\mathfrak{H}_1\mathfrak{H}_2$ -homomorphy is characterized by an abelian factor group of \mathfrak{H}_1 and a subgroup of the center of \mathfrak{H}_2 isomorphic to it.

From the previous theorems we derive

THEOREM 12: The Remak decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$ is uniquely determined if and only if an abelian factor group of \mathfrak{H}_i is isomorphic to no subgroup of the center of \mathfrak{H}_i , $i \neq k$, different from e.

THEOREM 13 (Speiser): A group whose factor commutator group or center is of order 1 has exactly one Remak decomposition.

THEOREM 14: The Remak decomposition of a finite group

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}_1 \times \mathfrak{H}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{H}_n$$

is uniquely determined if and only if the order of the factor commutator

group of each of its factors is relatively prime to the order of the center of each of its other factors.

Proof: By Theorem 8 and Theorem 11 the condition is sufficient. If, however, the prime number p divides \mathfrak{H}_1 : \mathfrak{H}_1 ' and $\mathfrak{H}_3(\mathfrak{H}_2): 1$ then it follows from the basis theorem for abelian groups (which is proven in § 4) that \mathfrak{H}_1 has a normal subgroup of index p, and that $\mathfrak{H}_3(\mathfrak{H}_2)$ contains a subgroup of order p. Since the factor group and the subgroup are isomorphic, there is a non-trivial normal $\mathfrak{H}_1\mathfrak{H}_2$ -homomorphy; by Theorem 11 and Theorem 10 the Remak decomposition of \mathfrak{G} is therefore not uniquely determined.

§ 3. Abelian Groups

Let P be a ring with unity element and let \mathfrak{N} be a finite P-module. Thus there are a finite number of elements v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n in \mathfrak{N} such that every element v in \mathfrak{N} is of the form.

$$= a_1v_1 + a_2v_2 + \cdots + a_nv_n$$

with the a_i in P. Let \mathfrak{M}_n be the P-vector module (u_1, \ldots, u_n) .

The mapping

$$a_1u_1 + a_2u_2 + \cdots + a_nu_n \rightarrow a_1v_1 + a_2v_2 + \cdots + a_nv_n$$

is an operator homomorphy of \mathfrak{M}_n onto \mathfrak{A} , and the abelian group \mathfrak{A} with the operator domain P is completely determined by the P-module \mathfrak{R} consisting of all vectors which are mapped onto the zero element of \mathfrak{A} :

 $\mathfrak{A}\simeq\mathfrak{M}_n/\mathfrak{R}$.

With every system of generators R_1, R_2, \ldots, R_w of \Re over P we associate the matrix A_{\Re} whose row vectors are precisely the vectors R_i . A matrix $A_{\Re} = (a_{ik})$ is characterized by the properties

1.

 $\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik} v_k = 0 \qquad (i = 1, 2, \ldots),$

2. if $\sum b_k v_k = 0$,

then $b_k = \sum_i a_{ik} x_i$ is solvable in P where the summation is over only a finite number of *i*.

Since each row of A_{\Re} corresponds to a relation valid in \Re , we say that A_{\Re} is a relation matrix belonging to \Re .

Conversely the row vectors of a matrix A with n columns generate a p-module \Re in \mathfrak{M}_n such that A is a relation matrix belonging to \mathfrak{M}_n/\Re .

When do two relation matrices belong to the same finite P-module M?

We say that two matrices with coefficients in P are equivalent if they are relation matrices of the same finite P-module \mathfrak{A} .

This equivalence has the three familiar properties.

A rule which uniquely assigns to each matrix an equivalent matrix is called an *elementary transformation*.

We want to find the simplest elementary transformations which by repeated application will transform any two equivalent matrices into one-another.

The zero vector can be adjoined to the generators of \Re :

 N_{o} : The elementary transformation N_{o} adjoins a row of zeros to the matrix A:

$$A = (a_{ik}) \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 0, \ldots, 0 \\ a_{11}, \ldots, a_{1n} \\ \ldots \\ \ldots \end{pmatrix}.$$

 N_o' : Delete the first row if at least two rows occur and if the first row is a series of zeros.

The generator R_i may be replaced by $R_i + aR_j$ where $i \neq j$:

 $\begin{array}{ll} T^{a}_{i,j} : \text{The elementary transformation } T^{a}_{i,j} \text{ replaces the } i\text{-th row of} \\ (a_{ik}) \text{ by } & (a_{i_1} + aa_{j_1}, \ a_{i_2} + aa_{j_2}, \ldots, \ a_{i_n} + aa_{j_n}), & \text{where } i \neq j. \end{array}$

We have $T_{i,j}^{a} T_{i,j}^{b} A = T_{i,j}^{a+b} A.$

T: By repeated application of $T^a_{i,j}$ an arbitrary linear combination of the other rows can be added to the *i*-th row.

Moreover we can obtain, by composition of the $T_{i,i}^{a}$:

 $(i \neq j)$ $V_{i,j}$: Exchanges the *i*-th with the *j*-th row and changes the sign in the *j*-th row:

$$V_{i,j} A = T_{i,j} T_{j,i}^{-1} T_{i,j} A.$$

N: By applying N_0 and T an arbitrary linear combination of rows can be adjoined to a matrix.

 $M_{i,i}$: Moreover by repeated application of $T^a_{i,j}$ and N_0, N_0' , the *i*-th row of A can be multiplied by a unit ε of P:

$$M_{i,i} A = N'_0 T_{1,i+1}^{-i} V_{1,i+1} T_{1,i+1}^{-i} N_0 A.$$

 $M_{i,-1}V_{i,j}$ exchanges the *i*-th and *j*-th rows.

If we adjoin $v_0 = a_1v_1 + a_2v_2 + \dots + a_nv_n$ to the generators v_1, \dots, v_n then we obtain a single new relation:

$$v_0-a_1v_1-a_2v_2-\cdots-a_nv_n=0$$

S: The elementary transformation S adjoins to the matrix $A = (a_{ik})$

the row $(1, -a_1, -a_2, \ldots, -a_n)$ and the column

$$A \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -a_1, \dots, & -a_n \\ 0 & a_{11}, & a_{15}, \dots, & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & a_{21}, \dots \end{pmatrix} \qquad \qquad \text{(bordering of a matrix)}.$$

S: Changes to an unbordered matrix if the first column is of the form $\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

 $R_{i,j}$: Exchange of the *i*-th with the *j*-th generator of \mathfrak{A} induces an exchange of the *i*-th with the *j*-th column in A.

From the elementary transformations found up to now we can form $(k \neq j) S_{k,j}^{a}$: Adds the *j*-th column multiplied by *a* to the *k*-th column:

Let S denote bordering with the vector which has 1 at the zero-th, -1at the j-th and a at the k-th place, and has zeros elsewhere. In SA the first row is multiplied by a_{ii} and added to the (i+1)-st row, (i=1, 2, ...). After this the first and (i+1)-st columns are interchanged, the first line is multiplied by -1 and, finally, the border removed.

THEOREM 15: By repeated application of the elementary transformations

 $N_0, N_0', T_i^a, S, S', R_{i,k}$

a matrix can be transformed into any matrix equivalent to it.

Proof: Let the matrices A, B be equivalent. Then there is a finite P-module \mathfrak{A} with two systems of generators

and
$$S_1, S_2, \dots, S_n$$

 $T_1, T_2, \dots, T_{n'},$

such that A is the relation matrix of the S_i and B is the relation matrix of the T_{i} .

After n' applications of S, A goes into a relation matrix belonging to the system of generators $T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_{n'}, S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_n$. After *n* applications of S and repeated application of R_{i} , k, B goes into a relation matrix belonging to $T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_n, S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_n$.

Since the inverse of every transformation in the set of the six types of elementary transformations is also in the set, we need only carry out

the proof for $S_i = T_i$, n = n'. By repeated application of N, A goes into the matrix $\binom{B}{A}$ and B goes into the matrix $\binom{A}{B}$. The new matrices can be obtained from each other by row permutations and thus the theorem is proven.

Are there easily calculated invariants under elementary transformation?

DEFINITION: The ideal generated by all the (n-r)-rowed subdeterminants of a matrix A with n columns is called the r-th elementary ideal $\mathfrak{E}_r(A)$. From the expansion theorem for determinants it follows that $\mathfrak{E}_r(A) \leq \mathfrak{E}_{r-1}(A)$. We set $\mathfrak{E}_n(A) = \mathfrak{E}_{n+1}(A) = \ldots = \mathbf{p}$. $\mathfrak{E}_0, \mathfrak{E}_1$, is called the sequence of elementary ideals of A.

THEOREM 17: The sequence of elementary ideals is invariant under elementary transformation.

By Theorem 15, it suffices to show the equality of the sequence of elementary ideals in the four cases

a) $B = N_0 A$, b) $B = T_{i,k}^a A$, c) B = SA, d) $B = R_{i,k} A$.

In case a): except for the elements of $\mathfrak{E}_r(A)$, $\mathfrak{E}_r(B)$ contains only determinants with a zero row, and therefore $\mathfrak{E}_r(B) = \mathfrak{E}_r(A)$.

In case b), the subdeterminants of B in which the *i*-th row takes no part have the same value as the corresponding subdeterminants in A. The same holds true, by the properties of determinants, for the subdeterminants in which both the *i*-th and the *k*-th rows take part.

Let $D(\bar{b}_{r_i}, \bar{b}_{r_k}, \ldots, \bar{b}_{r_{n-r}})$ be a subdeterminant in which the row vectors $b_{r_i}, b_{r_i}, \ldots, b_{r_{n-r}}$ are involved, among them $b_i = a_i + a a_k$, while the index k does not occur among the v_j . Then

 $D(\bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{\nu_1}, \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{\nu_2}, \ldots, \bar{\mathfrak{b}}_{\nu_{n-r}}) = D(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{\nu_1}, \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{\nu_1}, \ldots, \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{\nu_{n-r}}) + a D(\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{\nu_1}, \ldots, \frac{i}{\bar{\mathfrak{a}}_k}, \ldots, \bar{\mathfrak{a}}_{\nu_{n-r}})$

From this we conclude $\mathfrak{E}_r(B) \leq \mathfrak{E}_r(A)$. Since conversely $A = T_{i,k}^{-a} B_r$ it follows that $\mathfrak{E}_r(A) \leq \mathfrak{E}_r(B)$, therefore $\mathfrak{E}_r(B) = \mathfrak{E}_r(A)$.

In case c), $\mathfrak{G}_r(B) = \mathfrak{G}_r(A)$. In case d), $\mathfrak{G}_r(B) = \mathfrak{G}_r(A)$.

A matrix is said to be a *diagonal matrix* if all the elements not on the principal diagonal are zero. Then a relation matrix A can be transformed into a diagonal matrix

by means of elementary transformations precisely when \mathfrak{A} is operator isomorphic to the direct sum of residue class rings

$$P/(d_1) + P/(d_2) + \ldots + P/(d_r).$$

The diagonal matrix A is in *elementary divisor form* if the diagonal elements form a chain of divisors such that $d_1/d_2/d_3/\ldots/d_r$ and d_1 is not a unit of P. Making use of the elementary divisor form, we may write the sequence of elementary ideals as follows:

$$\mathfrak{E}_{\mathbf{0}}(A) = (d_1 d_2 \dots d_r), \dots, \mathfrak{E}_{r-1}(A) = (d_1), \ \mathfrak{E}_r(A) = \mathfrak{E}_{r+1}(A) = \dots = \mathbb{P}.$$

If the d_i are not zero or divisors of zero, then A is equivalent to a second elementary divisor form with the diagonal elements $d_i', d_{a'}, \ldots, d_{a'}$ if and only if r=s and $(d_i) = (d_i')$, i.e., if and only if the diagonal elements in the same place differ only by a unit of P.

§ 4. Basis Theorem for Abelian Groups

THEOREM 17: A cyclic group $(\emptyset$ whose order N is the product of pairwise relatively prime numbers n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_r , can be decomposed in one and only one way into a direct product of cyclic groups of orders n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_r .

Proof: The uniqueness is clear since in a cyclic group only one subgroup exists having a given order.

We set $m_i = \frac{N}{n_i}$ and seek the *i*-th decomposition operator. By hypothesis the congruence $x_i m_i \equiv 1 \pmod{n_i}$ is solvable. We define the operator H_i by means of the condition: $a^{R_i} = a^{x_i m_i}$ for all a in (6). We obtain directly the equations:

$$\Sigma H_i = 1, H_i H_k = 0 \ (i \neq k), H_i^2 = H_i.$$

Therefore $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}^{\mathfrak{H}_i} \times \mathfrak{G}^{\mathfrak{H}_i} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{G}^{\mathfrak{H}_r}$. Since $n_i H_i = 0$ and \mathfrak{G} is cyclic, the order of $\mathfrak{G}^{\mathfrak{H}_i}$ is a divisor of n_i , and so, because of the order relation, $\mathfrak{G}^{\mathfrak{H}_i}$ has the order n_i , Q.E.D.

THEOREM 18: An abelian group $\neq e$ with a finite number of generators is the direct product of cyclic groups having prime power order or having order zero. The multiplicity of each basis order is uniquely determined. **Proof**: In order to prove the first part of the theorem, it suffices by Theorem 17 to prove decomposability into cyclic factors. Our operator ring P is the ring of integers, and our aim is to put the relation matrix A belonging to the abelian group \mathbb{N} into diagonal form by means of elementary transformations.

We apply the following reductions:

I. If A is the zero matrix, then A is already in diagonal form.

If $A \neq 0$, then among those integers a_{ik} which are different from zero there is one which is smallest in absolute value. By appropriate row and column interchange we may take a_{11} to be this number.

a) If $a_{1k} \neq 0$, k > 1, then $a_{4k} = qa_{11} + r$ where q and r belong to P and $0 \le r < |a_{11}|$.

Multiplying the first column by q and subtracting it from the k-th column we obtain $b_{1k} = a_{1k} - qa_{11} = r$ which is smaller than a_{11} in absolute value.

b) If $a_{i1} \neq 0$, i>1, $a_{i1} = qa_{11} + r$, where q and r belong to P, $0 \leq r < |a_{11}|$, then subtract q times the first row from *i*-th row.

After a finite number of reductions of type I.a) or I.b), we find that

all the elements of the first row and first column are divisible by a_{11} .

If A has n columns, then after at most (n-1) reductions by I.a) we find that the first row is of the form $(a_{11}, 0, \ldots, 0)$. The first column remains unchanged by this reduction, and we may now replace it by

 $\begin{pmatrix} a_n \\ 0 \\ \vdots \end{pmatrix}$. (Here reduction 1.b) may have to be applied infinitely often).

The unbordered matrix which is obtained from A by deleting the first row and first column has only n-1 columns. We apply the reduction process described above to it; here the bordered matrix is transformed without changing the first row and column. After at most n such reductions A goes into diagonal form.

In order to prove the uniqueness we assume that S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_n is a basis of $\mathfrak{A} \neq e$ such that S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_r are of prime power order, and that the remaining basis elements are of order zero.

Let S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_t be all the basis elements whose order is a power of the natural prime p, so that S_i is of order p^{n_i} with $0 < n_1 \le n_2 \cdots \le n_t$. All elements of \mathfrak{N} whose order is a power of p form a subgroup \mathfrak{S}_p with S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_t as basis ($p^k \cdot \sum a_i S_t = \sum p^k a_i S_t = 0$ implies $a_i = 0$, if

i>s). The relation matrix of \mathfrak{S}_p with respect to this system of generators

has the elementary divisor form

$$m \begin{pmatrix} p^{n_1} & \\ & p^{n_2} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} & & \\ & & \\ & & & \\ & & & p^{n_2} \end{pmatrix} \cdot$$

By § 3 the numbers in the diagonal are uniquely determined to within sign.

The n_i are uniquely determined.

 S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_r generate the subgroup \mathfrak{U} of all elements with positive order in \mathfrak{N} . The factor group $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}$ has S_{r+1}, \ldots, S_r as basis with the basis orders 0, 0, . . . , 0. Since the associated relation matrix, being a null matrix, is in the elementary divisor form, the number n-r is uniquely determined, Q.E.D.

§ 5. The Order Ideal

The following investigations are closely related to § 3.

DEFINITION: The first member in the sequence of elementary ideals of a matrix A is said to be the order ideal \mathfrak{D}_A of A. The order ideal is generated by all the subdeterminants of greatest order of A.

The order ideal is invariant under elementary transformations.

It follows from the basis theorem that the order ideal of an ordinary abelian group with a finite number of generators is generated by the group order (where P is the ring of rational integers).

THEOREM 19 (Analogous to the Fermat Theorem of group theory): For all operators D of the order ideal \mathfrak{Q}_A and all elements v in \mathfrak{A} ,

$$Dv=0.$$

Proof: It suffices to assume that D is an *n*-rowed subdeterminant of a relation matrix A with *n* columns, and that *v* is one of the corresponding generators v_i of \mathfrak{A} . After appropriate renumbering of the rows of A, let $D = |a_{ik}|$ (i, k = 1, ..., n).

Then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik} v_{k} = 0,$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik} A_{ik} v_{k} = 0 \qquad (k=1,2...n),$$

and therefore

where $A_{i,k}$ is the algebraic complement of a_{ik} in D. After summation over these n equations, we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^n \left(\sum_{i=1}^n a_{ik} A_{ik} \right) v_k = 0.$$

As is well known, the inner sum has the value $\delta_{kh}D$, and therefore

$$Dv_k = 0$$
, Q.E.D.

§ 6. Extension Theory

The extension problem posed and solved by Otto Schreier reads: Given two abstract groups \Re and \mathfrak{F} , find all groups (\mathfrak{G} which contain \Re as a normal subgroup, such that

(1)
$$\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N} \simeq \mathfrak{F}$$
.

First we shall investigate the groups (8 which contain \Re as a normal subgroup with factor group isomorphic to \mathfrak{F} . The elements in \mathfrak{F} are designated by 1, $\sigma, \tau \ldots$.

There is a decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{F}} \mathfrak{RS}_{\sigma}$ of \mathfrak{G} into cosets with respect to \mathfrak{N} such that $\mathfrak{NS}_{a} \cdot \mathfrak{NS}_{a} = \mathfrak{NS}_{\sigma}$, and therefore

(2)
$$S_{\sigma}S_{\tau} = C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma\tau}, \ C_{\sigma,\tau} \in \mathfrak{R}.$$

Since \mathfrak{A} is a normal subgroup of (9, for the elements E, A, B, C, . . . in \mathfrak{N} :

$$S_a A S_a^{-1} = A^{S_a} \in \mathfrak{N},$$

$$(AB)^{s_{\sigma}} = A^{s_{\sigma}} B^{s_{\sigma}},$$

(5)
$$(A^{S_{\tau}})^{S_{\sigma}} = A^{S_{\sigma}S_{\tau}} = A^{C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma\tau}} = (A^{S_{\sigma\tau}})^{C_{\sigma,\tau}},$$

(6)
$$S_1S_1 = C_{1,1}S_1$$
, hence $S_1 = C_{1,1}$,

(7)
$$A^{S_1} = A^{C_{1,1}}$$

From the associative law in (9) it follows that

$$\begin{split} (S_{\sigma}S_{\tau})S_{\varrho} &= (C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma\tau})S_{\varrho} = C_{\sigma,\tau}C_{\sigma\tau,\varrho}S_{\sigma\tau\varrho} \\ &= S_{\sigma}(S_{\tau}S_{\varrho}) = S_{\sigma}C_{\tau,\varrho}S_{\tau\varrho} = C_{\tau,\varrho}^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau\varrho}S_{\sigma\tau\varrho}, \end{split}$$

and from this follow the associativity relations

(9)
$$C_{\sigma,\tau}C_{\sigma\tau,\varrho} = C^{S_{\sigma}}_{\tau,\varrho}C_{\sigma,\tau\varrho}.$$

Conversely, let single-valued mappings S_{σ} of \mathfrak{N} onto itself be given and let a system of elements C_{σ} in \mathfrak{N} be given also, so that

I.
$$(A B)^{S_{\sigma}} = A^{S_{\sigma}} B^{S_{\sigma}}$$
,
II. $(A^{S_{\tau}})^{S_{\sigma}} = A^{S_{\sigma}S_{\tau}} = (A^{S_{\sigma}\tau})^{C_{\sigma,\tau}} = A^{C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma}\tau}$, $A^{S_{1}} = A^{C_{1,1}}$,
III. $C_{\sigma,\tau}C_{\sigma\tau,\varrho} = C^{S_{\sigma}}_{\tau,\varrho}C_{\sigma,\tau\varrho}$.

A system of elements $C_{a,\tau}$ which occurs in a solution of these three equations is said to be a factor system in \Re belonging to $\tilde{\kappa}$.

A group will be constructed which contains \Re as a normal subgroup and whose factor group is isomorphic to \mathfrak{F} such that the multiplication of the representatives of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{N} follows rule (8).

Let (3) be the set of all symbols AS_{σ} with A in \mathfrak{N} ; $AS_{\sigma} = BS_{\tau}$ if and only if A = B, $\sigma = \tau$. We define multiplication in (3) by

$$AS_{\mathfrak{q}} \cdot BS_{\mathfrak{r}} = AB^{S_{\mathfrak{q}}}C_{\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{r}}S_{\mathfrak{q}\mathfrak{r}}.$$

In (8 the associative law is valid:

$$\begin{split} (AS_{\sigma} \cdot BS_{\tau}) \cdot CS_{\varrho} &= AB^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma,\tau} \cdot CS_{\varrho} \\ &= AB^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau}C^{S_{\sigma\tau}}C_{\sigma,\tau} \delta_{\sigma\tau\varrho} \\ &= AB^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma\tau}C_{\sigma,\tau}\delta_{\sigma\tau\varrho} \\ &= AB^{S_{\sigma}}C^{S_{\sigma}}S_{\tau}C_{\sigma,\tau}\delta_{\sigma\tau\varrho} \\ &= AB^{S_{\sigma}}C^{S_{\sigma}}S_{\tau}C_{\sigma,\tau\varrho}S_{\sigma\tau\varrho} \qquad (by \text{ II. and III.}) \\ &= A\left(BC^{S_{\tau}}C_{\tau,\varrho}\right)^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau\varrho}S_{\sigma\tau\varrho} \qquad (by \text{ I.}) \\ &= AS_{\sigma} \cdot BC^{S_{\tau}}C_{\tau,\varrho}S_{\tau\varrho} \\ &= AS_{\sigma} \cdot (BS_{\tau} \cdot CS_{\varrho}). \end{split}$$

If we set
$$\sigma = \tau = 1$$
 in III, then
 $C_{1,1}C_{1,\varrho} = C_{1,\varrho}^{S_1}C_{1,\varrho}, C_{1,1} = C_{1,\varrho}^{C_{1,1}},$ therefore
 $C_{1,\varrho} = C_{1,1}.$

(10)

(11)

If on the other hand we set $\tau = \varrho = 1$ in III, then

$$\begin{split} C_{a,1}C_{a,1} &= C_{1,1}^{S_a}C_{a,1}\,, & & \text{therefore} \\ C_{a,1} &= C_{1,1}^{S_a}\,. \end{split}$$

 $e \cdot AS_{a} = C_{1,1}^{-1} A^{C_{1,1}} C_{1,a} S_{a} = AS_{a}.$

 $X = C_{1}^{-1} C_{1}^{-1} B^{-S_{g}}$

 $\sigma = \tau^{-1}$

 $e = C_1^{-1} S_1$ is left identity of \mathfrak{G} , since

 $XS_{a} \cdot BS_{a} = e,$ As solution of $\begin{cases} X B^{S_{\sigma}} C_{\sigma, \tau} = C_{1, 1}^{-1} \\ \sigma \tau = 1, \end{cases}$ that is, of

we find

(% is a group.

 $\bar{A} = A C_{\cdot}^{-1} S_{\cdot}.$ We set

Then

$$\bar{A}\,\bar{B} = A\,C_{1,1}^{-1}S_1 \cdot B\,C_{1,1}^{-1}S_1 = A\,C_{1,1}^{-1}(B\,C_{1,1}^{-1})^{S_1} \cdot C_{1,1}S_1$$
$$= A\,B\,C_{1,1}^{-1}S_1 = \overline{AB}.$$

 $\overline{A} = e$ implies Now A = 1.Therefore $A \rightarrow \overline{A}$ is an isomorphic mapping of \mathfrak{N} onto a subgroup 9 of (8.

Set $\bar{S}_{1} = 1S_{1}$. Then $\overline{A} \cdot \overline{S}_{a} = A C_{1,1}^{-1} S_{1} \cdot 1 S_{a} = A C_{1,1}^{-1} C_{1,2} S_{a} = A S_{1,2}$ by (10), $\bar{S}_{a}\cdot\bar{S}_{z}=1S_{a}\cdot1S_{z}=C_{a,z}S_{az}=\bar{C}_{a,z}\cdot\bar{S}_{az},$ $\bar{S}_{a} \cdot \bar{A} = 1 S_{a} A C_{1,1}^{-1} S_{1} = A^{S_{\sigma}} C_{1,1}^{-S_{\sigma}} C_{\sigma,1} S_{\sigma} = A^{S_{\sigma}} S_{\sigma}$ $=\overline{A^{S_{\sigma}}}\cdot\overline{S}$

therefore

ASa _ ASa

 $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$ is a normal subgroup of (6) with the \overline{S}_{σ} as a system of representatives, the $\overline{C}_{a,r}$ as factor system, and the \overline{S}_{σ} as automorphisms, and the mapping $A \rightarrow \overline{A}$ is an operator isomorphism between \Re and $\overline{\Re}$. Thus the problem stated above is completely solved.

Let (and (be two extensions of) which belong to the same factor system $C_{\sigma,\tau}$ and the same automorphism set S_{σ} . The elements in (8 are uniquely of the form AS_{σ} , those in $\overline{\mathbb{G}}$ uniquely of the form $A\overline{S}_{\sigma}$, where

$$A S_{\sigma} B S_{\tau} = A B^{S_{\sigma}} C_{\sigma,\tau} S_{\sigma\tau}$$
$$A \overline{S}_{\sigma} B \overline{S}_{\tau} = A B^{S_{\sigma}} C_{\sigma,\tau} \overline{S}_{\sigma\tau}.$$

Then the identity automorphism of \Re can be extended, by means of the mapping $AS_a \rightarrow A\tilde{S}_a$, to an isomorphism between \mathfrak{G} and $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$. We say more briefly: \mathfrak{G} and $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ are \Re -isomorphic.

From these investigations we conclude:

THEOREM 20: To each extension (8 of a normal subgroup \Re with given factor group \mathfrak{F} there belongs a factor system and a set of automorphisms of \Re such that conditions 1. II, III are fulfilled.

Conversely, to a given factor system and a given set of automorphisms of \mathfrak{N} , which fulfill I, II, III, there belongs an extension of \mathfrak{N} , unique to within isomorphy over \mathfrak{N} .

If instead of choosing S_{σ} as a representative of $S_{\sigma}\mathfrak{N}$ we choose $T_{\sigma} = A_{\sigma}S_{\sigma}$ with A_{σ} in \mathfrak{N} , then the automorphism S_{σ} of \mathfrak{N} is replaced by $A_{\sigma}S_{\sigma} = T_{\sigma}$ and $C_{\sigma,\tau}$ is replaced by $A_{\sigma}A_{\tau}^{\mathfrak{s}c}C_{\sigma,\tau}A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}$, since

$$T_{\sigma}T_{\tau} = A_{\sigma}S_{\sigma}A_{\tau}S_{\tau} = A_{\sigma}A_{\tau}^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma\tau} = A_{\sigma}A_{\tau}^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau}A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}T_{\sigma\tau}.$$

The converse is clear.

DEFINITION: Two factor systems $(S_{\sigma}, C_{\sigma,\tau}), (T_{\sigma}, D_{\sigma,\tau})$ are said to be equivalent if there are elements A_{σ} such that

$$A^{T_{\sigma}} = A^{A_{\sigma}S_{\sigma}} \text{ for all } A \leq \mathfrak{N}$$
$$D_{\sigma,\tau} = A_{\sigma}A_{\tau}^{S_{\sigma}}C_{\sigma,\tau}A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1} ,$$

We then write

 $(T_{\sigma}, D_{\sigma,\tau}) \sim (S_{\sigma}, C_{\sigma,\tau}).$

For this equivalence the three rules are valid.

Two factor systems with sets of automorphisms induce extensions which are isomorphic over \Re and for which the coset R_{σ} maps onto the coset \overline{R}_{σ} , if and only if the factor systems are equivalent.

There always exists at least one factor system, namely that belonging to the direct product $\mathfrak{F} \times \mathfrak{N}$:

$$C_{\sigma,\tau} = 1,$$
$$A^{S_{\sigma}} = A.$$

A factor system is equivalent to $(T_{a}, 1)$ if and only if

$$1 = A_{\sigma} A_{\tau}^{S_{\sigma}} C_{\sigma,\tau} A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}$$

is solvable.

An equivalent condition is: In some associated extension, a subgroup can be found which is a system of representatives with respect to \Re .

Then \mathfrak{G} decomposes into a product of \mathfrak{F} and \mathfrak{N} where $\mathfrak{F} \cap \mathfrak{N} = e$. Therefore we say that a factor system equivalent to $(T_o, 1)$ is a retracting factor system.

If the given normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{G} is abelian, then the automorphism $A \to A^{g_a}$ is independent of the particular choice of the representative S_a and therefore we simply set $A^{g_a} = A^{a}$.

Three necessary and sufficient conditions in terms of $(\sigma, C_{\sigma, r})$ are then

I.
$$(A B)^{\sigma} = A^{\sigma} B^{\sigma}$$
,
II. $(A^{\tau})^{\sigma} = A^{\sigma \tau}$, $A^{1} = A$.
III. $C_{\sigma, \tau} C_{\sigma \tau, \varrho} = C^{\sigma}_{\tau, \varrho} C_{\sigma, \tau \varrho}$.

The factor systems belonging to the same group (σ, τ, \ldots) of automorphisms of \Re form a group $(C_{\sigma,\tau})$. The number of non-equivalent factor systems is equal to the index

$$(C_{\sigma,\tau}):(A_{\sigma}A_{\tau}^{\sigma}A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}).$$

The number of different retracting factor systems is equal to the index

$$(A_{\sigma}): (\delta_{\sigma}), \text{ where } \delta_{\sigma} \delta_{\sigma}^{\sigma} = \delta_{\sigma},$$

If \mathfrak{N} is of order *m* and \mathfrak{F} is of order *n*, then the last index is equal to $m^n/((\delta_n): 1).$

§ 7. Extensions with Cyclic Factor Group

Let the factor group of (9 over the normal subgroup \Re be isomorphic to the cyclic group $\mathfrak{F} = (\sigma)$.

Let S be a representative of the coset associated with σ .

If $\mathfrak{F}: l=0$, then $l, S^{\pm 1}S^{\pm 2}, \ldots$ is a system of representatives of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{R} and $C_{\sigma^{\ell}, \sigma^{k}} = l$.

If $\mathfrak{F}:1=n>0$ then 1, S, S², ..., S^{n-1} is a system of representatives of (3) over \mathfrak{N} . Then $S^n = N$ is an element in \mathfrak{N} for which $N^S = N$ holds. Moreover $A^{S^n} = A^N$ for all A in \mathfrak{N} and

$$C_{\sigma^{i},\sigma^{k}} = \begin{cases} 1, & i+k < n \\ N, & i+k \ge n \end{cases} \quad (0 \le i, k < n).$$

Conversely if $\mathfrak{F}: 1 = 0$, and $A \rightarrow A^s$ is any automorphism of \mathfrak{R} , then

we set $C_{\mathfrak{s}^{\mathfrak{l}},\mathfrak{s}^{k}} = 1$ and see that one and only one extension group \mathfrak{G} of \mathfrak{R} exists such that $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R} = (S\mathfrak{R}) \cong \mathfrak{F}$ and $SAS^{-1} = A^{S}$ for all A in \mathfrak{R} .

If $\mathfrak{F}: 1=n>0$ and $A \to A^{\sigma}$ is a single-valued mapping of \mathfrak{N} onto itself with the properties A^{σ} . I.a. $(AB)^{\sigma} = A^{\sigma}B^{\sigma}$,

IIa.
$$A^{\sigma^n} = A^N$$
, $N \in \mathfrak{R}$,

III a. $N^{\sigma} = N$, then there exists one and only one extension group (5) of \Re such that $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R} = (\mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{R}) = \mathfrak{F}$ and $SAS^{-1} = \mathbf{A}^{\sigma}$ for all A in \Re , $S^{n} = N$.

Proof: In order to see that (9 exists, we set

$$C_{\sigma^{i},\sigma^{k}} = \begin{cases} 1 & i+k < n \\ N, & \text{if } & i+k \ge n \end{cases} \quad (0 \le i, k < s)$$

Then I and II hold.

The validity of III means, since $N^{\sigma} = N$, that certain identities with the factors 1, N are fulfilled, no matter what the structure of \Re . Now since the infinite cyclic group (S) is a cyclic extension of index *n* over (Sⁿ), and $N=S^{n}$ generates an infinite cyclic group, the identities are valid in all groups.

Since G is uniquely determined by $\mathfrak{N},\,\sigma\,$ and N, we denote G by $(\mathfrak{N},\,\sigma,\,N)$.

When is $(\mathfrak{N}, \sigma, N)$ isomorphic to $(\mathfrak{N}, \sigma^*, N^*)$ over \mathfrak{N} ?

We can assume that the two groups are identical, and then $S_{\sigma^*} = A S_{\sigma}^{\nu}$ where $0 < \nu \leq n$ and $(\nu, n) = 1$:

$$N^* = (A S_a^{\nu})^n = A^{1 + \sigma^{\nu} + \dots + \sigma^{\nu}(n-1)} N^{\nu}.$$

Conversely if $x^{\sigma^*} = x^{4\sigma^*}$ for all x in N, where $(\nu, n) = 1$, and if $N^* = A^{1+\sigma^*+\cdots+\sigma^*(n-1)}N^*$, then $(\mathfrak{N}, \sigma^*, N^*)$ is a cyclic extension of index n of N, which is isomorphic to $(\mathfrak{N}, \sigma, N)$ over \mathfrak{N} .

Example: Let \mathfrak{N} be a finite cyclic group with order m. If $\mathfrak{N}=(A)$, then $N=A^t$ and $A^\sigma=A^r$. \mathfrak{G} is uniquely described by the four numbers n, m, t, r. II.a. implies $r^n \equiv 1(m)$, and conversely. III.a. implies $rt \equiv t(m)$, and conversely. We obtain:

THEOREM 21 (Hölder): A group (G) of finite order n m with cyclic normal subgroup (A) and with cyclic factor group (B (A)) of finite order n has the two generators A, B with the defining relations:

$$A^{m} = e, B^{n} = A^{t}, BAB^{-1} = A^{r},$$

.

and with the numerical conditions

a)
$$0 < n, m.$$

b) $r^n \equiv 1(m),$
c) $t(r-1) \equiv 0(m).$

Conversely if the numerical conditions are fulfilled, then a group with the previously given properties is defined by the three relations. For fixed n and m the replacement of r, t by

$$r^* = r^*, (\nu, n) = 1,$$

 $t^* = \nu t + (1 + r^* + r^{2\nu} + \cdots + r^{(n-1)\nu})$

leads to N-isomorphic extensions.

§8. Extensions with Abelian Factor Group

Let the factor group of the group \mathfrak{G} over the normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} be isomorphic to the direct product

$$\mathfrak{F} = (\sigma_1) \times (\sigma_2) \times \ldots \times (\sigma_r).$$

of cyclic groups (σ_i) of orders n_i . Let $(S_i \mathfrak{N})$ be cosets associated with σ_i . The following relations hold in \mathfrak{G} :

$$\begin{split} S_i A S_i^{-1} &= A^{S_i} \in \mathfrak{N} \quad \text{if} \quad A \in \mathfrak{N}, \\ S_i^{n_i} &= A_i \in \mathfrak{N}, \\ S_i S_k S_i^{-1} S_k^{-1} &= A_{i, k} \in \mathfrak{N}. \end{split}$$

For the mappings $A \rightarrow A^{s_i}$ of \Re onto itself the rules

$$(A B)^{S_i} = A^{S_i} B^{S_i},$$

 $A^{S_i^{S_i}} = A^{A_i},$
 $A^{S_i S_k} = A^{A_i, k} S_k S_i$

hold.

§8. Extensions with Abelian Factor Group

Moreover $A_{i,k} A_{k,i} = 1$, $n_i \ge 0$, and if $n_i = 0$ then $A_i = 1$.

$$\begin{aligned} A_{k}^{S_{i}} &= S_{i}A_{k}S_{i}^{-1} = S_{i}S_{k}^{s_{k}}S_{i}^{-1} = (S_{i}S_{k}S_{i}^{-1})^{s_{k}} \\ &= (A_{i,k}S_{k})^{s_{k}} = A_{i,k}(S_{k}A_{i,k}S_{k}^{-1})S_{k}^{2}A_{i,k} \dots \\ &= A_{i,k}A_{i,k}^{S_{i,k}} \dots A_{i}^{S_{k}^{k-1}}A_{k} \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} S_i A_{k,i} S_i^{-1} &= A_{k,i}^{k} \\ &= (S_i S_k S_i^{-1}) \cdot (S_i S_1 S_i^{-1}) (S_i S_k S_i^{-1})^{-1} (S_i S_i S_i^{-1})^{-1} \\ &= A_{i,k} S_k \cdot A_{i,i} S_1 \cdot (A_{i,k} S_k)^{-1} \cdot (A_{i,i} S_i)^{-1} \\ &= A_{i,k} A_{i,k}^{k} \cdot S_k S_i S_k^{-1} S_i^{-1} \cdot A_{i,k}^{-S_i} A_{i,i}^{-1} \\ &= A_{i,k} A_{i,k}^{S_i} A_{k,i} A_{i,k}^{-S_i} A_{i,i}^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Now conversely let a group \mathfrak{N} be given which contains the elements $A_i, A_{i,k}$ $(i, k = 1, 2, ..., r; i \neq k)$ and let single valued mappings $A \rightarrow A^{\mathfrak{S}_i}$ of \mathfrak{N} onto itself be defined with the following properties:

1.
$$(A B)^{S_i} = A^{S_i} B^{S_i}$$
,
2. $A^{S_i^{n_i}} = A^{A_i}$ (if $n_i > 0$), $A^{S_i} = A_i$,
2.a. $n_i \ge 0$, and if $n_i = 0$, then $A_i = 1$,
3. $A^{S_i S_k} = A^{A_{i,k} S_k S_k}$ ($i > k$),
3. $A_{i,k} A_{k,i} = 1$ ($i > k$),
4. $A^{S_i}_k = A^{A_{i,k}^+ S_k^{m-1} A_k}$ (if $n_k > 0$, $i \neq k$),
5. $A^{S_i}_{i,k} A^{-1}_{i,k} A^{S_k}_{k,i} A^{-1}_{i,k} A^{-1}_{k,i} = 1$ ($i < k < l$).

THEOREM 22: The group \mathfrak{G} with generators \overline{A} $(A \in N), S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_r$ and with the defining relations

a)
$$\overline{AB} = \overline{A} \overline{B}$$
,
b) $S_i \overline{A} S_i^{-1} = \overline{A}^{S_i}$,
c) $S_i^{n_i} = \overline{A}_i$,
d) $S_i S_k S_i^{-1} S_k^{-1} = \overline{A}_{i,k}$ $(i > k)$

contains the normal subgroup $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$ of all \overline{A} such that the factor group is the direct product of the cyclic groups $(S_i\mathfrak{N})$ of order n_i and the mapping $A \rightarrow \overline{A}$ is an isomorphism of \mathfrak{N} onto $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$.

Proof: If r=1 then the theorem follows from § 6. Let r>1 and assume that the theorem has been proven when there are only r-1 generators S_i .

-

Let \mathfrak{G}_1 be the group generated by \overline{A} and S_1, \ldots, S_{r-1} which satisfy conditions 1. to 5. and relations a) to d) where the indices i, k, l run from 1 to r-1.

We define $\bar{A}^{S_r} = \overline{A^{S_r}}, S_{L^r}^{S_r} = \bar{A}_r, S_r$ $(k = 1, 2, \dots, \tau - 1)$

Conditions 1., 3., 3a, and 4, with i=r, 5, with l=r merely state that the mapping S_r just defined can be extended (uniquely) to an operator S. of G.

The conditions $A^{A_r} = A^{S_r^{n_r}}, A_r^{S_r} = A_r$, state, by § 6, that the relations

b) $S_{\bullet} \bar{A} S_{\bullet}^{-1} = \bar{A}^{S_{\bullet}}$. c) $S_r^{n_r} = \bar{A}_r$,

d) $S_r S_i S_r^{-1} S_i^{-1} = \bar{A}_{r,i}$ (i < r)

define a cyclic extension (6 of index n_r over (6).

By the induction hypothesis, $A \rightarrow \overline{A}$ is an isomorphism of \Re onto $\overline{\Re}$. It follows from b) that $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$ is a normal subgroup of (8. It follows from d) that $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$ is abelian and is generated by $S_1\mathfrak{N}, S_2\mathfrak{N}, \ldots, S_r\mathfrak{N}$.

Now
$$\prod_{i}^{r} S_{i}^{r_{i}} = 1 \, (\widehat{\mathfrak{R}})$$
mplies
$$S_{r}^{r_{r}} = 1 \, (\mathfrak{G}_{1}).$$

implies

therefore

$$v_r \equiv 0 (n_r),$$

hence $\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} S_{i}^{n} \equiv 1$ (9), and the induction hypothesis applied to (9, gives

$$v_i \equiv 0 (n) \qquad (i=1,2,\ldots,r-1).$$

 $(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{A})$ is the direct product of the cyclic groups (S_i,\mathfrak{A}) with orders n_i (i=1,2, ..., r), Q.E.D. If the normal subgroup \Re is abelian then the conditions can be stated more simply:

1.
$$(A B)^{a_i} = A^{a_i} B^{a_i}$$
,
2. $A^{a_i^{a_i}} = A$,
2a. $n_i \ge 0$, and if $n_i = 0$, then $A_i = 1$,
3. $A^{a_i a_k} = A^{a_k a_i}$,
3a. $A_{i,k} A_{k,i} = 1$ $(i < k)$,
4. $A_k^{a_k^{n-1}} = A_{i,k}^{1+a_k+a_k^{n-1}+a_k^{n-1}}$ (if $n_k > 0$, $i \neq k$),
5. $A_{i,k}^{a_i-1} A_{k,i}^{a_i-1} A_{i,k}^{a_k-1} = 1$ $(i < k < l)$

and the relations

b)
$$S_i A S_i^{-1} = A^{\sigma_i}$$
,
c) $S_i^{n_i} = A_i$,
d) $S_i S_k S_i^{-1} S_k^{-1} = A_{i,k}$ ($i < k$)

§ 9. Splitting Groups

Definition: A group $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ which contains the extension \mathfrak{G} of \mathfrak{R} by \mathfrak{F} with the system of representatives S_{σ} is said to be a splitting group of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{R} , if $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ has a normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} , containing \mathfrak{R} , with S_{σ} as system of representatives, such that $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ splits over $\overline{\mathfrak{R}}$.

THEOREM 23 (Artin): Every group with abelian normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} has a splitting group.

Proof: We set $A_1 = C_{1,1}^{-1}$, but let (A_{σ}) be the infinite cyclic group generated by the new element A_{σ} , if $\sigma \neq 1$. Let $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the direct product of \mathfrak{N} with the (A_{σ}) , $(\sigma \neq 1)$. Then an operator S_{σ} of $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$ is defined by

$$A^{S_{\sigma}}_{\tau} = A^{-1}_{\sigma} A_{\sigma\tau} C^{-1}_{\sigma,\tau}$$
(r+1)

and

The same formula holds for $A_1^{S_{n}}$, since

$$A_1^{S_{\sigma}} = (C_{1,1}^{-1})^{S_{\sigma}} = C_{\sigma,1}^{-1} = A_{\sigma}^{-1}A_{\sigma}C_{\sigma,1}^{-1}.$$

 $\overline{N}^{S_{\sigma}} = \left(N \cdot \prod_{\tau} A_{\tau}^{m_{\tau}}\right)^{S_{\sigma}} = N^{S_{\sigma}} \cdot \prod_{\tau} (A_{\tau}^{S_{\sigma}})^{m_{\tau}}.$

The factor system $C_{a,\tau}$ and the mapping S_{σ} satisfy conditions I and III. Now II must be verified.

 $A^{s_1} = A^{c_{1,1}}$ holds for all A in \mathfrak{R} :

$$A_{\tau}^{S_1} = A_1^{-1} A_{\tau} C_{1,1}^{-1} = C_{1,1} A_{\tau} C_{1,1}^{-1} = A_{\tau}^{C_{1,1}},$$

and therefore $\overline{N}^{S_1} = \overline{N}^{C_{1,1}}$ for all \overline{N} in $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$.

$$\begin{aligned} (A_{\ell}^{s_{\ell}})^{s_{0}} &= (A_{\tau}^{-1}A_{\tau_{\ell}}C_{\tau_{\ell}}^{-1})^{s_{0}} = (A_{\tau}^{s_{0}})^{-1}A_{\tau_{\ell}}^{s_{0}}(C_{\tau_{0}}^{s_{\ell}})^{-1} \\ &= (A_{\sigma}^{-1}A_{\sigma\tau}C_{\sigma,\tau}^{-1})^{-1}A_{\sigma}^{-1}A_{\sigma\tau_{\ell}}C_{\sigma,\tau}^{-1}(C_{\tau_{\ell}}^{s_{\ell}})^{-1} = C_{\sigma,\tau}A_{\sigma\tau_{\ell}}^{-1}A_{\sigma\tau_{\ell}}(C_{\sigma,\tau}^{s_{0}})^{-1} \\ &= (A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}A_{\sigma\tau_{\ell}})^{c_{\sigma,\tau}}C_{\sigma,\tau}(C_{\sigma,\tau}C_{\sigma\tau,\ell})^{-1} = (A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}A_{\sigma\tau_{\ell}}C_{\sigma,\tau}^{-1})^{c_{\sigma,\tau}} (\text{by III.}!) \\ &= A_{\nu}^{0}\sigma,\tau^{s_{\sigma\tau}}. \end{aligned}$$

Since II is valid in \mathfrak{N} it holds also in $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$. Therefore there exists an extension group $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ of $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$ with the elements S_{σ} as system of representatives, the $C_{\sigma,\tau}$ as factor system, and the S_{σ} as automorphisms of $\overline{\mathfrak{N}}$.

III. Structure and Construction of Composite Groups

134

This extension naturally contains the extension (8 of \Re with the factor group \Im and system of representatives S_o . $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ is a splitting group of \mathfrak{G} since

$$e = A_{\sigma} A_{\tau}^{S_{\sigma}} C_{\sigma,\tau} A_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}.^{1}$$

¹ If we take $\overline{\emptyset}$ as the free product (which will be defined later) of \mathfrak{G} with the infinite cyclic groups (\mathcal{A}_{o}) then it follows in exactly the same way that every group has a splitting group.
IV. SYLOW p-GROUPS AND p-GROUPS

§ 1. The Sylow Theorems

In a finite group (G) of order N, the order of every subgroup is a divisor of N. On the other hand there need not be a subgroup with order d for every divisor d of N. For example, in the tetrahedral group, as one can see easily, there is no subgroup of order 6. We shall now prove, however, that for every power p^a of a prime dividing N there is a subgroup with the order p^a .

DEFINITION: A group is said to be a p-group if the order of each of its elements is a power of the prime p.

We determine the largest possible p-groups in the finite group G.

DEFINITION: A subgroup of (\mathfrak{G}) is said to be a *Sylow p-group*, if its order is equal to the greatest power of the natural prime p dividing N.

For example, the four group is a Sylow 2-group of the tetrahedral group. A Sylow *p*-group of \mathfrak{G} is denoted by S_p or by \mathfrak{P} . The normalizer of S_p in \mathfrak{G} is denoted by N_p , the center of S_p by z_p .

THEOREM 1. For every natural prime p, every finite group contains a Sylow p-group.

Proof: If the order N of 66 is 1, then the theorem is clear. Now let N>1 and assume the theorem proven for groups of order smaller than N.

If in the center $\frac{3}{p}$ of \mathfrak{G} there is an element *a* of order *m.p.*, then the factor group $\mathfrak{G}/(a^m)$ is of order $\frac{N}{p}$ and contains by the induction assumption a Sylow *p*-group $\mathfrak{G}/(a^m)$ of order p^{m^n} , where $\frac{N}{p^n}$ is not divisible by *p*.

 \mathfrak{B} is of order p^n and therefore is a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} .

Now let there be no element of order divisible by p in the center $\frac{1}{3}$ of \mathfrak{G} . If the order of $\frac{1}{3}$ were divisible by p, then the factor group of $\frac{1}{3}$ with respect to a cyclic normal subgroup $(a) \neq 1$ is of order divisible by p. But then by the induction hypothesis $\frac{1}{3}(a)$ would contain a Sylow p-group $\neq 1$, and therefore would contain elements b(a) of order divisible by p. Then the order of b in $\frac{1}{3}$ would be divisible by p. Therefore the order of $\frac{1}{3}$ is not divisible by p. If p/N then e is the Sylow p-group sought. If p/N then it follows from the class equation

$$N = (\mathbf{z}:1) + \sum_{\mathbf{h}_i > 1} \mathbf{h}_i$$

and from $p \neq (\mathfrak{z}:1)$, p/N, that at least one $h_i > 1$ is not divisible by p. \mathfrak{G} contains a normalizer N_i of index $h_i > 1$ and therefore N_i contains, by the induction hypothesis, a Sylow p-group \mathfrak{P} . Since $p \neq h_i$, \mathfrak{P} is also a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} .

COROLLARY: For every prime divisor p of the order of a finite group there is an element of order p (Cauchy).

The order and exponent of a finite group have the same prime divisors. It is a p-group if and only if its order is a power of p.

THEOREM 2: If \mathfrak{P} is a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} and \mathfrak{N} a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , then $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{P}$ is a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{N} ; $\mathfrak{PN}/\mathfrak{N}$ is a Sylow p-group of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$.

Proof: A subgroup 11 of 6 is a Sylow p-group if and only if

1. The order of \mathfrak{U} is a power of p (written: pp),

2. The index of \mathfrak{U} is prime to p (written: prime).



Now we may construct the diagram to the left and, observe first that $\mathfrak{P}\mathfrak{Y}:\mathfrak{P}$ is prime to p, and $\mathfrak{P}:\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{P}$ is a p-power. From the second isomorphism theorem it follows that $\mathfrak{P}\mathfrak{N}:\mathfrak{N}$ is a p-power, and $\mathfrak{N}:\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{P}$ is prime to p, from which the theorem follows.

If a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} then it is the only Sylow *p*-group, since for every other Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} , it follows that $\mathfrak{P},\mathfrak{P}$ is of *p*-power order, but $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{P},\mathfrak{P}$ is prime to *p*, and therefore $\mathfrak{P},\mathfrak{P} =$ $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}$. Consequently a Sylow *p*-group *S*, of a finite group \mathfrak{G} is the only Sylow *p*-group of its normalizer *N_p*.

THEOREM 3: All Sylow p-groups of a finite group **G** are conjugate under **G**. Their number when divided by p leaves a remainder 1.

Proof: Let the Sylow *p*-groups of \mathfrak{G} be $\mathfrak{P}=\mathfrak{P}_1,\ldots,\mathfrak{P}_r$.

Under the mapping $x \to \begin{pmatrix} a \\ x a x^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ of \mathfrak{G} onto the group of inner automorphisms, \mathfrak{F} is represented as a permutation group. Since conjugate subgroups have the same order, the \mathfrak{P}_i are transformed into each other by \mathfrak{P} , so that we obtain a representation Δ of \mathfrak{P} as a permutation group of degree r. By a remark above, \mathfrak{P} transforms only \mathfrak{P}_i and no other \mathfrak{P}_i into itself. Consequently there is only one system of transitivity of first degree. The other systems of transitivity of Δ have a degree > 1 which is a divisor of \mathfrak{P} : 1 and which, therefore, is a p-power. Consequently $r \equiv 1(p)$.

 \mathfrak{P} transforms the $s = \mathfrak{G}: N_p$ Sylow p-groups conjugate to \mathfrak{P} under \mathfrak{G}

¹ According to a communication from E. Witt.

among themselves, and as above it follows that $s \equiv 1(p)$. If there were another system of conjugate Sylow *p*-groups, then its members would be transformed into each other by \mathfrak{P} in systems of transitivity whose degree would be divisible by *p*. The system would therefore contain a number s_i , divisible by *p*, of Sylow *p*-groups; on the other hand we conclude for s_i , just as we did for *s*, that $s_i \equiv 1$ (*p*). Consequently all Sylow *p*-groups are conjugate to \mathfrak{P} , Q.E.D.

THEOREM 4: Every p-group \mathfrak{U} in (8) is contained in a Sylow p-group.

Proof: We replace \mathfrak{P} by \mathfrak{U} in the proof of the previous theorem. Let the transformed objects again be $\mathfrak{P}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{P}_r$. The degree of a system of transitivity of Δ is either 1 or a *p*-power. Since r = 1(p), there is certainly a system of transitivity of degree 1. Therefore there is a \mathfrak{P}_i which is transformed into itself by all the elements of \mathfrak{U} . Since $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{P}_i$ is a *p*-group which contains \mathfrak{P}_i , we have $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{P}_i = \mathfrak{P}_i, \mathfrak{U} \subseteq \mathfrak{P}_i, \ \mathbf{Q}$ -E.D.

THEOREM 5: Every subgroup \mathfrak{l} of \mathfrak{G} which contains the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ of a Sylow p-group $S_{\mathfrak{g}}$, is its own normalizer.

Proof: We must show that $x \mathfrak{U} x^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{U}$ implies

$$x \in \mathfrak{U}$$
.

In any case S_p and xS_px^{-1} are Sylow *p*-groups of \mathfrak{U} , and by Theorem 3 there is a U in \mathfrak{U} such that $UxS_px^{-1}U^{-1}=S_p$;

| therefore | $Ux \in N_p \leq \mathfrak{U},$ | |
|-----------|---------------------------------|--------|
| therefore | $x \in \mathfrak{U}$, | Q.E.D. |

THEOREM 6: If the p-group \mathfrak{U} contained in the finite group \mathfrak{G} is not a Sylow p-group, then the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{n}}$ of \mathfrak{U} is larger than \mathfrak{U} .

Proof: If $p \neq \emptyset: N_{u}$ then the theorem is clear; if, however $\emptyset: N_{u} = pr$, then \mathfrak{U} transforms the pr subgroups conjugate to \mathfrak{U} in systems of transitivity whose degrees are 1 or numbers divisible by p. Since \mathfrak{U} is transformed into itself, there are at least p subgroups $\mathfrak{U}_{1} = \mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_{2}, \ldots, \mathfrak{U}_{p}$, conjugate to \mathfrak{U} which are transformed into themselves by \mathfrak{U} . Consequently $N_{u_{n}}$ is greater than \mathfrak{U}_{2} , and therefore N_{u} is greater than \mathfrak{U}_{2} .

COROLLARIES:

1. Every maximal subgroup of a p-group is a normal subgroup; therefore it is of index p.

2. If a p-group is simple then it is of order p.

3. The composition factors of a p-group are of order p and therefore every p-group is solvable.

§ 2. Theorems on Sylow p-Groups

Information on the intersection of different Sylow *p*-groups is given by

THEOREM 7: In the normalizer of a maximal¹ intersection \mathfrak{D} of two different Sylow p-groups of \mathfrak{G} we have:

1. Every Sylow p-group of N_n contains Dproperly.

2. The number of Sylow p-groups of $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is greater than 1.

3. The intersection of two distinct Sylow p-groups of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is equal to \mathfrak{D} .

4. Every Sylow p-group of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is the intersection of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ with exactly one Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} .

5. The intersection of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ with a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} which contains \mathfrak{D} is a Sylow p-group of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$.

6. The normalizer of a Sylow p-group of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ in $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is equal to the intersection of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ with the normalizer of a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} which contains \mathfrak{D} .

Proof: \mathfrak{D} is in a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} of \mathfrak{G} and by hypothesis $\mathfrak{D} \neq \mathfrak{P}$. Therefore by Theorem 6: $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{P} = N_{\mathfrak{D}} \wedge \mathfrak{P}$. \mathfrak{p} is a *p*-group in $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, thus by Theorem 4 it lies in a Sylow *p*-group $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$. By Theorem 4, $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ lies in a Sylow *p*-group $\overline{\mathfrak{P}}$ of \mathfrak{G} . Since $\mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{P}$ contains \mathfrak{p} and thus is larger than $\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{P} = \overline{\mathfrak{P}}$. Therefore $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{P} \wedge N_{\mathfrak{D}} = \overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a Sylow *p*-group of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, and the \mathfrak{P} in $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{P} \wedge N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is uniquely determined by \mathfrak{p} . Since every *p*-group in $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is in a Sylow *p*-group of \mathfrak{G} , the intersection of two distinct Sylow *p*-groups of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is equal to \mathfrak{D} . Since $\mathfrak{P} \circ N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is the every *p*-groups of \mathcal{H} is the several Sylow *p*-groups. $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{P} \wedge N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is a normal subgroup of $n_{\mathfrak{D}} - N_{\mathfrak{D}}$. If we have

$$x p x^{-1} = p$$
,

for an x in $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, then it follows that $\mathfrak{p} \leq x \mathfrak{P} x^{-1}$, and therefore by 4., $\mathfrak{P} = x \mathfrak{P} x^{-1}$, $x \leq N_{\mathfrak{P}}$, $x \in n_{\mathfrak{p}}$, consequently $n_{\mathfrak{p}} = N_{\mathfrak{P}} \cap N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is the normalizer of \mathfrak{p} in $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, Q.E.D.

As an application of this theorem, we shall show that every group G of order p^nq is solvable (p, q are two distinct primes).

If a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} is a normal subgroup, then $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{P}$ is cyclic and by Theorem 6, Corollary 3, \mathfrak{P} is solvable. Hence \mathfrak{G} is solvable. Now suppose \mathfrak{P} is not a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} ; then $\mathfrak{G}: N_{\mathfrak{B}} = q$. $N_{\mathfrak{B}} = \mathfrak{P}$.

¹If **y** is the intersection of two Sylow *p*-groups and no group containing **y** properly is contained in the intersection of *any* two Sylow *p*-groups, **y** is called a *maximal* intersection of two Sylow *p*-groups.

If the intersection of any two different Sylow *p*-groups is 1, then there are $1 + q.(p^n-1)$ elements of *p*-power order, and therefore there is at most one subgroup with order *q*. Consequently a Sylow *q*-group Ω is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , and \mathfrak{G}/Ω is isomorphic to \mathfrak{P} . Since \mathfrak{G}/Ω and Ω are solvable, \mathfrak{G} is also solvable. Finally let \mathfrak{D} be a maximal intersection of different Sylow *p*-groups greater than 1. The number of Sylow *p*-groups of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ is > 1, is not divisible by *p*, is a divisor of p^nq and therefore is equal to *q*. Also it follows from the previous theorem that \mathfrak{D} lies in *q* different Sylow *p*-groups of \mathfrak{G} . \mathfrak{D} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , and the factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{D}$ has as the maximal intersection of different Sylow *p*-groups the element 1. By what has already been proven, $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{D}$ is solvable. Moreover the *p*-group \mathfrak{D} is solvable. Consequently \mathfrak{G} is solvable, Q.E.D.

For many applications the following theorem is useful:

THEOREM 8 (Burnside): If the p-group \mathfrak{h} in the finite group \mathfrak{G} is a normal subgroup of one Sylow p-group but is not a normal subgroup of another Sylow p-group, then there is a number r, relatively prime to p, of subgroups $\mathfrak{h}_1, \mathfrak{h}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_r (r > 1)$ conjugate to \mathfrak{h} which are all normal subgroups of $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h}_1 \mathfrak{h}_2 \ldots \mathfrak{h}_r$ but which are not all normal subgroups of the same Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} , so that the normalizer of \mathfrak{F} transforms the \mathfrak{h}_i transitively among themselves.

Proof: Among the Sylow *p*-groups which contain h as a non-normal subgroup, \mathfrak{Q} is chosen so that the intersection \mathfrak{D} of \mathfrak{Q} with the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{h}}$ of \mathfrak{h} is as large as possible. Let $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_1, \mathfrak{h}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_s$ be the subgroups conjugate to h in the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{B}}$ of \mathfrak{D} . Along with h, all the \mathfrak{h}_i are also normal subgroups of \mathfrak{D} . The normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{H}}$ of $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{H}} \mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{h}} \dots \mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{h}}$ contains $N_{\mathfrak{B}}$. Let $\mathfrak{h}_1, \mathfrak{h}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_s, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_r$ be all the groups conjugate to \mathfrak{h} Along with \mathfrak{h} , all the \mathfrak{h}_i are normal subgroups of \mathfrak{H} . \mathfrak{D} is in $N_{\mathfrak{s}}$. contained in a Sylow p-group \mathfrak{p}^* of $N_{\mathfrak{D}} \cap N_{\mathfrak{b}}$. Since \mathfrak{D} is not a Sylow p-group of \mathfrak{G} , while, by hypothesis, a Sylow p-group of $N_{\mathfrak{h}}$ is also a Sylow *p*-group of \mathfrak{G} , then \mathfrak{p}^* is larger than \mathfrak{D} . \mathfrak{p}^* is in a Sylow *p*-group $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ of $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ is in a Sylow p group \mathfrak{p} of $N_{\mathfrak{p}}$, and \mathfrak{p} in a Sylow p-group $N_{6} \cap N_{6}$ \mathfrak{P} of \mathfrak{G} . Since the intersection of \mathfrak{P} with $N_{\mathfrak{b}}$ contains \mathfrak{p}^* , and therefore is larger than D, then by the construction of D the Sylow p-group \$ of G is contained in N_b , and therefore a fortiori p is contained in N_b .

Since \mathfrak{p} contains the Sylow *p*-group $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ of $N_{\mathfrak{g}} \wedge N_{\mathfrak{g}}$, we have $\mathfrak{p} = \overline{\mathfrak{p}}$. Since therefore a Sylow *p*-group of $N_{\mathfrak{g}} \wedge N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is already a Sylow *p*-group of $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$, $r = N_{\mathfrak{g}} \cdot N_{\mathfrak{g}} \wedge N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is relatively prime to *p*. If all the $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{g}}$ were



normal subgroups of the same Sylow *p*-group of (G), then the latter would be contained in N_{ϕ} . But then the groups β_i conjugate to each other in N_{ϕ} would be normal subgroups in all the Sylow *p*groups of N_{ϕ} . Then \mathfrak{h} would be a normal subgroup of the Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{q}^* of the intersection of N_{ϕ} with Ω . But \mathfrak{q}^* is larger than \mathfrak{D} , and this contradicts the definition of \mathfrak{D} as the intersection of \mathfrak{Q} with N_{ϕ} ; therefore the \mathfrak{h}_{e} are not all normal subgroups of the same Sylow *p*-group of (G, Q.E.D. The positional relationships of the subgroups of 'G constructed in this proof can be seen from the diagram on the left.

§ 3. On p-Groups

1. Nilpotent Groups.

Fundamental for the theory of *p*-groups is the following statement: THEOREM 9: The center of a *p*-group different from *e* is itself different from *e*.

Proof: From the class equation for a group of order $p^n > 1$:

$$p^n = z : 1 + \sum_{i>0} p^i,$$

where the summands p^i run through indices >1 of certain normalizers. Therefore z:1 is divisible by p, and consequently $z \neq e$.

COROLLARY: The (n+1)-th member of the ascending central series of a group \mathfrak{G} of order p^n is equal to the whole group.

The members of the ascending central series are defined as the normal subgroups \hat{s}_i of (6) such that $\hat{s}_0 = e, \hat{s}_{i+1}/\hat{s}_i$ is the center of (6)/ \hat{s}_i . Now either $\hat{s}_i = 0$ or, as just proven, \hat{s}_{i+1} is larger than \hat{s}_i , and therefore certainly $\hat{s}_n = 0$.

By refinement of the ascending central series of a p-group we obtain a principal series in which every factor is of order p. It follows from the Jordan - Hölder - Schreier theorem that:

Every principal series of a p-group has steps of prime order.

The index of the center of a non-abelian p-group is divisible by p^2 . This follows from the useful lemma: If a normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} of a group \mathfrak{G} is contained in the center and has a cyclic factor group, then \mathfrak{G} is abelian. Since $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$ is generated by a coset $A\mathfrak{R}$, all the elements of \mathfrak{G} are of the form $A^{i}Z$ where Z is in the center. Therefore

$$A^i Z \cdot A^k Z' = A^{i+k} Z Z' = A^k Z' \cdot A^i Z$$

and 6 is abelian.

If we apply the result found above to a p-group in which $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{z}_e + \mathfrak{z}_{e-1} + e$, then: $p^2/\mathfrak{G} : \mathfrak{z}_{e-1}$, and since $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{z}_{e-1}$ is abelian, it follows that:

The factor commutator group of a non-abelian p-group has an order divisible by p^2 .

A group of order p or p^2 is abelian. In a non-abelian group of order p^s , the center and the commutator group are identical and are of order p.

DEFINITION: A group (\emptyset is said to be *nilpotent*¹ if the ascending central series contains the whole group as a member, i.e., if

 $e = z_0 \subset z_1 \subset z_2 \subset \cdots \subset z_e =$ \Im .

The uniquely determined number c is called, following Hall, the *class* of the group. Therefore "nilpotent of class 1" is the same as "abelian $\neq e$."

THEOREM 10: In a nilpotent group of class c it is possible to ascend to the whole group from any subgroup by forming normalizers at most c times.

Proof: Let \mathfrak{G} be nilpotent of class c; let \mathfrak{U} be a subgroup. Certainly \mathfrak{F}_0 is contained in \mathfrak{U} . If \mathfrak{F}_i is already contained in \mathfrak{U} , then by the definition of \mathfrak{F}_{i+1} , it follows that \mathfrak{F}_{i+1} is contained in the normalizer of \mathfrak{U} . By at most c repetitions of this procedure we obtain the result.

COROLLARY: Every maximal subgroup of a nilpotent group is a normal subgroup and therefore is of prime index.

Therefore in a p-group \mathfrak{G} the intersection of all the normal subgroups of index p is equal to the $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ -subgroup defined earlier. The factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ is an abelian group of exponent p. By its order p^d the important invariant $d = d(\mathfrak{G})$ is defined. The significance of d is made clear by the following BURNSIDE BASIS THEOREM: From every system of generators of \mathfrak{G} exactly d can be selected so that these alone generate \mathfrak{G} . By the general basis theorem this theorem need only be proven for $\mathfrak{G}/\boldsymbol{\Phi}$.

-

¹ This name is used because for finite continuous groups the associated Lie ring of infinitesimal transformations is nilpotent precisely when the ascending central series terminates with the full group.

2. Elementary Abelian Groups.

An abelian group \mathfrak{A} with prime exponent p is called an *elementary abelian group*. If \mathfrak{A} is of order p^d then it is possible to generate \mathfrak{A} by d elements: Let S, be an element $\ddagger e$ in \mathfrak{A} ; let S_s be an element in \mathfrak{A} not in $\{S_1, S_1\}$; let S_d be an element in \mathfrak{A} and $\{S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_{d'}\} = \mathfrak{A}$. Then (S_d) is of prime order p so that we must have

$$(S_i) \land \{S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_{i-1}\} \doteq e$$

It follows from this that

$$\{S_1, S_2, \dots, S_i\} = \{S_1, S_2, \dots, S_{i-1}\} \times (S_i)$$
$$\mathfrak{A} = (S_1) \times (S_2) \times \dots \times (S_{d'}),$$

and since $\mathfrak{A}: 1 = p^4$, we see that d = d'. Therefore a finite elementary abelian group is the direct product of a finite number of cyclic groups of prime order. Conversely a direct product of a finite number of cyclic groups $(S_1), (S_1), \ldots, (S_d)$ of order pis an elementary abelian group. The elements S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_d in the direct product representation are said to be a basis of \mathfrak{A} . The above method of construction shows that every generating system of \mathfrak{A} contains a basis. Therefore d is the minimal number of generators. Consequently every system of d generators is a basis of \mathfrak{A} . The number of basis systems of \mathfrak{A} can be calculated easily:

In the above construction there are p^{d-1} possibilities for S_1 ; after choosing S_n ; there are p^{d-p} possibilities for S_1 and so forth, so that we obtain the number $(p^d-1)(p^d-p)\cdot\ldots\cdot(p^d-p^{d-1})$ as the number of basis systems of \mathfrak{A} . If S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_d is a fixed basis and T_1, T_2, \ldots, T_d is an arbitrary basis then the mapping

$$S_1^{\alpha_1}S_2^{\alpha_2}, \ldots, S_d^{\alpha_d} \rightarrow T_1^{\alpha_1}T_2^{\alpha_2}, \ldots, T_d^{\alpha_d}$$

defines an automorphism of a and conversely. Therefore it follows that:

The number of automorphisms of an elementary abelian group of order p^d is equal to $(p^d - 1)(p^d - p) \cdots (p^d - p^{d-1})$. If we set

$$k_d = (p^d - 1) (p^{d-1} - 1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (p - 1),$$

then the number is equal to $p^{\frac{1}{2}d(d-1)}k_d$. From the general basis theorem in II, § 4, it follows that:

The number of automorphisms of a p-group of order p^n (n>0) and d generators is a divisor of

$$p^{d(n-d)} \cdot (p^d - p) (p^d - p) \cdot \ldots \cdot (p^d - p^{d-1}).$$

Remark: The highest power of p which divides this number is $p^{\frac{1}{2}d(n-1-d)}$, and since $0 < d \leq n$, this number is a divisor of $p^{\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)}$, as can easily be seen. Therefore the number of automorphisms of an arbitrary group of order p^n is a divisor of the number of automorphisms of the elementary abelian group of order p^n .

For later theorems it is important to obtain several formulae about the number q^{d}, α of subgroups of order p^{a} in the elementary abelian group of order p^{d} . Let $0 < \alpha \leq d$. Every subgroup of order p^{a} is elementary.

If $S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_\alpha$ are the first α elements of a basis of the whole group, then these α elements are a basis of a subgroup of order p^α . Conversely, as we have seen

142

previously, every basis of a subgroup of order p^a can be extended to a basis of the whole group. Since the elements S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_a can be chosen in

$$(p^d-1)(p^d-p)\cdots(p^d-p^{a-1})$$

different ways, and every subgroup of order p^{α} has $(p^{\alpha}-1)\cdot\ldots\cdot(p^{\alpha}-p^{\alpha-1})$ different basis systems, then

(1)
$$\varphi_{d,a} = \frac{(p^d - 1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (p^d - p^{a-1})}{(p^a - 1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (p^a - p^{a-1})} = \frac{k_d}{k_a k_{d-a}} = \varphi_{d,d-a},$$

where $k_0 = 1$. From this the reader can derive the recursion formula

(2)
$$\varphi_{d+1,\alpha} = \varphi_{d,\alpha} + p^{d+1-\alpha} \varphi_{d,\alpha-1}$$

for $0 < \alpha \leq d$, where $\varphi_{d,0} = 1 = \frac{k_d}{k_0 k_d}$. If we set $\varphi_{d,\alpha} = 0$ for rational integers α which are larger than d or smaller than 0, then the formula is valid generally. From this formula we derive the congruence

(3)
$$\varphi_{d+i, \alpha} \equiv \varphi_{d, \alpha} \left(p^{d+1-\alpha} \right) \qquad (i \ge 1)$$

and the polynomial identity

(4)
$$\prod_{r=1}^{d} (x-p^{r-1}) = \sum_{0}^{d} (-1)^{\alpha} p^{\frac{1}{2}\alpha(\alpha-1)} \varphi_{d,\alpha} x^{d-\alpha}$$

by induction. If we set x = 1, then

(5)
$$0 = 1 - \varphi_{d,1} + p \varphi_{d,2} + \dots + (-1)^d p^{\frac{1}{2}d(d-1)}.$$

An abelian group of order p^n can be decomposed, by the basis theorem, into the direct product of cyclic groups of orders $p^{n_1}, p^{n_2}, \dots, p^{n_r}$. Here the exponents n_1, n_1, \dots, n_r are determined uniquely to within order. Therefore we say: The group is of type $(p^{n_1}, p^{n_1}, \dots, p^{n_r})$. If we order the n_i by size so that p^j occurs a_j times as the order of a basis element, then we say: The group is of type

 $a_1 \cdot 1 + a_1 \cdot 2 + \cdots + a_n \cdot n.$

Here the non-negative integers a_i are bound only by the relation $\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \cdot i = n$.

3. Finite Nilpotent Groups.

The direct product of a finite number of nilpotent groups is nilpotent, as is easily seen. For example, the direct product of a finite number of *p*-groups is nilpotent. The following converse is important:

THEOREM 11: Every finite nilpotent group is the direct product of its Sulow groups.

Proof: The normalizer of a Sylow group is its own normalizer by Theorem 5, and therefore, by Theorem 10, it is equal to the whole group; consequently every Sylow group is a normal subgroup.

Let p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_r be the various prime divisors of the group order, and assume we have already shown that

 $S_{p_1}S_{p_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot S_{p_i} = S_{p_1} \times S_{p_1} \times \cdots \times S_{p_i}, \ i < r.$

Then the normal subgroups $S_{p_1}, S_{p_2}, \ldots, S_{p_i}$ and $S_{p_{i+1}}$ have relatively prime orders so that their intersection is e; and therefore

 $S_{p_1} \cdot S_{p_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot S_{p_{i+1}} = S_{p_1} \times S_{p_i} \times \cdots \times S_{p_{i+1}}.$

But from the equation $S_{p_1} \cdot S_{p_2} \cdot \dots \cdot S_{p_r} = S_{p_1} \times S_{p_1} \times \dots \times S_{p_r}$ it follows, by comparing the orders, that the whole group is the direct product of its Sylow groups.

THEOREM 12: The Φ -subgroup of a nilpotent group contains the commutator group.

Proof: As we saw earlier, the $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ -subgroup is equal to the intersection of the whole group with its maximal subgroups. By the Corollary to Theorem 10, every maximal subgroup of a nilpotent group is a normal subgroup of prime index, and therefore every maximal subgroup of a nilpotent group contains the commutator group. Consequently the $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ subgroup of a nilpotent group contains the commutator group.

Remark: We have further that $\Phi(\mathfrak{G})/\mathfrak{G}' = \Phi(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}')$, which can be derived from the definition of the Φ -subgroup as the intersection of the whole group with its maximal subgroups.

For finite groups we have the converse:

THEOREM 13 (Wieland): If the Φ -subgroup of a finite group contains the commutator group, then the group is nilpotent.

Proof: As in the proof of Theorem 11 it suffices to prove that every Sylow group is a normal subgroup. If the normalizer of a Sylow group were not the whole group, then it would be contained in a maximal subgroup which on the one hand would contain the Φ -subgroup and therefore the commutator group; and on the other hand, by Theorem 5, must be its own normalizer. Since this is not possible, every Sylow group must be a normal subgroup of the whole group.

THEOREM 14 (Hall): If the normal subgroup \Re is not contained in \mathfrak{z}_{i} , but is contained in \mathfrak{z}_{i+1} , then the following is a normal subgroup chain without repetitions: $\Re \supset \Re \land \mathfrak{z}_i \supset \Re \land \mathfrak{z}_{i-1} \supset \cdots \supset e$.

Proof: We have $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{N}) \leq \mathfrak{N} \land (\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{z}_{i+1}) \leq \mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{z}_i$. Since \mathfrak{N} is not contained in \mathfrak{z}_i , $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{N})$ is not contained in \mathfrak{z}_{i-1} , and therefore $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{z}_i$ is not contained in $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{z}_{i-1}$. We apply the same argument to $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{z}_i$, etc., **Q.E.D.**

144

4. Maximal abelian normal subgroups.

It is natural to consider the maximal abelian normal subgroups as well as the maximal abelian factor group. In general abelian normal subgroups which are contained in no other abelian normal subgroup are neither uniquely determined nor isomorphic to each other, as is easily seen in the example of the dihedral group of eight elements. The center seems to be more appropriate as a counterpart of the factor commutator group, as we already have seen in the theorems on direct products.

In any case, there is, in every group whose elements $e=a_i, a_i, \ldots$, are well ordered, a maximal abelian normal subgroup. We can construct an abelian normal subgroup \mathfrak{A}_{ω} for any index ω in the following way: $\mathfrak{A}_i = e_i$ let \mathfrak{B}_{ω} be the union of all \mathfrak{A}_{ω} , with $\nu < \omega$; let \mathfrak{A}_{ω} be equal to the normal subgroup generated by \mathfrak{B}_{ω} and a_{ω} if this normal subgroup is abelian. Otherwise let $\mathfrak{A}_{\omega} = \mathfrak{B}_{\omega}$. The union of all the \mathfrak{A}_{ω} is a maximal abelian normal subgroup.

A maximal abelian normal subgroup \mathfrak{A} of a nilpotent group is its own centralizer.

Proof: The centralizer $Z_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . If $Z_{\mathfrak{A}}$ contained \mathfrak{A} properly, then by Theorem 14, a center element $X \mathfrak{A}$ in $Z_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathfrak{A}$ would be contained in $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{A}$ 'so that the subgroup generated by X and \mathfrak{A} would be larger than \mathfrak{A} . But since this subgroup containing \mathfrak{A} would also be an abelian normal subgroup, we must have $Z_{\mathfrak{A}} = \mathfrak{A}$.

If \mathfrak{G} and \mathfrak{A} are of orders p^{μ} and p^{m} , respectively then the index p^{n-m} is a divisor of the number of automorphisms of \mathfrak{A} , whereupon, by Part 2, it follows that

(6)
$$p^{n-m/p^{\frac{1}{2}m(m-1)}},$$
 $2n \leq m(m+1).$

5. The automorphism group of Z_N .

We wish to determine the automorphism group of the cyclic group Z_N for N > 1. For this purpose we consider Z_N as the residue class module (quotient module) o(N) of the additive group of integers with respect to the submodule of integers divisible by N. The operators of Z_N are given by the multiplications $\underline{t} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ tx \end{pmatrix}$ by the rational integers $t; \underline{t}_1$ and \underline{t}_2 are equal if and only if t_1 and t_4 are congruent mod N. \underline{t} is an automorphism if and only if t is relatively prime to N. The number $\varphi(N)$ of automorphisms of Z_N is equal to the number of residue classes (cosets) mod N which contain numbers relatively prime to N (prime residue classes).

The automorphism group of Z_N (cyclic group of order N) is isomorphic to the group of prime residue classes mod N. If N is the product of relatively prime numbers m_i, m_n then Z_N is the direct product of two characteristic cyclic groups of orders m_i, m_n . For the automorphism group we have the corresponding situation; in particular

$$\varphi(N) = \varphi(m_1)\varphi(m_2).$$

¹Here we must anticipate the result of § 5 which is trivial for p-groups; namely, that every factor group of a nilpoint group is itself nilpotent.

If N is the n-th power of a prime p then a residue class is prime if and only if it consists of numbers relatively prime to p; the number of these residue classes is $p^{an} - p^{n-1}$. If $N = p^{n_1}p^{n_1} \dots p^{n_1}$ is the prime power decomposition, then

(7)
$$\varphi(N) = \prod_{1}^{r} \varphi(p_{i}^{n_{i}}) = \prod_{1}^{r} (p_{i}^{n_{i}} - p_{i}^{n_{i}-1}) = N \cdot \prod_{1}^{r} (1 - \frac{1}{p_{i}}).$$

The residue class ring o(p) is a field and therefore, by II, § 7, the automorphism group of Z_p is cyclic of order p-1. A rational number g whose order mod p is p-1 is said to be a *primitive congruence* root mod p, g has an order which is divisible by p-1mod p^n ; say therefore, it has the order $(p-1) \cdot p^n$. The order of $g_1 = g^{p^n}$ is then equal to p-1, mod p^n . If $a = 1 + kp^m$, then it follows from the binomial theorem that $a^p \equiv 1 + kp^{n+1} + \frac{p(p-1)}{2} k^* p^{im}(p^{m+1})$. Therefore $a \equiv 1(p^m)$ implies that $a^p \equiv 1(p^{m+1})$. However if m > 1 or if p is odd then $a \not\equiv 1(p^{m+1})$ implies that $a^p \not\equiv 1(p^{m+1})$. If $p \models 2$, then 1 + p is of order p^{p-1} mod p^{n_1} (1 + p), g, is of order $(p-1) \cdot p^{n-1}$. If p = 2, then $1 + 2^i$ is of order 2^{m-1} mod 2^n (n > 2). Since -1 is congruent to no power of 5 mod 4, there are, mod 2^n , the 2^{m-1} different prime residue classes $\pm 5^i$ ($0 \le r < 2^{m-1}$). As a result we obtain:

If n < 3 or p is odd, then the automorphism group of Z_{p^n} is cyclic of order $(p-1)p^{n-1}$. The automorphism group of Z_{p^n} , for n > 2, is abelian of type $(2^{n-2},2)$ with the associated basis automorphisms 5 and -1.

6. p-Groups with only one Subgroup of Order p.

A non-cyclic abelian group of exponent p^{μ} contains at least two different subgroups of order p.

Proof: Let A be an element of order p^n and let B not be a power of A. Then the order p^n of B mod (A) is greater than 1, but at most p^n . We have

$$B^{p^{\nu}} = A^{r}, \ B^{p^{n}} = A^{r \cdot p^{n-\nu}} = e, \ r = s \cdot p^{\nu}, \ (B \cdot A^{-s})^{p^{\nu}} = e$$

Therefore $(BA^{-s})^{p^{\nu}-1}$ and $A^{p^{n-1}}$ generate two different subgroups of order p.

We wish to find non-abelian groups of order p^n which contain only one subgroup of order p.

An example is the quaternion group. By the theorem of Hölder it is defined by the relations $A^4 = 1$, $BAB^{-1} = A^{-1}$, $B^2 = A^2$ as a group of order 8 with generators A and B. Its eight elements are called quaternions; they are

If instead we write

1,
$$i, -1, -i$$

j, $t, -j, -t$

and set

$$-(-1) = 1, -(-i) = i, -(-j) = j, -(-i) = i$$

then we have the following calculational rules:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{l} \cdot \mathbf{x} &= \mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{l} = \mathbf{x}, \ -\mathbf{l} \cdot \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x} \cdot -\mathbf{l} = -\mathbf{x}, \ (-\mathbf{l})^2 = \mathbf{l}, \\ \mathbf{i}^3 &= \mathbf{j}^3 = \mathbf{l}^3 = -\mathbf{l}, \ \mathbf{i}\mathbf{j} = -\mathbf{j}\mathbf{i} = \mathbf{l}, \ \mathbf{j}\mathbf{f} = -\mathbf{l}\mathbf{j} = \mathbf{i}, \\ \mathbf{f}\mathbf{i} &= -\mathbf{i}\mathbf{f} = \mathbf{j}. \end{aligned}$$

From this we conclude that there is only one subgroup of order 2 and exactly three subgroups of order 4. The center is equal to the commutator group which is equal to (-1).

The generalized quaternion group is defined by the relations

(8)
$$A^{2^{n-1}} = 1, BAB^{-1} = A^{-1}, B^2 = A^{2^{n-2}}$$
 (n>2)

as a group generated by A, B, and of order 2^n , by the Hölder Theorem. Since

$$(BA^{*})^{2} = BA^{*}B^{-1} \cdot B^{2} \cdot A^{*} = A^{-*}B^{2}A^{*} = B^{2}$$

this group contains only one subgroup of order 2. The elements $A^{2^{n-2}}$ and B generate a quaternion group.

The relations above can be written more elegantly in the form

(9)
$$A^{2^{n-2}} = B^2 = (AB)^2$$

The new relations follow from those above.

From the new relations, however, it follows that

$$BAB^{-1} = A^{-1}(AB)^{n}B^{-1} = A^{-1}$$

$$BA^{n^{n-1}}B^{-1} = A^{-1^{n-1}} = BB^{n}B^{-1} = B^{n} = A^{n^{n-1}}$$

$$A^{n^{n-1}} = 1,$$

and therefore the old relations follow.

If A' is of order 2^{n-1} , B' of order 4, and if A' and B' generate the whole group, then

$$A'^{2^{n-2}} = B'^{2} = (A'B')^{2} = A^{2^{n-2}}.$$

Therefore all the calculational rules which are valid for power products of A and B also remain valid for the corresponding power products of A' and B'.

Since A' and B' generate the whole group, (A') is a normal subgroup of index 2, and every element can be written uniquely in the form

$$A' B' (0 \leq \nu < 2^{n-1}, 0 \leq \mu < 2).$$

Therefore the mapping $A^*B^{\mu} \rightarrow A'^*B'^{\mu}$ is an automorphism of the group. The number of all the automorphisms is equal to the number of pairs A', B'. It follows by simple enumeration that:

The quaternion group has exactly 24 automorphisms. The generalized quaternion group of order 2^{μ} has exactly 2^{an-a} utomorphisms for n > 3.

In the automorphism group A of the quaternion group, the inner automorphisms form an abelian normal subgroup J of order 4. An automorphism which commutes with all the inner automorphisms is itself an inner automorphism. Since it changes each generator by a factor in the center, there are at most 2.2 such automorphisms.

A group A having order 24, and containing a normal subgroup J of order 4 which is its own centralizer, must be isomorphic to \mathfrak{S}_4 .

This is because a central element of A must be in J, and an element of order 3 must transform the three elements $\ddagger e$ in J in a cyclic manner. Then, since according to the results of Sylow there are elements of order 3, the center is e, and there is no normal subgroup of order 3. From these results also, the index in A of the normalizer N, of a Sylow 3-group is 4. A transitive representation of A in 4 letters is associated with N_* . The representation is faithful since the intersection of all 3-normalizers contains only center elements with orders 1 or 2 and therefore is e. Since A consists of 24 elements, A is isomorphic to \mathfrak{L}_2 .

The automorphism group of the quaternion group is isomorphic to the symmetric permutation group of four lett ers.

The quaternion group is the only p-group which contains two different cyclic subgroups of index p but only one subgroup of order p.

Proof:¹ Let \mathfrak{G} be of order p^{μ} and let it contain two different cyclic subgroups \mathfrak{U}_1 and \mathfrak{U}_1 of index p. \mathfrak{U}_1 and \mathfrak{U}_2 are different normal subgroups of index p, and therefore their intersection \mathfrak{D} is of index p^2 . Moreover \mathfrak{D} is in the center and contains the commutator group. It follows for any two elements x, y that x^{μ} and y^{μ} are in \mathfrak{D} , and that

$$(y, x)^p = (y^p, x) = e, (xy)^p = (y, x)^{\frac{1}{2}p(p-1)}x^py^p$$

If p is odd, then $(xy)^p = x^p y^p$, and therefore the operation of raising to power p is a homomorphy. Since the group of p-th powers is contained in $\mathfrak{P}_{\mathbf{v}}$ by the first isomorphism theorem the elements whose p-th power is e form a subgroup whose order is at least p^s . There are at least two different subgroups of order p in this subgroup.

If p = 2, then $(xy)^4 = (y, x)^9 x^4y^4 = x^4y^4$. Now we conclude just as above that either $\mathfrak{D} = 1$ and \mathfrak{U}_1 , \mathfrak{U}_1 are two different subgroups of order 2 or there are two subgroups $\mathfrak{u}_1 \neq \mathfrak{u}_4$ of order 4 by the first isomorphism theorem. We may assume that \mathfrak{u}_1 is in \mathfrak{U}_4 . If \mathfrak{u}_4 is different from \mathfrak{U}_4 , then \mathfrak{u}_4 is in \mathfrak{D} and \mathfrak{u}_4 . \mathfrak{u}_4 is an abelian group of order 8. Since it contains two different subgroups of index 2, it is not cyclic, and therefore it also contains two different subgroups of order 2. If, in conclusion, $\mathfrak{u}_1 = \mathfrak{U}_4$, then the whole group is of order 8. Let $\mathfrak{U}_1 = (A)$ and $\mathfrak{U}_2 = (B)$. If there is only one subgroup of order 2 then $B^3 = (AB)^3 = A^4$, and therefore the group is the quaternion group.

THEOREM 15: A p-group which contains only one subgroup of order p is either cyclic or a generalized quaternion group.

Proof: Let G be of order p^n and let it contain only one subgroup of order p. First

^{&#}x27;In accordance with a communication from Herr Maass, Hamburg.

let p be odd. If n=0, 1, then the theorem is clearly true. We now apply induction to n.

Every subgroup of index p is cyclic by the induction hypothesis, and therefore by what was proven previously there is only one subgroup of index p in \mathfrak{G} , and therefore \mathfrak{G} itself is cyclic.¹

Now let p = 2 and let \mathfrak{A} be \mathfrak{A} maximal abelian normal subgroup. \mathfrak{A} is cyclic and its own centralizer. Therefore $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{A}$ is isomorphic to a group of automorphisms of \mathfrak{A} . We shall show that only one automorphism of order 2 can occur, namely, the operation of a raising the elements of \mathfrak{A} to the power -1. Since this automorphism is not the square of any other automorphism of \mathfrak{A} , it follows that $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}$ is either 1 or 2. If we set $\mathfrak{A} = (\mathfrak{A})$ and assume that $B \neq \mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{A})$, $B = \mathfrak{A}(\mathfrak{A})$ has a preliminary BAB^+ must be shown to be equal to A^- . In fact, we want to show further that the group generated by A and B is a generalized quaternion group with relations (8) and (9). Then the theorem will be proven.

Since B cannot commute with all the elements of A, $(B^n) \neq A$, and there is a subgroup \mathfrak{A}_1 of \mathfrak{A} which contains (B^n) as a subgroup of index 2. The group $\mathfrak{A}_1(B)$ contains the two different cyclic subgroups \mathfrak{A}_1 and (B) of index 2; and therefore it is, as was previously shown, the quaternion group. If A is of order 2^m then: $B^n = A^{n^{m-1}}$. We also conclude $(AB)^n = A^{n^{m-1}}$. Therefore A and B generate the generalized quaternion group of order 2^{m+1} .

THEOREM 16: A group of order p^n is cyclic if it contains only one subgroup of order p^m (where 1 < m < n).

Proof: There is a subgroup 11 of order p^m . It is contained in a subgroup l_1 of order p^{m+1} and is the only subgroup of index p in l_1 . Therefore l_1 is cyclic and consequently II is cyclic. Since every subgroup of order p or p^2 is contained in a subgroup of order p^m , and since the only subgroup of order p^m , is cyclic, there is only one subgroup of order p and one of order p^2 . Since the generalized quaternion group contains some subgroups of order 4, we conclude from the previous theorem that the whole group is cyclic.

If in a p-group, every subgroup of order p^2 is cyclic, then there is only one subgroup of order p, and conversely.

If there were two different subgroups of order p then we can assume that one of them is contained in the center. But then the product of the two subgroups is a non-cyclic group of order p^* . Conversely, in a non-cyclic group of order p^* there are certainly two different subgroups of order p. Now one can easily prove:

THEOREM 17: A group of order p^n in which every subgroup of order p^m is cyclic, where 1 < m < n, is cyclic except in the case p = 2, m = 2 in which case the group can also be a generalized quaternion group.

7. p-Groups with a Cyclic Normal Subgroup of Index p.

We shall determine all the p-groups which contain a cyclic normal subgroup of index p. This problem will now be solved for non-abelian p-groups, which contain some subgroups of order p. If \mathfrak{G} is of order p^n , then in \mathfrak{G} there is an element A

¹This last by the basis theorem.

of order p^{n-1} and an element B of order p which is not a power of A. A and B generate \mathfrak{G} , and the subgroup (A) of index p is a normal subgroup. Therefore

$$A^{p^{n-1}} = B^p = 1, \quad BAB^{-1} = A^r,$$

 $r \neq 1 (p^{n-1}), \quad r^p \equiv 1 (p^{n-1}).$

If for odd p the element B is replaced by an appropriate power, then we can take $r = 1 + p^{n-2}$.

If p=2, n=3, then we must have $r \equiv -1(4)$. If p=2, n>3, then there are three possibilities for r, $r \equiv -1$, $1+2^{n-2}$, $-1+2^{n-1}(2^{n-1})$.

The number r is not altered mod 2^{n-1} if B is replaced by BA^{μ} .

If $r \equiv 1 + 2^{n-2}$, then the commutator subgroup is of order 2; in the other two cases it is of order 2^{n-1} .

If $r \equiv -1$, then $(BA^t)^a = (BA^tB^{-1})B^aA^r = A^{-r}B^aA^r = 1$, and therefore there is only one cyclic subgroup of index 2. Thus r is uniquely determined by the group. As a result we obtain:

The groups (8) of order p^{u} which contain an element A of order p^{u-1} , are of the following types:

a) (Sabelian:

 $\begin{array}{ll} n \geq 1 & \mathrm{I} & Z_{p^n} : B^{p^n} = 1 \\ n \geq 2 & \mathrm{II} & A^{p^{n-1}} = 1, \quad B^p = 1, \quad A B = BA : \end{array}$

- b) (§ non-abelian, p odd: $n \ge 3$ III $A^{p^{n-1}} = 1$, $B^p = 1$, $BAB^{-1} = A^{1+p^{n-2}}$;
- c) (§ non-abelian, p = 2:

Groups of different type are not isomorphic. From Hölder's theorem it follows that all types exist. For n = 3, V will coincide with IV, and VI with II.

Now it is simple to give all groups of order p^i . We must now investigate among such all those in which the *p*-th power of every element is *e*. A group in which all squares are equal to *e* is abelian since

 $x = x^{-1}$, thus $xy = (xy)^{-1} = y^{-1}x^{-1} = yx$.

If the group is non-abelian and p is odd, then it is generated by two elements

A and B such that the relations

 $A^{\mathbf{p}} = B^{\mathbf{p}} = (A, B)^{\mathbf{p}} = 1, A(A, B) = (A, B)A, \quad B(A, B) = (A, B)B$

hold. By III, Theorem 21, these relations define a non-abelian group with generators A, B and order p^3 , in which, for any two elements x, y, we have:

 $(xy)^{p} = (x, y)^{-\frac{1}{2}p(p-1)}x^{p}y^{p} = x^{p}y^{p}.$

Thus the p-th power of every element is equal to e. As a result we obtain:

There are, for every prime number p, five types of groups of order p^{i} , namely the three abelian types:

I. $Z_{n^3}: B^{p^3} = 1$,

II. $A^{p^2} = 1, B^p = 1, AB = BA,$

VII.
$$A^{\mathbf{p}} = B^{\mathbf{p}} = C^{\mathbf{p}} = 1$$
, $AB = BA$, $AC = CA$, $BC = CB$

and two non-abelian types, which are, for p=2; III, the quaternion group and IV, the dihedral group, and for odd p the types

III.
$$A^{p2} = 1, B^{p} = 1, BAB^{-1} = A^{1+p},$$

IV. $A^{p} = B^{p} = (A, B)^{p} = 1, A(A, B) = (A, B)A, B(A, B) = (A, B)B.$

Exercises

1. If a p-group contains a cyclic normal subgroup of index p, then every subgroup different from e has the same property.

2. For odd p, the following properties hold for abelian groups of type (p, p^{n-1}) and for non-abelian groups of order p^n having a cyclic subgroup of index p, where m is a number greater than zero and less than n:

a) The number of subgroups of order p^m is 1 + p in both cases.

b) The number of cyclic subgroups of order p^m is, in both cases, 1+p or p according to whether m=1 or m>1.

c) The number of elements whose p^{m-1} power = e is p^{m+1} in both cases.

d) In both groups, every subgroup whose order is divisible by p^* is a normal subgroup. Therefore for m > 1 there are equally many normal subgroups of order p^m .

e) The number of automorphisms is $p^{n}(p-1)$.

3. The two types of non-abelian groups of order p^{3} can be defined by the relations

III. $A^p = B^p = (A, B),$

TV. $A^{p} = B^{p} = (A, A, B) = (B, B, A) = 1$

for all p by an appropriate choice of generators A, B.

4. If a 2-group contains a cyclic subgroup of index 2 and is neither abelian of type (2, 2) nor the quaternion group, then the number of its automorphisms is a power of 2.

5. In a finite group, the index of the normalizer over the centralizer of a Sylow p-group with d generators is a divisor of k_a . If the order of the group is divisible neither by the third power of its smallest prime factor p, nor by 12, then every Sylow p-group is in the center of its normalizer.

.

6. In an abelian p-group & with the exponent pm, the characteristic chains

give rise to a characteristic series through the refinement process which was given in the proof of the Jordan-Hölder-Schreier Theorem. There is only this one characteristic series. (Here \mathfrak{G}^{p^p} denotes the group of the p^r -th powers and \mathfrak{G}_{p^r} denotes the group of all elements whose p^r -th power is e.)

7. Theorem 2 in § 1 admits the following corollaries: If \mathfrak{P} is a Sylow *p*-group, in \mathfrak{G} , $N_{\mathfrak{B}}$ its normalizer, \mathfrak{N} a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , then

N_B N/R is the normalizer of the Sylow p-group B N/R of G/R;

b) $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is contained in the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ of the Sylow *p*-group $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{N}$ of \mathfrak{N} ;

c) $N_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{G}$; therefore by the Second Isomorphism Theorem $N_{\mathfrak{p}}/N_{\mathfrak{p}} \wedge \mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}.$

(Hint for a): If $x \mathfrak{P} \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{n}^{-1} = \mathfrak{P} \mathfrak{N}$, then by Theorem 3: $x \mathfrak{P} \mathfrak{n}^{-1} = \mathfrak{v} \mathfrak{P} \mathfrak{v}^{-1}$ is solvable for $\mathfrak{vin} \mathfrak{N}$, therefore $\mathfrak{v}^{-1} \mathfrak{x} \in \mathcal{N}_{\mathfrak{P}}$; (for c): for every x in \mathfrak{G} , $x\mathfrak{p} \mathfrak{x}^{-1} = \mathfrak{v} \mathfrak{P} \mathfrak{v}^{-1}$ is solvable for \mathfrak{v} in \mathfrak{R} .)

With the help of c)it should be shown that the $\boldsymbol{\varPhi}$ -subgroup of a finite group is nilpotent.

§ 4. On the Enumeration Theorems of the Theory of p-Groups

In the study of finite groups the question arises naturally as to the number of elements or subgroups with some given property. The results obtained in connection with this question do not lie very deep.

The following systematic derivation of the enumeration theorems in *p*-groups is due to P. Hall.

THEOREM 18 (Counting Principle): Let (9 be a finite *p*-group. \mathfrak{M}_a denotes any subgroup of index p^a which contains $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathfrak{G})$. Let (\mathfrak{K}) be a set of complexes such that each complex \mathfrak{K} in (\mathfrak{K}) is contained in at least one subgroup of index *p*. Let $n(\mathfrak{M}_a)$ be the number of complexes of (\mathfrak{K}) which are contained in \mathfrak{M}_a . Then

$$\begin{split} n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{0}}\right) &- \sum_{\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{0}}\right)} n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{1}}\right) + p \sum_{\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{0}}\right)} n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{2}}\right) - p^{3} \sum_{\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{0}}\right)} n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{3}}\right) + \cdots \\ &+ \left(-1\right)^{a} \ p^{\frac{1}{2} \, a \, (a-1)} \sum_{\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{0}}\right)} n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\mathbf{0}}\right) + \cdots + \left(-1\right)^{d} \ p^{\frac{1}{2} \, d \, (d-1)} \ n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{d}\right) = 0 \ , \end{split}$$

where the summation $\sum_{(\mathfrak{M}_{\alpha})}$ is extended over the $\varphi_{d,\alpha}$ subgroups \mathfrak{M}_{α} of (9. *Proof*: We shall show that the number of times that an element \mathfrak{K}

152

and

§ 4. On the Enumeration Theorems of the Theory of p-Groups

in (\Re) is "counted" with the appropriate sign on the left of the equation above is equal to zero.

The intersection of all \mathfrak{M}_{a} which contain \mathfrak{K} , contains $\mathfrak{O}(\mathfrak{G})$, and therefore is an \mathfrak{M}_{e} . By hypothesis \mathfrak{K} is contained in an \mathfrak{M} , and therefore e > 0. The number of all \mathfrak{M}_{a} 's which contain \mathfrak{K} is equal to the number of all \mathfrak{M}_{a} 's which contain \mathfrak{M}_{e} , i.e., $\varphi_{e,a}$. Therefore the number of times that \mathfrak{K} is "counted" is

$$\frac{1-\varphi_{\varrho,1}+p\,\varphi_{\varrho,2}-p^{\mathfrak{s}}\varphi_{\varrho,3}+\cdots}{+(-1)^{\alpha}\,p^{\frac{1}{2}\,\mathfrak{s}\,(\alpha-1)}\varphi_{\varrho,\,\alpha}+\cdots+(-1)^{\varrho}\,p^{\frac{1}{2}\,\varrho\,(\varrho-1)}}.$$

But this number is zero, by § 3, Formula 5, Q.E.D.

THEOREM 19: The number of subgroups of fixed order $p^m (0 \le m \le n)$ of a p-group (5) of order p^n leaves 1 as a remainder when divided by p.

Proof: If n = 0, then the theorem is clear. Now let n > 0 and assume that the theorem is proven for p-groups whose order is less than p^n . If m = n then the theorem is trivial. Let m < n. For Theorem 19, let (\mathfrak{K}) denote the set of all subgroups of \mathfrak{G} of order p^m . Then:

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_0) = \sum_{\mathfrak{M}_1} n(\mathfrak{M}_1)(p),$$

and by the induction hypothesis

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_1)\equiv 1(p);$$

moreover the number of all \mathfrak{M}_1 is $\varphi_d, _{d-1}$, and therefore by § 3 congruent to 1 mod p, so that

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_0) \equiv 1(p)$$

follows, Q.E.D.

THEOREM 20 (Kulakoff): In a non-cyclic p-group of odd order p^u , the number of subgroups of order $p^m (0 < m < n)$ is congruent to 1 + pmodulo p^2 .

In the non-cyclic group of order p^2 there are p+1 subgroups of order p. We apply induction on n and assume n > 2.

The number of all \mathfrak{M}_i is $\varphi_{d, d-1}$, and therefore, since d > 1, is congruent to $1+p \mod p^2$. Let m < n-1, (\mathfrak{R}) be the set of all subgroups of order p^m . By the Counting Principle it follows that

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_0) \equiv \sum_{\mathfrak{M}_1} n(\mathfrak{M}_1) - p \sum n(\mathfrak{M}_2).$$

153

IV. Sylow p-Groups and p-Groups

By Theorem 19

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_2) \equiv 1(p)$$

and by § 3, 2., the number of all \mathfrak{M}_2 (namely $\varphi_{d,d-2}$) is congruent to 1 mod p. Consequently

$$n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{0}\right) = \sum_{\mathfrak{M}_{1}} n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{1}\right) - p\left(p^{2}\right).$$

For the non-cyclic $\mathfrak{M}_{1,n}(\mathfrak{M}_{1}) \equiv 1 + p(p^2)$ by the induction hypothesis. As was shown, the number of all \mathfrak{M}_{1} is congruent to $1 + p(p^{2})$. If there is no cyclic subgroup of index p in \mathfrak{G} , then

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{M}_1} n \, (\mathfrak{M}_1) \equiv (1+p)^2 - p \; (\mathrm{mod} \; p) \equiv 1 + p \; (\mathrm{mod} \; p^2).$$

If \mathfrak{G} contains a cyclic subgroup of index p, then the theorem follows from the solution of Exercise 2a at the end of § 3.

THEOREM 21 (Miller): In a non-cyclic group of odd order p^n , the number of cuclic subgroups of order p^m (1 < m < n) is divisible by p.

Proof: If \mathfrak{G} contains a cyclic subgroup of index p, then the theorem follows from the solution of Exercise 2b at the end of § 3. To continue, let every subgroup of index p in 6 be non-cyclic, m < n-1 and assume the proof has been carried out already for smaller n. Let (\Re) be the set of cyclic subgroups of order p^m . We find the congruence:

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_0) = \sum_{\mathfrak{M}_1} n(\mathfrak{M}_1)(p).$$

By the induction hypothesis each of the numbers $n(\mathfrak{M}_{\cdot})$ is divisible by p, and therefore the desired number $n(\mathfrak{M}_{0})$ is also.

THEOREM 22 (Hall): The number of subgroups of index p^{α} in (9) $(0 \le \alpha \le d)$ is congruent to $\varphi_{d,d} \pmod{p^{d-\alpha+1}}$. The number of those subgroups which do not contain $\Phi(\mathfrak{G})$ is consequently divisible by $p^{d-\alpha+1}$.

Proof: If d = n, then the number in question is already known to be $\varphi_{d,\alpha}$. Let n > 1 and let the theorem be proved for smaller n. If $\alpha = 0$, then the theorem is clearly true. Let $\alpha > 0$, then $n(\mathfrak{M}_{\alpha})$ is equal to the number of all subgroups of index $p^{\alpha-\beta}$ in \mathfrak{M}_{β} . Therefore $n(\mathfrak{M}_{\beta})=0$ if $\beta > \alpha$; but otherwise by the induction hypothesis

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_{\beta}) \equiv \varphi_{d(\mathfrak{M}_{\beta}), \alpha-\beta} \left(p^{d(\mathfrak{M}_{\beta}) - (\alpha-\beta) + 1} \right).$$

Since $d(\mathfrak{M}_{s}) \geq d - \beta$ and therefore by § 3

$$\begin{array}{l} \varphi_{d}(\mathfrak{M}_{\beta}), \alpha-\beta \equiv \varphi_{d-\beta, \alpha-\beta} \left(p^{(d-\beta)-(\alpha-\beta)+1} \right), \\ \text{have} \qquad n\left(\mathfrak{M}_{\beta}\right) \equiv \varphi_{d-\beta, \alpha-\beta} \left(p^{d-\alpha+1} \right). \end{array}$$

wel

The Counting Principle now gives the congruence

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_{0}) \equiv \varphi_{d,1}\varphi_{d-1,a-1} - p \varphi_{d,2}\varphi_{d-2,a-2} + \cdots + (-1)^{a-1}p^{\frac{1}{2}a(a-1)}\varphi_{d,a}\varphi_{d-a,0}(p^{d-a+1}).$$

But by the Counting Principle, the right side of the congruence is exactly the number of subgroups of index p^a in an elementary abelian group of order p^d , so that

$$n(\mathfrak{M}_0) \equiv \varphi_{d,\alpha} \left(p^{d-\alpha+1} \right) , \qquad \text{Q.E.D.}$$

Exercise (Kulakoff): In a non-cyclic *p*-group of odd order p^n , the number of solutions of $x^{p^m} = e(0 < m < n)$ is divisible by p^{m+1} .

Exercise: The number of normal subgroups of order p^m in a group of order $p^n (0 < m < n)$ is congruent to 1 (mod p).

If p is odd, 1 < m, and (6) is non-cyclic then, more precisely, the number is congruent to $1 + p \pmod{p^2}$.

§ 5. On the Descending Central Series

P. Hall has generalized the concept of a terminating ascending central series by defining:

A chain of normal subgroups of (8

(1)
$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{N}_1 \geq \mathfrak{N}_2 \geq \mathfrak{N}_3 \geq \cdots \geq \mathfrak{N}_{r+1} = \epsilon$$

is called a *central chain* if \Re_i/\Re_{i+1} is contained in the center of (\Re/\Re_{i+1}) $(i=1,2,\ldots,r)$.

$$\mathfrak{G}=\mathfrak{N}_1 \geq \mathfrak{N}_2 \geq \cdots \geq \mathfrak{N}_{r+1}=e$$

is said to be a central chain if the mutual commutator group $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{R}_i)$ is contained in \mathfrak{R}_{i+1} $(i=1, \ldots, r)$. Since for every x_i in \mathfrak{R}_i , x in \mathfrak{G} : $xx_ix^{-1}x_i^{-1} = e(\mathfrak{R}_{i+1})$, and thus certainly $xx_ix^{-1} \in \mathfrak{R}_i$, it follows that \mathfrak{R}_i is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} and that $\mathfrak{R}_i/\mathfrak{R}_{i+1}$ is contained in the center of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}_{i+1}$. The converse is clear. \mathfrak{R}_{r+1} , is contained in \mathfrak{z}_i : if it has already been shown that \mathfrak{R}_{r+1-i} is in \mathfrak{z}_i where i < r, then

$$(\emptyset, \mathfrak{N}_{r-i}) \leq \mathfrak{N}_{r+1-i} \leq \mathfrak{z}_i,$$

 $\Re_{r+1-i} \leq \mathfrak{z}_i$

and therefore $\mathfrak{N}_{r-i} \subseteq \mathfrak{z}_{i+1}$. Hence

(2)

Consequently
$$z_r = \mathfrak{G}$$
.

 $(i = 0, 1, 2, \dots, r).$

If a group has a central chain, then it is nilpotent and the length of every central chain is at least equal to the class of the group.

Now it is natural to define the descending central series for an arbitrary group (4) as $3_1 \ge 3_2 \ge 3_3 \ldots$, where $3_1(4) = 3_1 = 4$,

 $\mathfrak{Z}_2(\mathfrak{G}) = \mathfrak{Z}_2 = (\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{G}) = \mathfrak{G}', \ldots, \mathfrak{Z}_{n+1}(\mathfrak{G}) = \mathfrak{Z}_{n+1} = (\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{Z}_n) \ldots$

If \mathfrak{G} has a central chain (1) then it follows by induction that: $\mathfrak{g}_1 \leq \mathfrak{R}_1, \mathfrak{g}_2 \leq \mathfrak{R}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{g}_{r+1} \leq \mathfrak{R}_{r+1}$, and therefore $\mathfrak{g}_{r+1} = e$. If, conversely, the descending central series is equal to e from the (r+1)-th place on, then $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{g}_1 \geq \mathfrak{g}_2 \geq \cdots \geq \mathfrak{g}_{r+1} = e$ is a central chain. If e is the class of \mathfrak{G} , then $r \geq c, \mathfrak{g}_t \leq \mathfrak{g}_{e+1-\epsilon}$, and therefore $\mathfrak{g}_e \neq e, \mathfrak{g}_{e+1} = e$.

In a nilpotent group, the class c can be found from the relation:

$$(3) \qquad \qquad \mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{Z}_1 > \mathfrak{Z}_2 > \cdots > \mathfrak{Z}_{e+1} = e$$

By Chapter II, § 6, \mathfrak{Z}_i is a commutator form of \mathfrak{G} of weight¹ *i* and of degree 1 and is generated by the higher commutators (G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_i) where $G_i \in \mathfrak{G}$. Therefore \mathfrak{Z}_i is a fully invariant subgroup of \mathfrak{G} .

For every subgroup U of G it follows that

$$\mathfrak{Z}_{i}(\mathfrak{U}) \subseteq \mathfrak{Z}_{i}(\mathfrak{G}).$$

If R is a normal subgroup of (8, then

$$\mathfrak{Z}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}) = \mathfrak{Z}_{\mathfrak{f}}(\mathfrak{G})\mathfrak{R}/\mathfrak{R}.$$

It follows from this that:

Every subgroup and every factor group of a nilpotent group is itself nilpotent, and the class of the subgroup or factor group is at most equal to the class of the whole group.

We wish to state something about the positional relationships, and the mutual commutator groups, of members of the descending central series and of an arbitrary central chain.

If $\Re_1 \geq \Re_2 \geq \Re_3 \ldots$ is a sequence of subgroups of an arbitrary group \mathfrak{G} , so that $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{R}_i) \leq \mathfrak{R}_{i+1}$ $(j = 1, 2, \ldots)$, it follows immediately that \Re_i is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . If moreover $\mathfrak{F}_i \leq \mathfrak{R}_i$, then it follows by induction that $\mathfrak{F}_{i+k} \leq \mathfrak{R}_{i+k}$ $(k = 0, 1, 2, \ldots)$. In nilpotent groups of class c we can conclude from this that:

(4) \mathfrak{Z}_i is not contained in \mathfrak{Z}_{e-i} (since otherwise we would have $\mathfrak{Z}_e = e$).

¹ B_i is also called the *i*-th Reidemeister commutator group.

Now we claim that in the general case

$$(5) \qquad (\mathfrak{Z}_{i},\mathfrak{N}_{j}) \leq \mathfrak{N}_{i+j}.$$

We carry out the proof by induction on i. By hypothesis

$$(\mathfrak{Z}_1,\mathfrak{N}_j)=(\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{N}_j)\subseteq\mathfrak{N}_{j+1}$$

Let i > 1 and assume we have already proven that $(\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1}, \mathfrak{N}_k) \subseteq \mathfrak{N}_{i+k-1}$ for all k.

Then by II. Theorem 14:

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathfrak{Z}_{i},\mathfrak{R}_{j}) &= (\mathfrak{R}_{j},\mathfrak{Z}_{i}) = (\mathfrak{R}_{j},(\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1})) \\ &= (\mathfrak{R}_{j},\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1}) \leq (\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},\mathfrak{R}_{j}) \cdot (\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},\mathfrak{R}_{j},\mathfrak{G}) \end{aligned}$$

and by the induction hypothesis:

$$(\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},\mathfrak{R}_{j}) = (\mathfrak{G},(\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},\mathfrak{R}_{j})) \leq (\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{R}_{i+j-1}) \leq \mathfrak{R}_{i+j}$$
$$(\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},\mathfrak{R}_{j},\mathfrak{G}) = (\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},(\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{R}_{j})) \leq (\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1},\mathfrak{R}_{j+1}) \leq \mathfrak{R}_{i+j}.$$

Therefore

$$(\mathfrak{Z}_i,\mathfrak{R}_j) \leq \mathfrak{R}_{i+j}.$$

If we set

$$\mathfrak{N}_1 = \mathfrak{Z}_1, \ \mathfrak{N}_2 = \mathfrak{Z}_2, \ldots, \ \mathfrak{N}_j = \mathfrak{Z}_j, \ldots$$

. then

$$(6) \qquad (\mathfrak{Z}_{i},\mathfrak{Z}_{j}) \leq \mathfrak{Z}_{i+j}.$$

We can now show by induction on the weight that:

An arbitrary commutator form $f(\mathfrak{G})$ of weight w is contained in \mathfrak{Z}_w .

This is true if w = 1. Now let w > 1, and assume that the statement is already known to be true for commutator forms with weight less than w. We have $f(\mathfrak{G}) = (f_1(\mathfrak{G}), f_2(\mathfrak{G}))$ where the f_i are commutator forms of weight w_i such that $w = w_1 + w_2$. By the induction hypothesis it follows that $f_1(\mathfrak{G}) \leq 3_{w_i}, f_2(\mathfrak{G}) \leq 3_{w_i}$; thus

$$f(\mathfrak{G}) \leq (\mathfrak{Z}_{w_1}, \mathfrak{Z}_{w_2}) \leq \mathfrak{Z}_{w_1+w_2} = \mathfrak{Z}_w.$$

In particular it follows that

- (7) $\mathfrak{Z}_{i}(\mathfrak{Z}_{k}(\mathfrak{G})) \leq \mathfrak{Z}_{ik}(\mathfrak{G}).$
- $D^{k} \mathfrak{G} \leq \mathfrak{Z}_{2^{k}}(\mathfrak{G}).$

A nilpotent group of class c is always k-step metabelian, where k satisfies the inequality

$$(9) 2^{k-1} \le c$$

Moreover if we set $\mathfrak{z}_{-1} = \mathfrak{z}_{-2} = \cdots = e$, then in general

$$(10) \qquad (\mathfrak{Z}_i, \mathfrak{Z}_j) \subseteq \mathfrak{Z}_{j-i}.$$

In particular, \mathcal{B}_i commutes with \mathfrak{z}_i elementwise.

THEOREM 23 (Hall): If the non-abelian normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} of the p-group \mathfrak{G} is contained in \mathfrak{P}_i , then its center is of order at least p^i, \mathfrak{N} itself is at least of order p^{i+2} , its factor commutator group is at least of order p^{i+1} .

Proof: Since \mathfrak{z}_i commutes with \mathfrak{Z}_i elementwise, \mathfrak{N} is not contained in \mathfrak{z}_i . $\mathfrak{N} \land \mathfrak{z}_i$ is in the center of \mathfrak{N} and, by Theorem 14, is at least of order p^i , so that a fortiori the center of \mathfrak{N} is of order divisible by p^i . Since $p^i \mathfrak{N}: \mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{N})$, the order of \mathfrak{N} is divisible by p^{i+2} . Since \mathfrak{N} is not abelian, we can find in the normal subgroup \mathfrak{N}' of \mathfrak{G} a normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} , of \mathfrak{G} with \mathfrak{N} , of index p under \mathfrak{N}' . $\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N}_i$ is a non-abelian normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$, and so we conclude as above that $\mathfrak{N}:\mathfrak{N}_i$ is divisible by p^{i+2} . Consequently $\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N}'$ has an order divisible by p^{i+2} .

Now if in a *p*-group of order p^* , $D^t \otimes \supset D^{i+1} \otimes \supset e$, then $D^t \otimes \subseteq \mathfrak{Z}_{\mathfrak{s}^i}$ and therefore as was just shown, $D^t \otimes : D^{i+1} \otimes \supseteq p^{2^{i+1}}$. If \mathfrak{S} is now (k+1)-step metabelian, then

$$n \ge 1 + \sum_{0}^{k-1} (2^i + 1) = 2^k + k.$$

The order of a (k+1)-step metabelian p-group is divisible by $p^{2^{k+k}}$.

Remark: Under the hypothesis of Theorem 23 it can be shown by the same methods that the factor groups of the ascending and descending central series of the normal subgroup \Re have an order divisible by p^i , with the possible exception of the last factors different from 1. The proof is left to the reader.

Exercises

1. In a finite group \mathfrak{G} the intersection of all the normal subgroups whose factor group is an abelian *p*-group is called the *p*-commutator group of \mathfrak{G} and is denoted by $\mathfrak{G}'(p)$.

Prove: The p-factor commutator group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}'(p)$ is an abelian p-group. Moreover, the commutator group of \mathfrak{G} is the intersection of the p-commutator groups, and the factor commutator group is isomorphic to the direct product of the p-factor commutator groups. Moreover, $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}'(p) \simeq S_d S_q \wedge \mathfrak{G}'$. 2. For an arbitrary group \mathfrak{G} , the class may be defined by the following property: Let the class be equal to c, if \mathfrak{B}_{t+1} is a proper subgroup \mathfrak{B}_t and $\mathfrak{B}_{t+1} = \mathfrak{B}_{t+1} = \cdots$ Let the class be equal to zero, if the group coincides with its commutator group.¹ Let the class be infinite if \mathfrak{B}_{t+1} is a proper subgroup of \mathfrak{B}_t for all *i*.

For nilpotent groups the two definitions of class coincide.

Prove: If the class c is finite then β_{e+1} is the intersection of all normal subgroups with nilpotent factor group, and the factor group $\emptyset|_{2e+1}$ is also nilpotent. Hence we shall call the factor group $\emptyset|_{2e+1}$ the maximal nilpotent factor group. Its class is c. The class of every factor group is at most c.

If the class is infinite, then there are factor groups of any given class.

3. In finite groups of class c we can obtain β_{c+1} in the following way:

For every prime number p we form the intersection $\mathfrak{D}_{p}(\mathfrak{G})$ of all normal subgroups of p-power index.

Prove: $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ itself is of *p*-power index. Hence we shall call the factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ the maximal *p*-factor group of \mathfrak{G} .

Prove: S_{n+1} is the intersection of all \mathfrak{D}_p , and the maximal nilpotent factor group is isomorphic to the direct product of the maximal *p*-factor groups over all prime divisors of the group order.

4. If p^a is divisible by the exponent of the maximal p-factor group of the finite group Ø (see Exercise 3), then the subgroup generated by all p^a-th powers is equal to D_a. Therefore D_a is a fully invariant subgroup of Ø. Moreover, prove that

$$\mathfrak{D}_{p}(\mathfrak{D}_{p}(\mathfrak{G})) = \mathfrak{D}_{p}(\mathfrak{G}).$$

5. a) An abelian group with a finite number of generators is finite if and only if the factor group over its Φ -subgroup is finite.

b) A nilpotent group with a finite number of generators is finite if and only if the factor group over its Ø-subgroup is finite. [Use a) and apply induction to the length of the descending central series]

6. In a nilpotent group all the elements of finite order form a fully invariant subgroup. (Use Exercise 5.)

7. a) (Hilton.) In a nilpotent group any two elements with relatively prime orders commute.

(*Hint*: Show that the commutator of the two elements is in members of the descending central series with arbitrarily great subscript.)

b) Two elements with p-power order generate a p-group.

c) Prove the following generalization of Theorem 11: A nilpotent group in which every element is of finite order is the direct product of nilpotent groups in which every element is of prime power order.

§ 6. Hamiltonian Groups

In an abelian group every subgroup is a normal subgroup. What other groups also have this property?

DEFINITION: A non-abelian group in which every subgroup is a

¹ These groups are also said to be perfect groups.

normal subgroup is said to be a *Hamiltonian group*. For example, the quaternion group is a Hamiltonian group.

THEOREM: A Hamiltonian group is the direct product of a quaternion group with an abelian group in which every element is of odd order and an abelian group of exponent 2, and conversely.

Proof: In a Hamiltonian group \mathfrak{H} there are two elements A, B which do not commute with each other. Since (A) and (B) are normal subgroups of \mathfrak{H} , the commutator $C = (A, B) = ABA^{-1}B^{-1}$ of A and B is contained in the intersection of (A) and (B), and therefore in the center of the subgroup $\mathfrak{D} = \{A, B\}$ generated by A and B.

The commutator group $\hat{\Omega}'$ of $\hat{\Omega}$ is generated by C and is a proper subgroup of (A) and likewise of (B). Since $(C) \neq e, C = A^r = B^s$ where $r, s \neq 0$. By Chapter II § 6, $(A, B)^s = (A, B^s)$, and therefore $C^s = e$. Consequently A and B have finite orders m and n respectively. We choose A and B so that m and n are minimal. Then it follows for a prime divisor p of m that

 $(A^{\mathfrak{p}}, B) = e$ and therefore $C^{\mathfrak{p}} = (A, B)^{\mathfrak{p}} = (A^{\mathfrak{p}}, B) = e$.

Similarly it follows for a prime divisor p of n that $C^p = e$. The orders of A, B are consequently powers of the same natural prime p; they are divisible by p^z since (C) is a proper subgroup of both (A) and (B), while A^y , B^p are contained in the center of \mathfrak{Q} .

If, say $A^{p^a} = C^{\flat}$, $B^{pb} = C^{\mu}$, where \imath , μ are not divisible by p, then we replace A by A^{μ} , B by B^{\flat} , and we may assume that

 $A^{p^a} = B^{pb} = (A, B) = C \neq e$

where $a \ge b > 0$.

By chapter II § 6, in \mathfrak{O} we have the relation

 $(x y)^{p} = (x, y)^{-\frac{1}{2}p(p-1)} x^{p} y^{p}.$

Now A, $A^{-p^{a-b}}B$ also generate Ω , and therefore $B_1 = A^{-p^{a-b}}B$ must be of order at least equal to that of B. From this we conclude:

$$B_1^p = C^{p^{a-b+1}} A^{-p^{a-b+1}} B$$
$$B_1^{p^b} = C^{p^{a} \cdot \frac{p-1}{2}},$$
$$p = 2, \qquad a = b = 1.$$

Therefore Ω is a quaternion group with the relations $A^2 = B^2 = ABA^{\neg}B^{\neg} = C$, $C^2 = e^{1/2}$.

160

¹Instead of this process one can apply Theorem 15 of § 3 to the group \mathfrak{Q} !

We wish to show that \mathfrak{H} is generated by \mathfrak{Q} and the group \mathfrak{B} of all elements of \mathfrak{H} which commute with every element of \mathfrak{Q} .

If the element X does not commute with A, then $XAX^{-} = A^{-1}$ and therefore BX commutes with A. If, now, BX does not commute with B, then ABX commutes with B. Consequently $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{Q}\mathfrak{B}$.

Every element X in \mathfrak{V} is of finite order, since BX does not commute with A, and therefore BX is of finite order. But B is of order 4 and commutes with X, therefore X is of finite order. Now, if $X^i = e, X \in \mathfrak{V}$, then $(A, BX) \neq e, (A, BX) = A^2 = B^2$. Since $(BX)^4 = e$, we have $(A, BX) = (BX)^2 = B^2X^2$ and therefore $X^2 = e$.

In \mathfrak{B} there is no element of order 4 and thus certainly no quaternion group. But since every subgroup in \mathfrak{B} is a normal subgroup, \mathfrak{B} is abelian. \mathfrak{B} is the direct product of the subgroup \mathfrak{U} of all elements of odd order, and the subgroup \mathfrak{G} , of all elements whose square is e. C is contained in \mathfrak{G}_1 . Among all the subgroups of \mathfrak{G}_1 which do not contained in \mathfrak{G}_1 . C must be contained in $\{\mathfrak{G}, \mathbf{X}\}$. Since $X^2 = e$, we have $\{\mathfrak{G}, \mathbf{X}\}: \mathfrak{G} = 2$ and likewise $\{\mathfrak{G}, \mathbf{C}\}: \mathfrak{G} = 2$, and therefore $\{\mathfrak{G}, \mathbf{X}\} = \{\mathfrak{G}, \mathbf{C}\}$; it follows that $\{\mathfrak{G}, \mathbf{C}\} = \mathfrak{G}_1$ and moreover $\mathfrak{G} \land (C) = e$; therefore

$$\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{G} \times (C).$$

Since $\mathfrak{Q} \cap \mathfrak{B} = (C)$, we have $\mathfrak{Q} \cap (\mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{G}) = e$, and moreover $\mathfrak{Q} \cdot (\mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{G}) = \mathfrak{H}$; therefore $\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{Q} \times \mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{G}$.

Conversely a group with this structure is Hamiltonian. For \mathfrak{Q} is not abelian. We have yet to show that every cyclic subgroup (QUG) is a normal subgroup. Since \mathfrak{Q} is the only non-abelian factor of the decomposition we only need show that the transform of QUG by A or B is in (QUG).

Now $A(QUG)A^{-1} = Q^{i}UG$ where *i* is either 1 or 3. The order of *U* is an odd number *d*. Therefore the congruences $r \equiv i$ (4), $r \equiv 1$ (*d*) can be solved, and $G^{r} = G$, $AQUGA^{-1} = (QUG)r$, Q.E.D.

§ 7. Applications of Extension Theory

Let \mathfrak{G} be an extension of the normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} with the factor group \mathfrak{F} .

We say a factor system $(C_{\sigma,i})$ is an abelian factor system if all the $C_{\sigma,i}$ commute with each other.

THEOREM 24: The $(\mathfrak{F}:1)$ -th power of an abelian factor system is a retracting 'factor system.

.

161

¹ See end of § 6, Chapter III.

Proof: Let $(\mathfrak{F}:1) = n > 0$. We set $a_{\sigma} = \prod_{\varrho} C_{\sigma, \varrho}$ and form the product over ϱ of all the equations $C_{\sigma, \tau} C_{\sigma, \tau, \varrho} = C_{\tau, \varrho}^{\sigma} C_{\sigma, \tau \varrho}$.

Then it follows that $C_{a,\tau}^n = a_{\tau}^a a_a a_{a\tau}^{-1}$, Q.E.D.

THEOREM 25 (Schur): If the order n of the finite factor group \mathfrak{F} is relatively prime to the order m of the finite normal subgroup \mathfrak{A} , then the extension \mathfrak{G} splits over \mathfrak{A} .

Proof: We need only show that (\emptyset contains a subgroup of order *n*.

If m = 1, this is clear. Let m > 1 and assume the statement proven when the order of the normal subgroup is less than m. For a prime divisor p of m, every Sylow p-groups S_p of (\emptyset is contained in \Re . Since there are as many Sylow p-groups in \Re as in $(\emptyset, N_p : \Re \land N_p = n$. Now $N_p \land \Re N_p$ is a normal subgroup of N_p/S_p with index n. By the induction hypothesis there is a subgroup \Re / S_p of order n in N_p/S_p . S_p/z_p is a normal subgroup of \Re / z_p of index n, where z_p is the center of S_p and is different from e. By the induction hypothesis there is a subgroup \Re / z_p of order n in \Re / z_p . Let $C_{a, \epsilon}$ be a factor system of 11 over z_p . Since the order z of z_p is relatively prime to n, we can solve the congruence $nn_t \equiv 1(z)$ and for the factor system $C_{a, \epsilon}$ of 11 over z_p we find that it is the n-th power of the factor system $C_{a, \epsilon}^m$, which is retracting by Theorem 24. Therefore $C_{a, \epsilon}$ tiself splits over z_p , i.e. 11 contains a subgroup of order n, Q.ED.

In what follows, let \mathfrak{F} be a finite group of order n.

THEOREM 26: If $a_{\sigma}a_{\sigma}^{\sigma} = a_{\sigma\tau}$ and the a_{σ} commute with one another, then the equation $a_{\sigma}^{n} = \delta^{1-\sigma}$ is solvable, i.e. the mapping $S_{\sigma} \rightarrow a_{\sigma}^{n}S_{\sigma}$ can be accomplished by transformation with an element δ in \mathfrak{A} .

Proof: Form the product over all equations with fixed σ :

$$a_{\sigma}^{n}\prod_{\tau}a_{\tau}^{\sigma}=\prod_{\tau}a_{\sigma\tau}=\prod_{\tau}a_{\tau}.$$

We set $\delta = \prod a_{\tau}$ and have $a_{\sigma}^{n} \delta^{\sigma} = \delta$, Q.E.D.

It has been conjectured that the following theorem is true in general.

THEOREM 27: If the order n of the finite factor group \mathfrak{F} is relatively prime to the order m of the finite normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} , then two representative groups of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{R} are conjugate in \mathfrak{G} . We shall prove the theorem when one of the following additional conditions holds:

- 1. R is abelian.
- 2. R is solvable.
- 3. F is solvable.

One of the groups $\mathfrak{N}, \mathfrak{F}$ is of odd order, and since it is conjectured that groups of odd order are solvable, it is also expected that the above theorem is true. E. Witt reduced the theorem to the case when \mathfrak{N} is simple and the centralizer of \mathfrak{N} in \mathfrak{G} is *e*. It is believed that the group of outer automorphisms of a finite simple group is solvable, so that we can conjecture the truth of Theorem 27 on this basis also.

Proof of 1: If $\mathfrak{U} = \{S_{\sigma}\}$ is a representative group and $\mathfrak{B} = \{a_{\sigma}S_{\sigma}\}$, a second one, then we have the equations

$$a_{\sigma}a_{\tau}^{\sigma}=a_{\sigma\tau}$$
.

By Theorem 26, $a_{\sigma}^{n} = \delta^{1-\sigma}(\sigma \in \mathfrak{F})$ is solvable. Since by hypothesis the congruence $n \cdot n_{1} \equiv 1(\mathfrak{N}: 1)$ is solvable, $a_{\sigma} = a_{\sigma}^{n} \stackrel{n_{1}}{=} (\delta^{n_{1}})^{1-\sigma}$, Q.E.D.

Proof of 2: If \mathfrak{N} is abelian, then the theorem is true by 1; let \mathfrak{N} be k-step metabelian and assume the theorem has already been proven for $D^{k-1}(\mathfrak{N}) = \epsilon$. Further, let \mathfrak{N} and \mathfrak{N} be two representative groups of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{N} . We apply 1 to $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}'$ and find that $\mathfrak{W}\mathfrak{N}' = (\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}')^z$ with $x \in \mathfrak{N}$ is solvable i.e., $\mathfrak{V}^{z-1}\mathfrak{N}' = \mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}'$. Since $D^{k-1}(\mathfrak{N}') = \epsilon$, then by applying the induction hypothesis to $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}$, it follows that $\mathfrak{W}^{z-1} = \mathfrak{U}$ is also solvable for $y \in \mathfrak{N}$ and therefore $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{U}^{z*}$, with $x y \in \mathfrak{N}$, Q.E.D.

Proof of 3: Let a principal series of $(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R})$ be of length l, and let $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}$ be two representative groups of (\mathfrak{G}) over \mathfrak{R} . Let \mathfrak{u} be a minimal normal subgroup of \mathfrak{U} ; since \mathfrak{U} is solvable, \mathfrak{u} is a *p*-group. \mathfrak{u} is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{R}$ where \mathfrak{b} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{B} .

If l = 1, then u = u, $v = \mathfrak{B}$. Then \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{B} are Sylow *p*-groups of \mathfrak{G} , therefore conjugate in \mathfrak{G} . Let l > 1, and assume that the theorem has been proven for smaller *l*. By the induction hypothesis there is an *x* in $u\mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{V}\mathfrak{R}$, such that $v = u^{\mathfrak{g}}$. We set $\mathfrak{B}_1 = \mathfrak{B}^{\mathfrak{g}^{-1}}$ and find that $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}_1 \leq N_u$. Since the principal series of $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{u}$ is of length *l*-1, it follows by the induction hypothesis applied to N_u/\mathfrak{u} that there is a $y \in N_u$, such that $\mathfrak{B}_1 = \mathfrak{U}^{\mathfrak{g}}$, and therefore $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{U}^{\mathfrak{g} \mathfrak{g}}$, $\mathfrak{Q} \in \mathbb{D}$.

Exercises

In a finite solvable group, certain generalized Sylow theorems are valid (Hall):

1. For every decomposition N=n.m of the group order into a product of relatively prime factors, there is a subgroup of order m and index n.

2. Let n and m be chosen as in Exercise 1. All subgroups whose order is a divisor of m lie in a subgroup of order m.

3. Let m be as in Exercise 1. All subgroups of order m are conjugate. The normalizer of a subgroup of order m is its own normalizer.

(Proofs of 1-3 by induction on the length of the principal series and by use of Theorems 25, 27.)

V. TRANSFERS INTO A SUBGROUP

§ 1. Monomial Representations and Transfers into a Subgroup

We wish to represent the elements of a group \mathfrak{G} as permutations on a set whose objects admit multiplication by the elements of a second group \mathfrak{H} .

DEFINITION: A set \mathfrak{M} of elements u, v, \ldots is called an $(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{G})$ -system if for every pair u, G (or H, u) the product uG (or Hu) is defined uniquely as an element of \mathfrak{M} , and if moreover for all u in \mathfrak{M} :

$$(1) u(GG') = (uG)G',$$

$$(HH')u = H(H'u),$$

 $ue_{\mathfrak{G}} = e_{\mathfrak{H}}u = u,$

 $ue_{\mathfrak{G}} = e_{\mathfrak{H}}u = u$

$$H(uG) = (Hu)G.$$

By (1), the correspondence $G \to \pi_G = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ u & G^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ gives a representation of \mathfrak{G} in single-valued mappings of \mathfrak{M} onto itself. Since $\pi_s = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ u \\ e \end{pmatrix} = \underline{1}$, the π_G form a group $\Delta_{\mathfrak{G}}$ of permutations of \mathfrak{M} . We shall assume in addition that $\Delta_{\mathfrak{G}}$ is transitive.

Example: Let \mathfrak{U} be a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , \mathfrak{u} a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{U} . Then the right cosets of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{u} form a $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{G})$ -system for which $\Delta_{\mathfrak{G}}$ is transitive.

We shall show that all $(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{G})$ -systems with transitive $\Delta_{\mathfrak{G}}$ are of the type described in the preceding example.

First of all, it follows from (1) and (2) that the correspondence

$$H \to \bar{H} = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ H u \end{pmatrix}$$

is a representation of \mathfrak{F} in permutations of the elements of \mathfrak{M} . All these permutations \overline{H} form a group $\overline{\mathfrak{H}}$, and

$$(4) \qquad \qquad \overrightarrow{HH'} = \overrightarrow{H}\overrightarrow{H'}.$$

We now define \overline{H} as an operator on \mathfrak{M} by the equation:

(5)
$$\overline{H}u = Hu$$

§ 1. Monomial Representations and Transfers into a Subgroup

This definition is unambiguous and now \mathfrak{M} is also an $(\overline{\mathfrak{H}}, \mathfrak{G})$ -system. Because of (4) and (5) the questions about $(\overline{\mathfrak{H}}, \mathfrak{G})$ -systems are equivalent to the questions about $(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{G})$ -systems; and so we shall assume that \mathfrak{H} is equal to $\overline{\mathfrak{H}}$, i.e.,

(6)
$$Hu = u$$
 for all u implies $H = e_{a}$. If $Hu_{a} = u_{a}$, then

$$H(u_0G) = (Hu_0)G = u_0G$$

for all G; therefore because of the transitivity of Δ_{α} :

Hu = u

for all u, and so $H = e_{\bar{v}}$.

(7) Every H is indeed determined completely by the way it operates on only one element of \mathfrak{M} .

Let u_0 be a fixed element of \mathfrak{M} . All the elements of \mathfrak{G} which leave u_0 fixed form a subgroup \mathfrak{u} . We now investigate the complex \mathfrak{U} consisting of all the elements U of \mathfrak{G} for which the equation $u_0U = U^*u_0$ is solvable with some $U^* \in \mathfrak{H}_0$.

Because of the transitivity of $\Delta_{\mathbf{g}}$ and because of (7), it follows that the mapping

 $U \rightarrow U^*$

is a single-valued mapping of \mathfrak{U} onto all of \mathfrak{H} . If U and V are contained in \mathfrak{U} , then

$$u_{0}(UV) = (u_{0}U)V = U^{*}u_{0}V = U^{*}V^{*}u_{0},$$

and hence

$$UV \in \mathfrak{U}, (UV)^* = U^*V^*.$$

The mapping of U onto U^* maps \mathfrak{U} homomorphically onto \mathfrak{H} . Precisely the elements of \mathfrak{u} are mapped onto $\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{g}}$. Since \mathfrak{u} and \mathfrak{H} are groups, \mathfrak{U} is a group also. \mathfrak{u} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{U} , and we may, and in fact shall, consider \mathfrak{H} simply as the group of cosets of \mathfrak{U} over \mathfrak{u} .

The mapping

(8) $\overline{u_0 G} = \mathfrak{u} G$

is single-valued, for from

 $u_0G = u_0G'$

it follows that

$$u_0 G G'^{-1} = u_0, \ G G'^{-1} \leq \mathfrak{u},$$
$$\mathfrak{u} G = \mathfrak{u} G',$$

V. Transfers into a Subgroup

and conversely.

Moreover

$$\overline{(u_0G)G'} = \overline{u_0(GG')} = \mathfrak{u}GG' = (\mathfrak{u}G)G' = \overline{u_0G} \cdot G',$$

$$\overline{U^*u_0G} = \overline{u_0UG} = \mathfrak{u}UG = U\mathfrak{u}G = U\overline{\mathfrak{u}_0G} = U^*\overline{u_0G}$$

Therefore, according to (8), the given $(\mathfrak{H}, \mathfrak{G})$ -system \mathfrak{M} with transitive $\Delta_{\mathfrak{g}}$ can be identified with the set of right cosets of \mathfrak{G} over a subgroup \mathfrak{u} , where \mathfrak{u} is a normal subgroup of a subgroup \mathfrak{U} and the factor group $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{u}$ is isomorphic to \mathfrak{H} .

Let $G \to \overline{G}$ be a representative function belonging to the decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathfrak{U}G_i$. If we put $u_i = \mathfrak{u}G_i$, then every coset from \mathfrak{M} has the unique form

$$u = U^* u_i$$
.

Accordingly

 $(9) u_i G = U_{i,G}^* u_{iG}.$

Here the permutation $\binom{i}{iG}$ is determined by the equation

(10) $\mathfrak{U}G_iG = \mathfrak{U}G_{iG}.$

Moreover

(11)
$$U_{i,g}^* = G_i G \overline{G_i G}^{-1} = G_i G \overline{G_{ig}}^{-1},$$

for

$$U_{i,G}^* u_{i,G} = U_{i,G}^* \mathfrak{u} \overline{G_i G} = \mathfrak{u} U_{i,G}^* \overline{G_i G} = \mathfrak{u} G_i G = u_i G$$
.

It is obvious that through (9) a matrix M_{g} having ω rows and ω columns can be associated with each element G of \mathfrak{G} :

(12)
$$M_G = (\delta_{iG,k} U^*_{i,G}).$$

That is, M_G is a matrix with the element $U_{i,G}^*$ in the *i*-th row and *iG*-th column and with zeros elsewhere M_G is a permutation of the u_i with factors from \mathfrak{U}^* (= \mathfrak{H}). From (1) and (3) it now follows that

(13)
$$M_{g} \cdot M_{g'} = M_{gg'},$$

where the product of two matrices is computed in the usual manner. We call the representation (12) of (\mathfrak{G}) in square matrices of degree ω with coefficients zero, or from the group \mathfrak{U}^* , the monomial representation with ω members.

In going over to another system of representatives of right cosets of

166

167

 \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{U} we change to a new "basis" $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\omega}$ of \mathfrak{M} which is connected to the old one by equations of the form

$$(14) v_i = U_i^* u_{\tau_i} ,$$

where $\binom{i}{r_i}$ is a permutation of the numbers 1, 2... ω . If we put down as transformation matrix

$$T = (\delta_{\tau i, k} U_i^*),$$

where U_i^* stands at the intersection of the *i*-th row with the τi -th column and there are zeros everywhere else, then the representation with ω members belonging to the v_i and with matrices M_{α}^* is given by

(15)
$$M_{a}^{*} = T M_{a} T^{-1}$$
.

If we put $\mathfrak{u} = e$, then we obtain the most general monomial representation of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{U} :

(16)
$$G \to M^{\mathrm{u}}_{G} = (\delta_{iG,k} U_{i,G}),$$

from which the representations with arbitrary normal subgroup of u can be obtained by replacing the elements by their cosets.

If \mathfrak{B} is a subgroup of \mathfrak{U} , let $\mathfrak{U} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \mathfrak{B} U_k$ be a right coset decomposition of \mathfrak{U} over \mathfrak{B} . Then $\mathfrak{G} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \mathfrak{B} U_k G_i$ is a right coset decomposition of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{B} , and from equations (10) and (12) it follows that:

(17) $M_{\mathfrak{G}}^{\mathfrak{B}}$ arises from the matrix $M_{\mathfrak{G}}^{\mathfrak{B}}$ upon the replacement of each element U from \mathfrak{U} by the matrix $m_{\mathfrak{U}}^{\mathfrak{B}}$ belonging to the representation of \mathfrak{U} ; over \mathfrak{B} and by replacing each 0 by a *v*-rowed matrix of zero s.

If we replace the normal subgroup u by the commutator group \mathfrak{U}' of \mathfrak{U} , then there corresponds a representation of \mathfrak{G} in matrices whose coefficients are from an abelian group. Through the construction of determinants we arrive at a new representation. We define:

The transfer of the element X from the group \mathfrak{G} into the subgroup \mathfrak{U} is the coset $V_{\mathfrak{G}\to\mathfrak{U}}(X)$ of \mathfrak{U} over its commutator group \mathfrak{U} . If \mathfrak{U} is of finite index n and has the system of left representatives G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_n with the representation function $G \to \overline{G}$ then we define

(18)
$$V_{\emptyset \to \mathfrak{U}}(X) = \mathfrak{U}' \cdot \prod_{1}^{n} G_{i} X \overline{G_{i} X^{-1}}.$$

THEOREM 1: The transfer is independent of the choice of the system of representatives.

Proof: V(X) is (to within sign) the determinant of the representa-

tion matrix M_x^n , having coefficients from $\mathcal{U}\mathcal{U}$ or else 0. By transforming to a new system of left representatives we simply transform M_x by a fixed matrix T. This does not alter the value of the determinant.

THEOREM 2: The transfer of \mathfrak{G} to \mathfrak{U} is a homomorphy of \mathfrak{G} into $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}'$.

Proof: This follows from (13) upon construction of determinants.

The transfer $V_{\mathfrak{G}\to\mathfrak{U}}$ induces an isomorphy between an abelian factor group of \mathfrak{G} and $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}'$. Hence $V_{\mathfrak{G}\to\mathfrak{U}}(\mathfrak{G}') = \mathfrak{U}'$. The subgroup of $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}'$ consisting of all the cosets $V_{\mathfrak{G}\to\mathfrak{U}}(\mathfrak{G})$ is called the *transferred group of* \mathfrak{G} to \mathfrak{U} .

THEOREM 3: For a subgroup & of U with finite index it follows that:

$$V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{B}}(X) = V_{\mathfrak{u} \rightarrow \mathfrak{B}}(V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{u}}(X)).$$

Proof: This follows from (17) upon construction of determinants two times.

Remark: If \mathfrak{G} is a group with given automorphism domain, then the transferred group is an admissible group, for when $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ is a system of left representatives of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{U} , then so is $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}^{\sigma}$ (σ an automorphism of \mathfrak{G}) provided \mathfrak{U} is admissible. In particular the transferred group of a transfer into a normal subgroup is itself normal.

In order to compute the transfer of a given element X, it is useful to choose a particular system of representatives. The permutation $\begin{pmatrix} u_G \\ u_G X \end{pmatrix}$ of the right cosets of (0 over 1) decomposes into r cycles. From the *i*-th cycle we choose a representative uT_i , and the cycle may be written $(uT_i, uT_iX, \ldots, uT_iX^{i_i-1})$. Then for the system of representatives $T_i, T_iX, \ldots, T_iX^{i_i-1}$ $(i=1, 2, \ldots, r)$:

(19)
$$V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{l}}(X) = \mathfrak{U}' \prod_{i=1}^{r} T_i X^{f_i} T_i^{-1},$$

where f_i is the length of the *i*-th cycle, and hence is a divisor of the order of X. Moreover

(20)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} f_{i} = \mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{U}.$$

Exercise: Prove the three theorems on transfers by direct calculation, on the basis of (18) and the rules about representative functions.

168

§ 2. The Theorems of Burnside and Grün

LEMMA: If two complexes \Re , \Re in a Sylow *p*-group \Re of the finite group \mathfrak{G} are normalⁱin \mathfrak{P} and conjugate under \mathfrak{G} , then they are also conjugate under the normalizer $\mathcal{N}_{\mathfrak{R}}$ of \mathfrak{P} .

Proof: The hypothesis says \mathfrak{B} is in the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ of \mathfrak{K} and in the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ of \mathfrak{L} , and that

$$\mathfrak{L} = T\mathfrak{R}T^{-1} = \mathfrak{R}^T$$

is solvable with T in \mathfrak{G} .

From $\mathfrak{P} \subseteq \mathfrak{R}$ and from $N_{\mathfrak{g}} = N_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\mathfrak{r}}$ it follows that: $\mathfrak{P}^{T} \subseteq N_{\mathfrak{g}}$. Since \mathfrak{P} and \mathfrak{P}^{T} are Sylow *p*-groups of \mathfrak{G} in $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$, they are also Sylow *p*-groups of $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$, consequently $\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}^{ST}$ with S in $N_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is solvable by the third Sylow theorem.

Consequently ST is in $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ and $\mathfrak{R}^{ST} = \mathfrak{L}^{S} = \mathfrak{L}, \mathbf{Q.E.D.}$

THEOREM 4 (Burnside): If the Sylow p-group \mathfrak{P} of a finite group \mathfrak{G} is in the center of its normalizer, then \mathfrak{G} contains a normal subgroup with \mathfrak{P} as system of representatives.

Proof: The hypothesis implies that \mathfrak{P} is abelian, so that its commutator subgroup is e. We transfer (\mathfrak{G} into \mathfrak{P} and obtain a normal subgroup \mathfrak{P} of all elements which are transferred to e, and a transfer group $V(\mathfrak{G}) \leq \mathfrak{P}$. If we show that $V(\mathfrak{P}) = \mathfrak{P}$, then $V(\mathfrak{G}) = \mathfrak{P}$, hence $\mathfrak{R}\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{G}$, and $\mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{R} = e$, and the theorem is proven.

For an element X in \mathfrak{B} , by § 1, (19)

$$V(X) = \prod_{i=1}^{r} T_i X^{f_i} T_i^{-1}$$

for certain T_i where $\sum_{i=1}^{i} I_i = \emptyset : \mathfrak{P}$, and every factor of the product is contained in \mathfrak{P} . But the elements X^{I_i} , $T_i X^{I_i} T_i^{-1}$, conjugate under \mathfrak{B} , are normal in the abelian Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} ; therefore by the lemma they are conjugate under $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Therefore by hypothesis they are equal to one another, so that

$$V(X) = \prod_{1}^{r} X^{f_i} = X^{(\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{F})}$$

Since $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{F}$ is relatively prime to the order of the Sylow group \mathfrak{F} , we have $V(\mathfrak{F}) = \mathfrak{F}$, which proves the theorem.

It follows immediately from the Burnside theorem that the order of a finite simple group of composite order is divisible by the cube of its smallest prime factor, or by 12. (See IV, § 3, Exercise 5).

¹ \Re is called normal in \Re , if $x \Re x^{-1} = \Re$ for all x in \Re .

With the transfer of a finite group \mathfrak{G} into a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{F} we associate the normal subgroup \mathfrak{G} , which consists of all the elements of \mathfrak{G} which are transferred to the commutator subgroup \mathfrak{F}' of \mathfrak{F} . $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}$, is isomorphic to the transfer of \mathfrak{G} in \mathfrak{F} , and therefore is an abelian *p*-group. By Chapter IV it follows from this that $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{G})$, and therefore by the second isomorphy theorem, $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}_1 = \mathfrak{F}/\mathfrak{G} \wedge \mathfrak{G}_1$.

Can the p-group $\mathfrak{P}_1 = \mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{G}_1$ also be characterized from within? \mathfrak{P}_1 is defined from above as the group of those elements of \mathfrak{P} whose transfers in \mathfrak{P} are in \mathfrak{P}' . The elements of $\mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{G}'$ are among these elements. In particular, in \mathfrak{P}_1 we have the intersection of \mathfrak{P} with the commutator group $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ of the normalizer $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ of \mathfrak{P}_1 , and the groups $\mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{P}'^T$, where $T \in \mathfrak{G}$. Our question is now answered by the FIRST THEOREM OF GRÜN (THEOREM 5): On transferring a finite group \mathfrak{G} into a Sylow p-group \mathfrak{P}_1 , the transferred group is isomorphic to the factor group of \mathfrak{P} over the normal subgroup

$$(\mathfrak{P} \land N_{\mathfrak{P}}) \cdot \prod_{T \in \mathfrak{G}} \mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{P}'^{T}.$$

Proof: We set $V_{\mathfrak{G} + \mathfrak{P}}(X) = VX$, and $\mathfrak{P}_2 = (\mathfrak{P} \cap N'_{\mathfrak{G}}) \cdot \prod_{T \in \mathfrak{G}} \mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{P}^T$, and then since $\mathfrak{P}_2 \leq \mathfrak{P}_1$ and $V \otimes / \mathfrak{P}' \simeq \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{P}_1$ we must prove that $\mathfrak{P}_2 = \mathfrak{P}_1$.

Assume that $\mathfrak{P}_2 \neq \mathfrak{P}_1$ and then let X be an element of minimal order which is in \mathfrak{P}_1 but not in \mathfrak{P}_2 . We shall be led to a contradiction by showing that $VX \notin \mathfrak{P}_2$, and in fact that $VX \notin \mathfrak{P}_2$.

We anticipate the essential argument by remarking that $X^{p^{t}T} \in \mathfrak{P}$, t > 0 implies $X^{p^{t}T} \in \mathfrak{P}_{2}$, since $VX^{p^{t}T} = VT \cdot VX^{p^{t}} VT^{-1} = VX^{p^{t}} = \mathfrak{P}'$; and therefore $X^{p^{t}T}$ is in \mathfrak{P}_{1} ; and since it is of lower order than X, it is in \mathfrak{P}_{2} .

Under the representation $Y \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{PG} \\ \mathfrak{PG} \\ \mathfrak{PG} \\ \mathcal{P}^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$ of \mathfrak{G} in permutations of the right cosets of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{P} , we also obtain a representation of \mathfrak{P} , and the right cosets of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{P} decompose under \mathfrak{P} into systems \mathfrak{T}_i of transitivity having p^i , right cosets. Under multiplication on the right by X, the cosets from $\mathfrak{T}_i = \mathfrak{T}$ are permuted in certain p^m -member cycles. We look for a coset \mathfrak{PT} from \mathfrak{T} which belongs to a cycle of minimal length p^p ; then all p^i cosets from \mathfrak{T} are of the form \mathfrak{PT}^p with P in \mathfrak{R} .

1. $T \in N_{\mathfrak{P}}$, i.e., $p^{t} > 1$. Then the cosets of a p^{m} -member cycle are: $\mathfrak{P}TP, \mathfrak{P}TPX, \ldots, \mathfrak{P}TPX^{\mathfrak{p}^{m}-1}$, where m, naturally, depends on P, and $\mathfrak{P}TPX^{\mathfrak{p}^{m}} = \mathfrak{P}TP$. If one chooses TPX^{i} as coset representative, then
the product of associated transfer factors satisfies

$$TPX(TPX)^{-1} \cdot TPX^{2}(TPX^{2})^{-1} \dots TPX^{p^{m}}(TP)^{-1} = X^{p^{m}TP} \in \mathfrak{P},$$

and it follows from our determination of T that $\mu \leq m, X^{p^m T} \in \mathfrak{P}$; therefore $X^{p^m TP} \cdot X^{-p^m T} = ((X^{p^m})^{P-1})^T = (P, X^{p^m})^T \in \mathfrak{P}^T$ and by the construction of \mathfrak{P}_2 :

$$X^{p^m TP} \equiv X^{p^m T}(\mathfrak{P}_2).$$

The product of all transfer factors which belong to the right cosets in $\mathfrak{PT}\mathfrak{P}$, is congruent to $X^{p^tT}(\mathfrak{P}_2)$, and therefore, by the remark at the beginning of the proof, is contained in \mathfrak{P}_2 .

2. $T \in N_{\mathfrak{B}}$. Then $\mathfrak{B}TX = \mathfrak{B}X^T \cdot T = \mathfrak{B}T = \mathfrak{B}T\mathfrak{B}$. The corresponding transfer factor is X^T . Since $X^T = \mathfrak{X}(N_{\mathfrak{B}})$, it follows that:

$$X^T \equiv X(\mathfrak{P}_2)$$

by the construction of \mathfrak{P}_2 .

1. and 2. together imply the congruence

$$VX \equiv X^{N_{\mathfrak{P}}:\mathfrak{P}}(\mathfrak{P}_2),$$

and since $N_{\mathfrak{B}}:\mathfrak{P}$ is relatively prime to p, we obtain the contradiction $VX \in \mathfrak{B}_2$, Q.E.D.

COROLLARY to the First Theorem of Grün:

The normal subgroup \mathfrak{G}_1 consisting of all the elements of \mathfrak{G} transferred to \mathfrak{B}' is the *p*-commutator group $\mathfrak{G}'(p)$ of \mathfrak{G}_1 i.e., the group transferred into a Sylow *p*-group is isomorphic to the *p*-factor commutator group.¹

Proof: Since $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}_1$ is an abelian p-group, $\mathfrak{G}'(p)$ is in \mathfrak{G}_1 . Moreover, by what was shown in the previous proof, $\mathfrak{P}_1 = \mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{G}_1 \subseteq \mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{G}'$. On the other hand, \mathfrak{G}' is in \mathfrak{G}_1 ; therefore $\mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{G}' \in \mathfrak{G}'$. By Chapter IV, $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}'(p) = \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{G}'$. From this we conclude

$$(\mathfrak{G}'(p) \simeq \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{P}_1 \simeq \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}_1, \ \mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{G}'(p) = \mathfrak{G}: \mathfrak{G}_1, \ \mathfrak{G}_1 = \mathfrak{G}'(p).$$

DEFINITION: A finite group is said to be *p*-normal if the center of one of its Sylow *p*-groups is the center of every Sylow *p*-group in which it is contained.

For example, a finite group with abelian Sylow *p*-groups is *p*-normal.

SECOND THEOREM OF GRÜN (THEOREM 6): If the finite group (8 is

¹See the definitions in IV, § 5, Exercise 1.

p-normal, then the factor commutator group of \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to the p-factor commutator group of the normalizer of a p-center.

Proof: Let \mathfrak{z} be the center of the Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} ; let \mathfrak{P}_1 be the intersection of \mathfrak{G}' with \mathfrak{P} ; let \mathfrak{P}_2 be the intersection of \mathfrak{P} with the commutator group N_1' of the normalizer N_1 of \mathfrak{z} . By Chapter IV we know that $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}'(p) = \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{P}_1$, $N_2/N_1'(p) = \mathfrak{P}/\mathfrak{P}_2$. Since \mathfrak{P}_2 is contained in \mathfrak{P}_1 , we have to prove that \mathfrak{P}_2 is equal to \mathfrak{P}_1 . By the first Grün theorem

 $\mathfrak{P}_1 = (\mathfrak{P} \land N_{\mathfrak{P}}) \prod_{T \in \mathfrak{G}} \mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{P}'^T$, and therefore we must show:

(a) $\mathfrak{P} \land N'_{\mathfrak{B}} \leq \mathfrak{P}_2$, (b) $\mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{P}'^T \leq \mathfrak{P}_2$ for all T in \mathfrak{G} .

(a) follows from $N_{\mathfrak{B}} \leq N_{\mathfrak{s}}$, $N'_{\mathfrak{B}} \leq N'_{\mathfrak{s}}$.

For the proof of (b) we put $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{P} \land \mathfrak{P}'^T$ and find that $\mathfrak{z} \leq N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, $\mathfrak{z}^T \leq N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, since \mathfrak{z}^T is the center of \mathfrak{P}^T . \mathfrak{z} is in a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{q} of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$, \mathfrak{z}^T is in a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{p} of $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ and by the second Sylow theorem there is an S in $N_{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that $\mathfrak{p}^S = \mathfrak{q}$; therefore \mathfrak{z}^{ST} is contained in \mathfrak{q} , \mathfrak{q} is contained in a Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{D} of (G, and since by hypothesis (G is *p*-normal, both \mathfrak{z} and \mathfrak{z}^{ST} are equal to the center of \mathfrak{D} , and therefore equal to each other. ST is contained in $N_{\mathfrak{z}}$, and $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{D}^S = \mathfrak{P}^S \land \mathfrak{P}^{ST}$, $\mathfrak{D} \leq \mathfrak{P}^{ST} \leq N_{\mathfrak{z}}$, so finally $\mathfrak{D} \leq \mathfrak{P} \land N_{\mathfrak{z}} = \mathfrak{P}_{\mathfrak{z}}$, Q.E.D.

COROLLARY TO THE SECOND THEOREM OF GRÜN: The transfer of a p-normal group into the Sylow p-group \mathfrak{B} is equal to the transfer $V_{N_1 \to \mathfrak{P}}(N_3)$ of the normalizer N_3 of the center $\frac{1}{3}$ of \mathfrak{P} into the Sylow p-group \mathfrak{P} of N_3 .

This is true since by Theorem 3 on transfers, $V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{P}}(\mathfrak{G})$ is contained in $V_{N_{i} \to \mathfrak{R}}(N_{i})$, and by what has just been proven, these are isomorphic.

In order to obtain results about the case where every Sylow p-group is abelian, we prove the

LEMMA: If the index of the finite group \mathfrak{G} over the abelian normal subgroup \mathfrak{A} is relatively prime to the order of \mathfrak{A} , then

 $\mathfrak{A} = (\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{G}') \times (\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G})) \quad \text{and} \quad V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{G}) = \mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G}).$

Proof: Let \mathfrak{G}_1 be the normal subgroup of all elements which are transferred onto e by $V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{M}} = V$. Then $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{G}_1$ is a divisor of $\mathfrak{A}:1$; therefore, applying the hypothesis, $\mathfrak{G}_1:1$ is divisible by $\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}$; consequently $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_1\mathfrak{A}$, i.e., $V\mathfrak{G} = V\mathfrak{A}$.

For an element X in \mathfrak{A} ,

$$VX = \prod_{T(\mathfrak{A})} X^{T} = X^{\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}} \cdot \prod_{T(\mathfrak{A})} X^{T-1} \equiv X^{\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{G}').$$

We show first that $\mathfrak{A} = (\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{G}') \times V\mathfrak{A}$. In fact, $\mathfrak{A} \land \mathfrak{G}' \land V\mathfrak{A} = e$,

since from $X \in \mathfrak{A}$, $VX \in \mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{G}'$, it follows that $X^{\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}} \equiv e(\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{G}')$, and by hypothesis we conclude that $X \equiv e(\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{G}')$; but then VX = e. Moreover $(\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{G}') \cdot V\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{A}$, since $(\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{G}') \cdot V\mathfrak{A}$ contains all the $(\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A})$ -th powers of elements in \mathfrak{A} , and by hypothesis these form all of \mathfrak{A} .

Now we shall show that $V\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G})$, from which, together with what has already been proved, our assertion follows.

Generally speaking, according to the explicit definition of transfer, we have for an element T of the normalizer of the group \mathfrak{A} to which \mathfrak{G} is transferred, $V(TXT^{-1}) = T \cdot VX \cdot T^{-1}$. Also we have $V(TXT^{-1}) =$ $VT \cdot VX \cdot VT^{-1} = VX$, because the transfer is a homomorphism into an abelian group. Hence VX belongs to the center of N_A/\mathfrak{A}' . For an element X in $\mathfrak{g}(\mathfrak{G}) \land \mathfrak{A}$ the transfer is $X^{\mathfrak{G}:\mathfrak{A}}$, and by hypothesis, the transfer into $\mathfrak{g}(\mathfrak{G}) \land \mathfrak{A}$ induces an automorphism; consequently $\mathfrak{g}(\mathfrak{G}) \land \mathfrak{A} = V\mathfrak{G}$ $= V\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{Q} = D$.

THEOREM 7: If a Sylow p-group \mathfrak{P} of the finite group \mathfrak{G} is abelian, then the transfer of \mathfrak{G} into \mathfrak{P} maps the p-factor commutator group of \mathfrak{G} isomorphically onto the intersection of the Sylow p-group with the center of its normalizer.

Proof: Since $\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{P}) = \mathfrak{P}, \mathfrak{G}$ is *p*-normal; therefore by the corollary to the second Grün theorem, $V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{P}}(\mathfrak{G}) = V_{N_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{P}}}(N_{\mathfrak{F}})$ and by our lemma $V_{N_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{F}}}(N_{\mathfrak{F}}) = \mathfrak{z}(N_{\mathfrak{F}}) \land \mathfrak{P}.$

FROBENIUS' THEOREM (THEOREM 8): If the order N of a finite group (9) is relatively prime to

$$k_n = (p^n - 1) (p^{n-1} - 1) \dots (p - 1),$$

where p^* is the order of a Sylow p-group, then the maximal p-factor group¹ of G is isomorphic to every Sylow p-group of G.

Proof: If n = 0, the theorem is clearly true. Let n > 0 and assume the theorem proven for groups whose Sylow *p*-groups are of order less than p^{μ} .

If \mathfrak{G} is not *p*-normal, then, by Chapter IV, Theorem 8, there are in \mathfrak{G} a *p*-group $\mathfrak{D} \neq e$ and an element X such that transforming \mathfrak{D} with X induces an automorphism of order q > 1 relatively prime to *p*. By Chapter IV, *q* is a divisor of $k_{d(\mathfrak{D})}$, even a divisor of k_n since $d(\mathfrak{D}) \leq n$. Since on the other hand *q* is a divisor of *N*, *q*, by hypothesis, must be equal to 1; therefore \mathfrak{G} is *p*-normal.

If \mathfrak{P} is abelian, then \mathfrak{P} is in the center of its normalizer since transforming \mathfrak{P} with an element in $N_{\mathfrak{P}}$ induces an automorphism whose order

¹ Definition see IV, § 5, Exercise 3.

is a divisor of both $k_{d(\mathfrak{g})}$ and N, and therefore is equal to one. Now the assertion follows from Burnside's theorem.

If the center $\frac{1}{3}$ of the Sylow *p*-group \mathfrak{P} is different from \mathfrak{P} , then $\frac{1}{3} \neq e$, and therefore the induction hypothesis is applicable to N_s/\mathfrak{z} . This shows that N_s has a *p*-factor group different from *e*; that the same is true for \mathfrak{G} follows from the second Grün theorem. The maximal *p*-factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{D}_p$ is now different from *e*. If *p* still divides \mathfrak{D}_p : 1, then the induction hypothesis would lead to the contradiction $\mathfrak{D}_p(\mathfrak{D}_p(\mathfrak{G})) \neq \mathfrak{D}_p(\mathfrak{G})$. Threfore *p* is relatively prime to \mathfrak{D}_p : 1, and this means that every Sylow *p*-group of \mathfrak{G} forms a system of representatives of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{D}_p , Q.E.D.

COROLLARIES: 1. The order of a finite simple group of even composite order is divisible by 12, 16 or 56.

2. From the proof of the theorem it follows that the number k_n of the theorem may be replaced by k_p , which is at most as large as k_n , where p^p is the order of the maximal abelian factor group of exponent p among all those which are factor groups of p-groups in (6).

3. If a Sylow p-group of (6) contains a cyclic subgroup of index p, and N is relatively prime to p^2-1 , then the p-factor group of (6) is isomorphic to a Sylow p-group. For, by Chapter IV, § 3, Exercise 1, $D \leq 2$.

Exercise: A simple finite group whose order is odd and smaller than 1000 is of prime order.

§ 3. Groups whose Sylow Groups are all Cyclic

THEOREM 9: In the series of higher commutator groups $(9' \ge 0'' \ge ...)$ of a given group (9), two successive factor groups are cyclic only if the latter one is equal to e.

Proof: It can be assumed that $\mathfrak{G}'/\mathfrak{G}''$ is cyclic, \mathfrak{G}'' is generated by A, and $\mathfrak{G}'''=e$. It will be shown that $\mathfrak{G}''=e$.

The normalizer of \mathfrak{G}'' is \mathfrak{G} . The factor group of \mathfrak{G} over the centralizer N_A of \mathfrak{G}'' is isomorphic to a group of automorphisms of (A), and therefore is abelian. \mathfrak{G}' is in N_A , and since the factor group of \mathfrak{G}' over the normal subgroup \mathfrak{G}'' in the center of \mathfrak{G}' is cyclic, \mathfrak{G}' is abelian, and therefore $\mathfrak{G}'' = e$, Q.E.D.

We make the following definition: A group is said to be *metacyclic* if its commutator group and its factor commutator group are cyclic.

As a consequence of Theorem 9, it no longer makes sense to talk of 3-step metacyclic groups. A cyclic group is metacyclic. **THEOREM 10:** If every Sylow group of a finite group (§ is cyclic, then (§ is solvable.

Proof: If \mathfrak{G} is a p-group then the theorem is clearly true. Let the number r of different prime factors of \mathfrak{G} :1 be greater than 1, and assume that the theorem has been proven for all groups whose order is divisible by at most r-1 different primes. Let p be the smallest prime factor of \mathfrak{G} :1. Since a Sylow p-group is cyclic, the index of its normalizer over its centralizer is a divisor of p-1; therefore by the construction of p, there is a Sylow p-group in the center of its normalizer. By Burnside's theorem \mathfrak{G} contains a normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} with the Sylow p-group as a system of representatives; and we can apply the induction hypothesis to \mathfrak{R} . This shows that \mathfrak{R} is solvable, and therefore \mathfrak{G} is solvable, \mathfrak{Q} .E.D.

THEOREM 11: A finite group of order N containing only cyclic Sylow groups is metacyclic and has two generators A, B with the defining relations:

- a) $A^m = e$, $B^n = e$, $BAB^{-1} = A^r$, and the conditions
- b) 0 < m, mn = N,
- c) $((r-1)\cdot n, m) = 1$,
- d) $r^n \equiv 1(m)$, and conversely.

Proof: The conditions imposed on (% also hold for every subgroup and every factor group of a subgroup. If (% is abelian, then (% is cyclic. It follows from Theorem 9 that (% is metacyclic in any case. Let A be a generating element of the commutator group (%) of order m. Let B(%) be a generating coset of the factor commutator group, of order m. Let B(%) be a generating coset of the factor commutator group, of order m. Iter B(%) be a generating coset of the factor commutator group, of order m. Then $BAB^{-1} = A^r$, $B^*AB^{-n} = A^{n-1} = A^{-n-1}$, and therefore (r-1, m) = 1. Since B^n is a power of $BAB^{-1}A^{-1} = A^{-n-1}$, and therefore (r-1, m) = 1. Since B^n is a power of A which commutes with B, we have $B^n = e$. If a prime p were to divide n and m, then $\left\{B^{\frac{n}{p}}, A^{\frac{m}{p}}\right\}$ would be a non-cyclic subgroup of order p^a and this contradicts the hypothesis; and therefore (n, m) = 1.

Conversely, let (9 be a group with generators A and B which satisfy the defining relations a) and conditions b), c), d). By Hölder's theorem in Chapter III, (9 is of order nm. Since (r-1, m) = 1, (9' = (A). Since (n, m) = 1 and the order N of (9 is nm, then for every Sylow group, there is one conjugate to it in (A) or in (B). Therefore every Sylow group of (9 is cyclic, Q.E.D. V. Transfers into a Subgroup

§ 4. The Principal Ideal Theorem

First we shall present some considerations about operator domains of abelian groups in pursuance of Chapter III. §§ 3 and 5.

Let \mathfrak{F} be a group of automorphisms $U \to U^{\sigma}$ of the abelian group \mathfrak{U} with a finite number of generators. All operators $\sum_{\sigma} c_{\sigma} \sigma$, with rational integral coefficients c_{σ} , only a finite number of which are different from zero, form an operator ring Ω with a unit element \cdot Let \mathfrak{F}_{0} be a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{F} and let $\sigma \to \overline{\sigma}$ be a representation function of \mathfrak{F} over \mathfrak{F}_{0} . Now what does calculation mod \mathfrak{F}_{σ} (i.e., the replacement of σ $\overline{\sigma}$ $\overline{\sigma}$ be are in Ω ? Certain elements in \mathfrak{U} are identified; thus

$$U^{\sigma} \equiv U^{\sigma'}$$
, if $\sigma \equiv \sigma'$ (F₀).

Instead of calculating in \mathfrak{U} , we must now calculate in the factor group of \mathfrak{U} over a subgroup \mathfrak{U}_0 , where \mathfrak{U}_0 must contain at least all $U^{\sigma-\sigma'}$ for $\sigma = \sigma'(\mathfrak{F}_0)$. But all $U^{\sigma-\sigma'}$ with $\sigma = \sigma'(\mathfrak{F}_0)$ generate a subgroup \mathfrak{U}_0 of \mathfrak{U} which is admissible with respect to Ω . The automorphisms $\overline{\sigma}$ of $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}_0$, and the operator ring Ω goes over into an operator ring $\overline{\Omega}$ of $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}_0$.

The order ideal of $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{U}_0$ over $\overline{\Omega}$ is obtained from the order ideal of \mathfrak{U} over Ω by replacing σ by $\overline{\sigma}$ everywhere.

In order to construct the group transferred into the normal subgroup \mathfrak{U} , it suffices to calculate in the factor group over \mathfrak{U}' , since \mathfrak{U}' is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} ; thus we assume that $\mathfrak{U}' = e$.

Let $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{U}$ be isomorphic to the abstract group $\mathfrak{F} = \{1, \sigma, \tau, \ldots\}$ and let (S_{σ}, C_{σ}) be a factor system of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{U} :

$$S_{\sigma}S_{\tau}=C_{\sigma,\tau}S_{\sigma\tau}.$$

Every element S in \mathfrak{G} is uniquely of the form $S = US_r$ with $U \in \mathfrak{U}$; therefore, using the earlier notation, we form

$$\begin{split} V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{u}}\left(U\right) &= \prod_{a} S_{a} U \overline{S_{a} U}^{-1} = \prod_{a} S_{a} U S_{a}^{-1} = U^{\frac{S}{a}}, \\ V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{u}}\left(S_{\tau}\right) &= \prod_{a} S_{a} S_{\tau} \overline{S_{a}} \overline{S_{\tau}}^{-1} = \prod_{a} S_{a} S_{\tau} S_{a} \overline{S_{\tau}}^{-1} = \prod_{a} C_{a,\tau}, \\ V_{\mathfrak{G} \rightarrow \mathfrak{u}}\left(S\right) &= U^{\frac{S}{a}}, \end{split}$$

so that

Let 6 be the splitting group (constructed as in Chap. III, § 9) of 6 over the abelian normal subgroup \mathfrak{U} ; the new normal subgroup $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ is

the direct product of \mathfrak{U} with the infinite cyclic groups (A_a) , $\sigma \neq 1$, and (1) $A_{\pi}^{a} = A_{\pi}^{-1} A_{\sigma\pi} O_{\alpha,\pi}^{-1}$.

For $\vec{0}$ over $\vec{1}$ there is a retracting factor system $(T_{\sigma}, 1)$, where $T_{\sigma} = A_{\sigma}S_{\sigma}$. Therefore

(2)

$$V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{u}}(S) = V_{\overline{\mathfrak{G}} \to \overline{\mathfrak{u}}}(S) = \overline{U}_{s}^{\mathfrak{F}\sigma} \cdot \prod_{1 = \overline{U}_{s}^{\mathfrak{F}\sigma}} \cdot V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{u}}(\mathfrak{G}) \leq \overline{\mathfrak{u}}_{s}^{\mathfrak{F}\sigma} \cdot \mathbb{I}_{s}^{\mathfrak{F}\sigma} \cdot$$

THEOREM 12 (PRINCIPAL IDEAL THEOREM)': The transfer of a group with a finite factor commutator group into its commutator group is equal to the second commutator group provided the second factor commutator group has a finite number of generators.

As before we can assume in the proof that $(\mathfrak{G}'' = e$. Then it remains to show that $V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{G}'}(\mathfrak{G}) = e$.

The following example shows that the assumption about \mathfrak{G}' is necessary:

Let \mathfrak{U} be the group of all numbers $e^{2\pi i r}$ with rational r, and let $\mathfrak{G} = {\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{j}}$ be the extension over \mathfrak{U} of index 2 defined by

$$j^2 = e^{\pi i} = -1$$

Then $\mathfrak{G}' = \mathfrak{U}$ and $\mathfrak{G}'' = e$ but $je^{2\pi i r} j^{-1} = e^{-2\pi i r}$.

 $V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{G}'}(\mathfrak{j}) = -1 + e.$

Instead of the principal ideal theorem, we prove the following slight generalization:

Under the same assumptions, the $(\mathfrak{U}:\mathfrak{G}')$ -th power of the transfer of every element G in \mathfrak{G} into an abelian group \mathfrak{U} lying between \mathfrak{G} and \mathfrak{G}' is equal to e: i.e., $(V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{U}}(\mathfrak{G}))^{\mathfrak{U}:\mathfrak{G}'} = e$.

We set $\mathfrak{G} : \mathfrak{U} = n$, $\mathfrak{U} : \mathfrak{G}' = d$; n and d are different from zero; \mathfrak{U} is an abelian normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . Let $\mathfrak{F}, \overline{\mathfrak{G}}$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ have the same meaning as previously. By (2) it then suffices to prove

$$\overline{\mathfrak{U}}^{d \frac{F}{\sigma} \sigma} = e$$

The automorphisms corresponding to σ generate an operator ring Ω of $\overline{\mathfrak{u}}$, which consists of all $\Theta = \sum_{\sigma} c_{\sigma} \sigma$ with integral rational c_{σ} . $\overline{\mathfrak{u}}$ has an order ideal over Ω , since Θ' has a finite number of generators,

177

¹The Principal Ideal Theorem of class field theory states that every ideal of an algebraic number field is a principal ideal in the absolute class field. The principal ideal theorem can be stated group-theoretically as Theorem 12.

 \mathfrak{U} is finite over \mathfrak{G}' , and $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ has a finite number of generators A_{σ} over \mathfrak{U} , so that $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ has a finite number of generators, hence a finite number of generators over Ω .

If we now show that $d \cdot \sum_{\sigma} \sigma$ generates the order ideal of $\overline{\mathfrak{ll}}$ over Ω , then the theorem is proven. Now let $\Theta = \sum_{\sigma} c_{\sigma} \sigma$ be in the Ω -order ideal of $\overline{\mathfrak{ll}}$. Then taking note of (1) we have:

$$e = A_{\tau}^{\Theta} = A_{\tau}^{\tilde{\sigma}^{c_{0}\sigma}} = \prod_{\sigma} (A_{\tau}^{\circ})^{c_{\sigma}} = \prod_{\sigma} A_{\sigma}^{-c_{\sigma}} A_{\sigma\tau}^{c_{\sigma}} (\mathfrak{U})$$
$$= \prod_{\sigma} A_{\sigma}^{-c_{\sigma}} + c_{\sigma\tau}^{-1} (\mathfrak{U}).$$

Since the A_{σ} form a basis for $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}/\mathfrak{U}$, we must have $c_{\sigma} = c_{\sigma\tau^{-1}}$ for all $\sigma \neq 1$, hence $c_{\sigma} = c_1$ for all σ , whence $\theta = c_1 \cdot \sum \sigma$. Consequently, the order ideal of $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ over Ω is a principal ideal which is generated by $c \cdot \sum_{\sigma} \sigma$ with an integral rational $c \geq 0$.

If we replace σ by 1, then, as was pointed out at the beginning of the paragraph, we are calculating in the group $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}/\overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$; for since \mathfrak{G} is generated by the $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ and the T_{σ} , $\overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$ is generated by all the elements $\overline{\mathcal{U}} T_{\sigma} \overline{\mathcal{U}}^{-1} T_{\sigma}^{-1} = \overline{\mathcal{U}}^{1-\sigma}$, i.e. $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}^{1-\sigma} = \overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$. Here Ω goes over into the ring Ω_0 of rational integers. The Ω_0 order ideal of $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}/\overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$ is obtained from the Ω -order ideal of $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}$ by the same substitution; on the other hand, by Chap. III, § 5, it is generated by the group order $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}: \overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$. Therefore

$$\overline{\mathfrak{U}}:\overline{\mathfrak{G}}'=c\cdot(1+1+\cdots+1)=c\,n.$$

In order to show that c = d, we prove the isomorphism

$$\overline{\mathfrak{U}}/\overline{\mathfrak{G}}' \simeq \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}',$$

from which it follows that

$$cn = \overline{\mathfrak{U}} : \overline{\mathfrak{G}}' = \mathfrak{G} : \mathfrak{G}' = dn,$$

$$c = d$$
.

Since \mathfrak{G}' is a normal subgroup of each of the four groups, we may set $\mathfrak{G}' = e$ for the proof of the isomorphy. Since $\mathfrak{g}' = \mathfrak{g}^{1-\sigma}$, $\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{I}$ is generated by \mathfrak{U} and the A_{τ} , and moreover $\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{U}^{1-\sigma} = e$, it now follows by (1) that

$$\overline{\mathfrak{G}}' = \{A_r^{1-\sigma}\} = \{A_r C_{\sigma,r} A_{\sigma,r}^{-1} A_{\sigma}\}.$$

178

Therefore we can choose the elements $A_{\sigma}U$ as representatives of $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}/\overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$. By (1)

$$A_{\sigma}A_{\tau} = A_{\sigma\tau}C_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}A_{\tau}^{1-\sigma} \equiv A_{\sigma\tau}C_{\sigma\tau}^{-1} \ (\overline{\mathfrak{G}}').$$

The abelian group (5 consists of the elements $S_{\sigma}^{-1}U$ with the calculational rule

$$S_{a}^{-1}S_{\tau}^{-1} = S_{a\tau}^{-1}C_{a,\tau}^{-1}.$$

The correspondence $A_a U \to S_a^{-1} U$ therefore gives an isomorphism between $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}/\overline{\mathfrak{G}}'$ and \mathfrak{G} , Q.E.D.

COROLLARY OF THE PRINCIPAL IDEAL THEOREM: In a 2-step metabelian group with a finite number of generators and cyclic factor commutator group of order n, every element whose coset generates the factor commutator group is of order n.

Proof: If S is the element described in the above statement, then $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{G}' = (S\mathfrak{G}')$ and therefore the powers 1, S, ..., S^{n-1} are a system of representatives of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{G}' . Consequently

$$V_{\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{G}'}(S) = \prod_{r=0}^{n-1} S^r S \overline{S^{r+1}}^{-1} = S^n,$$

while on the other hand $V_{a_{1}}(S) = e$.



A-PPENDIX A

FURTHER EXERCISES FOR CHAP. II

(For 10 and 11 consult Exx. 15 and 16 at the end of Chap. I.)

10. Let g be an abstract group with elements a_1, \ldots, x_1, \ldots . Let Σ be a system of groups such that for each member g' of Σ there is a given an isomorphism i(g') between g and g'. Show that the set of all one-to-one correspondences c(g', g'', a) between any g' and any g' which map the element i(g')x of g' onto the element i(g'')ax of g'' is a groupoid $\mathfrak{G}(\Sigma, \mathfrak{g})$.

11. Let \mathfrak{G} be a groupoid. For any two units e, e' linked by x show that ex = x = xe'. Furthermore, show that the mapping of a onto $x^{-1}ax$ is an isomorphism between \mathfrak{g}_e and \mathfrak{g}_e' . Let Σ be the system of the groups $\mathfrak{g}_e, \mathfrak{g}_e', \ldots$ attached to the units e, e', \ldots of \mathfrak{G} . Let \mathfrak{g} be an abstract group mapped by isomorphisms $i(e), i(e'), \ldots$ onto $\mathfrak{g}_e, \mathfrak{g}_e', \ldots$ Show that \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{G}(\Sigma, \mathfrak{g})$.

12. Every homomorphism h of a multiplicative domain \mathfrak{M} into another multiplicative domain defines on \mathfrak{M} the normal multiplicative congruence relation: a R(h) b if and only if ha = hb. Conversely, if R is a normal multiplicative congruence relation on \mathfrak{M} , then the residue classes form a multiplicative domain \mathfrak{M}/R according to the rule of multiplication $a\overline{b} = a\overline{b}$, where \overline{x} denotes the residue class modulo R represented by the element x of \mathfrak{M} . The mapping h that maps x onto \overline{x} is a homomorphism (natural homomorphism) of \mathfrak{M} onto \mathfrak{M}/R which induces on \mathfrak{M} the congruence relation R in the sense defined above. If j is another homomorphism of \mathfrak{M} inducing the normal multiplicative congruence relation R = R(j) on \mathfrak{M} , then j induces the isomorphism between $\mathfrak{M}/R(j)$ and $j(\mathfrak{M})$ which maps \overline{x} onto jx.

13. Show that the intersection of two systems of imprimitivity of a transitive permutation group is itself a system of imprimitivity provided the intersection contains more than one letter.

14. (G. E. Well.) In the ring I_a consisting of the eight residue classes of the rational integers modulo 8 show that the mappings (z, az + b) that map the element z of I_a onto the element az + b (a odd; a, b contained in I_a) form a group \mathfrak{G} of order 32. Show that the mapping of (z, az + b) onto $(z, az + (b + (a^2 - 1)/2))$ is an outer automorphism of \mathfrak{G} that maps each element t of \mathfrak{G} onto z.

15. If a normal subgroup of a group & and its factor group both are solvable, then & is solvable.

16. The product of a solvable normal subgroup of a group G and a solvable subgroup of G is a solvable subgroup of G. (Use Ex. 15.)

. 17. The radical $R(\mathfrak{G})$ of a group \mathfrak{G} is defined as a solvable normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} which is not contained in a larger solvable normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} (maximal solvable normal subgroup). Show that there is at most one radical of \mathfrak{G} and that it is a characteristic subgroup. If the maximal condition is satisfied for the solvable normal subgroups \mathfrak{G} , then \mathfrak{G} has a radical. (Use Ex. 16.)

13 7297 Zassenhaus, Theory of Groups

18. If the group \mathfrak{G} has a radical $R(\mathfrak{G})$, then the radical of each normal subgroup \mathfrak{A} of \mathfrak{G} is equal to the intersection of \mathfrak{R} and the radical of \mathfrak{G} . If \mathfrak{R} is solvable, then $R(\mathfrak{G})\mathfrak{R} = R(\mathfrak{G})/\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{G})$.

19. Each k-step metabelian subgroup of a group \emptyset is contained in a maximal k-step metabelian subgroup of \emptyset , i.e., a k-step metabelian subgroup not contained in a larger k-step metabelian subgroup.

20. If there are maximal solvable subgroups of a group G, then the radical of G is the intersection of the maximal solvable subgroups.

21. If, for a fixed k, every solvable subgroup of a group is at most k-step metabelian, then every solvable subgroup is contained in a maximal solvable subgroup, and \mathfrak{G} has a radical.

22. Show that for any homomorphism h of a group \mathfrak{G} onto a group \mathfrak{H} we have h((a, b)) = (ha, hb) for a, b contained in \mathfrak{G} and that $h(D^r(\mathfrak{G})) = D^r(h(\mathfrak{G}))$ for $r = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$

23. Let S be a semi-group with unit element.

a) The element a is called a left divisor (right divisor) of the element b of \mathfrak{S} if there is an equation b = ax (b = ya), where x and y respectively occur in \mathfrak{S} . Show that this relation is reflexive and transitive.

b) Two elements are called *left equivalent (right equivalent)* if each is a left divisor (right divisor) of the other. Show the normality of this relation. Show that equivalent elements can be substituted in one-sided divisor relations.

c) If a is a left divisor of b, then ca is a left divisor of cb. If a is a right divisor of b, then ad is a right divisor of bd.

d) We say a divides b if there are equations

$$\begin{aligned} a &= a_0 = a_{01}a_{02}, \quad a_1 = a_{01}x_1a_{02} = a_{11}a_{12}, \quad a_2 = a_{11}x_2a_{12} = a_{21}a_{22}, \quad \dots, \\ b &= a_{r+1} = a_{r1}x_{r+1}a_{r2}, \end{aligned}$$

where all factors belong to \mathfrak{S} . Show that the relation *a* divides *b* is reflexive and transitive. If *a* is a left divisor or *s* right divisor of *b*, then *a* divides *b*. If *a* divides *b* and *a'* divides *b'*, then *aa'* divides *bb'*.

e) We say a is equivalent to b if a divides b and b divides a. Show that this equivalence relation is normal. Show that equivalent elements can be substituted in divisor relations.

f) Interpret each of the three relations: a is left divisor of b, a is right divisor of b, a divides b, as ordering relations defining a poset \otimes . Give for a subset s of \otimes the definitions of g. c. (greatest common) left divisor, g. c. right divisor, g. c. divisor of s corresponding to the meet in multiplicative terms. Also, give the definitions of 1. c. (least common) left multiple, 1. c. right multiple, 1. c. multiple of s corresponding to the join in multiplicative terms.

g) An element is called a *unit* if it is both a left divisor and a right divisor of 1. The units form a subgroup $\mathfrak{ll}(\mathfrak{S})$ of \mathfrak{S} .

h) The element n of \mathfrak{S} is called a zero element of \mathfrak{S} if nx = xn = n for every element x of \mathfrak{S} . Show that the divisors of n form a sub-semigroup. Show that there is at most one zero element.

i) The element e is called an *idempotent* if ee = e and if e is not a zero element. An idempotent is a left divisor (right divisor) of the element a if and only if it is a left unit (right unit) of a.

Exercises

j) If there is no idempotent other than 1, then each divisor of 1 is a unit and all the divisors of 1 form a normal divisor $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{S})$ of \mathfrak{S} . Moreover, if \mathfrak{S} is commutative, then congruence modulo U coincides with equivalence as defined under e) for every pair of non-divisors of zero.

k) If S is commutative, then an element is a divisor of 1 if and only if it is a unit.

24. A sub-semigroup of a group is called a halfgroup. Show the following:

a) A finite halfgroup is characterized as a finite semi-group for which the cancellation laws of multiplication are satisfied.

b) An abelian halfgroup is characterized as a semi-group satisfying the commutative and the cancellation laws of multiplication (see § 7, Ex. 4 and also Ex. 25).

c) (O. Ore.) If a semi-group \mathfrak{S} satisfies the cancellation laws of multiplication and also the rule $a \mathfrak{S} = \mathfrak{S} a$ for each a contained in \mathfrak{S} , then it is a halfgroup. (*Hint:* Form the quotient group of \mathfrak{S} consisting of the formal quotients a/b (a, b any two elements in \mathfrak{S}) where a/b = c/d if there are elements e, f such that a = fb, ec = fd, and where $a/b \cdot c/d = e/f$ means that there is an element g such that a/b = e/g, c/d = g/f; show that the mapping of a onto the quotient aa/a gives an isomorphism of \mathfrak{S} into the quotient group.)

d) (Lambek-Mal'cev.) Any halfgroup § satisfies, in addition to the cancellation laws of multiplication, certain polyhedral conditions given by the following construction : A finite system P of v vertices, e edges, and f faces is called an abstract Euclidean polyhedron if 1. every edge is incident with precisely two vertices and with precisely two faces, 2. a vertex is incident with a face if and only if there are precisely two edges incident with both of them, 3. the edges e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_n which are incident with a given vertex (face) form a cycle such that with suitable renumbering e_i and e_{i+1} are incident with the same face (vertex), where n is greater than 1 and $e_{n+1} = e_1$, 4. v + f = e + 2. The subset of P formed by an edge e and the face F incident with e is called the F-side of e. The subset of P formed by the vertex V incident with the face F is called the angle at V on the F-side of a, b where a, b are the two edges incident with both P and F. Assign to each angle and to each side an element of $\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}$ such that the relations xa = yb are satisfied, where x, y are assigned to the two sides of an edge e, say to the F-side and to the G-side, and a, b are assigned to the angles formed at a vertex incident with e and F, G respectively. The polyhedral condition corresponding to Pstates that any one of the finitely many relations xa = yb explained above is a consequence of all the others. (Hint: Apply induction on v; amalgamate adjacent faces.)

e) If a semi-group satisfies the cancellation laws of multiplication and the polyhedral conditions given under d), then it is a halfgroup (see A. Mal'cev, On the embedding of associative systems in groups. Mat. Shornik, Vol. 6 (48) (1939), pp. 331-336; J. Lambek, The immersibility of a semi-group into a group, Canadian Journal of Math., Vol. 3 (1951), pp. 34-433.

f) There are semi-groups satisfying any given finite subsystem of the polyhedral conditions given under d) and also the cancellation laws of multiplication which are not halfgroups (see A. Mal'cev, On the embedding of associative systems in groups II, Mat. Shornik, Vol. 8 (50) (1940), pp. 251-264).

25. An element d of a multiplicative semi-group \mathfrak{S} is called a *denominator* if a) dx = xd for any x contained in \mathfrak{S} , b) dx = dy implies x = y.

a) Assuming denominators exist, show that they form an abelian halfgroup $d(\mathfrak{S})$ (see § 7, Ex. 1).

b) Show that the elements of \mathfrak{S} , and the formal quotients a/d where a is contained in \mathfrak{S} and d is contained in $d(\mathfrak{S})$, together with the symbol 1, form a multiplicative semi-group $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ (called the quotient semi-group of \mathfrak{S}) by introducing the rules: a = b in $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ if a = b in \mathfrak{S} , a = b/d if ad = b, b/d = a if b = ad, a/d = a'/d' if ad' = da', 1 = a if a is unit element of \mathfrak{S} , a = 1 if 1 = a, d/d = 1, 1 = d/d; ab as in \mathfrak{S} , $a \cdot b/d = (ab)/d$, $b/d \cdot a = (ba)/d$, $a/d \cdot a'/d' = (aa')/(dd')$, 1a = a1 = a, $1 \cdot a/d$ $= a/d \cdot 1 = a/d$, $1 \cdot 1 = 1$.

c) Show that \mathfrak{S} is a sub-semigroup of $Q(\mathfrak{S})$. (As regards b) and c), compare § 7, Ex. 2.)

d) Show that the denominators of $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ form an abelian group $dQ(\mathfrak{S})$ with 1 as unit element and that $dQ(\mathfrak{S}) = Qd(\mathfrak{S})$ (see § 7, Ex. 3).

e) Show that $Q(\mathfrak{S}) = \mathfrak{S}$ if and only if $d(\mathfrak{S})$ is a group (see § 7, Ex. 4).

f) Let \mathfrak{X} be a multiplicative semi-group containing a sub-semigroup \mathfrak{S} , where the elements of $d(\mathfrak{S})$ generate a subgroup of \mathfrak{X} whose unit element is the unit element of \mathfrak{X} . Show that there is one and only one homomorphism of $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ into \mathfrak{X} leaving every element of \mathfrak{S} invariant, namely the isomorphism which maps a onto a, a/d onto ad^{-1} , and 1 onto the unity element of \mathfrak{X} .

26. a) Let \mathfrak{S} be an associative semi-ring. Assume that the multiplicative semi-group belonging to \mathfrak{S} contains denominators. Prove that the quotient semi-group of the multiplicative semi-group belonging to \mathfrak{S} forms an associative semi-ring $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ if the addition is defined as follows: a + b as in \mathfrak{S} , a + (b/d) = (ad + b)/d, (b/d) + a = (b + da)/d, (a/d) + (a'/d') = (ad' + a'd)/(da').

b) The semi-ring $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ is called the *quotient semi-ring*. Show that it contains \mathfrak{S} as sub-semiring.

c) If \mathfrak{S} is a ring, show that $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ is a ring. $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ is called the *quotient ring* of \mathfrak{S} .

d) Let \mathfrak{X} be an associative semi-ring containing \mathfrak{S} as sub-semiring, where the elements of $d(\mathfrak{S})$ generate a multiplicative group in \mathfrak{X} whose unit element is also the unit element of \mathfrak{X} . Show that there is one and only one homomorphism of the quotient semi-ring $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ into \mathfrak{X} leaving every element of \mathfrak{S} invariant, namely the isomorphism that maps a onto a and a/d onto ad^{-1} .

27. A subring of a field is called a *half field*. Show that a ring is a half field if and only if the multiplication is commutative and if a product vanishes only if at least one of the factors vanishes. The quotient ring of a half field is a field, which is called the quotient field of the half field. A half field with unit element is called an *integral* domain or domain of integrity. Give examples.

28. A multiplicative domain \mathfrak{M} is called ordered if there is a binary relation a > bon \mathfrak{M} , called the ordering relation on \mathfrak{M} , such that 1. a is not greater than a, 2. if a > b, b > c, then a > c, 3. if a is neither equal to b nor greater than b, then b > a,4. if a > b, then ca > cb and ac > bc. Show the following:

a) The ordered multiplicative domain $\mathfrak M$ satisfies the cancellation laws of multiplication.

b) From a > b, c > d it follows that ac > bd.

c) The binary relation ' $a \ge b$ if b is not greater than a' is both reflexive and transitive. Furthermore, between any two elements a, b of \mathfrak{M} one of the two relations $a \ge b, b \ge a$ holds. If $a \ge b, b \ge a$ thon a = b. If $a \ge b, c \ge d$ then $ac \ge bd$.

d) For an ordered group \emptyset which is not 1, the elements > 1 form a semi-group \emptyset with the following properties: 1. If a, b are contained in \emptyset and a is not a left divisor

Exercises

of b then either a = b or b is a left divisor of a; 2. $a\mathfrak{H} = \mathfrak{H}a$ for every element a of \mathfrak{H} ; 3. a is not left divisor of a; 4. the cancellation laws of multiplication are satisfied in \mathfrak{H} .

e) A semi-group \S with the properties 1.-4. mentioned under d) can be embedded into an ordered group so that \S consists of all the elements > 1. The ordering of the embedding group is uniquely determined (use Ex. 24 c)).

29. A quasi-ring \mathfrak{S} having a binary ordering relation is called an *ordered quasi*ring if its elements under addition form an ordered module and if the elements > 0 (called the *positive elements*) form an ordered semi-group under multiplication. Show that

a) for each element a one, and only one, of the three relations a > 0, a = 0, -a > 0 is true;

b) if the function sign a is defined to be 1, 0, -1 according as a < 0, a = 0, -a > 0, respectively, then sign $(ab) = \text{sign } a \cdot \text{sign } b$;

c) if the absolute value |a| of a is defined as a or -a according as $a \ge 0$ or -a > 0, respectively, then the absolute value also is a multiplicative function: $|a \cdot b| = |a| \cdot |b|$; moreover, the triangle inequality $|a + b| \le |a| + |b|$ holds:

d) the two inequalities a > b, c > d imply the inequality ac + bd > ad + bc;

e) the ordering of an ordered ring can be extended to an ordering of its quotient ring as follows: a > b/c if $ac^2 > bc$, a/b > c if $ab > cb^2$, a/b > c/d if $abd^2 > cdb^2$;

f) that there is only one possible way to extend the ordering of an ordered ring to an ordering of the quotient field.

30. A semi-ring \mathfrak{S} having a binary ordering relation is called *ordered* if its elements under addition form an ordered semi-module and if, further, from a > b, c > d it follows that ac + bd > bc + ad. Show that

a) the ordering of \mathfrak{S} can be extended to an ordering of the difference ring $d(\mathfrak{S})$ by introducing the rules: a > b - c if a + c > b, a - b > c if a > c + b, a - b > c c if a + d > c + b, a > 0 if a + d > c + b, a > 0 > 0 if a + a > a, 0 > a if a > a + a, a - b > 0 if a > b;

b) there is only one possible way of extending the given ordering of \mathfrak{S} to an ordering of the difference ring.

31. Show that the positive elements of an ordered quasi-ring Q form a sub-semiring P having the property that for any element a + 0 one and only one of the two elements a, -a belongs to P. If, conversely, Q is a quasi-ring with a sub-semiring P that has the algebraic property outlined in the previous statement, then Q is ordered by the ordering relation: a > b if a - b belongs to P.

32. Define recursively the powers of a semi-ring S:

 $\mathfrak{S}^1 = \mathfrak{S}, \quad \mathfrak{S}^2 = \mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{S}, \quad \mathfrak{S}^n = \mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{S}^{n-1} + \mathfrak{S}^2\mathfrak{S}^{n-2} + \dots + \mathfrak{S}^{n-1}\mathfrak{S}$

and show that they form two-sided ideals satisfying the rule $\mathfrak{S}^n \mathfrak{S}^m \leq \mathfrak{S}^{n+m}$. If \mathfrak{S} is associative, then $\mathfrak{S}^n \mathfrak{S}^m = \mathfrak{S}^{n+m}$. If \mathfrak{S} is a Lie-ring, then $\mathfrak{S}^{n+1} = \mathfrak{S} \cap \mathfrak{S}^n = \mathfrak{S}^n \cap \mathfrak{S}$ (here the convention regarding the definition of $\mathfrak{m}_1 \mathfrak{m}_2$ as a sub-semimodule if $\mathfrak{m}_1, \mathfrak{m}_2$ are sub-semimodules is to be used).

33. Show that the subsets of a given set S form a commutative ring B(S) if addition and multiplication of the two subsets a, b of S are defined as follows: a + b is the complement of the intersection of a and b relative to the union of a and b; $a \cdot b$ is the intersection of a and b. Show that this ring satisfies the laws of a Boolean ring, namely, the laws of a commutative ring and the laws: aa = a, a + a = 0.

-

34. A mapping a of a multiplicative domain \mathfrak{M} into the multiplicative domain \mathfrak{M} is called an *anti-homomorphism* if a(xy) = a(y)a(x). Show that

a) homomorphisms and anti-homomorphisms combine in a way analogous to that indicated for lattices in § 5;

b) for a group, the mapping that maps each element onto its inverse is an antiautomorphism;

c) the automorphisms and the anti-automorphisms of a multiplicative domain form a group in which the automorphisms form a normal subgroup of index 1 or 2;

d) every multiplicative domain \mathfrak{M} is anti-isomorphic to its *dual domain* $\mathfrak{M}^{(-1)}$, which is defined to be the multiplicative domain that arises from \mathfrak{M} if multiplication is redefined by taking as the new product of the factors a and b, in this order, the old product ba;

e) a multiplicative domain is isomorphic with its dual if and only if it has an antiautomorphism;

f) every group is isomorphic with its dual;

g) the preceding statements remain true for semi-rings if an anti-homomorphism of a semi-ring \mathfrak{S} into a semi-ring \mathfrak{I} is defined to be a mapping a of \mathfrak{S} into \mathfrak{I} satisfying the conditions: a(xy) = a(y)a(x), a(x + y) = a(x) + a(y);

h) every anti-homomorphism a between an associative semi-ring \mathfrak{S} and an associative semi-ring \mathfrak{T} induces the anti-homomorphism between the matrix $n(\mathfrak{S})$ and $M_n(\mathfrak{S})$ which maps the matrix (\mathfrak{S}_{k}) onto the matrix $(\mathfrak{S}_{k}))$;

i) if \mathfrak{S} is a commutative and associative semi-ring, then the correspondence between the matrix (β_{ks}) and its transpose (β_{kl}) , which we denote by $(\beta_{lk})^{\mathsf{T}}$, gives an antiautomorphism of $M_n(\mathfrak{S})$.

35. A derivation of a quasi-ring Q is defined to be a mapping d of Q into Q satisfying the following rules of formal differentiation: d(a + b) = d(a), d(ab) = d(a) b + ad(b). Show that the derivations of Q form a subring D(Q) of the Lie-ring belonging to the operator ring of the additive group of Q. Assign to any element a of L the mapping a of L into L that maps x onto ax, and show that the quasi-ring L is a Liering if and only if the left multiplication a is a derivation mapping a onto 0. Show that the derivations a of a Lie-ring L associated with the elements a of L (inner derivations) form an ideal I(L) of the Lie-ring D(L) of all derivations of L.

36. Let \mathfrak{S} be a ring with unit element. The \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} is said to be *lorgicn-free* if for each denominator d of \mathfrak{S} the equation dx = 0 implies x = 0. Show that the elements of a torsion free \mathfrak{S} -module and the formal quotients u/d, where u belongs to \mathfrak{M} and d is a denominator of \mathfrak{S} , form a torsion-free module over the quotient ring $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ of \mathfrak{S} which contains \mathfrak{M} as submodule, if we define: u = v as in \mathfrak{M} , a = v/dif du = v, v/d = u if du = v, u/d = u'/d' if ud' = u'd; u + v as in \mathfrak{M} , u + (v/d) = $(v/d) + u = (ud + v)/d, (u/d) + (u'/d') = (ud' + u'd)/dd', \beta u$ as in \mathfrak{M} ; $\beta(v/d) = (\beta v)/d$, $(\beta/d) u = (\beta w)/d$, $(\beta/d) (u/d') = (\beta w)/dd'$.

The $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -module just defined is called the *quotient module* of \mathfrak{M} over \mathfrak{S} . Show that the quotient module is generated over $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ by its submodule \mathfrak{M} and thus may be denoted by $Q(\mathfrak{S})\mathfrak{M}$. Every homomorphism over \mathfrak{S} of \mathfrak{M} into a $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -module \mathfrak{M} can be extended in one and only one way to a homomorphism over $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ of the $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ module $Q(\mathfrak{S})\mathfrak{M}$ into the $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -module \mathfrak{R} , viz., the mapping that maps u/d onto $d^{-1}h(u)$.

Exercises

37. Let \mathfrak{S} be a ring with unit element. An \mathfrak{S} -submodule \mathfrak{m} of an \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} is called *primitive in* \mathfrak{M} if the \mathfrak{S} -factor module $\mathfrak{M}/\mathfrak{m}$ is torsion free. Show that

a) all elements with torsion in \mathfrak{M} , i. e., the elements of \mathfrak{M} that are annihilated by some denominator of \mathfrak{S} , form a primitive \mathfrak{S} -submodule $\mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{M})$ of \mathfrak{M} ;

b) the torsion submodule $\mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{M})$ defined under a) is the smallest primitive \mathfrak{S} -submodule of \mathfrak{M} ;

c) the intersection of any system of primitive S-submodules is a primitive S-submodule, and hence for every subset m of S there is precisely one smallest primitive S-submodule m' containing m;

d) if the subset m occurring in c) is an S-submodule, then the S-factor module m'/m is the torsion module of $\mathfrak{M}/m.$

38. Let \mathfrak{S} be a ring with unit element and let \mathfrak{M} be a torsion-free \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring in which du = ud for all denominators d of \mathfrak{S} and all elements u of \mathfrak{M} . Show that the quotient module $Q(\mathfrak{S})\mathfrak{M}$ defined in Ex. 36 becomes a $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -quasi-ring if the following rules of multiplication are introduced:

uv as in \mathfrak{M} , $u \cdot (v/d) = (uv)/d$, (v/d)u = (vu)/d, (u/d)(u'/d') = (uu')/(dd')

(note that we set: $u\beta$ as in \mathfrak{M} , $u(\beta/d) = (u\beta)/d$, $(u/d)\beta = (u\beta)/d$, $(u/d)(\beta/d') = (u\beta)/(dd')$.

Show that the $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -quasi-ring just defined contains \mathfrak{M} as an \mathfrak{S} -subring and that there is no other way to extend the rules of operation from \mathfrak{M} to $Q(\mathfrak{S})\mathfrak{M}$ so as to embed the \mathfrak{S} -ring \mathfrak{M} into an $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -quasi-ring. Thus $Q(\mathfrak{S})\mathfrak{M}$ can rightly be called the $Q(\mathfrak{S})$ -quotient ring of the \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring \mathfrak{M} .

39. Let \mathfrak{S} be a commutative ring with unit element and let \mathfrak{M} be an \mathfrak{S} -quasi-ring without torsion. Prove that all linear transformations of the \mathfrak{S} -module \mathfrak{M} that are derivations of the quasi-ring \mathfrak{M} form an \mathfrak{S} -Lie-ring $L(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{S})$ without torsion such that $Q(\mathfrak{S})L(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{S}) = L(Q(\mathfrak{S})\mathfrak{M}, Q(\mathfrak{S}))$.

APPENDIX B

STRUCTURE THEORY AND DIRECT PRODUCTS

In this appendix, the lattice-theoretical discussion of the ideas of group theory that was begun in Chap. II, § 5 will be continued. It was noted earlier that in a poset formed by subsets of a set the meet operation is not always set-theoretical intersection and the join operation is not always set-theoretical union. In order to emphasize in the ensuing discussions the more abstract role of meet and join, we employ the symbol M for meet and J for join. Thus, we write aMb for the meet of the lattice elements a, b and aJb for their join.

1. Projectivities

The isomorphisms occurring in the lemma on four elements are explicitly defined as products of a projection with an anti-projection. They depend on the way in which the four elements are embedded into the given lattice.

Two factor lattices a/b and c/d are projectively related if there is a chain of factor lattices

(1)
$$a/b = a_0/b_0, \ a_1/b_1, \ \ldots, \ a_{2n}/b_{2n} = c/d$$

connecting a/b and c/d such that

a) b N a, d N c, $b_i N a_i$ (i = 0, 1, 2, ..., 2n) and

b) a_{2i+1}/b_{2i+1} is projective with a_{2i}/b_{2i} and also with a_{2i+2}/b_{2i+2} for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n - 1$.

According to Ex. 18 of Chap. I, 'projectively related' is the normalized relation of 'projective.' Hence the factor lattices of the given lattice Lare distributed among families of projectively related factor lattices in such a way that each factor lattice belongs to one and only one family.

Each chain (1) linking a/b and c/d carries with it the specified isomorphism mapping a/b onto c/d which is induced by the projection of a_0/b_0 onto a_1/b_1 followed by the anti-projection of a_1/b_1 onto a_2/b_2 , etc., ending with the antiprojection of a_{2n-1}/b_{2n-1} onto a_2n/b_2n . We call this isomorphism a projectivity of a/b onto c/d. Since we can reverse a chain and since we can piece together two chains that have the same factor lattices at the ends at which

Projectivities

they are amalgamated, it is clear that all the projectivities linking various members of a family F form a groupoid. The unit elements are the identity automorphisms of the members of F. All the projectivities between a factor lattice a/b and itself form'a group which may be denoted by PP(a/b). If a/b and c/d are projectively related, then PP(a/b) is isomorphic to PP(c/d).

Referring to the lattice $S(\mathfrak{G})$ of all subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} , we may observe that every automorphism $\overline{\alpha}$ of \mathfrak{G} induces an automorphism $\overline{\alpha}$ of $S(\mathfrak{G})$. The correspondence that maps α onto $\overline{\alpha}$ is a homomorphism between the full group $A_{\mathfrak{G}}$ of automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} and a subgroup $PA_{\mathfrak{G}}$ of the group of automorphisms of $S(\mathfrak{G})$.

We indicate by the prefixed letter the transition from any group \mathfrak{X} of automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} to the group $P\mathfrak{X}$ of automorphisms of $S(\mathfrak{G})$ induced by the automorphisms in \mathfrak{X} . All the automorphisms in \mathfrak{X} inducing the identity automorphism of $S(\mathfrak{G})$ form a normal subgroup \mathfrak{X}_p of \mathfrak{X} such that $P\mathfrak{X}$ is isomorphic with $\mathfrak{X}(\mathfrak{X}_p)$.

We have already seen that there is the specified isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{G}}$ of $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ onto $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{C}$ in case $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ is projective with $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{C}$, and furthermore we have seen that $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{A},\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{C}}$ induces the projection between the factor lattices $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ and $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{C}$. Hence for every chain $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{B}_0/\mathfrak{C}_0$, $\mathfrak{B}_1/\mathfrak{C}_1$, \ldots , $\mathfrak{B}_{2n}/\mathfrak{C}_{2n} = \mathfrak{D}/\mathfrak{C}$ linking the two factor lattices $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ and $\mathfrak{D}/\mathfrak{C}$ of the same family of projectively related factor groups in \mathfrak{C} there is the specified isomorphism

$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{B}_{2n},\mathfrak{B}_{2n-1},\mathfrak{G}_{2n-1}}\cdots\varphi_{\mathfrak{B}_{2},\mathfrak{B}_{1},\mathfrak{G}_{1}}\varphi_{\mathfrak{B}_{0},\mathfrak{B}_{1},\mathfrak{G}_{1}}^{-1}$$

between the factor group $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ and $\mathfrak{D}/\mathfrak{C}$, which may be termed a *projectivity* between the factor group $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{C}$ and $\mathfrak{D}/\mathfrak{C}$. Each projectivity between the factor groups induces the corresponding projectivity between the related factor lattices.

Again, it is clear that all the projectivities between any two members of a family of factor groups in a group form a group of. All the projectivities between a factor group \mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C} and itself form a group of automorphisms $P(\mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C})$ of \mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C} . We find that there is a homomorphism between $P(\mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C})$ and $PP(\mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C})$ with its kernel $P(\mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C})_P$ consisting of all the projectivities between \mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C} and itself that leave invariant every subgroup of \mathfrak{B}/\mathbb{C} .

All these considerations remain true if applied to a sublattice of $S(\mathfrak{G})$, e. g., to the sublattice formed by all subgroups of \mathfrak{G} that are admissible with respect to a certain operator domain.

At the end of this chapter we will find an interesting example of projectivities between certain factor groups in an abelian group which exhibits the relationship to fundamental notions of projective geometry.

2. Modular and submodular lattices

DEFINITION: A lattice in which each element is a Dedekind element is called a *modular lattice*. All normal subgroups of a group, for example, form a modular lattice. The modular property amounts to the two identities

(2)
$$((d J x) M c) J d = (d J x) M (c J d)$$

(3)
$$((d \mathsf{M} y) \mathsf{J} c) \mathsf{M} d = (d \mathsf{M} y) \mathsf{J} (c \mathsf{M} d)$$

for any four elements c, d, x, y of the lattice under consideration. Hence the identities are called the *modular law*. Since (3) is the dual of (2), it follows that modularity is a self-dual property. The identities (2) and (3) are not independent. Using only (2) we find

$$\begin{aligned} ((dMy) \mathsf{J}c)\mathsf{M} & d = d\tilde{\mathsf{M}}(c \mathsf{J}(dMy)) = ((dMy) \mathsf{J}d)\mathsf{M}(c \mathsf{J}(dMy)) \\ & = (((dMy) \mathsf{J}d)\mathsf{M}c) \mathsf{J}(dMy) = (dMc) \mathsf{J}(dMy) = (y\mathsf{M}d) \mathsf{J}(c\mathsf{M}d). \end{aligned}$$

Every sublattice of a modular lattice is modular. The Dedekind elements of an arbitrary lattice do not necessarily form a sublattice of the given



lattice (cf. the diagram). Since the join of two Dedekind elements is always a Dedekind element, it follows that in a finite lattice the poset formed by the Dedekind elements is a lattice. But, as the diagram shows, this lattice need not be a sublattice of the given lattice. (Doubly encircled elements are Dedekind elements.)

If the Dedekind elements of a lattice form a sublattice, then they form a modular lattice. This is because the modular law holds as an identity for the sublattice of the Dedekind elements.

DEFINITION: In a lattice L with normality relation, the element a is called *subnormal* if it can be connected with L by a normal chain of finite length. We denote this relation by a NNL and it means that there is a normal chain $a Na_1 Na_n N \cdots Na_{n-1} NL$ between a and L of finite length s.

More generally, we write a NNb if there is a normal chain of finite length s, say $aNa_1Na_3N\cdots Na_s = b$ connecting a with b, where b may either be an element of L or b = L. We say 'a is subnormal under b'. In case Kurosh invariance is the normality relation we speak of subinvariance and subinvariant elements.

As a measure of the degree to which the subnormality cNNb deviates from normality we introduce the number m(b, c), which is defined as the minimum of the lengths of all normal chains connecting c and b. We have m(b, c) = 0 if and only if c = b; m(c, b) = 1 if and only if c Nb and $c \neq b$; m(c, b) > 1 if and only if c NNb and c is not normal in b. For example, the subgroups of a group that occur in normal chains of finite length connecting e and the full group, are the subnormal subgroups of the group.

Concerning subnormality we have the following simple facts:

THEOREM 15: If a is subnormal in the lattice L and if b is subnormal under a, then b is subnormal in L. Also

$$m(b, L) \leq m(b, a) + m(a, L).$$

Proof: Let a N N L, b N N a; then there are normal chains $b N b_1 N b_2 N \cdots N b_{m(a,L)} = a$, $a N a_1 N a_2 N \cdots N a_{m(a,L)} = L$; piecing together the two normal chains, we obtain a normal chain of length m(b, a) + m(a, L) connecting b with L.

THEOREM 16: If c is subnormal in L, then if a is any element of L, aMc is subnormal under a and

$$m(a \operatorname{\mathsf{M}} c, a) \leq m(c, L).$$

Proof: There is a normal chain $c N c_1 N c_2 N \cdots N c_{m(c,L)} = L$, From Rule 4 for normality it follows that $(aMc)N(aMc_1)N \cdots N(aMc_{m(c,L)-1})Na$.

By application of Theorems 15 and 16 we obtain

THEOREM 17: If both a and b are subnormal in L, then aMb is also subnormal in L and we have the inequality

$$m(a \mathsf{M} b, L) \leq m(a, L) + m(b, L).$$

Furthermore, there holds

THEOREM 18: If $b \leq a, b N N L$, then b N N a and

$$m(b,a) \leq m(b,L).$$

COROLLARY: If $b \leq a' \leq a$, $b \in N \setminus a$, then $b \in N \setminus a'$,

$$m(b, a') \le m(b, a).$$

From Theorem 17 it follows that the poset of the subnormal elements of a finite lattice is a lattice; but this lattice need not be a sublattice of the given lattice; the diagram below furnishes a counter-example, if normality is taken as Kurosh invariance. Both a and b are subinvariant, but a J b is not subinvariant.

Even though we cannot always conclude from a NNL, b NNL that (a J b) NNL, at least we have in this direction

THEOREM 19: If a NL, b NNL, then (a J b) NNL and $m(a J b, L) \leq m(b, L)$.

Proof: From Rule 5 of normality it follows that there is the normal chain

$$(a \downarrow b) \land (a \downarrow b_1) \land (a \downarrow b_2) \land \cdots \land (a \downarrow b_{m(b, L)-1}) \land L$$

connecting $a \downarrow b$ with L if there is given the normal chain $b N b_1 N b_2 N \cdots N b_{m(k, kl-1)} N L$ between b and L.

Many normality relations—for example, the normality relation between the subgroups of a group—are complete with respect to the meet operation,



that is, for any set S of elements of L that are normal in a given element a of L, the meet of the elements in S always exists and is normal in a. Assuming completeness of the normality relation as well as the lattice-theoretical completeness of L, we define the *lower normal series* from L to a given

element as follows: Let $S_0(a, L)$ be the all element of L. Assuming that $S_x(a, L)$ is already defined as an element of L containing a, define $S_{x+1}(a, L)$ as the meet of all the elements of L that are normal in $S_x(a, L)$ and contain a. For a limit number v define $S_v(a, L)$ as the meet of all elements $S_x(a, L)$ as the meet of all elements $S_x(a, L)$ with $\pi < v$. Thus, for any ordinal number π the element $S_x(a, L)$ of L is so defined that $S_0(a, L)$ is the all element of L, $S_{x+1}(a, L) NS_x(a, L)$, $a \leq S_x(a, L)$ and $S_v(a, L) = M_{x<S}S_x(a, L)$ for every limit number v. If T_x is another decreasing well-ordered normal chain with the same properties, then we prove by transfinite induction that $S_x(a, L) \leq T_x$ for all ordinal numbers π . There is a first ordinal number m(a, L) for which $S_{m(a,L)} = S_{m(a,L)+1}$. It follows that the decreasing well ordered normal chain $S_x(a, L)$ ($0 \leq \pi \leq m(a, L)$) is properly decreasing and that m(a, L) is the minimal length of any well-ordered properly decreasing normal chain from L to $S_{m(a,L)}$.

The element *a* is subnormal if and only if m(a, L) is finite and $S_{m(a, L)}(a, L) = a$, and in this case m(a, L) is indeed equal to the minimal length of a normal chain from *a* to *L* as is implied by the notation.

At any rate, the meet of all subnormal elements of L containing a coincides with $S_{\omega}(a, L)$, where ω denotes the first infinite ordinal number.

If m(a, L) is finite, then the 'subnormal hull' $\tilde{a} = S_{m(a, L)}(a, L)$ of a is subnormal, and it is characterized as the smallest subnormal element of L containing a.

Any lattice automorphism θ that preserves the normality relation maps $S_{\pi}(a, L)$ onto $S_{\pi}(\theta a, L)$. Hence $m(a, L) = m(\theta a, L)$, and $\overline{\theta(a)} = \theta(\overline{a})$.

Turning our attention to the subgroup lattice $S(\mathfrak{G})$ of a group \mathfrak{G} , we may raise the question of to what extent the subinvariance of a subgroup \mathfrak{U} is determined by the structure of a given normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} and its factor group $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$.

If there is a normal chain $\mathfrak{U} = \mathfrak{U}_0 N \mathfrak{U}_1 N \mathfrak{U}_2 N \cdots N \mathfrak{U}_r = \mathfrak{G}$, then we can form the normal chains

$$\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N} \,\mathsf{N} \,\mathfrak{U}_1\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N} \,\mathsf{N} \cdots \mathsf{N} \,\mathfrak{U}_r\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{U} \,\mathsf{M}\,\mathfrak{N} = (\mathfrak{U}_0 \,\mathsf{M}\,\mathfrak{N}) \,\mathsf{N} \,(\mathfrak{U}_1 \,\mathsf{M}\,\mathfrak{N}) \,\mathsf{N} \,\cdots \,\mathsf{N} \,(\mathfrak{U}_r \,\mathsf{M}\,\mathfrak{N}) = \mathfrak{N}$$

Moreover we have

$$(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{U}_i \mathsf{M}\mathfrak{N}) \leq \mathfrak{U}_{i-1} \mathsf{M}\mathfrak{N} \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \ldots, r,$$

since plainly $(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{N}) \leq \mathfrak{N}$, $(\mathfrak{U},\mathfrak{U}_i) \leq \mathfrak{U}_{i-1}$.

Conversely, assume that there are normal chains $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}/\mathfrak{N} \ N \ \mathfrak{F}_1 \ N \cdots \ N \ \mathfrak{F}_r$ = $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$ in $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$ and $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{B}_0 \ \mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_1 \ N \cdots \ N \ \mathfrak{B}_s = \mathfrak{N}$ in \mathfrak{N} such that $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}_i)$ is contained in \mathfrak{B}_{i-1} for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, s$; then we have the normal chain

 $\mathfrak{U} \mathbb{N} \langle \mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{W}_1 \rangle \mathbb{N} \langle \mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{W}_2 \rangle \mathbb{N} \cdots \mathbb{N} \langle \mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{W}_3 \rangle = \mathfrak{U} \mathfrak{N} \mathbb{N} \mathfrak{V}_1 \mathbb{N} \cdots \mathbb{N} \mathfrak{V}_r = \mathfrak{G},$

where \mathfrak{B}_i is the subgroup of \mathfrak{G} formed by the cosets $\overline{\mathfrak{B}_i}$.

We apply this remark to the case that G is the holomorph of a group \mathfrak{A} of automorphisms of an abelian group \mathfrak{M} . It follows that a subgroup \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{A} is subinvariant in G if and only if

1. Il is subinvariant in A;

2. There is a finite number s such that for any s automorphisms $\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_s$ of \mathfrak{M} contained in \mathfrak{A} we have the equation

$$(\pi_1 - \underline{1})(\pi_2 - \underline{1}) \cdots (\pi_s - \underline{1}) = \underline{0}.^1$$

In Ex. 23 of Appendix D an example will be constructed in which there are two subgroups of \mathfrak{A} both subinvariant in \mathfrak{G} but in which the subgroup generated by them is not subinvariant in \mathfrak{G} . Thus in general the subinvariant subgroups of a group do not form a sublattice of $\mathcal{S}(\mathfrak{G})$.

DEFINITION: A lattice is called *subnormal* if every element of the lattice is subnormal.

If the poset of all subnormal elements of a lattice with normality relation forms a sublattice, then this sublattice is subnormal. This is because the concept of normality is based on certain identities that remain valid in any sublattice. For groups, the following theorem holds.

 1 This means in ring-theoretic terms that the operator ring of $\mathfrak M$ generated by $\mathfrak N{--1}$ is nilpotent.

.

THEOREM 20: If the subnormal subgroups of a group & satisfy the maximal condition, then they form a complete sublattice of the lattice of all subgroups of G.

Proof: Since we already know that the intersection of two subnormal subgroups of \mathcal{G} is subnormal and since the maximal condition is satisfied by the subnormal subgroups of \mathcal{G} , it suffices to prove that the join of finitely many subnormal subgroups of \mathcal{G} is subnormal. In other words, we have to prove that the subgroup generated by finitely many subnormal subgroups U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_s of \mathcal{G} satisfying the inequalities

$$m$$
 (\mathfrak{U}_i , \mathfrak{G}) $\leq n$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, s$

is subnormal. This is obvious if n = 0, 1 or if s = 1. Apply induction on n and on s. Assume n > 1, s > 1. By the induction hypothesis concerning s, the subgroup \mathfrak{B} generated by the s - 1 subnormal subgroups $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{s}}, \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{s}}, \ldots, \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{s}}$ satisfying $m(\mathfrak{U}_i, \mathfrak{G}) \leq n$ for $i = 2, 3, \ldots, s - 1$, is a subnormal subgroup \mathfrak{G} .

Furthermore, there is a normal chain $\mathfrak{U}_1 N \mathfrak{B}_1 N \mathfrak{B}_2 N \cdots N \mathfrak{B}_n = \mathfrak{G}$ of length n between \mathfrak{U}_1 and \mathfrak{G} . Since \mathfrak{B}_{n-1} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , the subnormal subgroups of \mathfrak{B}_{n-1} are subnormal in \mathfrak{G} and therefore satisfy the maximal condition. For finitely many conjugate subgroups $\mathfrak{U}_{1}^{x_{1}}, \mathfrak{U}_{1}^{x_{1}}, \ldots,$ $\mathfrak{U}_{1}^{x_{j}}$ of \mathfrak{U}_{1} we find, by application to \mathfrak{B}_{n-1} of the induction hypothesis on n, that each of these subgroups is subnormal under \mathfrak{B}_{n-1} , because $n-1 \geq m(\mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{B}_{n-1}) = m(\mathfrak{U}_1^{x_i}, \mathfrak{B}_{n-1}^{x_i}) = m(\mathfrak{U}_1^{x_i}, \mathfrak{B}_{n-1}).$ Since \mathfrak{B}_{n-1} is normal in G, it follows that the subgroup of G that is generated by a finite number of conjugates of U₁ is subnormal under G. From the maximal condition it follows that any system of conjugate subgroups of \mathfrak{U}_1 generates a subnormal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . For example, the subgroup \mathfrak{U}_{11} of \mathfrak{G} generated by all the subgroups of $\mathfrak{B}_1 = \langle \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{B} \rangle = \langle \mathfrak{U}_1, \mathfrak{U}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{U}_s \rangle$ that are conjugate to \mathfrak{U}_1 under \mathfrak{V}_1 , is subnormal under \mathfrak{G} . Of course, \mathfrak{U}_1 is contained in \mathfrak{U}_{11} , \mathfrak{U}_{11} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{B}_1 , and \mathfrak{B}_1 is generated by \mathfrak{U}_{11} and \mathfrak{B} . Hence each term of the lower normal series $\mathfrak{U}_{11} = S_m \mathsf{N} S_{m-1} \mathsf{N} \cdots \mathsf{N} S_n = \mathfrak{G}$ (where $S_i = S_i(\mathfrak{U}_{11}, \mathfrak{G})$ and $m = m(\mathfrak{U}_{11}, \mathfrak{G})$) is also invariant under transformation by elements of \mathfrak{B} . Hence $S_i \mathbb{N} \langle S_{i-1}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$. From $\mathfrak{B} \mathbb{N} \mathbb{N} \mathfrak{G}$ it follows that $\mathfrak{B} NN \langle S_{i-1}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$. By Theorem 19 it follows that $\langle S_i, \mathfrak{B} \rangle NN \langle S_{i-1}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$; hence

$$\mathfrak{B}_1 = \langle S_m, \mathfrak{B} \rangle \mathsf{NN} \langle S_{m-1}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle \mathsf{NN} \cdots \mathsf{NN} \langle S_0, \mathfrak{B} \rangle = \mathfrak{G}, \ \mathfrak{B}_1 \mathsf{NN} \mathfrak{G},$$
Q. E. D.

COROLLARY : If $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}$ are two subgroups of \mathfrak{G} for which there are composition series from \mathfrak{G} to \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} respectively, then there is also a composition series from \mathfrak{G} to $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$.

194

This theorem, due to Wielandt, can be proved by using the methods of the preceding proof. If S is a system of subnormal subgroups of the group \mathfrak{G} such that the maximal condition holds for the subnormal subgroups of \mathfrak{G} between \mathfrak{G} and one of the members of S, then the union of the members of S is a subnormal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} .

If \mathfrak{A} , \mathfrak{B} are two subnormal subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} for which there is a composition series from \mathfrak{G} to \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} respectively, then by the preceding corollary, $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ is subnormal under \mathfrak{G} , and hence there is a composition series

(4)
$$\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{A}_0 \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{A}_1 \mathsf{N} \cdots \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{A}_r = \langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$$

and a composition series

(5)
$$\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}_0 \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{B}_1 \mathsf{N} \cdots \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{B}_s = \langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle.$$

More generally, let \mathfrak{A} , \mathfrak{B} be two subgroups of \mathfrak{G} such that composition series (4) and (5) respectively exists. After elimination of repetitions in the normal chains

(6) $(\mathfrak{A} \ \mathsf{M} \ \mathfrak{B}) \ \mathsf{N} (\mathfrak{A}_1 \ \mathsf{M} \ \mathfrak{B}) \ \mathsf{N} (\mathfrak{A}_2 \ \mathsf{M} \ \mathfrak{B}) \ \mathsf{N} \cdots \ \mathsf{N} (\mathfrak{A}_r \ \mathsf{M} \ \mathfrak{B}) = \mathfrak{B},$

(7)
$$(\mathfrak{A} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}) \mathsf{N} (\mathfrak{A} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}_1) \mathsf{N} (\mathfrak{A} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}_2) \mathsf{N} \cdots \mathsf{N} (\mathfrak{A} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}_s) = \mathfrak{A},$$

we obtain composition series (6'), (7') from $\mathfrak{AM}\mathfrak{B}$ to \mathfrak{B} and \mathfrak{A} respectively. We wonder how the composition series (6'), (7') derived from (4), (5) respectively can be related to the composition series (4), (5).

We call a composition factor group $\mathfrak{A}_i/\mathfrak{A}_{i+1}$ of (4) abundant if $\mathfrak{A}_i \mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{A}_{i-1}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}$. Similarly, a composition factor group $\mathfrak{B}_j/\mathfrak{B}_{j-1}$ of (5) is called abundant if $\mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_j = \mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_{j-1}$. We ask how the abundant factor groups in (4), (5) respectively are related to the non-abundant factor groups in (4), (5) respectively.

THEOREM 21: If \mathfrak{A} , \mathfrak{B} are two subgroups of a group with the property that there is a composition series (4) from \mathfrak{A} to $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ and a composition series (5) from \mathfrak{B} to $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$, then

- a) the non-abundant factor groups of (4) are one-to-one projective with a composition series (6') from MMB to B,
- b) the abundant factor groups of (4) characterized by A_iM B = A_{i-1}M B are abelian,
- c) every abundant factor group in (4) is projectively related with a conjugate of a non-abundant factor group in (4),
- d) the abundant factor groups in (4) and in (5) are one-to-one projectively related up to their order.

Proof: a) The factor group $\mathfrak{A}_i/\mathfrak{A}_{i+1}$ is non-abundant if and only if $\mathfrak{A}_i \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{B}$ is different from $\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}\mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{B}$. In this case, because of the simplicity of $\mathfrak{A}_i/\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}$ we find that $\mathfrak{A}_i/\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}$ is isomorphic to $(\mathfrak{A}_i \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{B})/(\mathfrak{A}_{i-1} \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{B})$.

d) The abundant factor groups in (4) and in (5) are one-to-one projectively related up to order, because of the Jordan-Hölder-Theorem.

b) and c) If r < 1 or s < 1, no abundant factor groups occur, and there is nothing to prove. Now let r > 1, s > 1. We apply induction on n = r + s. Assume that the statement in question is true when the value of r + sis smaller than n. Since $\mathfrak{A} \leq \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \leq \langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ we have $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle = \langle \mathfrak{A}_{r-1}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ which, by the Second Isomorphism Theorem, implies that $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle / \mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ is isomorphic with $\mathfrak{B}/(\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B})$. Hence $\mathfrak{A}/\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ is not abundant. By the Corollary to Theorem 20, the subgroup $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ is subnormal in $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$, and since $\mathfrak{A} \mathsf{N} \mathsf{N} \langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} \rangle \mathsf{N} \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{N} \langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ there exists a composition series from \mathfrak{A} to $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ via $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ and \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} . From the Jordan-Hölder Theorem we deduce that it suffices to prove the theorem only for this composition series instead of (4). There is no loss of generality in taking this new series to be (4); hence for some index j with $0 \le j \le r-1$, $\mathfrak{A}_{i} = \langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ it follows that $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} \leq \mathfrak{A}_{i} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} \leq \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}$ and hence $\mathfrak{A}_{i}M\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{A}_{r-1}M\mathfrak{B}$. From the Jordan-Hölder Theorem, the length of a composition series from $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}$ to \mathfrak{A}_j is $1 + s - (r - j) \leq s$. Since the composition series $\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{A}_0 \mathbb{N} \mathfrak{A}_1 \cdots \mathbb{N} \mathfrak{A}_j$ is of length j < r, we can apply the induction hypothesis to $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathbb{M} \mathfrak{B}$. It follows that the abundant factor groups between \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{A}_i are abelian and are projectively related with conjugates of non-abundant factor groups between \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{A}_{i} .

Similarly, we can apply the induction hypothesis to the pair \mathfrak{A}_j , \mathfrak{B} provided $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}\mathsf{M}\mathfrak{B} \neq \mathfrak{A}(\mathsf{M}\mathfrak{B})$; then $\mathfrak{A}_j \neq \mathfrak{A}$, and the induction hypothesis yields that the abundant factor groups between \mathfrak{A}_j and $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ are abelian and are projectively related with conjugates of non-abundant factor groups between \mathfrak{A}_j and $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$. Both statements together yield the theorem.

It now remains to consider the case that $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}$. We may assume, similarly, without loss of generality that there is a term \mathfrak{B}_k in (5) with $\mathfrak{B}_k = \langle \mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_{s-1}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$. Then $\mathfrak{B}_k\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{B}_{s-1}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{A}$. Hence if $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{A}$ $\neq \mathfrak{B}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{A}, k > 0$, and the theorem follows when the induction hypothesis is applied to $\mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_{s-1}$, \mathfrak{B} and to $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}_k$.

Finally, we consider the case that $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{A} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}_{s-1} = \mathfrak{A} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{B}$.

From the Second Isomorphism Theorem it follows that $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}M\mathfrak{B}$ is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{B} and $\mathfrak{A}M\mathfrak{B}_{r-1}$ is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{A} . Hence $\mathfrak{A}M\mathfrak{B}$ is normal both in \mathfrak{A} and in \mathfrak{B} and therefore is normal in $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$. We may therefore carry out the remainder of the proof in the factor group

196

 $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle / (\mathfrak{A} M \mathfrak{B})$ instead of in \mathfrak{G} . Let us, then, assume $\mathfrak{A} M \mathfrak{B} = 1$, $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle = \mathfrak{G}$, $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} M \mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{A} M \mathfrak{B}_{s-1} = 1$.

Let \mathfrak{N} be the normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} generated by the conjugates of \mathfrak{A} . Then, in view of $\mathfrak{A} \leq \mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ and $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{G}$, we conclude that \mathfrak{N} is contained in \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} . Therefore $\mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{B} \leq \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathfrak{M} \mathfrak{B} = 1$, $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} \mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{G}$, $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}/\mathfrak{R}$ is isomorphic to 1, so that $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1} = \mathfrak{N}$.

 \mathfrak{A} is simple, since $\mathfrak{A}/1$ is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{B}_{s-1}$. Hence the length of any composition series from $\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ to 1 is 1 + r - 1 = r. The same applies to \mathfrak{B} and to \mathfrak{B}_{s-1} , so that s = r, n = 2r. Thus the induction hypothesis is applicable to any pair of subnormal subgroups of \mathfrak{N} .

Set $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{0}} = \mathfrak{A}$. We define $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i}}$ recursively. If $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ is already defined as a subgroup of & generated by certain conjugates of A under &, then by Theorem 20, the subgroup $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ is certainly subnormal in \mathfrak{G} , and therefore either $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}} = \mathfrak{R}$ or $\overline{\mathfrak{A}}_{i-1}$ is not normal in \mathfrak{G} . In the first case, set $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_i} = \mathfrak{R}$. In the second case, there is a normal series $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}} \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{C}_1 \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{C}_2 \mathsf{N} \cdots \mathsf{N} \mathfrak{C}_j = \mathfrak{G}$ from $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ to \mathfrak{G} such that $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ is not normal in \mathfrak{C}_2 . Therefore there is a conjugate of $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ under \mathfrak{C}_2 which is not contained in $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$. There must also be a conjugate of \mathfrak{A} under $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathfrak{a}}$, say $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{i}}$, such that $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{i}}$ is not contained in $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{\mathfrak{i}-1}}$. Since \mathfrak{A} is contained in \mathfrak{C}_1 and \mathfrak{C}_1 is normal under \mathfrak{C}_2 , it follows that \mathfrak{X}_1 . is contained in \mathfrak{C}_i . We set $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_i} = \langle \overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}, \mathfrak{X}_i \rangle$. It follows that $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}} \, \mathsf{N} \, \overline{\mathfrak{A}_i}, \overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ $+\overline{\mathfrak{A}_i}$. Since \mathfrak{X}_i , a conjugate of \mathfrak{A} , is subnormal under \mathfrak{B} , and since also $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ is subnormal under \mathfrak{G} , it follows that $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{X}_i$ is subnormal under \mathfrak{G} . But in view of the fact that \mathfrak{X}_i , being conjugate to \mathfrak{A} , is simple and that furthermore \mathfrak{X}_i is not contained in $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$, it follows that $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}} \mathsf{M} \mathfrak{X}_i = 1$. Hence $\overline{\mathfrak{A}_i}/\overline{\mathfrak{A}_{i-1}}$ is projective with the conjugate \mathfrak{X}_i of \mathfrak{A} . It follows that there is the composition series $1 N \overline{\mathfrak{A}_0} N \overline{\mathfrak{A}_1} N \overline{\mathfrak{A}_2} N \cdots N \overline{\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}} = \mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ from 1 to \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} each composition factor of which is projectively related with some conjugate of \mathfrak{A} . Each composition factor of the composition series $1 N \mathfrak{A} N \mathfrak{A}_1 N$ $\cdots N\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ from 1 to \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} , also is projectively related, by the Jordan-Hölder Theorem to some conjugate of A. Similarly, we see that each composition factor of the composition series $\mathfrak{B} N \mathfrak{B}_1 N \cdots N \mathfrak{B}_{r-1}$ is projectively related to a conjugate of B. Thus c) is proved.

In order to prove b) let us assume that \mathfrak{A} is not abelian. By the induction hypothesis applied to any two simple non-abelian subnormal subgroups $\mathfrak{X}_i, \mathfrak{X}_j$ of \mathfrak{N}_i it follows that there are no abundant composition factor groups between \mathfrak{X}_i and $\langle \mathfrak{X}_i, \mathfrak{X}_j \rangle$. Hence \mathfrak{X}_i is normal in $\langle \mathfrak{X}_i, \mathfrak{X}_j \rangle$, and either $\mathfrak{X}_i = \mathfrak{X}_j$ or $\langle \mathfrak{X}_i, \mathfrak{X}_j \rangle / \mathfrak{X}_i$ is projective with $\mathfrak{X}_i/1$; and since, similarly, \mathfrak{X}_i is normal in $\langle \mathfrak{X}_i, \mathfrak{X}_j \rangle$, it follows that $\langle \mathfrak{X}_i, \mathfrak{X}_j \rangle$ is the direct product of \mathfrak{X}_i and \mathfrak{X}_j . This remains true if we set $\mathfrak{X}_0 = \mathfrak{A}$. It follows that \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} is the direct product of $\mathfrak{X}_0, \mathfrak{X}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{X}_{r-1}$. Since this is a direct product of non-abelian simple groups, it follows¹ that every normal subgroup of \mathfrak{A}_{r-1} is a direct product of some of the \mathfrak{X}_i 's. Similarly, $\mathfrak{B}_{r-1} = \mathfrak{B}_{r-1} = \mathfrak{Y}_0 \times \mathfrak{Y}_1 \times \mathfrak{Y}_2 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{Y}_r$, where the \mathfrak{Y}_i are non-abelian simple groups and $\mathfrak{Y}_0 = \mathfrak{B}$. Since $\mathfrak{B}_{r-1}/$ $(\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}\mathbf{M}\mathfrak{B}_{r-1})$ is isomorphic with $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ and $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}$ is isomorphic with \mathfrak{B}_i it follows, in view of r > 1, that $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_{r-1} \neq 1$. Hence $\mathfrak{A}_{r-1}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{B}_{r-1}$ is a direct product of some \mathfrak{X} 's as well as of some \mathfrak{Y} 's and it is bound to happen at least once that $\mathfrak{X}_i = \mathfrak{Y}_j$. The normalizer of \mathfrak{X}_i thus contains both \mathfrak{Y}_{r-1} and \mathfrak{B}_{r-1} and therefore \mathfrak{G} also. But it is impossible for a conjugate of \mathfrak{A} to be normal in \mathfrak{G} , because \mathfrak{A} itselian. This completes the proof of the theorem.

3. Direct decompositions of lattices

We assume in this subsection that the lattices that occur are complete and hence have an all element A and a null element Z. Furthermore, in each lattice a normality relation is defined satisfying the conditions given in Chap. II, § 5. The normality relation of a lattice induces a normality relation on each sublattice.

DEFINITION: The lattice L is the *direct join* of the subset B of L if: 1. the all element of L is the join of the subset B of L, 2. for any subset X of B the meet of the join of X and of the join of the complementary subset B - X is the null element of L.

If L is the direct join of a subset B, then as many null elements may be added to B or eliminated from B as one desires. Elimination of all the null elements from a subset of which L is direct join, leads to a *proper direct join*. If L is the proper direct join of B, then the elements of B are all different one from another (this follows from property 2.) and also different from the null element of L.

Trivially, L is the direct join of the subset consisting of the single element A. The lattice L is called *indecomposable* if there is no other proper direct join representation. If the subset B of L is the union of the system S of mutually disjoint subsets X of B, then L is the direct join of B if and only if the join of all the joins over X is direct and is equal to A. We say that the decomposition of L as join of B is obtained by refinement from the decomposition of L as join over joins of the subsets X ranging over S.

DEFINITION: A direct join representation of L over the subset B is called normal if the join over any subset of B is normal. The terms normal proper direct join, normally indecomposable, and normal refinement are formed

¹ For an independent proof, see Subsection 4 of this chapter.

as above by making use only of normal decompositions. In the sequel we assume all decompositions to be normal, and thus we may omit the adjective normal in connection with decompositions and derived terms.

Let L be the direct join of B. For any subset X of B we define the *decomposition operator*

$$\delta_{\chi} = \varphi_{J\chi} \varphi^{j(B-\chi)}$$

that is,

$$\delta_{\mathbf{X}}(a) = (aJ(J(B-X)) \mathsf{M}(JX) \text{ for } a \text{ of } L)$$

The element $\delta_{\mathbf{x}}(a)$ is called the X-component of a.

It has the properties

(8)
$$\delta_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{x} \mathsf{J} \mathbf{y}) = \delta_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{x}) \mathsf{J} \delta_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{y}),$$

(9)
$$\delta_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{A}) \mathbf{N} \mathbf{A}$$
; if $\mathbf{x} \mathbf{N} \mathbf{y}$ then $\delta_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{x}) \mathbf{N} \delta_{\mathbf{X}}(\mathbf{y})$,

(10)
$$\delta_B(a) = a, \quad \delta_{A(B)}(a) = Z, \quad \delta_X a = a \text{ if and only if } a \le JX$$

(where $\Lambda(B)$ is the empty subset of B),

(11)
$$\delta_{\mathfrak{X}}(a) \operatorname{\mathsf{J}} \delta_{\mathfrak{Y}}(a) = \delta_{\mathfrak{X} \operatorname{\mathsf{J}} \mathfrak{Y}}(a), \quad \delta_{\mathfrak{X}}(a) \operatorname{\mathsf{M}} \delta_{\mathfrak{Y}}(a) = Z,$$

for any two disjoint subsets X, Y of B.

For the converse, see Ex. 5 at the end of Appendix D.

Proof:

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\boldsymbol{X}}(\boldsymbol{x}\boldsymbol{J}\,\boldsymbol{y}) &= \varphi_{\boldsymbol{J}\boldsymbol{X}}(\boldsymbol{x}\,\boldsymbol{J}\,\boldsymbol{y}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{B}\,-\,\boldsymbol{X}))) \\ &= \varphi_{\boldsymbol{J}\boldsymbol{X}}(\boldsymbol{x}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{B}\,-\,\boldsymbol{X}))\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{y}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{B}\,-\,\boldsymbol{X}))) \\ &= \varphi_{\boldsymbol{J}\boldsymbol{X}}(\boldsymbol{x}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{B}\,-\,\boldsymbol{X})))\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,\varphi_{\boldsymbol{J}\boldsymbol{X}}(\boldsymbol{y}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{B}\,-\,\boldsymbol{X})))) \\ &= \delta_{\boldsymbol{X}}(\boldsymbol{x}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{x}\,,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,,\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,(\boldsymbol{\mathsf{J}}\,,\boldsymbol{$$

because A/J(B-X) is projective with JX/(JX)M(J(B-X)), that is, with JX/Z.

Next we consider three elements a, x, y satisfying $x NA, y NA, a \le x Jy$, and we prove the identity

(12)
$$((a J y) M x) J ((a J x) M y) = (a J x) M (a J y).$$

Since x is normal in A it follows that x is normal in x Jy and that (x Jy)/x is projective with y/(xMy), and hence ((a Jx)My) Jx = a Jx. Furthermore $(a Jx)My \leq (a Jx)M(a Jy) \leq a Jx$. Since y is normal in A it follows that $y/(y Jx) \leq x/x$ is projective with x/(xMy) and that

$$((a \mathsf{J} y)\mathsf{M} x) \mathsf{J} ((a \mathsf{J} x)\mathsf{M} y) = ((a \mathsf{J} x)\mathsf{M} (a \mathsf{J} y)\mathsf{M} x) \mathsf{J} ((a \mathsf{J} x)\mathsf{M} y)$$
$$= (a \mathsf{J} x)\mathsf{M} (a \mathsf{J} y).$$

From (12) it follows that for any element a' of L we have

$$((a' \operatorname{J} y) \operatorname{M} x) \operatorname{J} ((a \operatorname{J} x) \operatorname{M} y) \ge (((a' \operatorname{M} (x \operatorname{J} y)) \operatorname{J} y) \operatorname{M} x) \operatorname{J} (((a' \operatorname{M} (x \operatorname{J} y)) \operatorname{J} x) \operatorname{M} y)$$

= a' M (x J y),

yielding

(13)
$$((a' \operatorname{J} y) \operatorname{M} x) \operatorname{J} ((a' \operatorname{J} x) \operatorname{M} y) \geq a' \operatorname{M} (x \operatorname{J} y).$$

For three normal elements x, y, z of L satisfying $a \le x \operatorname{J} y \operatorname{J} z$, we set $a' = a \operatorname{J} z$ and find that

(14)
$$((a \rfloor y \rfloor z) M x) \rfloor (a \rfloor x \rfloor z) \ge (a \rfloor z) M (x \rfloor y).$$

Now let x be the join of the subset X of B, let y be the join of the subset Y of B, let z be the join of the complement of the union of X and Y with respect to B, and furthermore, let X and Y be disjoint. Then $x \rfloor y \rfloor z = A \ge a$; hence $\delta_X(a) \rfloor \delta_Y(a) \ge \delta_{X \rfloor Y}(a)$. Under the same assumption we have

$$\delta_x \delta_y(a) = (\delta_y(a) \operatorname{J} y \operatorname{J} z) \operatorname{M} x = (y \operatorname{J} z) \operatorname{M} x = (\operatorname{J} (B - X)) \operatorname{M} (\operatorname{J} X) = Z.$$

If $a \leq JX$, then $\delta_X(a) = (a J(J(B-X))M(JX) = a$, because A/J(B-X) is projective with JX/Z.

DEFINITION: A unique mapping φ of a lattice L into itself is called a normal operator if

1. $\varphi(x \mathsf{J} y) = \varphi(x) \mathsf{J} \varphi(y),$

2.
$$x N y$$
 implies $\varphi(x) N \varphi(y)$,

- 3. x NA implies $\varphi(x) NA$,
- 4. φ induces an isomorphic mapping of the factor lattice of A over a certain normal element L_{φ} of L onto the factor lattice $\varphi(A)/\varphi(Z)$. We note that $\varphi(Z) = \varphi(L_{\varphi})$.

This usage of the term normal operator is justified by the fact that the normal operators of a group induce normal operators of the corresponding subgroup lattice.

Every anti-projection φ^z defined by a normal element z of L is a normal operator.

The latter statement is proved as follows. We have

$$\varphi^z(x \downarrow y) = z \downarrow (x \downarrow y) = (z \downarrow x) \downarrow (z \downarrow y) = \varphi^z(x) \downarrow \varphi^z(y).$$

If x N y, then (z J x) N(z J y). If x N A, then (z J x) N A. The anti-projection φ^z induces an isomorphic mapping of A/z onto A/z, where $z = \varphi^z(Z)$. Thus $L_{\varphi^z} = z$.

Ordinarily, the decomposition operators of a direct decomposition of Lare not normal operators, except for the trivial operators $\frac{1}{2}$ and $\frac{0}{2}$, which map an element a of L onto a and Z respectively. This is because an element normal in the join of some suffset of B need not be normal in L.

However, if the normal elements of L form a sublattice of L, then each decomposition operator is normal.

Proof: Let L be the direct join over the subset B, let X be a subset of B, and let a be normal in L. Then J(B - X) N A, (a J (J (B - X)) N A, J X N A, and hence ((x J (J (B - X))) M (J X) N A, $\delta_X(a) N A$.

Referring to normal operators φ in general the equation $\varphi(x) = \varphi(y)$ implies

 $\varphi(x \operatorname{J} L_{\varphi}) = \varphi(x) \operatorname{J} \varphi(L_{\varphi}) = \dot{\varphi}(x) \operatorname{J} \varphi(Z) = \varphi(x \operatorname{J} Z) = \varphi(x) = \varphi(y) = \varphi(y \operatorname{J} L_{\varphi})$ because of 1., $x \operatorname{J} L_{\varphi} = y \operatorname{J} L_{\varphi}$ because of 4. Hence $x \operatorname{J} L_{\varphi}$ is characterized as the maximal element having the image $\varphi(x)$ under φ . In particular, L_{φ} is characterized as the maximal element having the image $\varphi(Z)$ under φ . In view of 4., the element L_{φ} of L may be called the *kernel* of the normal operator φ .

The product of two normal operators is a normal operator.

Proof: Let φ , ψ be two normal operators of L. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi\psi(x\,\mathsf{J}\,y) &= \varphi(\varphi(x\,\mathsf{J}\,y)) = \varphi(\psi(x)\,\mathsf{J}\,\psi(y)) = (\varphi(\psi(x))\,\mathsf{J}\,(\varphi(\psi(y))) = \\ &= \varphi\psi(x)\,\mathsf{J}\,\varphi\psi(y)\,. \end{aligned}$$

If x N y, then $\psi(x) N \psi(y)$, $\varphi \psi(x) N \varphi \psi(y)$. If x N A, then $\psi(x) N A$, $\varphi \psi(x) N A$. There is precisely one solution z of the equation $\psi(z) = (\psi(A) J L_{\varphi}) J \psi(Z)$ satisfying $L_{\varphi} \leq z \leq A$. Since $\psi(A) N A$, Z N A, $L_{\varphi} N A$ it follows that $(\psi(A) M L_{\varphi}) N \psi(A)$, $\psi(Z) N A$, $\psi(z) N \psi(A)$. Since the isomorphism induced by ψ between A/L_{φ} and $\psi(A)/\psi(Z)$ is supposed to preserve the normality relation in both directions, it follows that z N A. Furthermore, it follows that ψ induces an isomorphism of A/z onto

$$\psi(A)/\psi(z) = \psi(A)/(\psi(A) \operatorname{M} L_{\varphi}) \operatorname{J} \psi(Z) = \psi(A)/\psi(A) \operatorname{M} (L_{\varphi} \operatorname{J} \psi(Z)).$$

Since $L_{\varphi} \mathbb{N}A$, $\psi(Z) \mathbb{N}A$, it follows that $L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(Z) \mathbb{N}A$, and hence the antiprojection by $L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(Z)$ induces an isomorphism of $\psi(A)/\psi(z)$ onto $(L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(A))/(L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(Z))$. Since $\psi(Z)$ is contained in $\psi(z)$, it follows that the anti-projection by L_{φ} induces the same mapping of $\psi(A)/\psi(z)$ as the antiprojection by $L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(Z)$. Since φ induces an isomorphism of A/L_{φ} onto $\varphi(A)/\varphi(Z)$, it follows that φ induces an isomorphism of $(L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(A))/(L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(Z))$ onto $\varphi(L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(A)/\varphi(L_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}\psi(Z)) = \varphi\psi(A)/\varphi\psi(Z)$. From the equation $\psi(z) = (\psi(A) \mathbb{J}_{\varphi} \mathbb{J}_{\varphi})/(2)$. Hence $\varphi\psi$ is a normal operator with z as its kernel.

The following theorems on direct joins presuppose that the normal elements of the given lattice form a sublattice; consequently any decomposition operator is normal. Since we shall be concerned only with normal elements, we may as well speak only of the modular sublattice formed by the normal elements of any given lattice. In addition, the double chain condition will be required. For convenience, a modular lattice satisfying the double chain theorem, will be designated as an MD-lattice.

FITTING'S LEMMA FOR LATTICES: Let L be an MD-lattice. With a normal operator ω mapping Z onto Z there is associated a direct decomposition

$$A = L_{\omega^n} \mathsf{J} \, \omega^n(A),$$

where n is a natural number satisfying the condition $L_{w^n} = L_{w^{n+1}}$.

COROLLARY: If in addition L is directly indecomposable, then either ω is an automorphism of L or ω^n is the <u>0</u>-operator.

Proof: The equation $\omega^{i}(L_{\omega_{i}}) = Z$ implies $\omega^{i+1}(L_{\omega_{i}}) = \omega(\omega^{i}(L_{\omega^{i}}) = \omega(Z) = Z$, and hence $L_{\omega^{i}} \leq L_{\omega^{i+1}}$. Applying the maximal condition to the increasing sequence L_{ω} , $L_{\omega^{1}}$, \ldots of normal elements of L, we find an exponent n such that $L_{\omega^{n}} = L_{\omega^{n+1}}$. For i > 1, the equation $\omega^{n+i}(L_{\omega^{n+i}}) = Z$ implies

$$\begin{split} & \omega^{n+1}(\omega^{i-1}(L_{\omega^{n+i}})) = Z, \ \omega^{i-1}(L_{\omega^{n+i}}) \leq L_{\omega^{n+1}}, \ \omega^{i-1}(L_{\omega^{n+i}}) \leq L_{\omega^n}, \\ & Z = \omega^n(\omega^{i-1}(L_{\omega^{n+i}})) = \omega^{n+i-1}(L_{\omega^{n+i}}), L_{\omega^{n+i}} \leq L_{\omega^{n+i-1}}, L_{\omega^n} = L_{\omega^{n+1}} = L_{\omega^{n+2}} = \cdots. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, since ω^n is normal, there is a solution z of the equation $\omega^n(z) = \omega^n(A) M L_{\omega^n}$ satisfying the condition $L_{\omega^n} \leq z$. We have

$$\begin{split} \omega^n(z) \leq L_{\omega^n}, \quad \omega^{2n}(z) = \omega^n(\omega^n(z)) = Z, \quad z \leq L_{\omega^{2n}}, \quad z \leq L_{\omega^n}, \\ z = L_{\omega^n}, \quad \omega^n(z) = Z, \quad \omega^n(A) \, M L_{\omega^n} = Z. \end{split}$$

Finally, since L_{ω^n} is normal in A, it follows that the anti-projection by L_{ω^n} induces an isomorphism of $\omega^n(A)/Z$ onto $(L_{\omega^n}J\omega^n(A))L/_{\omega^n}$. Since ω^n induces an isomorphism of A/L_{ω^n} onto $\omega^n(A)/Z$, it follows that ω^n induces an isomorphism of $(L_{\omega^n}J\omega^n(A))/L_{\omega^n}$ onto $\omega^n(L_{\omega^n}J\omega^n(A))/Z = \omega^{3n}(A)/Z$. Hence ω^n induces an isomorphism of $\omega^n(A)/Z$. But since L satisfies the double chain condition for normal elements, the same is true for the factor lattice L/L_{ω^n} and for the isomorphic images $\omega^n(A)/Z = \omega^{3n}(A)/Z$. Also, an element normal in $\omega^n(A)$ and since the principal series of $\omega^{3n}(A)$ have the same length as the principal series of $\omega^{3n}(A)$ have $\Delta^{3n}(A) = \omega^{3n}(A)$. Consequently, $\omega^n(L_{\omega^n} J\omega^n(A)) = \omega^{3n}(A) = \omega^{3n}(A)$. $L_{\omega^n} J\omega^n(A) = \omega^{3n}(A)$.

In lattice theory, Theorem 6 of § 2 becomes the following

LEMMA ON NORMAL OPERATORS: If $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \ldots, \sigma_r, \omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots, \omega_r$ are finitely many normal operators of a directly indecomposable MD-lattice L mapping Z onto Z such that ~

$$\sigma_1 = \underline{1}, \quad \sigma_r = \omega_r, \quad \omega_1 a J \, \omega_2 a \ge \sigma_1 a = a,$$

$$\omega_2 a J \, \sigma_3 a \ge \sigma_2 a, \quad \dots, \quad \omega_{r-1} a J \, \sigma_r a \ge \sigma_{r-1} a,$$

then at least one of the operators $\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots, \omega_r$ is an automorphism of L.

Proof: This is clear if r = 1. Let r > 1. If i < r, and if the operator ω_i is not an automorphism, then, by Fitting's Lemma and because of the indecomposability of L, we have $\omega_i^p A = Z$ for some n. We have the equation

$$\omega_i(\omega_i^{n-1}(A)) = Z$$

which implies

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{i+1} \omega_i^{n-1}(A) &\geq \omega_i^{n-1}(A), \ \omega_t(\omega_i^{n-2}(A) J \sigma_{i+1} \omega_i^{n-2}(A)) \geq \omega_i^{n-2}(A), \\ \omega_t(\omega_i^{n-2}(A)) &= \omega_i^{n-1}(A) \leq \sigma_{i+1} \omega_i^{n-1}(A) \leq \sigma_{i+1} \omega_i^{n-2}(A), \end{split}$$

 $\sigma_{i+1}\omega_i^{n-2}(A) \ge \omega_i^{n-2}(A), \ldots, \ \sigma_{i+1}\omega_i(A) \ge \omega_i(A), \ \sigma_{i+1}(A) \ge A, \ \sigma_{i+1}(A) = A.$

Hence there is, at any rate, an index j for which $\omega_j(A) = A$. Since ω_j induces an isomorphism between A/L_{ω_j} and $\omega_j(A)/Z = A/Z$, it follows from the double chain condition that $L_{\omega_j} = Z$. Hence ω_j is an automorphism of L, Q. E. D.

DEFINITION: A proper direct decomposition of a lattice into finitely many directly indecomposable components is said to be a *Remak decomposition*. If the lattice is indecomposable, then it is itself the only component of its Remak decomposition. Theorem 7 of § 2 becomes, with minor changes, the following theorem.

THEOREM OF ORE: Every MD-lattice has a Remak decomposition with components H_1, H_2, \ldots, H_n . If there is another Remak decomposition of the same lattice L with components J_1, J_2, \ldots, J_m , then the number of components m of one Remak decomposition coincides with the number of components n of the other. Moreover the components J_i can be so numbered that we have the exchange decompositions of L with its Remak components

$$J_1, \ldots, J_k, H_{k+1}, H_{k+2}, \ldots, H_n \ (k = 1, 2, \ldots, n-1).$$

Finally there is a normal operator of L inducing an isomorphism of H_i/Z onto J_i/Z (i = 1, 2, ..., n).

¹ The notation σ_1 for <u>1</u> is introduced merely in order to have uniformity of notation in the proof.

Proof: The existence of a Remak decomposition follows as in the proof of Theorem 7, using the minimal condition only. Now consider the decomposition operators $\varphi_i = \varphi_{H_i} \varphi^{H_i}$, $\omega_i = \varphi_{J_i} \varphi^{J_i}$, where H'_i is the join of all the H_k with $k \neq i$ and J'_i the join of all the J_k with $k \neq j$. Furthermore let σ_i be the normal operator which is obtained by first applying the antiprojection by the join of $J_1, J_2, \ldots, J_{i-1}$ followed by the projection into the join of $J_i, J_{i+1}, \ldots, J_m$ ($i = 2, 3, \ldots, m - 1$). Since $\omega_i(a) J \sigma_{i+1}(a) \geq \sigma_i(a)$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m - 1$, and for any a of L, we have for $a \leq H_1$ the relation

$$\varphi_1(\omega_i(a) \operatorname{\mathsf{J}} \sigma_{i+1}(a)) = \varphi_1 \omega_i(a) \operatorname{\mathsf{J}} \varphi_1 \sigma_{i+1}(a) \ge \varphi_1 \sigma_i(a);$$

moreover $\omega_m = \sigma_m$, $\varphi_1 \omega_m = \varphi_1 \sigma_m$, and hence by application of the previous lemma, at least one of the normal operators $\varphi_1 \omega_k$ induces an automorphism of H_1/Z .

The J_k can be so numbered that $\varphi_1 \omega_1$ induces an automorphism of H_1/Z . From $H_1 = \varphi_1 \omega_1(H_1) = \varphi_1(A)$ and from the normality of φ_1 we deduce that $A := \omega_1(H_1) JL_{\varphi_1}$. From the modular law we deduce that $J_1 = AMJ_1$ $= (\omega_1(H_1)ML_{\varphi_1})MJ_1$. Since ω_1 induces a homomorphism of H_1/Z onto $\omega_1(H_1)/Z$, it follows that there is a solution z of the equation $\omega_1(z)$ $= \omega_1(H_1)ML_{\varphi_1}$ which satisfies the relation $z \leq H_1$. Since $\varphi_1\omega_1(z)$ $\varphi_1(\omega_1(H)ML_{\varphi_1}) = Z$ and $\varphi_1 \omega_1$ induces an automorphism of H_1 , it follows that

$$z=Z, \quad Z=\omega_1(z)=\omega_1(H_1)\mathsf{M} L_{\varphi_1}, \quad J_1=\omega_1(H_1)J(L_{\varphi_1}\mathsf{M} J_1).$$

But since J_1 is indecomposable, we conclude that $J_1 = \omega_1(H_1)$. Furthermore, if $x \leq y \leq H_1$ and $\omega_1(x) = \omega_1(y)$, then $\varphi_1\omega_1(x) = \varphi_1\omega_1(y)$, x = y, and hence ω_1 induces an automorphism of H_1/Z onto J_1/Z . Since $\omega_1(H_1) = J_1 = \omega_1(A)$, it follows that $J_1 J L_{s_1} = A$. Lastly,

$$\varphi_1\omega_1(H_1\mathsf{M} L_{\varphi_1}) = \varphi_1(J_1\mathsf{M} L_{\varphi_1}) = Z, \quad J_1ML_{\varphi_1} = Z.$$

Thus L is the direct join of $J_1, H_2, H_3, \ldots, H_n$.

Applying the same construction to H_2 in this exchange decomposition, the J_k with k > 1 can be re-indexed so that there is a normal operator of Linducing an isomorphism between H_k and J_k such that all of the other exchange decompositions obtain. A natural consequence will be the equation n = m. Thus the Theorem of Ore is fully proved.

4. Complemented lattices

In a vector module over a field F each F-submodule and each factor module over an F-submodule has a dimension given by the number of basis elements over F. Generalizing this concept, we make the following

204

definition. A real-valued function d(a/b) defined on all factor lattices a/b of a given lattice L is called a *dimension function on* L if

(13) d(a/b) is a non-negative real number,

(14)
$$d(a/b) + d(b/c) = d(a/c)$$
 (whence $d(a/a) = 0$),

(15)
$$d(a/b) = d(c/d)$$
 if a/b is projective with c/d .

There is always the trivial dimension function which vanishes on all the factor lattices of L.

In a lattice with normality relation for any three elements a, b, c of L, the statement $a \ b$ implies $d(b/a) \ge d((a \ J(b \ C))/a) = d((c \ Mb)/(c \ Ma))$. Furthermore, if a is subnormal in $a \ J b$, then for any two elements

(16)
$$d((a \downarrow b)/a) \ge d(b/(a \bowtie b)).$$

This is because there is a normal chain $a = a_0 N a_1 N \cdots N a_s = a J b$ projecting into the normal chain $aMb = a_0 M b N (a_1 M b) N \cdots N (a_s M b) = b$, so that $d(a_{i+1}/a_i) \ge d(a_{i+1} M b) a_i M b)$. By adding up these inequalities we obtain (14). In a modular lattice we have, instead of (16), the equality

(17)
$$d((a \mathsf{J} b)/a) = d(b/(a \mathsf{M} b))$$

for any two elements a, b; this is a consequence of the fact that (a Jb)/ais projective with b/(aMb). Conversely, if in a lattice (17) holds for any two elements a, b and if d(x/y) implies x = y, then the lattice is modular. In fact, if (13), (14), (15), and (17) is applied to three elements a, b, c which are in the pentagon relation $aMc \le b \le c \le a Jb$, then we obtain

$$aJb = aJc, aMb = aMc, d((aJb)/c) + d(c/b) = d((aJb)/b) = d(a/(aMb))$$

= $d(a/(aMc)) = d((aJc)/c) = d((aJb)/c, d(c/b) = 0, b = c.$

Condition (15) says that a dimension function is constant on all the members of a family of projectively related factor lattices, so that a dimension function may be interpreted as a non-negative real-valued function on the set F(L) of all families of projectively related factor lattices, subject to the additional condition

(14a)
$$d(f_1 + f_2) = d(f_1) + d(f_2),$$

where we define the sum of two families f_1 , f_a as the family represented by a/c whenever it is possible to represent f_1 by a/b, f_2 by b/c for suitable a, b, c of L. Of course, this definition may not be unique. If L satisfies the double chain condition, then any dimension function is uniquely determined by its values on the simple families represented by factor lattices a/b for which b is maximal under a and different from a. Usually there are defining

relations between the values taken at the simple families because of the fact that an arbitrary family may be represented in various ways as a sum of simple families. Geometrically speaking, we may represent the dimension functions as the points of a convex cone from the origin in the affine space over the simple families of L. However, if L is a submodular lattice satisfying the double chain condition, the Jordan-Hölder Theorem holds, which says that any composition series of L has the same length n and that the n simple factor lattices corresponding to any composition series of L represent the same system of simple families. Hence in this case any assignment of non-negative real numbers to the simple families can be extended to a dimension function.

The normal dimension function on a submodular lattice with double chain condition is obtained by assigning the value 1 to each simple family. The normal dimension of A/Z is equal to n, being the length of a composition series of L. We also say that L is an n-dimensional lattice.

DEFINITION: A lattice is called *complemented* if, for every three elements a, b, c of the lattice satisfying $a \le b \le c$, there is a complement b' of b in the lattice relative to c/a such that b J b' = c, bMb' = a.

A modular lattice L having a maximal element A and a minimal element Z is complemented if and only if for each element b of L there is a complement b' such that b J b' = A, bMb' = Z. In fact, if a, b, c are three elements of L satisfying $a \leq b \leq c$, then

$$b \operatorname{J}(a \operatorname{J}(b'\operatorname{Mc})) = (b \operatorname{J} a) \operatorname{J}(b'\operatorname{Mc}) = b \operatorname{J}(b'\operatorname{Mc}) = (b \operatorname{J} b') \operatorname{Mc} = A \operatorname{Mc} = c,$$

$$b \operatorname{M}(a \operatorname{J}(b'\operatorname{Mc})) = a \operatorname{J}(b'\operatorname{Mc})) = a \operatorname{J}((b \operatorname{Mb'}) \operatorname{Mc}) = a \operatorname{J}(Z \operatorname{Mc}) = a \operatorname{J} Z = a,$$

so that a J(b'Mc) is a complement of b relative to c/a. For example, the normal subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} which is generated by its smallest normal subgroups ± 1 form a complemented modular lattice. Moreover, every normal subgroup $\mathfrak{U} \neq 1$ of \mathfrak{G} is the direct product of some of the smallest normal subgroups ± 1 of \mathfrak{G} .

Proof: First of all, we extend the notion of direct product, which previously was defined only for direct products of finitely many factors, to direct products of infinitely many factors, as follows: The group \mathfrak{G} is called the *direct product of its subgroups* \mathfrak{N} running over a finite or infinite set B of normal subgroups of \mathfrak{G} if in the subgroup lattice of \mathfrak{G} the group \mathfrak{G} is the direct join over B.

This definition coincides with the definition in § 1 in the case of a finite set B.

For any direct decomposition of a group \emptyset into the subgroups belonging to a certain set B and for any subset X of B we have the direct decomposition
$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}$, where \mathfrak{X} is generated by all subgroups belonging to X and \mathfrak{Y} is generated by all the subgroups belonging to B, but not to X. The decomposition operator $\delta_{\mathfrak{X}}$ of the given direct decomposition of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{X} is defined as the mapping that maps any element g of \mathfrak{G} onto the element $(g\mathfrak{Y}) \mathsf{M}\mathfrak{X}$ of \mathfrak{X} . It is a normal operator of \mathfrak{G} mapping \mathfrak{G} onto \mathfrak{X} and inducing the decomposition operator $\delta_{\mathfrak{x}}$ in the subgroup lattice of \mathfrak{G} .

A set of necessary and sufficient conditions that a given subset B of subgroups of \mathfrak{G} lead to a decomposition as a direct product over B is the following:

1. The group & is generated by the subgroups belonging to B.

2. Each subgroup in B is normal; or: any conjugate of any one member \Re of B under another member of B is contained in \Re .

3. The intersection of any one member of B with the subgroups generated by the remainder of B always is 1.

If B is an ordered set, then condition 3. may be replaced by the weaker condition that the intersection of any one member \Re of B with the subgroup generated by the members of B preceding \Re is 1.

Now let us assume that the group \mathfrak{G} is generated by the set S of all the smallest normal subgroups ± 1 of \mathfrak{G} . Well order S so that there is a last element 3. Let \mathfrak{A} be a given normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} and, for each element \mathfrak{N} of S, form the subgroup \mathfrak{N}' of \mathfrak{G} generated by \mathfrak{A} and by all the members of S preceding \mathfrak{N} . It follows that $\mathfrak{Z}'\mathfrak{Z} = \mathfrak{G}$. Let B be the subset of all the members \mathfrak{N} of S for which \mathfrak{N} is not contained in \mathfrak{N}' . We conclude, for these members, that $\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{N}'$ is properly contained in \mathfrak{N} . Since \mathfrak{N} is a smallest normal subgroup ± 1 of \mathfrak{G} and since \mathfrak{N}' is normal in \mathfrak{G} , it follows that $\mathfrak{R}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{N}'$

For any members \Re of S let \Re'' be the subgroup of \mathfrak{G} generated by \mathfrak{A} and by all members \mathfrak{N} of B preceding \mathfrak{R} . If it happens that \mathfrak{N}'' is sometimes not the same as \mathfrak{R}' , then let \mathfrak{R}_1 be the first element of S satisfying $\mathfrak{R}''_1 = \mathfrak{R}'_1$. Hence for all members \mathfrak{N} of S preceding \mathfrak{R}_1 we will have $\mathfrak{N}' = \mathfrak{N}'$. Obviously we have \mathfrak{R}''_1 contained in \mathfrak{R}'_1 . Moreover, if \mathfrak{R}_1 is a limit element in the well ordering of S, then \mathfrak{R}'_1 is the union of the \mathfrak{N}' with \mathfrak{R} preceding \mathfrak{R}_1 ; similarly, \mathfrak{R}''_1 is the union of the \mathfrak{N}'' with \mathfrak{R} preceding \mathfrak{R}_1 . Thus \mathfrak{R}'_1 would be equal to \mathfrak{R}''_1 , which is a contradiction. Since for the first element \mathfrak{R}_0 of \mathfrak{S} we have $\mathfrak{R}'_0 = \mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{R}''_0$, it follows that \mathfrak{R}_0 precedes \mathfrak{R}_1 . If \mathfrak{N} is the immediate predecessor of \mathfrak{R}_1 in the well ordering of S then we find that $\mathfrak{R}'_1 = \mathfrak{R}'\mathfrak{R}$. Either \mathfrak{R} belongs to B—and then $\mathfrak{R}''_1 = \mathfrak{R}'\mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{R}'\mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{R}'_1 \longrightarrow \mathfrak{R}''_2$. At any rate, we end up with the contradiction that \mathfrak{R}'_1 and \mathfrak{R}''_1 coincide. Consequently, $\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}''$ for all \mathfrak{N} of S; in particular, $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{Z}' \mathfrak{Z} = \mathfrak{Z}'' \mathfrak{Z} = \mathfrak{A} \times \mathfrak{B}$, where \mathfrak{B} is the direct product of all the subgroups belonging to B. Thus the normal subgroups of \mathfrak{G} form a complemented modular lattice.

Maintaining the notation, we find in a similar way a direct decomposition of \mathfrak{G} into \mathfrak{B} and the direct product over the members of some other subset Aof S. Since the mapping $x \mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{B}$ onto $x \mathfrak{B}\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{A}$ maps $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{B}$ isomorphically onto \mathfrak{A} , it follows that the decomposition of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{B}$ into the direct product over the smallest normal subgroups ± 1 of the form $\mathfrak{Y}\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{R}$, with \mathfrak{Y} running over A, is mapped onto a decomposition of \mathfrak{A} into the direct product of the smallest normal subgroups ± 1 of the form $(\mathfrak{Y}\mathfrak{P})\mathfrak{M}\mathfrak{A}$.

In the proof just completed, we have used the following property of groups: If T is a well-ördered set of normal subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} generating \mathfrak{G} such that the intersection of any member \mathfrak{X} of T with the subgroup generated by all the members of T which precede \mathfrak{X} is 1, then \mathfrak{G} is the direct product over T. This follows from the more general property: If \mathfrak{U} is an increasing set of subgroups of the group \mathfrak{G} and if \mathfrak{B} is an arbitrary subgroup of \mathfrak{G} , then the intersection of \mathfrak{B} with the union of the members of \mathfrak{U} is equal to the union of the intersections of the members of \mathfrak{U} with \mathfrak{B} . Generalizing this to lattices, we obtain the

BASIS THEOREM OF LATTICE THEORY: If in a complete modular lattice L the all element A is the join of the minimal elements different from the zero element Z and if for any increasing subset U of L the meet of an arbitrary element v of L with the join of U is equal to the join of the elements uMv with u running over U (continuity condition), then L is complemented, and moreover every element of L is the direct join of some minimal elements different from Z.

For groups, we also have the converse: If the modular lattice formed by the normal subgroups of a group G is complemented, then G is generated by its smallest normal subgroups different from 1.

Proof: Let \mathfrak{A} be the subgroup generated by the smallest normal subgroups different from 1 of \mathfrak{G} . If \mathfrak{A} is not \mathfrak{G} then, according to the Maximal Theorem of group theory, there is a maximal normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} of \mathfrak{G} which contains \mathfrak{A} and is not \mathfrak{G} . By assumption, there is a direct decomposition of \mathfrak{G} into \mathfrak{N} and another normal subgroup \mathfrak{M} different from 1. Since \mathfrak{M} is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$, it follows from the maximal property of \mathfrak{N} that \mathfrak{M} is a smallest normal subgroup different from 1 of \mathfrak{G} ; thus \mathfrak{M} is contained in \mathfrak{A} and is therefore also contained in \mathfrak{N} , contrary to the construction of \mathfrak{M} . It follows that $\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{G}$, Q. E. D.

DEFINITION: In a lattice L we have unique complementation if for any three elements a, b, c of L the equations a J b = a J c, aMb = aMc imply b = c.

208

In other words, there is at most one complement of x relative to y/z whenever $z \le x \le y$.

DEFINITION: A lattice is called *distributive* if it satisfies the distributive law for lattice operations

(18)
$$a \mathbf{M}(b \mathbf{J} c) = (a \mathbf{M} b) \mathbf{J}(a \mathbf{M} c)$$
 for any a, b, c of L

The modular law is a special case of the distributive law, namely the case for which in (18) $a \ge b$ and therefore the simpler form

$$(18a) a \mathsf{M}(b \mathsf{J} c) = b \mathsf{J}(a \mathsf{M} c)$$

obtains.

The distributive law implies the uniqueness of complementation, since from $a \downarrow b = a \downarrow c$, aMb = aMc we deduce

$$a' = (a \operatorname{J}(b \operatorname{M} c)) \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c) = (a \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c)) \operatorname{J}(b \operatorname{M} c).$$

From the modular law we deduce, furthermore,

$$a'Mb = (a J (bMc))M(b J c)Mb = (a J (bMc))Mb = (aMb) J (bMc)$$

= (aMc) J (bMc) = a'Mc.

From the distributive law we deduce

$$a' = a' \mathsf{M}(b \mathsf{J} c) = (a' \mathsf{M} b) \mathsf{J}(a' \mathsf{M} c) = a' \mathsf{M} b = a' \mathsf{M} c.$$

Finally,

$$a' = (a \operatorname{J}(b\operatorname{M} c))\operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c) = (a \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c)) \operatorname{J}(b \operatorname{M} c),$$

$$b = a' \operatorname{J} b = (a \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c)) \operatorname{J}(b \operatorname{M} c) \operatorname{J} b = (a \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c)) \operatorname{J} b$$

$$= (a \operatorname{J} b) \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c) = (a \operatorname{J} c) \operatorname{M}(b \operatorname{J} c) = c.$$

Conversely, the uniqueness of complementation in a lattice L implies the modular law, because L cannot contain a pentagon sublattice. Moreover, we demonstrate the distributive law (18) as follows.

Let a, b, c be any three elements of L; then by the modular law,

$$u = (a \mathbf{M} (b \mathbf{J} c)) \mathbf{J} (b \mathbf{M} c) = (a \mathbf{J} (b \mathbf{M} c)) \mathbf{M} (b \mathbf{J} c)$$

and $b M c \leq u \leq b J c$,

$$(b\mathbf{M}(u \mathbf{J} c)) \mathbf{J}(u\mathbf{M} c) \mathbf{J} u = (b\mathbf{M}(u \mathbf{J} c)) \mathbf{J} u = (b \mathbf{J} u)\mathbf{M}(c \mathbf{J} u)$$
$$= (c\mathbf{M}(u \mathbf{J} b)) \mathbf{J}(u\mathbf{M} b) \mathbf{J} u.$$

By duality,

$$(b \operatorname{J}(u\operatorname{M} c))\operatorname{M}(u \operatorname{J} c)\operatorname{M} u = (c \operatorname{J}(u\operatorname{M} b))\operatorname{M}(u \operatorname{J} b)\operatorname{M} u.$$

By the modular law, we obtain

$$(b \mathsf{M}(u \mathsf{J} c)) \mathsf{J}(u \mathsf{M} c) = (b \mathsf{J}(u \mathsf{M} c)) \mathsf{M}(u \mathsf{J} c),$$

$$(c \mathsf{M}(u \mathsf{J} b)) \mathsf{J}(u \mathsf{M} b) = (c \mathsf{J}(u \mathsf{M} b)) \mathsf{M}(u \mathsf{J} b).$$

From the uniqueness of complementation it follows that

$$(b \mathsf{M}(u \mathsf{J} c)) \mathsf{J}(u \mathsf{M} c) = (c \mathsf{M}(u \mathsf{J} b)) \mathsf{J}(u \mathsf{M} b).$$

Furthermore,

$$(bM(u \ J \ c)) \ J(uMc) \ J(cM(u \ J \ b)) \ J(uMb) = (bM(u \ J \ c)) \ J(cM(u \ J \ b))$$

$$(20a) = ((bM(u \ J \ c)) \ J \ c) \ M(u \ J \ b) = (b \ J \ c) \ M(u \ J \ c) \ M(u \ J \ b)$$

$$\underline{=} (b \ J \ u) \ M(c \ J \ u) = (bM(u \ J \ c)) \ J(uMc) \ J \ u.$$

By duality,

(20b)
$$(b J (uMc)) M (u J c) M (c J (uMb)) M (u J b) = (uMb) J (uMc) = (b J (uMc)) M (u J c) M u.$$

Applying the uniqueness of complementation to (20a, b) and (19), it follows that

$$(b J (uMc))M(u Jc) = u = (c J (uMb))M(u Jc),$$

$$u = (uMb) J (uMc) = ((aJ (bMc))Mb) J ((a J (bMc))Mc)$$

$$= (aMb) J (aMc) J (bMc),$$

$$aM(b Jc)M(bMc) = aMbMc = (aMbMc) J (aMbMc)$$

$$= ((aMb) J (aMc))M(bMc);$$

(18) now follows from the uniqueness of complementation.

Since the uniqueness of complementation is a self-dual property, the same is true for the distributive law. In other words, (18) is equivalent to

(18a)
$$a \operatorname{J}(b\operatorname{M} c) = (a \operatorname{J} b)\operatorname{M}(a \operatorname{J} c)$$
 for a, b, c in L .

It is not difficult to show that all elements x of a lattice L that satisfy the distributive rules

for all pairs of elements b, c of L form a distributive sublattice D(L) of L which coincides with L if and only if L is distributive. Moreover, if L is complemented, then D(L) is also complemented.

In order to prove the last statement, let b be an element of D(L), and let u, v be two elements of L for which bMu = bMv, bJu = bJv; then

210

 $u = u \operatorname{J}(b\operatorname{M} u) = u \operatorname{J}(b\operatorname{M} v) = (u \operatorname{J} b)\operatorname{M}(u \operatorname{J} v) = (v \operatorname{J} b)\operatorname{M}(v \operatorname{J} u) = v$. Hence for every element b of D(L) there is only one complement relative to any factor lattice c/a containing b. Let a, b, c in D(L), and let $a \leq b \leq c$. Since L is complemented, there is an element b' in L for which b \operatorname{J} b' = c, b \operatorname{M} b' = a. It follows that for any two elements x, y

$$b J((b' M x) J(b' M y)) = (b' M x) Jb J(b' M y) = ((b Jb')M(b J x)) J((b Jb')M(b J y)) = (cM(b J x)) J(cM(b J y)) = cM((b J x) J(b J y)) = (b Jb')M(b J(x J y)) = b J(b' M(x J y)), bM((b' M x) J(b' M y)) = (b Mb' M x) J(b Mb' M y) = (a M x) J(a M y) = a M(x J y) = (b Mb')M(x J y) = b M(b' M(x J y)).$$

Since there is only one complement of b relative to the factor lattice (b J((b'Mx) J(b'My)))/(bM((b'Mx) J(b'My))), we find (b'Mx) J(b'My) = b'M(x Jy). By duality, (b' Jx)M(b' Jy) = b' J(xMy). Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} b \ J(x M(b' \ J y)) &= (b \ J x) M(b \ J b') = (b \ J x) M(c \ J y) \\ &= ((c \ J x) M(c \ J y)) M(b \ J x) = (c \ J (x M y)) M(b \ J x) = (c M(b \ J x)) M(x M y) \\ &= ((b \ J x) M(b \ J b')) J(x M y) = (b \ J (x M b')) J(x M y) \\ &= b \ J ((x M b') \ J (x M y)), \end{aligned}$$

$$bM(xM(b' Jy)) = xMgM(b' Jy) = xM((bMb') J(bMy))$$

= xM(a J(bMb)) = (aMx) J(xM(bMy)) = (bM(xMb')) J(bM(xMy))
= bM((xMb') J(xMy)).

Since there is only one complement of b relative to (b J(xM(b'Jy)))/(bM(xM(b'Jy))), it follows that xM(b'Jy) = (xMb') J(xMy), and by duality, x J(b'My) = (x Jb') J(xMy). Hence b' belongs to D(L), and this shows that D(L) is complemented.

If L is a complemented modular lattice with all element A and zero element Z, then for every element of D(L) there is precisely one complement in L. Conversely, let a be an element of L with precisely one complement a' in L for which a Ja' = A, aMa' = Z. The investigation to follow will show that a belongs to D(L).

For any x of L we have $(a M x) J(z' M x) \le x$; hence there is a complement y of (a M x) J(a' M x) relative to x/Z such that (a M x) J(a' M x) J y = x, ((a M x) J(a' M x)) M y = Z. Hence

$$x \operatorname{M} y = y$$
, $a \operatorname{M} y = a \operatorname{M} x \operatorname{M} y = (a \operatorname{M} x) \operatorname{M} ((a \operatorname{M} x) \operatorname{J} (a' \operatorname{M} x)) \operatorname{M} y = a \operatorname{M} x \operatorname{M} z = Z$.

There is a complement z of (a J y)Ma' relative to a'/Z such that ((a J y)Ma') J z = a', (a J y)Ma'Mz = Z. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} (a \ J \ y) \mathsf{M}z &= Z, \\ a \ J \ y \ \mathsf{J}z &= (a \ \mathsf{J} \ y))((a \ \mathsf{J} \ y) \mathsf{M}a') \ \mathsf{J}z = a \ \mathsf{J} \ y \ \mathsf{J}a' = y \ \mathsf{J}a \ \mathsf{J}a' = y \ \mathsf{J}A = A, \\ a \ \mathsf{M}(y \ \mathsf{J}z) &= a \ \mathsf{M}(a \ \mathsf{J} \ y) \mathsf{M}(y \ \mathsf{J}z) = a \ \mathsf{M}(y \ \mathsf{J}((a \ \mathsf{J} \ y) \mathsf{M}z)) = a \ \mathsf{M}(y \ \mathsf{J}Z) \\ &= a \ \mathsf{M} \ y = Z. \end{aligned}$$

Since there is only one complement of a in L, it follows that $y Jz = a', \quad y = a' M x M y = z' M x M y M((a M x) J(z' M x)) = a' M x M Z = Z,$ x = (a M x) J(a' M x).

By duality we obtain x = (a J x) M (a' J x).

If $x = u \operatorname{J} u'$, $u \le a$, $u' \le a'$, then $a \operatorname{M} x = a \operatorname{M} (u \operatorname{J} u') = u \operatorname{J} (a \operatorname{M} u') = u \operatorname{J} (a \operatorname{M} a' \operatorname{M} u') = u \operatorname{J} Z = u$,

and similarly s' M x = u'. Hence if $x = x_1 J x_2$, then

$$\begin{aligned} x &= (a \, M \, x_1) \, J \, (a' \, M \, x_1) \, J \, (a \, M \, x_2) \, J \, (a' \, M \, x_2) \\ &= ((a \, M \, x_1) \, J \, (a \, M \, x_2)) \, J \, ((a' \, M \, x_1 \, J \, (a' \, M \, x_2)), \\ a \, M \, x &= (a \, M \, x_1) \, J \, (a \, M \, x_2), \ a' \, M \, x &= (a' \, M \, x_1) \, J \, (a' \, M \, x_2). \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, if $x = x_1 M x_2$, then we have

$$a M x = a M x_1 M x_2 = (a M x_1) M (a M x_2), \quad a' M x = (a' M x_1) M (a' M x_2).$$

The last statements suggest the following definition.

DEFINITION: The vector sum of two lattices L_1, L_2 is the lattice $DU(L_1, L_2)$ consisting of all the ordered pairs (x_1, x_2) with the component x_i in L_i , subject to the rules of operation

$$\begin{aligned} (x_1, x_2) \, \mathsf{J}\,(y_1, y_2) &= (x_1 \,\mathsf{J}\,y_1, x_2 \,\mathsf{J}\,y_2) \\ (x_1, x_2) \,\mathsf{M}\,(y_1, y_2) &= (x_1 \,\mathsf{M}\,x_2, x_2 \,\mathsf{M}\,y_2). \end{aligned}$$

It is clear that $L = DU(L_1, L_2)$ is also a lattice. Moreover, D(L) consists of all the pairs (x_1, x_2) with x_i contained in $D(L_i)$ such that $D(L) = DU(D(L_1), D(L_2))$.

If L is a complemented modular lattice with all element A and zero element Z, then for every element a of L with unique complement a' in L it was shown above that there is an isomorphism between L and DU(a/Z, a'/Z), namely, the isomorphism that maps the element x of L onto the pair (zMx, a'Mx). Hence both a and a' belong to D(L).

DEFINITION: A lattice is called *irreducible* if it is not isomorphic to the vector sum of two lattices of more than one element each. An irreducible finite-dimensional complemented modular lattice is called a *projective geometry*.

The minimal elements $\neq Z$ of a projective geometry are called the *points*. In the scale of dimensionality the points are followed by the lines, planes, 3-hyperplanes, etc. An example of a projective geometry is provided by the *n*-dimensional lattice $\Gamma(n-1, F)$ formed by the *F*-submodules of an *n*-dimensional vector module over a division ring *F*. There is precisely one 1-dimensional projective geometry that consists only of the all element and the zero element. The only projective geometries of dimension 2 are, *q* being any ordinal greater than 1, the lattices $\Gamma(1, q)$ consisting of q + 3elements $a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_{q+2}$ subject to the composition rules:

(i) $a_0 \mathsf{M} a_i = a_0$,

(ii) $a_0 \, \mathsf{J} \, a_i = a_i,$

(iii) $a_{q+2}\mathsf{M}a_i = a_i,$

(v) if 0 < i < j < q + 2, then $a_i M a_j = a_0$, $a_i J a_j = a_{q+2}$.

A projective geometry that is isomorphic to a factor lattice of a projective geometry of dimension greater than 3 is called *Desarguean*. $\Gamma(n, F)$, for example, is Desarguean. It is a fundamental theorem of projective geometry that every Desarguean projective geometry is isomorphic to a $\Gamma(n, F)$ where, in case *n* is greater than 1, the division ring *F* is uniquely determined up to isomorphism. Also, every projective geometry of more than 3 dimensions is Desarguean. There are non-Desarguean 3-dimensional geometries. But even the finite ones cannot be completely classified yet.

We define the vector sum of an arbitrary set S of lattices as the lattice DU(S) consisting of all functions f defined on S for which f(L) is contained in L for each member L of S and f Jg(L) = f(L) Jg(L), fMg(L) = f(L)Mg(L). The operation DU is associative and commutative in the widest possible sense. It coincides with the previously defined operation in the case of a set of two lattices.

Each of the following is a property that is satisfied by a vector sum if and only if it is satisfied by each vector summand: That of being comple-

¹ Note that the geometrical dimension is obtained from the lattice-theoretical dimension by subtracting 1. In what follows only the lattice-theoretical dimension is mentioned.

mented, distributivity, modularity, that of having an all element or a zero element, and completeness.

An isomorphism of a lattice L onto a vector sum is called a vector decomposition of L. If L has a maximal and a minimal element, a vector decomposition of L leads to a direct decomposition of D(L) into the elements of D(L)which are mapped onto those vectors that have all but one of its components zero, the remaining component being the all element. Conversely, any representation of a lattice L as the direct join of finitely many elements of D(L) is derived from a vector decomposition.

A Remak vector decomposition is a vector decomposition into irreducible components each consisting of at least two elements. If L has an all element and a zero element, then there is at most one Remak vector decomposition. It corresponds to the Remak decomposition of D(L). Every finite-dimensional complemented modular lattice has a Remak vector decomposition into projective geometries.

If the modular lattice formed by the normal subgroups of a group \mathfrak{G} is complemented and distributive, then the subgroup lattice of \mathfrak{G} is the Remak vector sum of the lattices $\mathfrak{N}/1$ with \mathfrak{N} running over the smallest normal subgroups different from 1 of \mathfrak{G} . The lattice formed by the normal subgroups of such a group is isomorphic to the subset lattice of the set of all smallest normal subgroups different from 1.

A set of necessary and sufficient conditions that the lattice of the normal subgroups of a group G be complemented and distributive, is the following:

1. The group @ is generated by its smallest normal subgroups different from 1.

2. A smallest normal subgroup different from 1 either is non-abelian, or is abelian and non-isomorphic to any other smallest normal subgroup different from 1 of \mathfrak{G} .

A particular case is that of the *semi-simple groups*, which are defined as the groups that have a decomposition into the direct product of non-abelian simple groups. They are characterized by the extreme rigidity of the structure formed by the normal subgroups, viz., by the property that in any semi-simple group and in any direct product of semi-simple groups there is for any normal subgroup precisely one complementary normal subgroup. A simple group is semi-simple is and only if it is non-abelian. The direct product of semi-simple groups is semi-simple.

For any complete lattice L we define the *Frattini element* $\Phi(L)$ of L to be the meet of A and of all the maximal elements of L that are different from A. The Frattini element in the subgroup lattice of a group coincides

with the Frattini subgroup of the given group. The Frattini element of a complete lattice L is the join of all elements x of L with the property that x J y = A always implies y = A.

The descending Frattini series is recursively defined as

$$\Phi_0(L) = A, \ \Phi_1(L) = \Phi(L), \ \ldots, \ \Phi_n(L) = \Phi(\Phi_{n-1}(L)/Z), \ \ldots$$

It follows that

$$\Phi(\Phi_{n-1}(L)/\Phi_n(L)) = \Phi_n(L).$$

The dual concept is the ascending Frattini series: $\Phi^0(L) = Z, \Phi^1(L) =$ the join of Z and of all minimal elements $\pm Z, \ldots, \Phi^n(L) = \Phi^1(A/\Phi^{n-1}(L)), \ldots$. If L is a modular lattice, then the Frattini series is called a Lowey series. From the modularity it follows that $\Phi_1(a/b) \leq (\Phi_1(L)Ma) Jb, \Phi^1(a/b) \geq (\Phi^1(L) Ja)Mb$. If L is of finite dimension, then all three statements ${}^{\circ}\Phi_1(L) = Z', \Phi^1(L) = A'$, and 'L is complemented' are equivalent, as follows from the basis theorem.

For a complete modular lattice L we define a Loewy chain of length r as a chain $A = a_0 \ge a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \cdots \ge a_r = Z$ in which all the factor lattices a_i/a_{i+1} are complemented. It follows that

(21)
$$\Phi_i(L) \le a_i, \quad \Phi^i(L) \ge a_{r-i}.$$

The Loewy series become Loewy chains by elimination of repetitions, provided both A and Z are members of the given Loewy series. From (21) there follows the

THEOREM OF LOEWY: For a complete modular lattice, the two statements

$$egin{aligned} A &= \varPhi_{\mathfrak{0}}(L) > \varPhi_{\mathfrak{1}}(L) > \cdots > \varPhi_{\lambda}(L) = Z, \ A &= \varPhi^{\lambda'}(L) > \varPhi^{\lambda'-1}(L) > \cdots > \varPhi^{\mathfrak{0}}(L) = Z \end{aligned}$$

are equivalent; that is, if the descending Loewy series without repetitions is a Loewy chain then the ascending Loewy series without repetitions is also a Loewy chain, and vice versa. Moreover

$$(22) \qquad \qquad \Phi_i(L) \le \Phi^{\lambda'-1}(L),$$

and therefore $\lambda = \lambda'$.

Example: The descending Loewy series without repetitions of a group S with a composition series is defined as the characteristic chain

(23)
$$\mathfrak{G} = \Lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathfrak{G}) > \Lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathfrak{G}) > \cdots > \Lambda_{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathfrak{G}) = 1,$$

where $\Lambda_1(\mathfrak{G})$ is the intersection of all the maximal normal subgroups $\neq \mathfrak{G}$ of \mathfrak{G} , and $\Lambda_{i+1}(\mathfrak{G}) = \Lambda_1(\Lambda_i(\mathfrak{G}))$. Since the intersection of all the subgroups of a normal subgroup \mathfrak{R} of \mathfrak{G} that are conjugate to a maximal normal

subgroup of \mathfrak{N} under \mathfrak{G} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} maximal under \mathfrak{N} , it follows that $\Lambda_{i+1}(\mathfrak{G})$ can also be defined as the intersection of all the normal subgroups of \mathfrak{G} that are maximal under $\Lambda_i(\mathfrak{G})$.

Similarly, the ascending Loewy series without repetitions of (9 is defined as the characteristic chain

(23)
$$\mathfrak{G} = \Lambda^{\lambda'}(\mathfrak{G}) > \Lambda^{\lambda'-1}(\mathfrak{G}) > \cdots > \Lambda^{\mathfrak{g}}(\mathfrak{G}) = 1,$$

where $\Lambda^{1}(\mathfrak{G})$ is the subgroup generated by all the smallest normal subgroups ± 1 of \mathfrak{G} , and $\Lambda^{i+1}(\mathfrak{G})/\Lambda^{i}(\mathfrak{G}) = \Lambda^{1}(\mathfrak{G}/\Lambda^{i}(\mathfrak{G}))$. As a consequence of Loewy's Theorem, we note the equality $\lambda = \lambda'$ of the length of the two characteristic chains (22) and (23) and the relation

(24)
$$\Lambda_i(\mathfrak{G}) \leq \Lambda^{\lambda-i}(\mathfrak{G})$$

between its members.

APPENDIX C

FREE PRODUCTS AND GROUPS GIVEN BY A SET OF GENERATORS AND A SYSTEM OF DEFINING RELATIONS

An Introduction to §§ 3-9 of Chap. III

Let us consider the subgroups of a given group \mathfrak{G} . It may happen that some of them, say $\mathfrak{h}_1, \mathfrak{h}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_r$, generate the full group. We are interested in knowing to what extent the structure of \mathfrak{G} is determined by the structure of the generating subgroups $\mathfrak{h}_1, \mathfrak{h}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_r$. With this in mind, we make the following definition:

A semi-group \mathfrak{S} with a unit element $1_{\mathfrak{S}}$ is called a product over the system H of semi-groups with unit element if for each semigroup \mathfrak{h} contained in H there is given a homomorphism $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}$ of \mathfrak{h} into \mathfrak{S} such that $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}(1_{\mathfrak{h}}) = 1_{\mathfrak{S}}$ and \mathfrak{S} is generated by all the images $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}(h)$ with \mathfrak{h} running over H and h running over the elements of the semi-group \mathfrak{h} of H.

A homomorphic mapping Θ of one product over H, say \mathfrak{S} , onto another such product, say \mathfrak{S} , is called a homomorphism over H if $\Theta \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}(h) = \tilde{\sigma}_{\mathfrak{h}}(h)$ for any element h of the semi-group \mathfrak{h} running over H. Here, of course, $\tilde{\sigma}_{\mathfrak{h}}$ denotes the homomorphism corresponding to $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}$ in the definition of \mathfrak{S} as a product over H. It is clear that there can be at most one homomorphism over H between any two given products over H, since every element xof \mathfrak{S} can be written as

$$x = \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1) \cdot \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_2}(h_2) \cdot \cdot \cdot \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r),$$

where h_i belongs to the semi-group \mathfrak{h}_i of H for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$, and thus

$$\begin{array}{l} \displaystyle \varTheta(x) = \varTheta(\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1) \cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r)) = \varTheta\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1) \cdot \varTheta\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_2}(h_2) \cdots \varTheta\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r) \\ \displaystyle = \bar{\sigma}_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_1) \cdot \bar{\sigma}_{\mathfrak{h}_n}(h_2) \cdots \cdot \bar{\sigma}_{\mathfrak{h}_n}(h_r). \end{array}$$

The relation 'homomorph over H' is reflexive and transitive, but not symmetric. In fact, the identity mapping provides an isomorphism over H for any product over H. If Θ_1 is a homomorphism over H of the product \mathfrak{S}_1 onto the product \mathfrak{S}_2 over H and if Θ_2 is a homomorphism over Hof the product \mathfrak{S}_2 onto the product \mathfrak{S}_3 over H, then $\Theta_2 \Theta_1$ is a homomorphism over H of \mathfrak{S}_1 onto \mathfrak{S}_3 . The group of one element together with the set of mappings of each element h of each member h of H onto the unit element provides the trivial product over H. For every product over H we obtain

218 C. Free Products; Groups given by Generators and Defining Relations

a homomorphism over H onto the trivial product over H by mapping each element onto the unity element. But there is no converse homomorphism over H unless both products over H are trivial. More generally, two products over H are mutually homomorphic over H if and only if they are isomorphic over H in one direction.

DEFINITION: A product over H is called a *free product* over H if it can be mapped homomorphically over H onto any product over H.

It is immediate that two free products over H are isomorphic over H. There always is a free product over H. As a first step in constructing a free product over H, we denote by $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ the system of all 'words' over H, i. e. all expressions $h_1 h_2 \cdots h_r$ —denoted for brevity by W—where the length rranges over all the natural numbers and the letters h_i of the word W denote any element of any semi-group \mathfrak{h}_i belonging to H. Furthermore, we denote by Z the *empty word*, which has no letters and which, by definition, is the only word of length 0. Two words are called *equal* if they are of equal length and if corresponding letters denote equal elements of equal semi-groups. This notion of equality has the usual three properties.

Two words W_1 , W_2 are multiplied by juxtaposition, e. g., for $W_1 = h_1 h_2 \cdots h_r$, $W_2 = h_{r+1} h_{r+2} \cdots h_{r+s}$ we define the product by $W_1 W_2 = h_1 h_2 \cdots h_{r+s}$; in particular, Z W = WZ = W for any word W.

It is important to note that the product of a word of length r and a word of length s is uniquely defined as a word of length r + s.

From the definition it is clear that the associative law of multiplication holds. Thus the words over H form a semi-group $\mathfrak{B}(H)$, with the empty word as unit element.

In a word $W = h_1 h_2 \cdots h_r$, it may happen

1. in case $\mathfrak{h}_i = \mathfrak{h}_{i+1}$ that the product h' of the two elements h_i , h_{i+1} is defined within the semi-group \mathfrak{h}_i , or

2. that $h_i = 1_{h_i}$.

In the first case, we replace the two letters concerned by h'; in the second case, we simply omit 1_{b_i} . Either process will be called a *reduction*, and we will write

Case 1: $W = \cdots h_i h_{i+1} \cdots \rightarrow W' = \cdots h' \cdots$, Case 2: $W = \cdots 1_h, \cdots \rightarrow W' = \cdots \cdots$,

where the dots always refer to unaltered letters.

The reverse process we will call an *anti-reduction*. Both processes are referred to as *elementary transformations*. Writing $W \rightarrow W'$ if the word W' is obtained by a reduction from the word W, we establish a binary relation

in the set $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ of words over H. The normalized relation is the congruence relation between words, defined as follows:

$$W \equiv W'$$

if there is a chain of words $W = W_0, W_1, \ldots, W_s = W'$ such that for each index $i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, s - 1$ either $W_i = W_{i+1}$ or $W_i \rightarrow W_{i+1}$ or $W_{i+1} \rightarrow W_i$. This congruence relation is normal and multiplicative. In fact, the normality follows from the definition as normalized relation (see Chap. I, Ex. 17). The substitution law of multiplication follows by repeated application of the following statement:

If
$$W \to W'$$
, then $W_1 W \to W_1 W'$ and $W W_1 \to W' W_1$,

which can be verified directly without any difficulty.

We denote the class of words congruent to the word W by |W|. The factor semi-group \mathfrak{F} of $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ over the normal multiplicative relation defined above (for its definition, see Chap. II, Ex. 12) formed by the classes of congruent words that are multiplied by multiplication of the representatives, is a product over H. The correspondence of the element h of the member \mathfrak{h} of H with the class |h| represented by the one-letter word h, in fact, defines a homomorphism of the semi-group \mathfrak{h} into \mathfrak{F} , since for hh' = h'' in \mathfrak{h} it follows that $hh' \to h''$ in $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ and hence |hh'| = |h''|, $|h| \cdot |h'| = |h''|$. Furthermore, for each word $W = h_1h_2 \cdots h_r$ of positive length we have $|W| = |h_1| \cdot |h_2| \cdot |h_3| \cdots |h_r|$. Finally, the empty word Zis congruent to each of the words 1_0 , \mathfrak{h} being any member of H, so that $|Z| = |1_0|$. Hence the totality of the homomorphic images of \mathfrak{h} in H generates \mathfrak{K} .

The product \mathfrak{F} over H is free. To see this, let the semi-group \mathfrak{S} with unit element be an arbitrary product over H for which the given homomorphism of each semi-group \mathfrak{h} contained in H into \mathfrak{S} is $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}$. Note that $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}(1_{\mathfrak{h}}) = 1_{\mathfrak{S}}$. Furthermore, the semi-group \mathfrak{S} is generated by the sub-semigroups $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{h})$, with \mathfrak{h} a member of H. Let us construct the homomorphism θ of \mathfrak{F} onto \mathfrak{S} over H which maps the class $|h_1h_2\cdots h_r|$ onto $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1)\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_2}(h_2)\cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r)$ and |Z| onto $1_{\mathfrak{S}}$. This mapping is unique, since if

$$\cdots h_i h_{i+1} \cdots \rightarrow \cdots h' \cdots$$

$$\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_i}(h_i)\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{i+1}}(h_{i+1})\cdots = \cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_i}(h')\cdots$$

then and if

$$\cdots 1_{h_{r}} \cdots \rightarrow \cdots \cdots$$

then

$$\cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{f}}}(1_{\mathfrak{h}_{\mathfrak{f}}}) \cdots = \cdots \cdots$$

The preservation of multiplication follows from considering two words $W_1 = h_1 h_2 \cdots h_r$ and $W_2 = h_{r+1} \cdots h_{r+s}$. We have

$$\begin{split} \Theta(W_1) &= \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1)\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_2}(h_2) \cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r), \\ \Theta(W_2) &= \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{r+1}}(h_{r+1})\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{r+2}}(h_{r+2}) \cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{r+4}}(h_{r+2}), \\ \Theta(|W_1||W_2|) &= \Theta(|W_1W_2|) = \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1) \cdots \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{r+4}}(h_{r+4}) \\ &= \Theta(|W_1|)\Theta(|W_2|), \quad \text{Q. E. D.} \end{split}$$

We denote the free product over H, as constructed in the preceding, by $\prod_{i=1}^{k} \mathfrak{h}$

If H consists of finitely many semi-groups $\mathfrak{h}_1, \mathfrak{h}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{h}_r$, then we also write $\mathfrak{h}_1 * \mathfrak{h}_2 * \cdots * \mathfrak{h}_r$ for the free product. It is independent of the order of the factors, and it is associative.

For many applications it is necessary to solve the word problem for a given product, that is, to determine a general procedure by which it can be decided in a finite number N of computational steps whether two given words W_1 , W_2 interpreted as elements of the product are equal. This is understood to imply that the number N be not greater than a certain recursive function that depends only on the length of W_1 and W_2 ; we speak in that case of an effective solution of the word problem.

It has been shown that an effective solution of the word problem does not always exist. However, in free products we can solve it quite easily. For the most elegant solution, see Ex. 1, Appendix D. A method of solution that lends itself to other applications will now be given.

We call a word *irreducible* if no reduction can be made. Since any reduction diminishes the length by 1, it follows that every word of length r can be reduced to an irreducible word by at most r reductions.

LEMMA: If $W \to W_1$, $W \to W_2$, $W_1 = W_2$, then there is a word W_3 such that $W_1 \to W_3$, $W_2 \to W_3$.

Proof: a) If no unit elements are eliminated, then we distinguish two cases.

1. $W = \cdots h_i h_{i+1} \cdots h_j h_{j+1} \cdots;$ $W \to W_1 = \cdots h' \cdots h_j h_{j+1} \cdots;$ $W \to W_2 = \cdots h_i h_{i+1} \cdots h'' \cdots.$

Set $W_a = \cdots h' \cdots h'' \cdots$.

C. Free Products; Groups given by Generators and Defining Relations 221

2.

$$W = \cdots h_i h_{i+1} h_{i+2} \cdots;$$

$$W \to W_1 = \cdots h' h_{i+2} \cdots;$$

$$W \to W_2 = \cdots h_i h'' \cdots.$$

Thus the semi-groups \mathfrak{h}_i , \mathfrak{h}_{i+1} , \mathfrak{h}_{i+2} coincide, and within \mathfrak{h}_i the equations $h_i h_{i+1} = h'$, $h_{i+1} h_{i+2} = h''$, h' h'' = h hold. Set $W_a = \cdots h \cdots$.

b) In the event that unit elements are to be eliminated, we have

1.

| $W=\cdots h_ih_{i+1}\cdots 1_{\mathfrak{h}_j}\cdots;$ |
|---|
| $W \to W_1 = \cdots h' \cdots 1_{\mathfrak{h}} \cdots;$ |
| $W \to W_2 = \cdots h_i h_{i+1} \cdots$ |

Set $W_a = \cdots h' \cdots$.

2.

| W | = | • | ••• | 1 ₁₎ , | 1 ₁₁ , • | • • |
|----------------|---|-----|-----|-----------------------|---------------------|-----|
| W ₁ | = | • | •• | · · · 1 _{ħ;} | · · ·; | |
| W_2 | | • • | • • | 1 _{6,} | · · · . | |

Set $W_3 = \cdots \cdots$.

Note that there is no loss of generality in considering the particular orders we have selected and that in each case $W_1 \rightarrow W_3$, $W_2 \rightarrow W_3$.

;

On the basis of the preceding observations, let us investigate the problem of reduction in general.

To every binary relation $a \to b$ in a set S there belongs a poset, where $a \ge b$ signifies the fact that there is a chain $a = a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_r = b$ of length $r \ge 0$ linking a and b such that either (i) r = 0 and a = b or (ii) r > 0 and $a_0 \to a_1, a_1 \to a_2, \ldots, a_{r-1} \to a_r$.

That the \geq relation is reflexive and transitive is immediate. Also, if $a \rightarrow b$, then $a \geq b$. The two relations coincide if and only if the relation \rightarrow is itself reflexive and transitive.

An element x of a \geq poset is called *minimal* if $x \geq y$ implies $y \geq x$. Any element equivalent to a minimal element is itself minimal.

An element of a set S is called *irreducible* with respect to a given binary relation $a \rightarrow b$ if it is minimal in the corresponding poset.

A chain of elements $a = a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_r = b$ of S leading from a to b such that b is irreducible and either r = 0 and a = b or $r > 0, a_0 \rightarrow a_1, \ldots, a_{r-1} \rightarrow a_r$ is called a complete reduction of a to its result b. The element a is called completely reducible if there is a complete reduction of a. Every irreducible element, for example, is completely reducible.

222 C. Free Products; Groups given by Generators and Defining Relations

As another example, in our special case of the set of all words over a system of semi-groups with unit element, every word is completely reducible. A word is irreducible if and only if it has no unit letter and adjacent letters belong to different semi-groups.

A set with reduction is defined as a set S with a binary relation $a \rightarrow b$, where:

1. The poset belonging to the relation \rightarrow satisfies the minimal condition: In any monotonic decreasing sequence $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge a_3 \ge \cdots$ there is an index *n* for which all members $a_n, a_{n+1}, a_{n+2}, \ldots$ of the sequence from the *n*-th member on are equivalent;

2. (Birkhoff condition.) If $a \to b$, $a \to c$, then there is an element d such that $b \ge d$, $c \ge d$.

For example, the set of all words over a system of semi-groups with unit element in which the \rightarrow relation is defined as above is a set with reduction.

For such sets we have the

PRINCIPLE OF REDUCTION: Every element is completely reducible, and the result of a complete reduction is uniquely determined up to equivalence.

Proof of the Principle of Reduction: Owing to the minimal condition for each element a, there is an irreducible element b satisfying $a \ge b$ which can be obtained by a complete reduction from a.

It is convenient to write a > b in place of $a \ge b$ but not $b \ge a$.' This relation is transitive, but not reflexive.

We form the subset S' of S which consists of all the elements p of S having the property that $p \ge x$, $p \ge y$ in S implies the existence of an element z of S satisfying $x \ge z$, $y \ge z$. All irreducible elements of S, for example, belong to S'. If x, y are the results of two complete reductions of the element p of S', then it follows that there is an element z in S satisfying $x \ge z$, $y \ge z$, and since both x and y are irreducible, we find that x is equivalent to z, z equivalent to y, and thus x equivalent to z. Hence for each element of S' the result of a complete reduction is uniquely determined up to equivalence. We now wish to show that the difference set S - S' is empty.

If a is in S but not in S', then there are two elements x, y of S such that $a \ge x, a \ge y$, and for any element z of S satisfying $x \ge z$ we never have $y \ge z$. Since $y \ge y$, it follows that $x \ge y$ cannot hold. Hence $x \ge a$ cannot hold, and thus a > x. Similarly, a > y. There are chains $a = a_0 \rightarrow a_1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow a_r = x, a = b_0 \rightarrow b_1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow b_s = y$ and indices i, j satisfying

 $0 \leq i < r, 0 \leq j < s$ such that (i) a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_i are equivalent, but $a_i > a_{i+1}$ (ii) b_0, b_1, \ldots, b_j are equivalent, but $b_j > b_{j+1}$. Hence $a > a_{i+1}, a > b_{j+1}$. Using the Birkhoff condition, we deduce from $a_i \rightarrow a_{i+1}, a_i$ equivalent to b_j , and $b_j \rightarrow b_{j+1}$ the existence of an element z of S satisfying $a_{i+1} \geq z$, $b_{j+1} \geq z$. Let \bar{z} be the result of a complete reduction of z, and similarly let \bar{x} and \bar{y} be the result of a complete reduction of x and y respectively. Since $a_{i+1} \geq x$, it follows that \bar{x} also is the result of a complete reduction of a_{i+1} . Similarly, we deduce from $a_{i+1} \geq z$ that \bar{z} is the result of a complete reduction of a_{i+1} .

Now, either a_{i+1} does not belong to S', in which case we set $a' = a_{i+1}$, or a_{i+1} belongs to S', in which case the elements \bar{x}, \bar{z} , being the results of complete reductions of a_{i+1} , must be equivalent. From $x \geq \bar{x}, \bar{x}$ equivalent to \bar{x} we have $x \geq \bar{z}$, and hence $y \geq \bar{z}$ does not hold. Using the same argument applied to y, b_{j+1} instead of x, a_{i+1} , we come to the conclusion that b_{j+1} does not belong to S'. In this case we set $a' = b_{j+1}$.

At any rate, for every element a of S not belonging to S' there is a successor a' satisfying a > a' and not belonging to S'. Since repetition of this construction leads to a strictly monotonically decreasing sequence, we find a contradiction with the minimal condition; and hence every element of S belongs to S', Q. E. D.

For a partial converse of the principle of reduction see Ex. 2 of Appendix D.

COROLLARY TO THE PRINCIPLE OF REDUCTION: The normalized relation of the relation \rightarrow on a set with reduction is the relation:

' $a \equiv b$ if the complete reduction of a, b leads to equivalent results.'

Proof: If $a \equiv b$, then there are full reductions $a = a_0 \rightarrow a_1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow a_r$, $b = b_0 \rightarrow b_1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow b_t$ such that a_r , b_r are equivalent irreducible elements. Hence there is a chain $a_r \rightarrow a_{r+1} \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow a_t = b_t$. But from $a \rightarrow a_1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow a_t$, $b \rightarrow b_1 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow b_{t-1} \rightarrow a_t$ it follows that a_r , b satisfy the normalized relation of the relation \rightarrow . Conversely, if a_r b satisfy the normalized relation of the relation \rightarrow . Conversely, if a_r b satisfy the normalized relation of the relation $a_r \rightarrow a_{t+1} \rightarrow a_t$ for $i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, r_r = b$ such that either $a_t = a_{t+1}$ or $a_t \rightarrow a_{t+1}$ or $a_{t+1} \rightarrow a_t$ for $i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, r - 1$. At any rate, complete reduction of a_t and a_{t+1} leads to equivalent results. Hence complete reductors.

Applying these concepts and conclusions to the relation \rightarrow previously studied, we find that poset equivalence of two words is the same as their equality and that, furthermore, the words form a set with reduction. The reduction principle yields: Each word over a system H of semi-groups with unit element is congruent to the uniquely determined result of any complete

224 C. Free Products; Groups given by Generators and Defining Relations

reduction of the given word. The free product over H may be formed by taking the set of all irreducible words in which the combination of two irreducible words to a third irreducible word is obtained by juxtaposition followed by complete reduction.

It quite often happens that a product over H is required to satisfy a system \Re of relations between the generating elements of the form

$$h_1h_2\cdots h_r = h_{r+1}h_{r+2}\cdots h_s,$$

where h_i is contained in a member \mathfrak{h}_i of H and i runs from 1 to s. We call a semi-group \mathfrak{S} a product over H defined by the system \mathfrak{R} of defining relations if:

1. \mathfrak{S} is a product over H, i. e., to each member \mathfrak{h} of H there is assigned a homomorphism $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}$ of \mathfrak{h} into \mathfrak{S} , mapping $\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{h}}$ onto $\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{S}}$, such that \mathfrak{S} is generated by the sub-semigroups $\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{h})$, with \mathfrak{h} running over H,

2. each relation (1) holds in S, i. e., in S there hold all of the equations

(2)
$$\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1)\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_2}(h_2)\cdots\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r)=\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{r+1}}(h_{r+1})\cdots\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_s}(h_s);$$

3. \mathfrak{S} is homomorphic over H with every product over H having the properties 1 and 2.

A product over H defined by \Re can be constructed as follows. Two words are called *congruent modulo* \Re if one word can be obtained from the other word by a combination of

1. a finite number of elementary transformations,

2. a finite number of replacements of $W_1h_1h_2\cdots h_rW_2$ by $W_1h_{r+1}\cdots h_sW_2$ or of $W_1h_{r+1}\cdots h_sW_2$ by $W_1h_1\cdots h_rW_2$, in accordance with the relations (1) comprising \Re .

This congruence relation is normal and multiplicative, and hence the residue classes form a semi-group $\mathfrak{W}(H)/\mathfrak{R}$. Denoting by $W(\mathfrak{R})$ the residue class represented by the word W, we find that the correspondence between h and $\sigma_b(h) = h(\mathfrak{R})$ defines a homomorphism of the element h of the member \mathfrak{h} of H onto a sub-semigroup $\mathfrak{h}(\mathfrak{R})$ of $\mathfrak{W}(H)/\mathfrak{R}$ such that $\sigma_b(\mathfrak{1}_b) = Z(\mathfrak{R})$ is the unit element of $\mathfrak{B}(H)/\mathfrak{R}$ and such that for each relation (1) we have

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_1}(h_1)\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_2}(h_2)\cdots\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_r) &= h_1h_2\cdots h_r(R) \\ &= h_{r+1}\cdots h_s(R) = \sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_{r+1}}(h_{r+1})\cdots\sigma_{\mathfrak{h}_r}(h_s). \end{split}$$

Hence $\mathfrak{B}(H)/\mathfrak{R}$ is a product over H satisfying the relations comprising \mathfrak{R} .

Now let \mathfrak{S} be another product over H satisfying the relations comprising \mathfrak{R} ; that is, the mapping of any word W onto \overline{W} defines a homomorphism of $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ onto \mathfrak{S} for which $\overline{W}_1 = \overline{W}_2$ whenever W_1 is congruent to W_2 modulo \mathfrak{R} . From this definition, which is equivalent to the statement that \mathfrak{S}

is a product over H satisfying the relations \Re , it follows that the mapping of $W(\Re)$ onto \overline{W} defines a homomorphism over H of $\mathfrak{B}(H)/\Re$ onto \mathfrak{S} . This shows that $\mathfrak{B}(H)/\Re$ is a product over H defined by \mathfrak{R} . It is clear that any two products over H defined by \Re are isomorphic over H.

Let us study some examples.

1. \Re is empty. Then $\mathfrak{W}(H)/\mathfrak{R}$ is the free product over H.

2. \Re consists of relations of the type h = h', with h, h' contained in the same member \mathfrak{h} of H.

The subset $\Re_{\mathfrak{h}}$ of all relations in \mathfrak{R} pertaining to one member \mathfrak{h} of H defines a factor semi-group $\mathfrak{h}/\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{h}}$ of \mathfrak{h} . We now show that the free product \mathfrak{G} of all factor semi-groups $\mathfrak{h}/\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{h}}$ is a product over H defined by \mathfrak{R} . For a_i contained in the member \mathfrak{h}_i of H $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, t)$ the correspondence between $a_1(\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{h}_1})a_2(\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{h}_2})\cdots a_t(\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{h}_t})$ and $\tilde{a}_1\tilde{a}_2\cdots \tilde{a}_t$ defines a homomorphism of \mathfrak{G} over H onto each product \mathfrak{S} over H defined by \mathfrak{R} , and certainly all the relations in \mathfrak{R} are satisfied in \mathfrak{G} .

3. R consists of all relations

hh' = h'h

with h, h' belonging to different members of H. Often the permutability of any two elements x, y of a multiplicative domain expressed by the equation xy = yx is also denoted by $x \leftrightarrow y$. Thus in our case we have the defining relations

(4) $h \leftrightarrow h'$

for any pair of elements belonging to different members of H. The product over H defined by elementwise permutability of different factors is called the *direct product over* H and is denoted by $\prod_{\mathfrak{h}\in H}^{\times} \mathfrak{h}$ or, more concisely, by $\prod_{\mathfrak{h}\in H}^{\times} H$. The direct product can be constructed by taking the semi-group \mathfrak{S} of all functions f defined on H with the properties

- a) $f(\mathfrak{h})$ is an element of \mathfrak{h} ;
- b) $f(\mathfrak{h}) = 1_{\mathfrak{h}}$ for all but a finite number of members of H;

c)
$$fg(\mathfrak{h}) = f(\mathfrak{h})g(\mathfrak{h}).$$

It is easy to verify that \mathfrak{S} is a semi-group and that the correspondence between the element \hbar of the member \mathfrak{h} of H and the function \underline{h} on Hwhich assumes the value \hbar on \mathfrak{h} , but the value $\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{h}'}$ on all members \mathfrak{h}' of Hother than \mathfrak{h} , defines a homomorphism of \mathfrak{h} onto a sub-semigroup $\underline{\mathfrak{h}}$ of \mathfrak{S} such that \mathfrak{S} appears as a product over H satisfying all relations in \mathfrak{R} . On the other hand, given any word W, we can form its \mathfrak{h} -component by

226 C. Free Products; Groups given by Generators and Defining Relations

taking the product in \mathfrak{h} of all the letters of W belonging to \mathfrak{h} . If no letter belonging to h occurs, then the h-component is defined to be 1. The h-component remains unchanged under all elementary transformations and all substitutions derived from one of the relations in R. Also, after imposing an order on H, each word over H is congruent modulo \Re to the word made up from the h-components different from the unit element, with the h's concerned following in the same order as they occur in the ordering imposed on H. We may call the word thus constructed the *direct normal form* of the given word. It is uniquely determined by the given word: Two words are congruent modulo R if and only if they have the same direct normal form. that is, if they coincide in each component. Of course, all but a finite number of the \mathfrak{h} -components are equal to $1_{\mathfrak{h}}$. There are no other restrictions. The h-component of a product of two words is equal to the product of the h-components of the factors. Hence there is the homomorphic mapping of \mathfrak{S} onto $\mathfrak{W}(H)/\mathfrak{R}$ over H which maps the function f onto the residue class characterized by having its \mathfrak{h} -component equal to $f(\mathfrak{h})$, with \mathfrak{h} running over H. This shows that \mathfrak{S} is a direct product over \mathfrak{S} . We verify easily that the new definition of the direct product coincides with the one given in §1 in the case of a finite number of direct factors.

4. If every member of H is a group, then every product over H is a group. The inverse element of $h_1h_2\cdots h_r$ is the element $h_r^{-1}\cdots h_2^{-1}h_1^{-1}$. The word $W^{-1} = h_r^{-1}h_r^{-1}\cdots h_1^{-1}$ is called the *inverse word* of the word $W = h_1h_2\cdots h_r$. The inverse word of the empty word is the empty word. It holds true that $(W^{-1})^{-1} = W$, $(W_1W_2)^{-1} = W_2^{-1}W_1^{-1}$. By elementary transformations the word $W W^{-1}$ can be carried over into the empty word, for any given word W. The product over H, a system of groups, defined by a system of relations M.

can be obtained as the factor group of the free product $\mathfrak{F} = \prod^{*} H$ over the normal subgroup $\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{R})$ generated by all quotients (5)

(5)
$$h_1 h_2 \cdots h_r h_{s+r}^{-1} h_{s+r-1}^{-1} \cdots h_{r+1}^{-1}$$

derived from (1). The elements of this normal subgroup are often called the consequence relations of \Re . This name is chosen because, as a consequence of (1), in any product over H in which all of the relations (1) hold, all of the consequence relations become 1. A consequence relation may be characterized as an element of the free product \Im over H which is of the form $W_1 R_1^{a_1} W_1^{-1} W_2 R_2^{a_2} W_2^{-1} \cdots W_r R_r^{a_r} W_r^{-1}$ with a_i either 1 or -1, R_i one of the quotients (5) derived from (1), and W_i an arbitrary element of \Im . But since elementary transformations do change the appearance of the elements of F, even though they do not change the elements themselves, it is often extremely difficult to recognize a given element of F as a consequence relation of a given system of defining relations.

5. If each member of H is an infinite cyclic group, say the group \mathfrak{h} generated by the element $x_{\mathfrak{h}}$, then the free product over H is called the *free* group with generators $x_{\mathfrak{h}}$. Its elements can be uniquely represented by expressions $x_{\mathfrak{h}_{1}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{1}} x_{\mathfrak{h}_{2}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{2}} \cdots x_{\mathfrak{h}_{r}}^{\mathfrak{a}_{r}} (a_{i} \neq 0, \mathfrak{h}_{i} \text{ a member of } H$ where \mathfrak{h}_{i} is different from \mathfrak{h}_{i+1} if i < r; $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$; $r = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$), and the product of two such expressions is formed by juxtaposition and the subsequent cancelling of adjacent factors as often as possible, e.g.

$$x_{\mathfrak{h}_1}^3 x_{\mathfrak{h}_2}^5 \cdot x_{\mathfrak{h}_2}^{-3} x_{\mathfrak{h}_3}^{-1} = x_{\mathfrak{h}_1}^3 x_{\mathfrak{h}_2}^2 x_{\mathfrak{h}_3}^{-1}, \quad x_{\mathfrak{h}_1}^{-3} x_{\mathfrak{h}_2}^5 \cdot x_{\mathfrak{h}_2}^{-5} x_{\mathfrak{h}_1}^3 = x_{\mathfrak{h}_1}^{-3} x_{\mathfrak{h}_1}^3 = Z.$$

6. The group \mathfrak{G} given by generators S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s and defining relations $R_i(S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s) = 1$ $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, r)$ is obtained as the factor group of the free group with the generators S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s over the normal subgroup generated by the r elements $R_i(S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s)$. A correspondence between the generators of \mathfrak{G} and some elements S'_1, S'_2, \ldots, S'_r of another group \mathfrak{F} which maps S_i onto S'_i , can be extended to a homomorphism of \mathfrak{G} onto \mathfrak{F} if and only if $R_i(S'_1, S'_2, \ldots, S'_s) = 1$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$.

The problem of determining a method whereby it can be effectively recognized whether a group \mathfrak{G} generated by finitely many generators S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s satisfying the finitely many defining relations

(6)
$$R_i(S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s) = 1$$
 $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, r)$

is isomorphic to another group \mathfrak{h} generated by the finitely many elements U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_n and satisfying the finitely many defining relations

(7)
$$T_j(U_1, U_2, ..., U_u) = 1$$

is called the isomorphism problem.

1

A necessary and sufficient condition that \mathfrak{G} be isomorphic to \mathfrak{F} is the existence of some words W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_u in S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s and X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_s in U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_u such that the words

$$W_{i}(W_{1}(S_{1},\ldots,S_{s}),\ldots,W_{u}(S_{1},\ldots,S_{s})) \quad (j=1,2,\ldots,t)$$

and the words

 $S_i^{-1}X_i(W_1(S_1,\ldots,S_s),\ldots,W_u(S_1,\ldots,S_s))$ $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, s)$

are consequence relations of the relations (6). In the special case s = u, $S_i = U_i$ (i = 1, 2, ..., s) and $W_i = S_i$, $X_i = U_i$, we call (6) and (7) equivalent systems of defining relations if each relation of one system is a consequence relation of the other system, i. e., if they define isomorphic groups with the same set of generators.

228 C. Free Products; Groups given by Generators and Defining Relations

For free groups the isomorphism problem is easily solved. Two free groups with the same number of generators are isomorphic. Furthermore, for a free group \mathfrak{G} of s generators S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s the index of the subgroup by all squares is 2^s , the representatives of the cosets being the elements $S_1^{s_1}S_2^{s_2}\cdots S_s^{s_s}$ with a_t either 0 or 1 for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, s$. For isomorphic groups the index over the subgroup generated by the squares must be the same; hence if \mathfrak{G} is formic, and s = u if s is finite, and s = u.

7. The factor commutator group of a group \mathfrak{G} generated by the elements S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s with the defining relations (6) is obtained by including among the defining relations the additional relations

(8)
$$S_i \leftrightarrow S_k$$
, i. e., $S_i S_k S_i^{-1} S_k^{-1} = 1$ $(1 \le i < k \le s)$.

Proof: Denote by \mathfrak{F}_s the free group generated by S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_s , and let \mathfrak{R} be the normal subgroup formed by the consequence relations of (6); then \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{F}_s/\mathfrak{R}$, \mathfrak{R}_s , $\mathfrak{$

We may find an equivalent system of defining relations for $\mathfrak{G}/D\mathfrak{G}$ by permuting the order of the letters in each relation so that the letters are ordered lexicographically; let the group \mathfrak{G}_n , for example, be generated by $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_{n-1}$ subject to the defining relations

$$\begin{array}{l} A_{\frac{3}{2}}^{\frac{3}{2}} = 1, \ A_{\frac{3}{2}}^{\frac{3}{2}} = 1, \ A_{\frac{3}{2}}^{\frac{3}{2}} = 1, \ \ldots, \ A_{n-1}^{\frac{3}{2}} = 1, \\ (9) \qquad \qquad (A_1A_2)^3 = 1, \ (A_2A_3)^3 = 1, \ \ldots, \ (A_{n-2}A_{n-1})^3 = 1, \\ A_i \leftrightarrow A_k \ \text{if} \ 1 \leq i < k-1 < n-1. \end{array}$$

Then $\mathfrak{G}_n/D\mathfrak{G}_n$ is generated by $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_{n-1}$, subject to the defining relations

(10)
$$A_{1}^{a} = A_{2}^{a} = \cdots = A_{n-1}^{a} = 1,$$
$$A_{1}^{a} A_{2}^{a} = 1, \dots, A_{n-2}^{a} A_{n-1}^{a} = 1,$$
$$A_{i} \leftrightarrow A_{k} \text{ if } 1 \leq i < k < n,$$

which are equivalent to

(11)
$$A_1 = A_2 = \cdots = A_{n-1}, A_1^2 = 1.$$

Hence the generators $A_2, A_3, \ldots, A_{n-1}$ can be eliminated, and $\mathfrak{G}_n/D\mathfrak{G}_n$ is generated by A_1 , subject to the defining relation $A_1^2 = 1$, giving $\mathfrak{G}_n : D\mathfrak{G}_n = 2$.

8. To give another example of the reduction principle, let H be the system of the n-1 infinite cyclic groups $(A_1), (A_2), \ldots, (A_{n-1})$. Define a reduction R in $\mathfrak{W}(H)$ as follows:

$$\cdots A_{i}^{n} A_{i}^{m} \cdots R \cdots A_{i}^{n+m} \cdots,$$

$$\cdots A_{i}^{n+1} \cdots R \cdots A_{i} \cdots \text{ in case } n \neq 0,$$

$$\cdots A_{i}^{n} \cdots R \cdots \cdots,$$

$$\cdots A_{k} A_{i} \cdots R \cdots A_{i} A_{k} \cdots \text{ if } 1 \leq i < k-1 < n-1,$$

$$\cdots A_{i+1} A_{i} A_{i+1} \cdots R \cdots A_{i} A_{i+1} A_{i} \cdots \text{ if } 1 \leq i < n-1.$$

We easily prove that $\mathfrak{W}(H)$ is a set with reduction R. In the corresponding poset, equivalence is equality. For example, if

$$W = \cdots A_{i+1}A_{i+1}A_iA_{i+1}\cdots RW_1 = \cdots A_{i+1}^2A_iA_{i+1}\cdots$$

and

$$W = \cdots A_{i+1}A_iA_{i+1}A_iA_{i+1}\cdots RW_2 = \cdots A_{i+1}A_iA_{i+1}A_i\cdots,$$

then we have

 $W_1 R \cdots A_i A_{i+1} \cdots, W_2 R \cdots A_i A_{i+1} A_i A_i \cdots R \cdots A_i A_{i+1} \cdots$

For every word $a_1a_2 \cdots a_r$ that is irreducible with respect to R, each section $a_ia_{i+1} \cdots a_i$ is also irreducible with respect to R. The letter A_{n-1} occurs at most once. If it occurs, then the section beginning with A_{n-1} and terminating with a_r is one of the words $A_{n-1}, A_{n-1}A_{n-2}, A_{n-1}A_{n-2}A_{n-3}, \ldots, A_{n-1}A_{n-2} \cdots A_1$. Conversely, if A_{n-1} does not occur in the given R-irreducible word, then any of the above n - 1 expressions may be affixed to the given word to give another irreducible word. By induction on n, the number of R-irreducible words turns out to be $1 \cdot 2 \cdot \ldots \cdot n = n!$. The normalized relation of the relation R is normal and multiplicative. The corresponding factor group is the group \mathfrak{G}_n occurring in 7. It has the order n!.

Since the mapping of A_i onto the transposition (i, i + 1) of the *n* digits $1, 2, \ldots, n$, which is defined for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n - 1$, preserves the defining relations of \mathfrak{G}_n , it follows that the mapping can be extended to a homomorphism of \mathfrak{G}_n onto \mathfrak{S}_n . But since the order of \mathfrak{G}_n is finite and coincides with the order of the symmetric permutation group of *n* digits \mathfrak{S}_n , it follows that \mathfrak{G}_n is isomorphic with \mathfrak{S}_n , where we made use of the fact that the transpositions $(1, 2), (2, 3), \ldots, (n - 1, n)$ generate \mathfrak{S}_n . Moreover a set of defining relations for the generators $A_i = (i, i + 1)$ $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n - 1)$ is given by (9).

APPENDIX D

FURTHER EXERCISES FOR CHAP. III

1. (Van der Waerden, Artin.) Let H be a system of semi-groups with unit element. Let I(H) be the set of all irreducible words over H, i.e. the set of all expressions $a_i a_i \cdots a_i$, where a_i is an element of the member b_i of H different from the unit element of \mathfrak{h}_i for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$, where \mathfrak{h}_i is different from its neighbor \mathfrak{h}_{i+1} for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r - 1$, and where r of and all the natural numbers. Assign to each element h of a member r bot H a unique mapping b of I(H) into itself defined as follows

$$b(a_1a_2\cdots a_r) = \begin{cases} ha_1a_2\cdots a_r \text{ if } h = 1_{\mathfrak{h}}, \ h = \mathfrak{h}_1, \ h = a_1' = 1_{\mathfrak{h}} \text{ in } \mathfrak{h} \\ a_1'a_2\cdots a_r \text{ if } \mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_1, \ ha_1 = a_1' = 1_{\mathfrak{h}} \text{ in } \mathfrak{h} \\ a_1a_2\cdots a_r \text{ if } h = 1_{\mathfrak{h}} \\ a_2 \cdots a_r \text{ if } \mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_1, \ ha_1 = 1_{\mathfrak{h}} \text{ in } \mathfrak{h}. \end{cases}$$

Show that

a) h h' = hh' if h and h' belong to the same member h of H;

b) $1_{h} = 1;$

c) if $a_1a_2 \cdots a_r$ and $b_1b_2 \cdots b_s$ both belong to I(H), then the equation $\underline{a_1}\underline{a_2} \cdots \underline{a_r}$ = $b_1b_2 \cdots b_s$ implies r = s, $a_i = b_i$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$;

d) by forming all possible product mappings of the mappings \underline{b} defined above, a free product over H is obtained. Each element of this free product is equal to one and only one mapping of the form $\underline{a}_1 \underline{a}_2 \cdots \underline{a}_r$, where $a_1 a_2 \cdots a_r$ is an element of I(H).

2. Let S be a set with a binary relation such that the corresponding poset satisfies the minimal condition. If the result of a complete reduction of any given element a is uniquely determined up to equivalence, then the Birkhoff condition is satisfied.

3. (von Neumann.) Show that for any game with full information between two partners A and B there exists a strategy. To elucidate this statement note that such a game consists essentially of a set S of possible positions, where the term 'position' denotes a set of data concerning the board, pieces, etc., and concerning which of the two players is to move, together with a binary relation $a \rightarrow b$ indicating that the player who is to move from position a may move to position b. There are at most three types of irreducible positions : a draw, A wins, B wins. There is a starting position s. The game consists in a finite chain $s = a_0 \rightarrow a_1 \rightarrow a_2 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow a_r = c$ of moves linking the starting position with an irreducible position c. It is assumed that no infinite sequence $a_0 \rightarrow a_1 \rightarrow a_2 \rightarrow \cdots \rightarrow a_r = c$ of moves all the positions betainable from s in form which A is to move, such that if A plays in conformity with the list, B never wins. A B-strategy is defined similarly.

4. Let H be a system of groups one of which is g. To every member \mathfrak{h} of H there may be assigned an isomorphism $\theta_{\mathfrak{h}}$ of g into \mathfrak{h} such that $\theta_{\mathfrak{a}} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{a}}$, together with a

Exercises

left representative system \bar{h} of \mathfrak{h} modulo $\theta_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $\bar{h} = \bar{h}$ and $h\bar{h}^{-1}$ is contained in $\theta_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{g})$ for each element h of \mathfrak{h} . Let the binary relation R be defined on $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ as follows:

$$\dots \dots hh' \dots R \dots h'' \dots h''$$

if h, h', h'' belong to the same member \mathfrak{h} of H and if hh' = h'' in \mathfrak{h} ,

 $\dots \dots 1_{\mathfrak{h}}, \dots, R$ $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots h h' \dots \dots \dots R$ $\dots \dots h'' \overline{h}' \dots \dots$

if h, h' belong to different members h and h' of H respectively and if

if h belongs to a member \mathfrak{h} of H other than \mathfrak{g} . Prove that R defines $\mathfrak{B}(H)$ as a set with reduction and that the corresponding normalized relation is normal and multiplicative and defines a product over H. This product is called the product over H with *identified* (or *amalgamated*) subgroup \mathfrak{g} . Solve the word problem for this product.

5. (L. E. Dickson.) Denote by GL(n, K) (which stands for 'general linear group of degree *n* over K') the group formed by all the units (or: non-singular matrices; or: regular matrices) of the ring of matrices of degree *n* over the division ring K.

a) Prove that GL(n, K) is generated by the translation matrices $T_{ik}^{k} = I_n + \lambda e_{ik}$, where $i \neq k$ and λ is an element of K, and by the special diagonal matrices $D_i(\alpha) = I_n + (\alpha - 1)e_{ii}$, where α is an element of K different from 0, where $I_n = (\delta_{ik})$ is the unit matrix of degree n, and where $e_{ri} = (\delta_{ik} \delta_{kk})$, for r, s running independently over 1, $2, \ldots, n$ are the n^2 basic matrix units. (*Hint:* Apply induction on n, using the fact that the subgroup \mathbb{I} of all matrices (α_{ik}) satisfying $\alpha_{il} = 1$, $\alpha_{il} = \alpha_{il} = 0$ for i > 1 is isomorphic to GL(n - 1, K).

b) Prove that the defining relations of GL(n, K) with respect to the generators given in a) are obtained as follows:

(1) $T_{ik}^{\lambda}T_{ik}^{\mu} = T_{ik}^{\lambda+\mu},$

(2) $T_{ik}^{\lambda} \leftrightarrow T_{rs}^{\mu}$ if i = r, or if k = s, or if i, k, r, s are distinct,

(3)
$$D_i(\alpha)D_i(\beta) = D_i(\alpha\beta),$$

a) $T^{\lambda}_{i\lambda} T^{\mu}_{i\lambda} T^{-\lambda}_{i\lambda} = T^{\mu}_{i\lambda} T^{-\mu\lambda}_{i\lambda}$

(4)
$$D_i(\alpha) \leftrightarrow D_k(\beta)$$
 if $i \neq k$,

(5)
$$D_i(\alpha) T_{ik}^{\lambda} D_i(\alpha)^{-1} = T_{ik}^{\alpha\lambda}, \quad D_k(\alpha) T_{ik}^{\lambda} D_k(\alpha)^{-1} = T_{ik}^{\lambda\alpha^{-1}},$$

if
$$i < j$$
, $i < k$, $j \neq k$ then

$$\begin{array}{l} b) \quad T_{kj}^{1}T_{ji}^{\lambda} T_{kj}^{\lambda} = T_{ji}^{\mu}T_{ki}^{\mu} \\ b) \quad T_{kj}^{1}T_{ji}^{\mu} = T_{ji}^{\mu}(1+\lambda\mu)^{-1}D_{i}(1+\lambda\mu)T_{ij}^{(1+\lambda\mu)^{-1}}D_{j}(1-\mu(1+\lambda\mu)^{-1}\lambda) \text{ if } 1+\lambda\mu = 0, \\ c) \quad T_{ij}^{\lambda}T_{ij}^{-\lambda^{-1}}T_{ji}^{\lambda} = T_{ij}^{-\lambda^{-1}}T_{ji}^{\lambda}T_{ij}^{-\lambda^{-1}\mu\lambda^{-1}} \text{ if } \lambda = 0, \\ b) \quad T_{ki}^{\mu}T_{ij}^{-\lambda^{-1}}T_{ji}^{\lambda} = T_{ij}^{-\lambda^{-1}}T_{ji}^{\lambda}T_{kj}^{-\mu\lambda} \text{ if } \lambda = 0. \end{array}$$

(*Hint*: Show that the elements $T_{12}^{a_1} T_{13}^{a_2} \cdots T_{1n}^{a_n}$ form a right representative system modulo \mathfrak{U} [for the definition see a)] of the subgroup \mathfrak{V} which is generated by \mathfrak{U} and the elements $T_{1,1}^{a_1}$. Show that the elements

$$D_1(\beta_1) T_{21}^{\beta_2} T_{31}^{\beta_3} \cdots T_{n1}^{\beta_n}$$

with $\beta_1 \neq 0$ and the elements

$$T_{i+1,i}^{\gamma_{i+1}} \cdots T_{n-1,i}^{\gamma_{n-1}} T_{n,i}^{\gamma_n} T_{li}^{\gamma_i^{-1}} T_{li}^{\gamma_i}$$

with $\gamma_i \neq 0$ for i = 2, 3, ..., n form a right representative system of GL(n, K) over \mathfrak{B} ; apply induction on n).

c) The commutator group of GL(n, K) is generated by the elements $D_t(\alpha \beta \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1})$ and T_{ik}^{δ} . It is often denoted by SL(n, K) (which stands for 'special linear group of degree *n* over K'). The factor commutator group of GL(n, K) is isomorphic with the factor commutator group of the multiplicative group of K.

d) Develop determinant theory. Show that SL(n, K) coincides with the group of all matrices of degree *n* over *K* with determinant unity and that it is generated by the elements T_{n}^{L} if n > 1.

6. Let \mathfrak{M} be a vector module with basis u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n over the field F. Show that the projectivities of the F-submodule u_i of \mathfrak{M} with the basis u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_j (0 < j < n)in \mathfrak{M} coincide with the group of all regular linear transformations of u_j , where \mathfrak{M} is to be interpreted as an additive group with operators. Furthermore, two factor F-modules formed within \mathfrak{M} are projectively related in \mathfrak{M} if and only if they have the same dimension over F. (*Hint*: Use the preceding exercise.)

7. Let B be a subset of the complete lattice L with normality relation. If there is assigned to each subset X of B a unique mapping δ_X of L into L such that

a) $\delta_X(A)$ is equal to the join of X and is normal in L,

b) the mapping $\delta_{A(B)}$ corresponding to the empty subset of B maps each element of L onto the zero element Z of L,

c) for any two elements x, y of L, $\delta_{\mathcal{X}}(x \downarrow y) = \delta_{\mathcal{X}}(x) \downarrow \delta_{\mathcal{X}}(y)$,

d) $\delta_X(a) \downarrow \delta_Y(a) \ge \delta_{X \downarrow Y}(a)$ for any a of L and any pair of subsets X, Y of B,

e) $\delta_X \delta_Y(a) = \delta_X(a) M \delta_Y(a) = Z$ for any a of L and any pair of disjoint subsets X, Y of B,

then L is the direct join of B and the δ_X are the decomposition operators.

8. Let B be a subset of the lattice $S(\emptyset)$ formed by the subgroups of the group \emptyset . Show that $S(\emptyset)$ is the direct join of B if and only if \emptyset is the direct product of the subgroups in B.

9. Let u, l, v, & be four normal subgroups of a group G such that $u \leq ll, v \leq \vartheta$ and ll/u is projectively related with ϑ/v in the modular lattice of the normal subgroups of G.

a) Show that every projectivity of $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{u}$ onto $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{v}$ maps $(\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{U})\mathfrak{u}/\mathfrak{u}$ onto $(\mathfrak{G},\mathfrak{B})\mathfrak{v}/\mathfrak{v}$ and $\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{u})M\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{u}$ onto $\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{v})M\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{v}$.

b) A factor group U/u is called *central* if (\mathfrak{G} , \mathfrak{U}) is contained in \mathfrak{u} . Show that every factor group formed between subgroups of the center or between subgroups of \mathfrak{G} containing the commutator group is central. Prove that the central factor groups in a principal series of \mathfrak{G} are uniquely determined up to order and projectivity.

Exercises

c) If $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{B}_1 \times \mathfrak{B}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{B}_r$ is a Remak decomposition of the finite group \mathfrak{G} , if b_i denotes the modular lattice of the normal subgroups of \mathfrak{B}_i , and if B denotes the system of the lattices b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_r , then the modular lattice of the normal subgroups of \mathfrak{G} is isomorphic to DU(B) (for the definition, see §3, Subsection 4) if and only if the order of each central principal factor group of \mathfrak{B}_i for i + k.

10. An element b of the modular lattice L is called *join-irreducible* if it is not the join of two elements different from b. A join representation $A = b_1 J b_3 J \cdots J b_r$ of length r of the all element A of L is called *irreducible* if each constituent b_j is join irreducible and if each complement c_i , which is defined as the join of all b_j with $j \neq i$, is different from A for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$.

a) Show that for every join representation the mapping $\delta_i = q_{\delta_i} \varphi^{\epsilon_i}$ of L into L is a normal operator and that $\delta_1(a) \int \delta_2(a) \int \cdots \int \delta_r(a) \ge a$.

b) THEOREM OF KUROSH: If $A = b_1 J b_2 J \cdots J b_r = J b'_1 J b'_2 J \cdots J b'_s$ are two irreducible join representations of A, then $r = s_i$ and after suitable numeration of c_1, c_3, \ldots, c_s , there are the irreducible join representations $A = b'_1 J b'_2 J \cdots$ $J b'_k J b_{k+1} J \cdots J b_r$ for $k = 1, 2, \ldots, r - 1$. (*Hint*: Use ideas from the proof of Ore's Theorem.)

c) State the dual of Kurosh's Theorem.

11. In a distributive lattice L, the factor lattices b_{la} , d/c are projectively related if and only if $a_J d = b J c$, aM d = bMc. In particular, a/Z is projectively related with b/Z if and only if a = b, where Z denotes the zero element of L.

12. Let L be a distributive lattice, and let F(L) be the system of all families of projectively related factor lattices of L.

a) Prove that for any two families f_1 , f_2 represented by b/a and d/c respectively, the family f_1Mf_2 represented by (bMd)/(aMd) J(bMc) is uniquely determined and that $(Mf = f, f_1Mf_2 = f_2Mf_1, (f_1Mf_2)Mf_2 = f_2M(f_1Mf_2))$

b) With the same notation as in a), define $f = f_1 J f_2$ in case the families f, f_1, f_2 can be represented by factor lattices b|a, c|a, b|d, respectively, where $a \le d \le c \le b$. Show that $f J f = f_1$, and that $f = f_1 J (f_2 J f_3)$ is equivalent to $f = (f_1 J f_2) J f_3$. Furthermore, if $f = f_1 J f_2$, then $fMg = (f_1Mg) J (f_2Mg)$ for any family g.

c) Show that if $f = f_1 J_{f_2} J \cdots J_{f_n}$ and if $f' = f_{P1} J_{P2} J \cdots J_{f_{P_n}}$ is defined for some permutation P of 1, 2, ..., n, then f = f'. (*Hint*: Use Ex. 11.)

13. With the same notation as in Ex. 12, construct a lattice L' consisting of all formal unions $J(f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_r)$ of finitely many families, r being any natural number. The formal union $J(f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_r)$ is called *equal* to the formal union $J(g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_q)$ if and only if there are equations

$$f_i = f_{i1} \mathsf{J} f_{i2} \mathsf{J} \cdots \mathsf{J} f_{im_i} \qquad (i = 1, 2, \dots, r)$$

and

$$g_j = g_{j1} \, \mathsf{J} \, g_{j2} \, \mathsf{J} \, \cdots \, \mathsf{J} \, g_{jn}, \qquad (j = 1, 2, \ldots, s)$$

such that the f_{ij} 's coincide with the g_{ij} 's up to order and multiplicity. Define the lattice operations as follows:

D. Further Exercises for Chap. III

a) Show that L' is a distributive complemented lattice.

b) Assuming that L has a zero element Z show that the mapping of the element a of L onto the family represented by a/Z is an isomorphism of L onto a sublattice of L'.

14. Let L be a distributive complemented lattice with zero element Z. A nonempty subset S of L may be called a *point* if Z does not belong to S and if the following conditions hold:

a) S is closed under the meet operation;

b) If x and y are any two elements of L for which the join x J y belongs to S but x does not, then y belongs to S.

c) If x belongs to S and y belongs to L, then $x \downarrow y$ belongs to S.

We say that the point S is 'on' the element a of L if a belongs to the subset S of L. Show that the correspondence between the elements a of L and the set of all points belonging to a is an isomorphism of L onto a sublattice of the lattice formed by the subsets of the set of all points in L, taking union and intersection as lattice operations.

Exx. 11-14 give a proof of the

THEOREM OF STONE: Every distributive lattice is isomorphic with a sublattice of the lattice formed by all subsets of a certain set, taking union and intersection as lattice operations.

(Hint for the solution of 14: The main difficulty is the construction of a point S on an element a + Z. Well-order the elements of L, taking a as first element. Define S_a as the set of all elements y of L satisfying $y \ge a$. Define S_b for elements other than a by transfinite induction. Assume S_a already defined for all elements x preceding bin the well ordering of L. Let S'_b be the union of all subsets S_a already defined. If, for some y contained in S'_b , we have b My = Z, then let $S_b = S'_b$. If, however, b My z = Zfor all elements y contained in S'_b , then let S_b be the set of all elements $(b \ J z)$ My with y contained in S'_b , z contained in L. Define S to be the union of all subsets S_b of L with b running over L)

15. Show that a Boolean ring (for the definition, see Ex. 33 at the end of Chap. II) becomes a complemented distributive lattice if we define aMb = ab, aJb = a + b + ab. Show that, conversely, a complemented distributive lattice L becomes a Boolean ring if we define aMb to be ab and a + b to be the complement of aMb in aJb/a.

16. (Wielandt.) Show that in a finite group the subgroup generated by two subnormal subgroup \mathfrak{l}_1 , \mathfrak{l}_2 with mutually prime orders is a direct product of \mathfrak{l}_1 , \mathfrak{l}_2 . (Apply Theorem 21.)

17. Show that the descending Loewy series of the lattice formed by the normal subgroups of a finite group coincides with the descending Loewy series of the lattice formed by the subnormal subgroups.

18. (Wielandt.) A group with precisely one maximal proper normal subgroup is called *one-headed*. Show that, in finite groups,

a) A one-headed group coincides with its commutator group if and only if the factor group over its maximal normal subgroup is not abelian;

b) If \mathfrak{A} is a one-headed subnormal subgroup of a finite group and \mathfrak{B} an arbitrary subnormal subgroup, then at least one of the following is true: \mathfrak{A} is contained in \mathfrak{B} , or $D\mathfrak{A}$ is a proper subgroup of \mathfrak{A} , or $D\mathfrak{A}$ coincides with \mathfrak{A} and is normal in the subgroup generated by \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{B} . (Apply Theorem 21.)

234

Exercises

19. (Wielandt.) Let G be a group with a composition series. The r subnormal subgroups U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_r different from 1 determine a Wielandt decomposition of G if 1. G is generated by U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_r ;

2. For any system of subnormal subgroups \mathfrak{B}_i of $\mathfrak{ll}_i(i = 1, 2, \ldots, r)$, the group generated by $\mathfrak{B}_1, \mathfrak{B}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{B}_r$ coincides with \mathfrak{G} if and only if $\mathfrak{B}_i = \mathfrak{l}_i$.

Show that

a) Any Wielandt constituent ll_i is one-headed, and the intersection of ll_i with the first member of the descending Loewy series is the maximal proper normal subgroup of ll_i ; b) The factor group of \emptyset over the first member $A_i(\emptyset)$ has the Remak decomposition

$$\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{A}_{1} = \mathfrak{U}_{1}\mathfrak{A}_{1}/\mathfrak{A}_{1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{U}_{n}\mathfrak{A}_{n}/\mathfrak{A}_{n};$$

c) Conversely, for any Remak decomposition $\mathfrak{G}/\Lambda_1 = \overline{\mathfrak{u}}_1 \times \overline{\mathfrak{u}}_2 \times \cdots \times \overline{\mathfrak{u}}_r$ there is a Wielandt decomposition $\mathfrak{G} = \langle \mathfrak{u}_1, \mathfrak{u}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{u}_r \rangle$ such that $\overline{\mathfrak{u}}_i = \mathfrak{u}_i \Lambda_1/\Lambda_1$;

d) If in c) the Remak constituent $\overline{\mathfrak{U}}_i$ is non-abelian, then \mathfrak{U}_i is uniquely determined and normal in G. (Apply Theorem 21.)

21. Using the preceding exercise, show that in the lattice of all subnormal subgroups of a group with composition series, every projectivity of a semi-simple factor group between two subnormal subgroups of the given group is the identity automorphism.

22. Every infinite semi-group with one generator is isomorphic to the additive semi-group of the natural numbers. Each finite semi-group generated by one element is defined by one relation, viz., $a^{N+1} = a^{N+1-4}$, where N and d are natural numbers such that d is smaller than N. The semi-group defined by such a relation consists of the N elements a, a^2, \ldots, a^N with the rule of multiplication $a^ta^t = a^{r(t+1)}$, where $1 \le r(x) = x - q(x)d \le N < r(x) + d$. There is just one idempotent form a subgroup of order d.

23. Associate with each pair of sequences $a = (a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_r), b = (b_0, b_1, \ldots, b_r)$ of integers for which $0 \le a_0 < a_1 < \cdots < a_r$, $0 \le b_0 < b_1 < \cdots < b_r$, a basis element u(a, b) of a module \mathfrak{M} over the rational integer ring $(r = 0, 1, 2, \ldots)$. Define

$$u(\pi(a), \pi'(b)) = \operatorname{sign} \pi \cdot \operatorname{sign} \pi' \cdot u(a, b)$$

for any permutations π of a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_r and π' of b_0, b_1, \ldots, b_r that map 0 onto 0 in case $a_0 = 0$ or $b_0 = 0$. For all other pairs of sequences of non-negative integers set u(a, b) = 0. Define the linear operators x_i, y_i of \mathfrak{M} for $i = 1, 2, \ldots$ by setting

$$x_i u(a, b) = (1 - \text{sign } a_0) u((i, a_1, \ldots, a_r), b)$$

 $y_i u(a, b) = (1 - \operatorname{sign} b_0) u(a, (i, b_1, \ldots, b_r)) - u((0, a_1, \ldots, a_r, a_0), (b_0, b_1, \ldots, b_r, i)),$ where u(a, b) runs over the basis of \mathfrak{M} . Extend the mapping.

-

Show that

a) $x_i x_k = y_i y_k = x_i c_{ik} = y_k c_{ik} = 0$, $x_j c_{ik} = c_{ik} x_j$, $y_j c_{ik} = c_{ik} y_j$, where $c_{ik} = x_i y_k - y_k x_i$;

b) $c_{11}c_{22}c_{33}\cdots c_{rr} \neq 0$ for $r = 1, 2, \ldots$;

c) The group \mathfrak{A} generated by the automorphisms $1 + x_i = u_i$ and $1 + y_i = v_i$ (i = 1, 2, ...) of \mathfrak{M} is not subinvariant in the holomorph \mathfrak{G} of \mathfrak{A} over \mathfrak{M} , but the subgroups $\mathfrak{U} = \langle u_1, u_2, ... \rangle$, $\mathfrak{B} = \langle v_1, v_2, ... \rangle$ are subinvariant in \mathfrak{G} and generate \mathfrak{G} .

24. Two subinvariant subgroups \mathfrak{A} , \mathfrak{B} of a group \mathfrak{G} generate a subinvariant subgroup if $m(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{G}) < 2$.

(Exercises 25-31 are due to Prof. J. Lambek and Dr. J. Riguet.)

25. Let Σ be a system of sets $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{B}, \ldots$. We consider the binary relations $\mathfrak{g}(R_{\mathfrak{V}} \text{ on } \Sigma)$ which are defined for any ordered pair of members $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{V}$ of Σ as a subset $|\mathfrak{g}(R_{\mathfrak{B}})$ of the set $\mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{V}$ of all ordered pairs $a \times b$ formed from an element a of \mathfrak{V} and an element b of \mathfrak{B} . Thus, $\mathfrak{g}(R_{\mathfrak{U}} \times b)$ means that $a \times b$ belongs to $|\mathfrak{g}(R_{\mathfrak{B}})|$.

Show that

a) The binary relations on Σ form a poset if we define ${}_{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{B}} \leq {}_{\mathfrak{G}}S_{\mathfrak{D}}$ to mean $|_{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{B}}| \leq |_{\mathfrak{G}}S_{\mathfrak{D}}|$;

b) The multiplication that is defined by

$${}_{\mathfrak{M}}R_{\mathfrak{B}} \cdot {}_{\mathfrak{G}}S_{\mathfrak{D}} = {}_{\mathfrak{M}}T_{\mathfrak{B}}$$

where $\mathfrak{A} T_{\mathfrak{D}}(a \times d)$ means the existence of an element *b* of $\mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{C}$ such that $\mathfrak{A} R_{\mathfrak{B}}(a \times b)$ and $\mathfrak{G} S_{\mathfrak{D}}(b \times d)$ is uniquely defined and associative;

c) The identity $y_I I_{y_I}$ that is defined by

 $\mathfrak{AI}_{\mathfrak{A}}(a \times b)$

if and only if a = b and a belongs to \mathfrak{A} satisfies the rule

$$\mathfrak{A}I\mathfrak{A}\cdot\mathfrak{A}R\mathfrak{B}=\mathfrak{A}R\mathfrak{B}\cdot\mathfrak{B}I\mathfrak{B};$$

d) The converse relation $\mathfrak{B}R_{\mathfrak{A}}$ of $\mathfrak{B}R_{\mathfrak{B}}$ that is defined by

 $\mathfrak{B}R_{\mathfrak{A}}^{-}(b \times a)$ if and only if $\mathfrak{M}R_{\mathfrak{B}}(a \times b)$

is uniquely defined and satisfies the rules

$$(R^{-})^{-} = R, \quad (RS)^{-} = S^{-}R^{-}, \quad \mathfrak{M}I_{\mathfrak{M}}^{-} = \mathfrak{M}I_{\mathfrak{M}};$$

e) The symmetry of the relation $_{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{B}}$, i. e., the equation $_{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{B}} = _{\mathfrak{B}}R_{\mathfrak{A}}^{-}$ is already implied by the inequality $_{\mathfrak{B}}R_{\mathfrak{A}}^{-} \leq _{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{B}}$;

f) The transitivity of R, i. e., the inequality $R \cdot R \leq R$, and the symmetry of R imply the equation $R \cdot R = R$.

26. If we think of $R_{\mathfrak{B}}$ as a many-valued mapping of a part of \mathfrak{B} into \mathfrak{A} , i. e., if $R(a \times b)$ means that b is mapped onto a,

 $R \cdot R^- \leq _{\mathfrak{A}} I_{\mathfrak{A}}$ means that R is onto, $R^- \cdot R \geq _{\mathfrak{B}} I_{\mathfrak{B}}$ means that R is universally defined, $R \cdot R^- \leq _{\mathfrak{A}} I_{\mathfrak{A}}$ means that R is single-valued, $R^- \cdot R \leq _{\mathfrak{A}} I_{\mathfrak{A}}$ means that R is one to one.

236

Exercises

27. The congruence relation $_{q}R_{\mathfrak{N}}$ on \mathfrak{A} is equal to a normal congruence relation on a subset of \mathfrak{A} if and only if it is symmetric and transitive. The subset in question coincides with \mathfrak{A} if and only if $qI_{\mathfrak{A}} \leq R$ (*reflexivity* of R).

28. The binary relation $\mathfrak{AR}_{\mathfrak{B}} = R$ is called *regular* if $RR^-R = R$. Show that

a) Regularity is already implied by the inequality $RR^-R \leq R$;

b) If R is regular, then $R \cdot R^-$ is equal to a normal congruence relation S on a subset ||S|| of \mathfrak{A} and $R^- \cdot R$ is equal to a normal congruence relation T on a subset ||T|| of \mathfrak{B} (use 27.);

c) There is, moreover, the natural one-to-one correspondence between ||S||/S and ||T||/T that maps the S-residue class represented by a onto the T-residue class represented by b, where $R_{B}(a \times b)$.

29. Let Σ be a system of groups having their unit element in common. The relation $\mathfrak{A}\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ is called a *morphism* if the set $|\mathfrak{A}\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{B}}|$ is a subgroup of $\mathfrak{A} \times \mathfrak{B}$.

Show that

a) a relation $R = {}_{\Re}R_{\Re}$ is a morphism if and only if

1

$$\begin{array}{c} R(\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{A}} \times \mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{B}}), \\ R(a \times b) \text{ implies } R(a^{-1} \times b^{-1}), \\ R(a \times b) \text{ and } R(c \times d) \text{ imply } R((ac) \times (bd)) \end{array}$$

b) The morphisms of Σ form a multiplicative semi-group containing all the identities $_{\mathfrak{A}}I_{\mathfrak{A}}$ (\mathfrak{A} in Σ), and the morphism $_{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is a multiplicative normal congruence on a subgroup ||R|| of \mathfrak{A} if and only if $_{\mathfrak{A}}R_{\mathfrak{A}}$ is symmetric and transitive. In this case R is equal to the congruence relation of ||R|| modulo the normal subgroup formed by the elements of \mathfrak{A} that are R-congruent to the unit element of \mathfrak{A} . The corresponding subfactor group is uniquely determined by R and may be denoted by R:

d) Every morphism is regular, and the one-to-one correspondence occurring in 28c) is an isomorphism.

30. (Goursat-Lambek.) For any subgroup $\mathfrak{U} \circ \mathfrak{N} \times \mathfrak{B}$ the subgroup $\mathfrak{N}_{\mathfrak{A}} = \mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ is normal in the \mathfrak{U} -component $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{B}} = \mathfrak{U} \mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ and $\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{B}} = \mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{B}$ is normal in the \mathfrak{B} -component $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{B}} = \mathfrak{U} \mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{B}$ of \mathfrak{U} and are such that the mapping σ that maps the residue class $\mathfrak{a} \mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ onto the residue class $\mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ (where $a \times b$ belongs to \mathfrak{U}) is an isomorphism between $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{A}}$ and $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{A}}/\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ (use 28. and 29.).

Conversely, if $\mathfrak{N}_{\mathfrak{A}} \prec \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{A}} \leq \mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{B}} \prec \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{B}} \leq \mathfrak{B}$ and if σ is a given isomorphism between $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{A}}(\mathfrak{N}_{\mathfrak{A}} \text{ and } \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{B}})\mathfrak{K}_{\mathfrak{B}}$, then the set \mathfrak{U} of all the elements $a \times b$ of $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{A}} \times \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ for which $\sigma(a\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{A}}) = b\mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{B}}$ is a subgroup of $\mathfrak{A} \times \mathfrak{B}$ such that $\mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{A}}, \mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{A}}, \mathfrak{U}_{\mathfrak{B}}, \mathfrak{R}_{\mathfrak{B}}, \sigma$ are related to \mathfrak{U} as was defined above (apply 29a).

31. Prove the Lemma on Four Groups in Chap. II, § 5 by application of 28 c) and 29 a), d) to the morphism $R \cdot S$, where R and S are the binary relations on the group \mathfrak{G} defined by the subfactorgroups $\mathfrak{U}/\mathfrak{u}$, $\mathfrak{B}/\mathfrak{v}$, respectively. Note that the isomorphism between $\underline{RSR} = \mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{B})/\mathfrak{u}(\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{v})$ and $\underline{SRS} = \mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{U})/\mathfrak{v}(\mathfrak{B} \cap \mathfrak{u})$ obtained according to 28 c) is the same as the one obtained in the previous proof.

APPENDIX E

FURTHER EXERCISES FOR CHAP. IV, § 5

8. (Fitting.) Using (12) and (13) of Chap. II, § 6, prove that the inequality

 $\mathfrak{Z}_{i}(\mathfrak{A}\mathfrak{B}) \leq (\mathfrak{A} \cap \mathfrak{Z}_{i-1}(\mathfrak{B}))(\mathfrak{Z}_{2}(\mathfrak{A}) \cap \mathfrak{Z}_{i-2}(\mathfrak{B})) \cdots (\mathfrak{Z}_{i-1}(\mathfrak{A}) \cap \mathfrak{B})$

holds for any two normal subgroups \mathfrak{N} and \mathfrak{B} of a group, and hence that the product of two nilpotent normal subgroups is nilpotent.

9. (Schenkman.) The element g of the group \mathfrak{G} is called *weakly central* if, after a finite number of applications, the mapping of an arbitrary element x of \mathfrak{G} onto the commutator $(g, x) = gxg^{-1}x^{-1}$ for any particular element x of \mathfrak{G} always leads to the identity.

Show that

a) If g' belongs to a nilpotent normal subgroup, then g is weakly central;

b) If for a prime p every element of p-power order of a finite group is weakly central, then the intersection of two different p-Sylow subgroups is always the identity. (Apply induction on the order of \emptyset , and use Theorem 7 of Chap. IV.)

c) If in a finite group the intersection of the *p*-Sylow subgroup S with any different *p*-Sylow subgroup is the identity, then the commutator of an element of S and an arbitrary element a of \mathfrak{G} is in the normalizer of S if and only if a belongs to the normalizer of S;

d) If in a finite group the elements of *p*-power order are weakly central, then they form a normal subgroup;

e) A finite group is nilpotent if and only if every element is weakly central.

10. (Schenkman.) The *nitradical* of an arbitrary group \mathfrak{G} consists of all elements g of \mathfrak{G} with the property that for any weakly central element x of \mathfrak{G} , gx and $g^{-1}x$ are also weakly central. (For the definition of weakly central, see the preceding exercise.) Show that

a) The nilradical is a characteristic subgroup of G;

b) If \mathfrak{A} is an abelian normal subgroup of the group \mathfrak{G} , g an element of the centralizer of \mathfrak{A} , x an element of \mathfrak{G} , and a an element of \mathfrak{A} , then (gx, a) = (x, a);

c) Every nilpotent normal subgroup \Re of \mathfrak{G} belongs to the nilradical of \mathfrak{G} . (Apply induction on the class of \Re , and use b).)

d) The nilradical of a finite group is its maximal normal nilpotent subgroup. (Apply 9) and 10 c).)

e) The nilradical of a finite group consists of all the elements that generate a subnormal subgroup of the full group.

11. Let \mathfrak{N} be a normal subgroup of the group \mathfrak{G} , and let \mathfrak{U} , \mathfrak{V} be two subgroups of \mathfrak{G} satisfying

 $\mathfrak{U} \cap \mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{V} \cap \mathfrak{N}, \ \mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{V}\mathfrak{N}, \ \mathfrak{U} \leq \mathfrak{V}.$

Show that

 $\mathfrak{u}=\mathfrak{V}.$

Exercises

12. a) A group satisfies the maximal condition for subgroups if and only if every subgroup of the group is finitely generated.

b) If a group satisfies the maximal condition for subgroups, then so does every subgroup and every factor group.

c) If both a normal subgroup \Re and the factor group of the group \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{N} satisfy the maximal condition for subgroups, then \mathfrak{G} does so also. (Use 11.)

13. a) Every cyclic group and every finite group satisfies the maximal condition for subgroups.

b) If there exists a normal chain

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{N}_0 \vartriangleright \mathfrak{N}_1 \vartriangleright \mathfrak{N}_2 \vartriangleright \cdots \vartriangleright \mathfrak{N}_s = 1$$

of a group \mathfrak{G} such that each factor group $\mathfrak{N}_i/\mathfrak{N}_{i+1}$ either is finite or infinitely cyclic, then \mathfrak{G} satisfies the maximal condition for subgroups. (Use 13a) and 12c).)

c) A finitely generated abelian group always satisfies the maximal condition for subgroups.

14. a) If the group \mathfrak{G} is generated by the complex \mathfrak{R} and if \mathfrak{G} is nilpotent of class c + 1, then the subgroup \mathfrak{U}_i generated by all higher commutators (K_1, K_2, \ldots, K_i) of weight *i* in the components K_1, K_2, \ldots, K_i each of which runs independently over \mathfrak{R} , coincides with $\mathfrak{Z}_i(\mathfrak{G})$. (Clearly $\mathfrak{U}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{Z}_i(\mathfrak{G}), (\mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{U}_i) \subseteq \mathfrak{U}_{i+1}$. Since $\mathfrak{U}_c \subseteq \mathfrak{Z}_c(\mathfrak{G}) \subseteq \mathfrak{z}$ (\mathfrak{G}) it follows that $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{U}_{c-1}) = (\mathfrak{L}_c, \mathfrak{B})$ induction, $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{U}_i) \subseteq \mathfrak{U}_{i+1}$; hence $\mathfrak{U}_i \subset \mathfrak{Z}_i(\mathfrak{G})$.

b) If the group G is finitely generated and nilpotent, then all members of the descending central series are finitely generated. (Use a).)

c) (Jennings.) If the group () is finitely generated and nilpotent, then it satisfies the maximal condition for subgroups. (Use 14b), 13c), and 12c).)

15. Let P be a group property. A group @ is said to be a *local P-group* if every finitely generated subgroup of @ has the property P. Show that

a) Every subgroup of a local P-group is a local P-group;

b) Every local P-subgroup of a group & can be embedded into a maximal local P-subgroup of &.

16. a) Let \Re , \mathfrak{L} be two non-empty complexes of a group \mathfrak{G} ; let $\mathfrak{U} = \langle (\mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{L}), \mathfrak{L} \rangle$; let \mathfrak{B} be the smallest normal subgroup of \mathfrak{L} on taining $(\mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{L})$; and let \mathfrak{B} be the smallest normal subgroup of $(\mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{L})$ that contains $(\mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{L})$. Show that

$$\langle \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{K} \rangle \lhd \langle \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{L} \rangle$$
$$\mathfrak{B} \subset \mathfrak{B} \subset \langle \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{K} \rangle.$$

Show that

$$\langle \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{K} \rangle \triangleleft \langle \mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{L} \rangle, \langle \mathfrak{B}, \mathfrak{L} \rangle \triangleleft \langle \mathfrak{K}, \mathfrak{L} \rangle.$$

b) If \Re is a finite subset of a locally nilpotent normal subgroup \Re of \emptyset and if \Re is a finite subset of a locally nilpotent normal subgroup \Re of \emptyset , then the subgroups $\mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{R}$ defined under a) are finitely generated and nilpotent. (Use 14c).) Moreover $\langle \mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{R} \rangle, \langle \mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{R} \rangle, \mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{R}$ and $\langle \mathfrak{R}, \mathfrak{L} \rangle$ are nilpotent. (Use Ex. 8.)

c) (Hirsch.) Any two locally nilpotent normal subgroups of a group generate a locally nilpotent normal subgroup. (Use 16b).)

d). Every group contains one and only one maximal normal locally nilpotent subgroup, which may be called its *Hirsch radical*. e) Show that the Hirsch radical of a group is contained in the nilradical defined in Ex. 10.

f) The Hirsch radical of a finite group (more generally, of a group satisfying the maximal condition for subgroups) is its maximal nilpotent normal subgroup.

17. a) The normalizer $N_{\rm ll}$ of a maximal locally nilpotent subgroup ll of a group G is its own normalizer. (Apply 16c).)

b) (Plotkin.) A group G in which every proper subgroup is properly contained in its normalizer is locally nilpotent. (*Hint:* According to a) every maximal locally nilpotent subgroup of G is contained in the Hirsch radical of G. Now apply 15b.)

18. For any set L and any ring o the ring M(o, L) of row-finite matrices over L with coefficients in o is defined as the set of all formal sums $(\lambda_{tk}) = \Sigma \Sigma_{ik} e_{ik}$, where to each pair of elements i, k of L we have assigned a 'matrix unit' e_{ik} and where the coefficients λ_{ik} that belong to o are such that for any fixed row index i all but a finite number of the coefficients λ_{ik} vanish. Define addition, multiplication, and multiplication by scalars according to the rules:

$$\begin{split} \Sigma \Sigma \lambda_{ik} e_{ik} + \Sigma \Sigma \mu_{ik} e_{ik} &= \Sigma \Sigma (\lambda_{ik} + \mu_{ik}) e_{ik} \\ \Sigma \Sigma \lambda_{ik} e_{ik} \cdot \Sigma \Sigma \mu_{ik} e_{ik} &= \Sigma \Sigma (\sum_{i} \lambda_{ij} \mu_{jk}) e_{ik} \\ \lambda \cdot \Sigma \Sigma \lambda_{ik} e_{ik} &= \Sigma \Sigma \lambda_{ik} \lambda_{ik} \\ \Sigma \Sigma \lambda_{ik} e_{ik} \cdot \lambda &= \Sigma \Sigma \lambda_{ik} \lambda_{ik}. \end{split}$$

a) Prove that M(o, L) is an o-ring. If o contains a unit element, then the matrix $I = \Sigma \Sigma \delta_{ik} \epsilon_{ik}$ is the unit element of M(o, L), and the mapping of λ onto λI provides an o-isomorphism of o into M(o, L).

b) For any subset S of L the subset M(o, S, L) of all matrices (λ_{ik}) of M(o, L)such that λ_{ik} vanishes whenever i or k does not belong to S is an o-subring of M(o, L)that is o-isomorphic to M (o, S).

c) If L is a poset, then the set T(o, L) of all triangular matrices (λ_{ik}) which are characterized as row-finite matrices for which $\lambda_{ik} = 0$ if i is not contained in k, is an o-subring of M(o, L).

d) Show that all matrices (λ_{ik}) of $M(\mathfrak{o}, L)$ with all but a finite number of columns vanishing and with the property that $\lambda_{ik} \neq 0$ implies that *i* is properly contained in *k* form a left ideal $N(\mathfrak{o}, L)$ of $T(\mathfrak{o}, L)$. Moreover, for every element A of $N(\mathfrak{o}, L)$ there is an exponent *n* for which $A^n = 0$.

e) If o contains a unit element, then all the matrices $I + A (A \in N(o, L))$ form a group I + N(o, L). (Use the identity $(I - A)(I + A + A^2 + \cdots + A^{n-1}) = (I - A^n)$.)

f) The group I + N(o, L) is locally nilpotent.

g) If there are arbitrary long chains

$$i_0 < i_1 < i_2 \cdots < i_l, \quad i_{j+1} \not\subseteq i_j \text{ for } j = 0, 1, \ldots, l-1$$

in the poset L_i then the group I + N(o, L) is not nilpotent. (Let L be for example, the ordered set of all natural numbers.) If the length of properly increasing chains is bounded, then I + N(o, L) is nilpotent.

h) For a subposet S of L, the set of matrices $I + N(o, L) \cap M(o, S, L)$ is a subgroup of I + N(o, L) is comorphic to I + N(o, S). This subgroup is its own normalizer in I + N(o, L) if any element of L is properly contained in an element of S and if

240

Exercises

all elements of L not belonging to S are equivalent. (For example, let L be the ordered set of all natural numbers, and let S be the subset of all elements $\pm 1.$)

19. A group every element of which is of finite order is called *periodic*. Show that

a) Every subgroup and every factor group of a periodic group is periodic;

b) If a normal subgroup \Re of a group \Im as well as the factor group \Im/\Re is periodic, then \Im is periodic;

c) If \mathfrak{N} is a normal periodic subgroup and if \mathfrak{U} is a periodic subgroup of the group \mathfrak{G} , then $\mathfrak{U}\mathfrak{N}$ is a periodic subgroup of \mathfrak{G} ;

d) In every group \mathfrak{G} there is precisely one maximal normal periodic subgroup $\mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{G})$ called the *torsion subgroup* of \mathfrak{G} ;

e) If the normal subgroup \Re of a group is periodic, then $\mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}) = \mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{G})/\mathfrak{R}$.

20. A group is called *torsion-free* if it contains no element of finite order other than 1. Show that

a) Every free group is torsion-free;

b) Every subgroup of a torsion-free group is torsion-free;

c) If the factor group of the group \mathfrak{C} over the normal subgroup \mathfrak{N} is torsion-free, then \mathfrak{N} contains the torsion subgroup $\mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{C})$ defined in 18d);

d) If both \Re and $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$ are torsion-free, then \mathfrak{G} is torsion-free;

e) In a locally nilpotent group any two periodic subgroups generate a periodic subgroup (use Ex. 6);

 f) Every periodic subgroup of a locally nilpotent group is contained in its torsion subgroup (use 19e));

g) The factor group of a locally nilpotent group over its torsion subgroup is torsionfree (use 19a), 18b));

h) If the center of a group is torsion-free, then its second center is also torsion-free (use (9), Chap. II, § 6); hence it follows by induction that all the members of the accending central series are torsion-free;

 i) A finitely generated abelian group is torsion-free if and only if it is a free abelian group;

j) (Jennings.) A finitely generated nilpotent group G is torsion-free if and only if there is a finite chain of normal subgroups of G

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{N}_0 \supset \mathfrak{N}_1 \supset \mathfrak{N}_2 \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{N}_r = 1$$

such that the factor groups $\mathfrak{N}_i/\mathfrak{N}_{i+1}$ are infinite cyclic for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, r-1$. (Use 14c, 20h, 20i.)

21. A group & is called a group of *finite rank* if there is a finite normal chain

$$\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{N}_{\mathfrak{g}} \geq \mathfrak{N}_1 \geq \mathfrak{N}_2 \geq \cdots \geq \mathfrak{N}_{\mathfrak{g}} = 1,$$

for which each factor group $\mathfrak{N}_i/\mathfrak{N}_{i+1}$ either is periodic or infinite cyclic. Show that

a) The number $r = r(\mathfrak{G})$ of infinite cyclic factor groups $\mathfrak{R}_d/\mathfrak{R}_{t+1}$ is independent of the choice of the normal chain by which it is determined (apply Schreier's Refinement Theorem); hence we have obtained a group invariant which may be called the rank of the group;

b) Every subgroup and every factor group of a group of rank r is of finite rank not greater than r;

c) If the normal subgroup \Re of a group \mathfrak{G} is of rank r and if $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{R}$ is of rank r', then \mathfrak{G} is of rank r + r';

.

d) For a group \mathfrak{G} of finite rank, $r(\mathfrak{G}) = r(\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{T}(\mathfrak{G}));$

e) The rank of a group of finite rank is characterized as the maximum number of independent elements, where we call the elements A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n of a group independent if A_i $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$ is of infinite order modulo the smallest normal subgroup \emptyset_{i-1} of (A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n) containing the elements $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_{i-1}$.

22. (MacLain.) Prove that

a) For any two subgroups A, B of a group, (A, B) is always normal in (A, B);

b) If \mathfrak{B} is contained in $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B})$ and if $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B})$ is nilpotent, then $\mathfrak{B} = 1$;

c) If \mathfrak{B} is finitely generated and contained in $(\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B})$ and is not 1, then $\langle \mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ contains a finitely generated subgroup that is not nilpotent;

d) A minimal normal subgroup of a locally nilpotent group always belongs to the center of the group.
APPENDIX F

FURTHER EXERCISES FOR CHAP. IV, §1

4. (Gaschütz.) Let us consider the relation between an extension G of the abelian group \Re with the factor group \mathfrak{E} and the extension \mathfrak{H} , contained in G, of \mathfrak{R} with a subgroup 10 of finite index n in \mathfrak{E} . We assume that \mathfrak{H} splits over \mathfrak{R} . Using a right representative system \mathfrak{F} of \mathfrak{E} over \mathfrak{l} used and decompose G into the cosets $S_{\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{R}}}\mathfrak{R}$, where ϱ runs over \mathfrak{F} and urns over \mathfrak{l} , such that $S_{\mathfrak{g}}\mathfrak{L}$, $S_{\mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{u}'} = S_{\mathfrak{R}}\mathfrak{L}$, $S_{\mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{u}'} = S_{\mathfrak{R}}\mathfrak{L}$, $S_{\mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{u}'} = S_{\mathfrak{R}}\mathfrak{L}$, $S_{\mathfrak{u}\mathfrak{u}'} = C_{\mathfrak{R}}\mathfrak{L}\mathfrak{R}$, $S_{\mathfrak{R}}\mathfrak{L}\mathfrak{R} = C_{\mathfrak{R}}\mathfrak{L}\mathfrak{R}$.

Show that

a) $S_{xy} = S_x S_y$ for x in \mathfrak{E} , u in \mathfrak{U} ;

b) $C_{x,y} = C_{x,yu}$ for x, y in \mathfrak{E}, u in \mathfrak{U} ;

c) The element a_{σ} obtained by forming the product over all $C_{\theta,\sigma}$ with ϱ running over \mathfrak{F} is independent of the choice of the representative system \mathfrak{F} (where σ is a fixed element of \mathfrak{E});

d) $C_{\sigma,\tau}^n = a_{\tau}^{\sigma} a_{\sigma} a_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}$ for σ, τ in \mathfrak{E} ;

e) If the mapping of N onto N^n is an automorphism of \mathfrak{N} , then an extension \mathfrak{G} of \mathfrak{N} with the factor group \mathfrak{G} splits if and only if the extension of \mathfrak{N} with the factor group \mathfrak{I} contained in \mathfrak{G} splits over \mathfrak{N} :

f) An extension \mathfrak{G} of a finite abelian group \mathfrak{N} with a finite factor group \mathfrak{E} splits over \mathfrak{N} if and only if the extension of \mathfrak{N} contained in \mathfrak{G} , with each Sylow subgroup of \mathfrak{E} as factor group, splits over \mathfrak{N} ;

g) Assuming $C_{\sigma,\tau} = 1$ for σ, τ in \mathfrak{E} and T_{σ} being a second representative system of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{N} that satisfies the condition $T_{\sigma}T_{\tau} = T_{\sigma\tau}, T_{u} = S_{u}$ for σ, τ in \mathfrak{E}, u in \mathfrak{l} , we have

$$T_{\sigma} = b_{\sigma}S_{\sigma}, \ b_{\sigma\tau} = b_{\sigma}b_{\tau u}, \ b_{u} = 1, \ b_{\sigma u} = b_{\sigma}, \ b_{\sigma}^{n} = \delta^{1-\sigma},$$

where b_{σ} denotes a certain element of \mathfrak{N} depending on σ , and δ is the product of the elements b_{σ} with ρ running over \mathfrak{K} :

h) Under the assumption that the extension \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{R} splits and that the mapping of N onto N^n is an automorphism of \mathfrak{R} , two representative subgroups \mathfrak{E}_i , \mathfrak{E}_i of \mathfrak{G} over \mathfrak{R} are conjugate under \mathfrak{G} if and only if the representative subgroups $\mathfrak{E}_i \frown \mathfrak{H}$, $\mathfrak{E}_i \frown \mathfrak{H}$ of \mathfrak{H} over \mathfrak{R} obtained by restricting \mathfrak{E} to \mathfrak{U} are conjugate under \mathfrak{G}_i :

i) Two representative subgroups of a splitting extension \mathfrak{G} of a finite abelian group \mathfrak{R} with a finite factor group \mathfrak{G} are conjugate over \mathfrak{G} if and only if the representative subgroups obtained by restricting \mathfrak{E} to any of the Sylow subgroups are conjugate under \mathfrak{G} . The condition that every Sylow subgroup of \mathfrak{G} splits over its intersection with \mathfrak{R} is equivalent to this condition.

5. (Example showing that Gaschütz' Theorem does not hold if the normal subgroup is not abelian.) Let \mathfrak{G}_{48} be the multiplicative group formed by the 2×2 -matrices of determinant 1 with its entries in $GF(3^2)$ for which a suitable non-vanishing scalar multiple with its entries in GF(3) exists. Let \mathfrak{G}_8 be the normal subgroup consisting of $\pm I_8$ and of the six matrices that have their entries in GF(3) and that have sum zero over the main diagonal. Let \mathfrak{G}_{16} be the 2-Sylow subgroup of \mathfrak{G}_{45} which is generated by \mathfrak{G}_{6} and by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix}$, where $i^{2} = -1$; let \mathfrak{G}_{3} be the 3-Sylow subgroup generated by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$; let $\mathfrak{G}_{46,46}$, $\mathfrak{G}_{16,16}$, and $\mathfrak{G}_{5,4}$, $\mathfrak{G}_{5,3}$ be the groups of all 4×4 -matrices of the form $\begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}$, with A, B contained in \mathfrak{G}_{46} , \mathfrak{G}_{16} , \mathfrak{G}_{5} , and \mathfrak{G}_{3} , respectively; and let \mathfrak{G}_{5} be the normal subgroup of $\mathfrak{G}_{45,46}$ consisting of I_{4} and $-I_{4}$. Then the group $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_{46,46}/\mathfrak{G}_{6}$ does not split over its normal subgroup $\mathfrak{R} = \mathfrak{G}_{4,5}/\mathfrak{G}_{3}$, whereas both a 2-Sylow subgroup and a 3-Sylow subgroup of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{N}$ correspond to splitting extensions of \mathfrak{N} , vi..., $\mathfrak{G}_{45,46}/\mathfrak{G}_{2}$ and $\mathfrak{G}_{3,3}/\mathfrak{G}_{2,6}/\mathfrak{G}_{2,6}/\mathfrak{G}_{2,6}$ respectively.

6. The Φ -subgroup of a finite group \mathfrak{G} does not contain a Sylow subgroup ± 1 of \mathfrak{G} . (*Hint*: Apply Ex. 7 of Chap. IV § 3, and Theorem 25.)

APPENDIX G

A THEOREM OF WIELANDT

An addendum to Chap. IV

In Chap. II, § 4 we saw that a finite group \mathfrak{G} having 1 as center is isomorphic to the group of inner automorphisms of \mathfrak{G} . Also, for an element a of the automorphism group \mathfrak{G}_1 of \mathfrak{G} we have $a\underline{x}a^{-1} = \underline{x}^a$, where \underline{x} denotes the inner automorphism corresponding to the element x of \mathfrak{G} . Hence an equation $a\underline{x}a^{-1} = \underline{x}$ implies that x^ax^{-1} is contained in the center of \mathfrak{G} and hence that x^a is equal to x. By identifying each element x of \mathfrak{G} with the corresponding inner automorphism, we may consider $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_0$ as a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G}_1 such that the centralizer of \mathfrak{G}_0 in \mathfrak{G}_1 is 1.

Since \mathfrak{G}_1 is again finite and has center 1, we may continue with the construction by extending \mathfrak{G}_1 to the automorphism group \mathfrak{G}_2 of \mathfrak{G}_1 , etc. We obtain a sequence of finite groups

(1) $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_0 \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_1 \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_2 \triangleleft \cdots,$

called the *automorphism tower* of \mathfrak{G} , each member of which is contained as a normal subgroup in the succeeding subgroup and has centralizer 1. We may raise the question, Is the sequence of the groups in (1) strictly increasing? Or is one of the groups \mathfrak{G}_i isomorphic with its group of automorphisms? In the second case we say that the automorphism tower is of finite height. In this case $\mathfrak{G}_i = \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} = \cdots$ is a complete group, and we will have succeeded in embedding the given group with center 1 subnormally in a complete finite group with center 1.

The solution to this problem was found by *Wielandt* and gave rise to interesting theorems of a general nature concerning the subnormal subgroups of a group, which we will now consider.

DEFINITION: A property P of groups is called normally persistent if

1. Every group isomorphic to a group with property P also has property P;

2. In a given group the subgroup generated by a system of normal subgroups having property P also has property P.

Examples of normally persistent properties are

1. the property of being a p-group,

2. the property of being semi-simple,

3. Local finiteness: Finitely many elements of \mathfrak{G} always generate a finite subgroup.¹

4. Local nilpotency (see Exx. 15, 16c), Appendix E),

5. Periodicity (see Ex. 19c), Appendix E).

If, in the statement of condition 2., the word 'normal' is replaced by 'subnormal', a property P satisfying 1. and 2. is called *subnormally persistent*.

It is immediate that subnormal persistence implies normal persistence. Conversely,

THEOREM 28: Normal persistence implies subnormal persistence.

Proof: For brevity we call a group having the normally persistent property P = P-group. Let B be a set of subnormal P-subgroups of the group \mathfrak{G} . We want to prove that the subgroup \mathfrak{H} generated by all the subgroups belonging to B is a P-subgroup of \mathfrak{G} .

First of all, let us assume that the function $m(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{G})$ defined on B and indicating the minimal length of a normal chain from \mathfrak{X} to \mathfrak{G} , is bounded by a number n. We apply induction on n. If n = 0, then every member of B coincides with \mathfrak{G} , and hence $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{H}$ is a P-group. If n = 1, then every member of B is a normal P-subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . Because of the normal persistence the subgroup § generated by its own normal P-subgroups is also a P-subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . Now let n > 1, and assume that the statement is true in the case that $m(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{G}) < n$ for all members \mathfrak{X} of B. For any member \mathfrak{X} of B there exists a normal chain $\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{X}_0 \lhd \mathfrak{X}_1 \lhd \mathfrak{X}_2 \lhd \cdots \lhd \mathfrak{X}_n = \mathfrak{G}$ from \mathfrak{X} to \mathfrak{G} of length n. Taking any conjugate \mathfrak{X}^t of \mathfrak{X} (t in \mathfrak{G}) we have the normal chain $\mathfrak{X}^{t} = \mathfrak{X}^{t}_{0} \triangleleft \mathfrak{X}^{t}_{1} \triangleleft \mathfrak{X}^{t}_{2} \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft \mathfrak{X}^{t}_{n-1} = \mathfrak{X}_{n-1}$ of length n-1 from \mathfrak{X}^t to \mathfrak{X}_{n-1} . All conjugates of \mathfrak{X} under \mathfrak{H} are isomorphic to \mathfrak{X} and hence are *P*-subgroups, and furthermore we have $m(\mathfrak{X}^t, \mathfrak{X}_{n-1}) < n$. By the induction hypothesis, the subgroup $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ generated by the conjugates of \mathfrak{X} under \mathfrak{H} is a normal P-subgroup of \mathfrak{H} . All normal subgroups $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ generate a P-subgroup $\overline{\mathfrak{H}}$ of \mathfrak{H} . Since \mathfrak{H} is a subgroup of $\overline{\mathfrak{H}}$, it follows that $\mathfrak{H} = \overline{\mathfrak{H}}$.

¹ It has to be proved that two locally finite normal subgroups \Re_1 , \Re_2 of a group \mathfrak{G} generate a locally finite normal subgroup. Let x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_r be finitely many elements of $\Re_1 \, \Re_2$. Then $x_i = y_i z_i$, where y_i is an element of \Re_1 , α_i and near element of \Re_1 , α_i and near element of \Re_1 , α_i and near element of \Re_1 , α_i and element elements y_i under \mathfrak{U} are in \Re_1 and hence all together generate a finite subgroup \Re of \mathfrak{G} generated by $y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_r, z_i, z_2, \ldots, z_r$, so that the index of \mathfrak{B} over \mathfrak{B} is equal to the index of \mathfrak{U} over \mathfrak{H} in intersection of \mathfrak{U} and \mathfrak{B} . Thus \mathfrak{R} is finite. The subgroup generated by $y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_r, z_i, z_2, \ldots, z_r$, so that the index of \mathfrak{B} over \mathfrak{B} is generated by x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_r , being a subgroup of \mathfrak{R} is finite.

Since for any subnormal *P*-subgroup \mathfrak{X} of \mathfrak{G} the minimal length of a normal chain from any conjugate of \mathfrak{X} to \mathfrak{G} is the same, it follows from the preceding that any subgroup generated by some conjugates of \mathfrak{X} is a *P*-subgroup.

For any system B of subnormal P-subgroups of \mathfrak{G} the normal subgroup $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ of \mathfrak{G} generated by the conjugates under \mathfrak{H} of each member \mathfrak{X} of B is a P-subgroup; hence we see as above that the members of B generate a P-subgroup \mathfrak{H} of \mathfrak{G} , \mathfrak{Q} . E. D.

The smallest normal subgroup of a group & containing a given subgroup \mathfrak{U} is the subgroup generated by all the conjugates of \mathfrak{U} . Applying Theorem 28, we obtain Corollary 1.

COROLLARY 1: The normal subgroup generated by the conjugates of a subnormal subgroup having the normally persistent property P is a subgroup with property P.

Theorem 28, applied to Examples 1. and 2., gives Corollaries 2 and 3, respectively.

COROLLARY 2: Any number of subnormal p-subgroups of a group generate a p-subgroup. In particular, the normal subgroup generated by the conjugates of a subnormal p-subgroup is a p-subgroup.

COROLLARY 3: Any number of subnormal semi-simple subgroups of a group generate a semi-simple subgroup. In particular, the normal subgroup generated by the conjugates of a subnormal semi-simple subgroup is semisimple.

Theorem 28 can be extended in the case of a group \mathfrak{G} subnormally embedded in another finite group \mathfrak{F} if there is known an ascending chain

$$(2) 1 = \mathfrak{V}_0 \triangleleft \mathfrak{V}_1 \triangleleft \mathfrak{V}_2 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft \mathfrak{V}_r = \mathfrak{G}$$

of normal subgroups extending from 1 to \mathfrak{G} such that $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ is either a p_{i+1} -group or a semi-simple group.

THEOREM 29: With proper choice of the chain (2) the subgroups \mathfrak{H}_i of \mathfrak{H} generated by the subgroups conjugate to \mathfrak{H}_i under \mathfrak{H} together with \mathfrak{H} form an ascending chain $1 = \mathfrak{H}_0 \lhd \mathfrak{H}_1 \lhd \mathfrak{H}_2 \lhd \cdots \lhd \mathfrak{H}$ of normal subgroups of \mathfrak{H} such that

1. $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ and $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{H}_i$ are either p_{i+1} -groups and there is a normal subgroup \mathfrak{u}_{i+1} of \mathfrak{G} with a p_{i+1} -factor group; or $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ and $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{H}_i$ are semisimple groups, in which case we set $\mathfrak{u}_{i+1} = \mathfrak{G}$; in any case

-

(3)
$$(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}, \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}) \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_{i+1}\mathfrak{H}_i;$$

2. The intersection of \mathfrak{H}_i and \mathfrak{H} is \mathfrak{H}_i for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, r$.

Proof: If $\mathfrak{G} = 1$, then set $\mathfrak{H}_0 = 1$. If $\mathfrak{G} \neq 1$, then \mathfrak{G} contains a smallest normal subgroup different from 1 which is either an abelian group of prime exponent p_1 or a semi-simple group. In the former case, let \mathfrak{B}_1 be the maximal normal p_1 -subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . In the latter, let \mathfrak{B}_1 be the maximal semi-simple normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . In any case, in view of Corollaries 2 and 3 to Theorem 28, \mathfrak{B}_1 is uniquely determined. Similarly, form $\mathfrak{B}_1/\mathfrak{B}_1$ in $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{B}_1$, etc. Continuing this construction, we obtain a chain (2). For the corresponding \mathfrak{H}_i the factor group $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}\mathfrak{H}_i/\mathfrak{H}_i$.

Since the factor group $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}\mathfrak{F}_i/\mathfrak{F}_i$ is isomorphic to the factor group of \mathfrak{B}_{i+1} over the intersection of \mathfrak{B}_{i+1} and \mathfrak{F}_i , it follows from Corollaries 2 and 3 of Theorem 28 that either $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ and $\mathfrak{F}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{F}_i$ are both p_{i+1} -groups or they are both semi-simple. We claim that $\mathfrak{F}_i = \mathfrak{G} \cap \mathfrak{F}_i$. This is obvious for i = 0. Assume that $\mathfrak{F}_i \cap \mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{B}_i$. We observe that $\mathfrak{F}_{i+1} \cap \mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ is isomorphic to a factor group of $\mathfrak{F}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{F}_i$ and hence is a p_{i+1} -group in the first case and is semi-simple in the second case. Since in both cases \mathfrak{B}_{i+1} is contained in the intersection of \mathfrak{F}_{i+1} and \mathfrak{G} , we conclude from the maximal property of \mathfrak{B}_{i+1} that $\mathfrak{F}_{i+1} \cap \mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{R}_{i+1}$.

In order to prove (3), let us observe that there is a normal chain $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{a}} \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{l}} \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{l}} \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{s}} = \mathfrak{H}.$ Let $\mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{i}\mathfrak{j}} = \mathfrak{H}_{\mathfrak{i}}(\mathfrak{G}_{\mathfrak{j}} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{\mathfrak{i}+1})$, so that $\mathfrak{H}_{\mathfrak{i}}$ is properly contained in $\mathfrak{G}_{i0} = \mathfrak{H}_i \mathfrak{B}_{i+1}$ and $\mathfrak{G}_{i0} \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_{i1} \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_{is} = \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}$. Let g_{ii} be the set of all elements x of \mathfrak{G} satisfying the condition (x, \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}) $\subseteq \mathfrak{G}_{ij}$. For an element x of \mathfrak{g}_{ij} and an element h of \mathfrak{H}_{i+1} we find that $(x, h^{-1}) = w$ is contained in \mathfrak{G}_{ii} . By induction on n, we find that (x^n, h^{-1}) $= w \, w^{x} \cdots w^{x^{n-1}}$. Since x, as an element of \mathfrak{G} , is also an element of \mathfrak{G}_{j-1} , we find that $x^m w x^{-m} w^{-1}$ already belongs to $\mathfrak{H}_i(\mathfrak{G}_{i-1} \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1})$, which is the same as $\mathfrak{G}_{i, i-1}$; hence the two elements w and w^{x^m} are congruent modulo $\mathfrak{G}_{i,i-1}$, and thus the element $(x^n, h^{-1}) = w w^x \cdots w^{x^{n-1}}$ is congruent to w^n . It follows that $(x^{\bigotimes_{ij}:\bigotimes_{i,j-1}}, h^{-1})$ is contained in $\bigotimes_{i,j-1}$ for h^{-1} and arbitrary element of \mathfrak{H}_{i+1} ; therefore $x^{\mathfrak{G}_{ij}:\mathfrak{G}_{i,j-1}}$ belongs to $\mathfrak{g}_{i,j-1}$. Hence $x^{\mathfrak{G}_{ij}:\mathfrak{G}_{i,j-2}}$, being equal to $(x^{\mathfrak{G}_{ij}:\mathfrak{G}_{i,j-1}})^{\mathfrak{G}_{i,j-1}:\mathfrak{G}_{i,j-2}}$, belongs to $\mathfrak{g}_{i,j-2}$, etc. Lastly $x^{\mathfrak{G}_{ij}:\mathfrak{G}_{i0}}$ belongs to \mathfrak{g}_{i0} . Since, as follows from the preceding, \mathfrak{g}_{i0} contains all the powers of each of its elements, and since \mathfrak{G}_{ij} : \mathfrak{G}_{i0} is a divisor of $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}:\mathfrak{H}_i$, it follows that $x^{\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}:\mathfrak{H}_i}$ belongs to \mathfrak{g}_{i0} for all x contained in the set gis, gis being the same as G.

When $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ is a p_{i+1} -group, let $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}$ be the maximal p_{i+1} -factor group of \mathfrak{G} ; then \mathfrak{u}_{i+1} is generated by all the p_{i+1} -th powers of the elements of \mathfrak{G} , with n large. Since in addition $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{H}_i$ is a p_{i+1} -group, it follows that \mathfrak{u}_{i+1} is contained in \mathfrak{g}_{i0} , and hence (3) holds.

If, on the other hand, $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}[\mathfrak{H}_i$ is semi-simple, then by the results of Appendixes B and C_i¹ the group $\mathfrak{G}_i[\mathfrak{H}_i, \text{being subnormal in }\mathfrak{H}/\mathfrak{H}_i, \text{ is normal in } \mathfrak{G}_{i+1}]\mathfrak{H}_i$. Hence $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{H}_{i+1})$ is contained in $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1} \cap \mathfrak{G}\mathfrak{H}_i$. But by the modular law, $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1} \cap (\mathfrak{G}\mathfrak{H}_i) = (\mathfrak{H}_{i+1} \cap \mathfrak{G})\mathfrak{H}_i = \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}\mathfrak{H}_i$, and thus $(\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{H}_{i+1})$ is contained in $\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}\mathfrak{H}_i$, $\mathfrak{G} \in \mathbb{E}$.

THEOREM 30: If together with the assumptions of Theorem 29 we have the centralizer of G in \mathfrak{H} equal to 1, then the order of \mathfrak{H} is bounded by a constant depending only on G.

Proof: In the case that $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ is a $p_{i+1}\text{-}\mathrm{group},$ we have for any element x of \mathfrak{G}

$$(Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1})^x = Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}^x) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}^x = Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}^x;$$

hence

$$(4) \qquad (Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}) \triangleleft (Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}) \mathfrak{G}.$$

Let \mathfrak{p} be a p_{i+1} -Sylow subgroup of \mathfrak{G} . It is contained in a p_{i+1} -Sylow subgroup \mathfrak{P} of $(\mathbb{Z}(u_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_{i+1}) \mathfrak{G}$. The intersection of $\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{P})$ with $\mathbb{Z}(u_{i+1}) \cap$ \mathfrak{F}_{i+1} belongs to $\mathbb{Z}(u_{i+1}) \cap \mathbb{Z}(\mathfrak{P})$ and hence to $\mathbb{Z}(u_{i+1}) \cap \mathbb{Z}(\mathfrak{p}) = \mathbb{Z}(u_{i+1}\mathfrak{p})$ $= \mathbb{Z}(\mathfrak{G})$. But by assumption, the centralizer of \mathfrak{G} in \mathfrak{F} is 1; hence

(5)
$$\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{P}) \cap Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1} = 1.$$

Because of (4), we find that

(6)
$$\mathfrak{P} \cap Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}$$
 is normal in \mathfrak{P} .

From (5), (6) and from the theorems on p-groups proved in Chap. IV, § 2, we conclude that

$$\mathfrak{P} \cap Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{P}_{i+1} = 1$$
.

Hence p_{i+1} does not divide the order of $Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_{i+1}$. A fortiori, p_{i+1} does not divide the index of $Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_{i+1}$ over $Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_i$; this index,

¹ We have to show that a group \mathfrak{C} generated by a subnormal semi-simple group \mathfrak{A} and a subnormal group \mathfrak{B} contains \mathfrak{B} as a normal subgroup. By Corollary 3 of Theorem 28, the normal subgroup \mathfrak{B} of \mathfrak{C} generated by the conjugates of \mathfrak{A} under \mathfrak{C} is semi-simple. Let $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}_0 \lhd \mathfrak{B}_1 \lhd \cdots \lhd \mathfrak{B}_s = \mathfrak{C}$ be a normal chain of minimal length s extending from \mathfrak{B} to \mathfrak{C} . Since $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ is normal in \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{A} is semi-simple, it follows that there is one and only one subgroup \mathfrak{A}_1 of \mathfrak{A} for which \mathfrak{A} is the direct product of \mathfrak{A}_1 and $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1} \cap \mathfrak{A}$; hence $\mathfrak{A}_1^{-s} = \mathfrak{A}_1$; and hence \mathfrak{A}_1 is normal in \mathfrak{C} , and \mathfrak{C} is the direct product of \mathfrak{A}_1^{s} and $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1} \cap \mathfrak{A}$; hence $\mathfrak{A}_1^{-s} = \mathfrak{A}_1$; and hence \mathfrak{A}_1 is normal in \mathfrak{C} , and \mathfrak{C} is the direct product of \mathfrak{A}_1 and $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1} \cap \mathfrak{A}$. The solution is a similar way that $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ is the direct product of \mathfrak{A}_1 and $\mathfrak{B}_{s-1} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ is the direct product of \mathfrak{A}_1 , \mathfrak{A}_2 and $\mathfrak{B}_{s-2} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ and some subgroup \mathfrak{A}_2 , so that \mathfrak{B}_{s-1} is the direct product of \mathfrak{A}_1 and $\mathfrak{B}_{s-2} \cap \mathfrak{A}$ and some subgroup \mathfrak{A}_2 , so that \mathfrak{B}_{s-1} is is normal in \mathfrak{C} , which contradicts the minimal property of s. Hence $s \leq 1$, and \mathfrak{B} is normal in \mathfrak{C} .

because of the Second Isomorphism Theorem, is equal to the index of $(Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_{i+1}) \mathfrak{F}_i$ over \mathfrak{F}_i , which is a divisor of \mathfrak{F}_{i+1} : \mathfrak{F}_i , a power of p_{i+1} . Therefore $Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_{i+1}$ is equal to $Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{F}_i$, so that

(7)
$$Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}$$
 is contained in \mathfrak{H}_i .

According to (3), each element x of \mathfrak{F}_{i+1} determines the function (x, y) of y, an element of \mathfrak{u}_{i+1} , with values in $\mathfrak{F}_i\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}$. There are at most $(\mathfrak{F}_i\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}:1)^{u_{i+1}:1}$ such functions. We have (x, y) = (x', y) for all y of \mathfrak{u}_{i+1} if and only if $xyx^{-1} = x'yx'^{-1}$, i.e., x is right congruent to x' modulo $Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1})$; hence

$$\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}: (Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}) \leq (\mathfrak{H}_i \mathfrak{H}_{i+1}: 1)^{\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}: 1}.$$

From (7) it follows that

$$\mathfrak{H}_{i+1} : \mathfrak{H}_i \leq \mathfrak{H}_{i+1} : (Z(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}) \frown \mathfrak{H}_{i+1})$$

Noting that $\mathfrak{H}_{i}\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}$: $\mathfrak{H}_{i} = \mathfrak{B}_{i+1}$: $(\mathfrak{H}_{i} \frown \mathfrak{B}_{i+1})$ and that one has $\mathfrak{H}_{i}\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}$: $1 = (\mathfrak{H}_{i}\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}: \mathfrak{H}_{i})(\mathfrak{H}_{i}: 1)$, we find that

(8)
$$\mathfrak{H}_{i+1}: 1 \leq (\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}:\mathfrak{B}_i)^{\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}:1} (\mathfrak{H}_i:1)^{(\mathfrak{u}_{i+1}:1)+1}.$$

On the other hand, when $\mathfrak{B}_{i+1}/\mathfrak{B}_i$ is semi-simple, we set $\mathfrak{u}_{i+1} = \mathfrak{G}$. Thus (3) is again satisfied. According to our assumption concerning \mathfrak{G} , the centralizer of \mathfrak{u}_{i+1} is 1; hence (7) is also satisfied. From (3) and (7) we conclude, as before, that the inequality (8) holds. Finally, we have to note that $Z(\mathfrak{G}) = 1$ implies $Z(\mathfrak{F}_r) = 1$, and hence \mathfrak{F} : 1 is a divisor of the order of the automorphism group of \mathfrak{F}_r . Consequently, a very rough estimate is

(9)
$$\mathfrak{H}: \mathbf{1} \leq (\mathfrak{H}_r: \mathbf{1})!$$

Set

$$M_0 = 1,$$

$$M_{i+1} = (\mathfrak{B}_{i+1} : \mathfrak{B}_i)^{u_{i+1}:1} M_i^{(u_{i+1}:1)+1} \text{ for } i = 0, \dots, r-1,$$

$$M = (M_r)!.$$

Then (8) and (9) together yield

$$\mathfrak{H}: \mathfrak{l} \leq M$$
, q. e. d.

THEOREM 31 (Wielandt): The automorphism tower of a finite group & with center 1 is of finite height.

Proof: Let $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}_0 \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_1 \triangleleft \mathfrak{G}_2 \triangleleft \cdots$ be the automorphism tower of \mathfrak{G} . The center of each member is 1. In order to apply Theorem 30, we must prove that the centralizer of \mathfrak{G} in \mathfrak{G} , is 1.

In fact, we can show that the centralizer of \emptyset_i in \emptyset_i is 1 if i > i.¹ This has already been shown in the case i - i = 1. We complete the proof by induction on k = i - i. Assume that the assertion is true for i - i $k \geq 1$, and let j - i = k + 1. Then the centralizer of \mathfrak{G}_i in \mathfrak{G}_{i-1} is 1. The normalizer of \mathfrak{G}_i in \mathfrak{G}_{i-1} is \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} . For, \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} belongs to the normalizer of \mathfrak{G}_i in \mathfrak{G}_{i-1} , and if a is one of the elements of this normalizer, then the transformation by a defines an automorphism \tilde{a} of \mathfrak{G}_i ; hence \tilde{a} is obtained by transformation of \mathfrak{G}_i with an element a' of the automorphism group \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} , and $a^{-1}a'$ belongs to the centralizer of \mathfrak{G}_i in \mathfrak{G}_{i-1} ; i.e., $a^{-1}a' = 1$, a = a', and a is contained in \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} . An element b of the centralizer of S, in S, transforms the normalizer of S, in S,-1 into the normalizer of $\mathfrak{G}_{i}^{b} = \mathfrak{G}_{i}$ in $\mathfrak{G}_{i-1}^{b} = \mathfrak{G}_{i-1}$; i. e., $\mathfrak{G}_{i+1}^{b} = \mathfrak{G}_{i+1}$. Consequently, b belongs to the normalizer of \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} in \mathfrak{G}_i which, by the induction hypothesis and by the subsequent statement concerning the normalizer, is equal to \mathfrak{G}_{i+2} . For an element x of \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} and an element y of \mathfrak{G}_i we have: $byb^{-1} = y$, xyx^{-1} is contained in \mathfrak{G}_i , and bxb^{-1} is contained in \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} ; therefore

$$xyx^{-1} = y^{x} = by^{x}b^{-1} = bxb^{-1}byb^{-1}bx^{-1}b^{-1} = y^{(x^{b})};$$

and therefore $x = x^{b}$. The element b belongs to the centralizer of \mathfrak{G}_{i+1} in \mathfrak{G}_{i+2} , and hence b = 1.

¹ This short demonstration is in accordance with a communication from D. G. Higman.

APPENDIX H

FURTHER EXERCISES FOR CHAP. V, §1

Exercise: For an odd prime p let $\left(\frac{a}{p}\right) = 0$, 1, -1 when $a \equiv 0$, when $a \equiv x^2 \neq 0$ is solvable, and when $a \equiv x^2$ is not solvable modulo p, respectively. Show that

a) $\left(\frac{a}{p}\right) \equiv a^{\frac{p-1}{2}} \pmod{p};$

b) If $a \neq 0 \pmod{p}$, then $\left(\frac{a}{p}\right) = (-1)^{\mu(a)}$, where $\mu(a)$ denotes the number of solutions of the congruence $ax \equiv -y(p)$ satisfying $0 < x, y \leq \frac{p-1}{2}$;

c) $\left(\frac{ab}{p}\right) = \left(\frac{a}{p}\right) \left(\frac{b}{p}\right).$

(*Hint:* Compute the transfer from the multiplicative group \emptyset of the prime residue classes modulo p to the subgroup \mathbb{I} of $\pm 1 \pmod{p}$ in a) according to (19) and in b) by taking 1, 2, ..., $\frac{p-1}{2} \pmod{p}$ as representative system.)

FREQUENTLY USED SYMBOLS

| | เษ | GROUP (p. 1) |
|---|--|--|
| | u | SUBGROUP (p. 10) |
| | છ : શ | INDEX of \mathfrak{G} with respect to \mathfrak{ll} = number of left (right) cosets (p. 10) |
| | R . | COMPLEX = subset of a group (p. 19) |
| | £≈ | Complex transformed by $x = \text{set of all } xKx^{-1}$ (p. 25) |
| | $N_{\mathbf{\hat{R}}}$ | NORMALIZER of $\Re = \text{group of all } x$ which transform \Re into itself (p. 26) |
| | Z_{\Re} | CENTRALIZER of $\Re={\rm group}$ of all x which are permutable with every element of \Re (p. 50) |
| | N | NORMAL SUBGROUP = subgroup which is transformed into itself by all elements $(p. 23)$ |
| | G/N | FACTOR GROUP of \mathfrak{G} over $\mathfrak{N} = $ group of cosets of \mathfrak{G} by \mathfrak{N} (p. 38) |
| | ð | CENTER OF $\mathfrak{G} = \operatorname{group}$ of all elements commuting with every element of \mathfrak{G} (p. 27) |
| | J $_{\odot}$ | Group of all INNER AUTOMORPHISMS (transformations) of @ (p. 48) |
| | As | Group of all AUTOMORPHISMS of (p. 48) |
| | A/J | Group of Outer Automorphisms of (9 (p. 48) |
| | Φ | A subgroup of $\mathfrak{G} = $ intersection of \mathfrak{G} with its maximal subgroups (p. 49) |
| | $(a,b) = a b a^{-}$ | b^{-1} Commutator of a with b (p. 18) |
| • | (a,b,c)=(a, | (b,c)) (p. 81) |
| | (U, B) | mutual Commutator Group = group of all (U, V) (p. 81) |
| | $\mathfrak{G}' = D\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}$ | (5, 5) Commutator Group of (9, 67) |
| | ଖ/ଓ' | FACTOR COMMUTATOR GROUP (p. 67) |
| | $D^i \mathfrak{G} = D (D^i$ | -1 (5) <i>i</i> -th Derivative of (5 (p. 79) |
| | k | degree of METABELIAN group \mathfrak{G} , so that $D^{k-1}\mathfrak{G} \neq D^k\mathfrak{G} = e$ (p. 79) |
| | $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{Z}_1 \supseteq \mathfrak{Z}_2$ | $\supseteq \beta_3 \dots$ Descending Central Series (p. 155) so that |
| | $\mathfrak{Z}_i = (\mathfrak{G}, \mathfrak{Z}_{i-1})$ |) is the <i>i</i> -th Reidemeister commutator group |
| | $e = z_0 \subseteq z_1 \subseteq z_1$ | $a_2 \dots a_{a_2}$ ascending central series (p. 50) so that |
| | đi | is the <i>i</i> -th center of \mathfrak{G} , hence $\mathfrak{z}_i/\mathfrak{z}_{i-1}$ is the center of $\mathfrak{G}/\mathfrak{z}_{i-1}$ |
| | c | Class of the nilpotent group \mathfrak{G} , hence $\mathfrak{z}_{e-1} \neq \mathfrak{z}_e = \mathfrak{G}$ and $\mathfrak{Z}_e \neq \mathfrak{Z}_{e+1} = e$ |
| | S_{p} | is a Sylow p-GROUP of & (p. 135) |
| | N_p | Normalizer of S_p (p. 135) |
| | <i>z</i> _p | Center of S_p (p. 135) |
| | d(()) | The minimal number of independent generators of @ (p. 141) |
| | $k_d=(p^d-1)$ | $(p^{d-1}-1) \dots (p-1)$ (p. 142) |
| | ₿'(p) | p-commutator group = intersection of all normal subgroups with abelian p -factor group (p. 158) |
| | | |

-

| 254 | Frequently used Symbols |
|-------------------------------|---|
| ₲/₲′(p) | p-factor commutator group = maximal abelian p -factor group (p. 158) |
| T, | Intersections of all normal subgroups with index a power of p (p. 159) |
| G/T, | Maximal <i>p</i> -factor group (p. 159) |
| e | $x \in \mathfrak{G}$ means: x is an element of \mathfrak{G} |
| < | \$ |
| V | $\mathfrak{l} \cup \mathfrak{B}$ is the sum of the sets \mathfrak{l} and \mathfrak{B} |
| \wedge | $\mathfrak{l} \cap \mathfrak{B}$ is the intersections of \mathfrak{l} and \mathfrak{B} |
| ⊆ | $\mathfrak{ll} \subseteq \mathfrak{G} (\mathfrak{G} \supseteq \mathfrak{ll})$ means: \mathfrak{ll} is a subgroup of \mathfrak{G} |
| ⊲ | $\mathfrak{U} \triangleleft \mathfrak{G} (\mathfrak{G} \rhd \mathfrak{U})$ means: \mathfrak{U} is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} |
| $\triangleleft \triangleleft$ | $\mathfrak{ll} \lhd \lhd \mathfrak{G} (\mathfrak{G} \vartriangleright \rhd \mathfrak{ll})$ means: \mathfrak{ll} is a subnormal subgroup of \mathfrak{G} |
| {ll, B} | or $\langle ll, \mathfrak{B} \rangle$ denotes the subgroup generated by the two subgroups ll, \mathfrak{B} of a group $\bar{}$ |
| × | $\mathfrak{A} 	imes \mathfrak{B}$ denotes the direct product of the groups $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B}$ |
| * | X*B denotes the free product of the groups X, B |
| ≤ | $a \leq b \; (b \geq a \; \text{or} \; a \mathbb{C} b)$ means: the poset element a is contained in the poset element b |
| < | $a < b$ means: $a \le b$, but not $b \ge a$; also denoted by: $a > b$ |
| к | a K b means: the lattice element a is Kurosh-invariant in the lattice element b |
| N | a N b means: a is normal in b |
| NN | a NN b means: a is subnormal in b |
| J | a J b denotes the join of a and b |
| м | $a \operatorname{M} b$ denotes the meet of a and b |
| a/b | denotes the factor lattice of a over b |

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Any one who is interested in obtaining a view of the entire field of group theory should consult the article by Wilhelm Magnus "Allgemeine Gruppentheorie" which appears in the *Enzylkopädie der Mathematischen Wissenschaften*, Band 1, 1. Heft 4, Teil 1, No. 9, pp. 1-51, 1939. The article written for the earlier edition of the *Enzylkopädie* by Burkhardt (IA. 6, pp. 208-226) is also of interest. Both of these articles contain generous bibliographies.

Texts on Group Theory

English

BIRKHOFF and MACLANE. A Survey of Modern Algebra, New York, 1941.

BUBNSIDE, W. Theory of Groups of Finite Order, Cambridge, 1897. Second edition, 1911. CARMICHAEL, R. D. Introduction to the Theory of Groups of Finite Order, Boston, 1937.

HILTON, H. An Introduction to the Theory of Groups of Finite Order, Oxford, 1908.

KUROSH, A. G. The Theory of Groups, I and II, New York, 1956. (English translation of Teoriya Grupp, 2nd ed.)

LEDERMAN, W. Introduction to the Theory of Finite Groups, New York, 1949.

MATHEWSON, L. C. Elementary Theory of Finite Groups, Boston, 1930.

MILLER, BLICHFELDT and DICKSON. Theory and Application of Finite Groups, New York 1916. Second edition, 1938.

van der Waerden, B. L. $\dot{M}odern~Algebra$ I, New York, 1949. (English translation of Moderne Algebra I.)

German

BAUMGARTNER, L. Gruppentheorie, Berlin, 1921 (Sammlung Göschen No. 887). SPEISER, A. Die Theorie der Gruppen von endlicher Ordnung, Berlin, 1937, also New York, 1945.

VAN DER WAERDEN, B. L. Moderne Algebra I. 3rd ed. Berlin, 1937.

French

DUBREIL, P. Algèbre, Paris, 1946.

GALOIS, E. Oeuvres mathématiques, Paris, 1897, pp. 25-61.

JORDAN, C. Traité des substitutions, Paris, 1870.

DE SEGUIER, J. A. Théorie des groupes finis. Vol. I, Paris, 1904. Vol. II, Paris, 1912. SERRET, J. A. Cours d'algébre supérieure Vol. II, Paris, 7th ed. 1928.

Russian

GRAVE, P. A. Theory of Finite Groups, Kiew 1908. SCHMIDT, O. J. Abstract Group Theory, Kiew 1916. 2nd ed. 1933.

Japanese

SONO, S. Group Theory, Tokyo, 1928.

Another general reference should be mentioned: the two volumes of G. A. MILLER Collected Works, University of Illinois Press, 1934. The remaining references are not general but are either direct sources or amplifications of the topics taken up in this book. They are listed according to chapter and section.

CHAPTER I

§ 1. P. LORENZEN. Ein Beitrag zur Gruppenaziomatik. Math. Zeit. 49 (1944) p. 313-327.

K. PRACHAR. Zur Axiomatik der Gruppen. Akad. Wiss. Wien. S-B IIa. 155 (1947) p. 97-102.

.

Bibliography

§ 10. G. FROBENIUS. Über einen Fundamentalsätz der Gruppentheorie. Berl. Sitz. 1903 p. 987, and 1907 p. 428.

P. DUBUQUE. Une généralisation des théorèmes de Frobenius et Weisner. Rec. Math. (Moscow) 5 (47) (1939) p. 189-196.

C. S. FU. On Frobenius' theorem. Quart. J. Math. Oxford. Ser. 1. 17 (1946) p. 253-256.
B. A. KRUTIK. Über einige Eigenschaften der endlichen Gruppen. Rec. Math. (Math. Sbornik) N. S. 0152 (1942) p. 239-247.

S. LUBELSKI. Verallgemeinerung eines Frobeniusschen gruppentheoretischen Satzes. Act. Acad. Lima 6 (1945) p. 133-137.

CHAPTER II

§ 4. Definition and discussion of the principal properties the subgroup from Frattini. See: Miller, Blichfeldt, Dickson, op. cit. p. 52. Also see: B. NEUMANN, Some remarks on infinite groups. Lond. Math. Soc. 12 (1937), and O. OEE, Contributions to the theory of groups of finite order. Duke Math. J. 5 (1934) p. 431-460.

Paper on the holomorph of a group: GARRETT BIRKHOFF. A theorem on transitive groups. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 29 (1983) p. 257-259.

§ 5. The Jordan-Hölder Theorem: C. JORDAN. Journal de math. (2) 14 (1869) p. 139, shows that the orders of the factors in different composition series are the same.

O. HÖLDER, Math. Ann. 34 (1889) shows that the composition factors of a finite group are unique up to order in the sense of isomorphism.

SCHREIER, Über den Jordan-Hölderschen Satz. Hamb. Abh. 6 p. 300, gives the definition of refinement and the refinement theorem.

H. ZASSENHAUS. Zum Sätz von Jordan-Hölder-Schreier. Hamb. Abh. 10:106. gives the explicit procedure for obtaining refinements with the theorem on four groups.

O. ORE. Structures and group theory. Duke Math. Journal, Part I, Vol. 8, p. 149-174, and Part II, Vol. 4, p. 247-269, give the general structure theory.

A. KUROSH. Composition systems in infinite groups. Rec. Math. (Mat. Sbornik) N. S. 16 (58), p. 59-72 (1945).

\$5. For lattice theory in general, see: GARRETT BIRKHOFF, Lattice Theory, New York, 1940, 2nd ed., 1948.

Concerning Kurosh invariance, see: A. G. KUROSH, The Jordan-Hölder Theorem in arbitrary lattices, Sbornik Pamyati Grave (1940) pp. 110-116.

§ 6. The definition of commutator form and the theorems come from P. HALL. A contribution to the theory of groups of prime-power orders. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. II 36 (1933) p. 29-55.

R. BAER. The higher commutator subgroups of a group. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 50 (1944) p. 143-160.

For the extension of the notion of solvability to the infinite case see: R. BAER. Nilpotent groups and their generalizations. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 47 (1940) p. 393-434. H. FITTING. In the Jahr. Deutsch. Math. Verein. 48 (1938) p. 77-141.

K. A. HIRSH. On infinite solvable groups. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), Part I, 44 (1938) p. 53-60; Part II, 44 (1938) p. 336-344; Part III, 49 (1946) p. 184-194.

P. HALL. The construction of soluble groups. J. Reine Angew. Math. 182, p. 206-214 (1940).

W. MAGNUS. Neuere Ergebnisse über auflösbare Gruppen. Jahr. D. Math. Verein. 47 (1987), p. 69-78.

O. SCHMIDT. Infinite solvable groups. Rec. Math. (Mat. Sh) N. S. 17 (59) (1945), p. 363-375.

§ 7. Theorem 16: E. WITT, Über die Kommutativität endlicher Schiefkörper. Hamb. Abh. 8 (1931), p. 413.

Almost fields: ZASSENHAUS, Über endliche Fastkörper. Hamb. Abh. 11, p. 187-220.

Rings of matrices: N. JACOBSON, *The Theory of Rings*. Math. Surveys 2, Amer. Math. Soc. (1943). See especially the bibliography.

Bibliography

CHAPTER III

§ 2. See the paper of Fitting cited in the footnote.

F. KIOKEMEISTER. A note on the Schmidt-Remak Theorem. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 53 (1947) p.957-958.

O. ORE. A remark on the normal-decompositions of groups. Duke Math. J. 5 (1939) p. 172-173.

§§ 3-5. IYANAGA. Zum Beweis des Hauptidealsatzes. Hamb. Abh. 10 (1934).

§§ 6-8. SCHREIER, Über die Erweiterung von Gruppen. Teil I: Monatshefte für Math. u. Phys., Bd. 34. Teil II: Hamb. Abb. 4, p. 321.

R. BAER. Erweiterung von Gruppen und ihren Isomorphismen. Math. Zeit. 38 (1934) p. 375-416. Groups with abelian central quotient group.

Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 44 (1938) p. 357-386.

Y. A. GOL'FAND. On an isomorphism between extensions of groups. Doklady Ak. Nauk. S.S.S.R. (N. S.) 60, 1123-1125 (1948).

S. ELLENBERG and S. MACLANE. Group extensions and homology. Ann. of Math. (2) 43 (1942) p. 757-831. Cohomology theory in abstract groups. I. Ann. of Math. (2) 48 (1947) p. 51-78. II. (Group extensions with a non-abelian kernel) Ann. of Math. (2) 48 (1947) p. 326-341.

B. H. NEUMANN. Adjunction of elements to groups. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 18 (1943) p. 4-11.

K. SHODA. Über die Schreiersche Erweiterungstheorie. Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo 19 (1943) p. 518-519.

§ 9. See IYANAGA. op. cit.

CHAPTER IV

Theorem 13: WIELAND. Math. Zeit. 41 (1936).

§1. R. BAER. Sylow theorems for infinite groups. Duke Math. J. 6 (1940) p. 598-614. A. P. DIETZMAN (Dicman). On an extension: of Sylow's theorem. Ann. of Math. (2) 48 (1947) p. 137-146. And On Sylow's theorem: Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. (N. S.) 59 (1948), p. 1235-1236.

P. GOLDBERG. The Silov p-groups of locally normal-groups. Rec. Math. (Math Sbornik) N. S. 19 (61) (1946) p. 451-460.

H. WIELANDT. p-Sylowgruppen und p-Faktorgruppen. J. Reine Angew. Math. 182 (1940), p. 180-193.

§ 3. See Baer reference under II, 6. Also Fitting and P. Hall.

O. SCHMIDT. Über unendliche spezielle Gruppen. Rec. Math. (Mat. Sbornik) N. S. 8 (59) (1940) p. 363-375.

§§ 4-5. See first cited paper of P. Hall.

CHAPTER V

§ 1. G. HANNINK. Verlagerung und Nichteinfachheit von Gruppen. Monatsh. Math. Phys. 50 (1942) p. 207-283.

§ 2. O. GRÜN. Beiträge zur Gruppentheorie. I. Crelle (1985) 1.

§ 3. ZASSENHAUS. Über endliche Fastkörper, op. cit.

§ 4. IYANAGA. op. cit.

E. WITT. Bemerkungen zum Beweis des Hauptidealsatzes von S. Iyanaga. Hamb. Abh. 11 p. 221.

APPENDIX B AND G

H. WIELANDT, Eine Verallgemeinerung der invarianten Untergruppe, Math. Zeit. 45 (1939) pp. 209-244.

-

Bibliography

APPENDIX D

Exercises 25-31. RIGUET, Relations binares, Bull. Soc. Math. France 76 (1948), pp. 114-155; RIGUET, Quelques proprietes des relations difonctionelles, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 230 (1950), pp. 1,999-2,000; also, a forthcoming paper of J. LAMBEK (Canadian Journal of Math.) AUTHOR INDEX

Artin, 133, 230 Burnside, 6, 29, 139, 141, 169 Cayley, 6 Dickson, 231 Dubreil, 6 Fermat, 15, 123 Fitting, 112, 202, 238 Frobenius, 27, 173 Gaschütz, 243 Goursat, 237 Grün, 171, 172 Hall, 144, 152, 154, 155, 158, 163 Hamilton, 159 Higman, 251 Hilton, 159

Hirsch, 239, 240 Hölder, 59, 76, 129 Jacobi, 96 Jennings, 241 Jordan, 55, 57, 76 Klein, 56 Kulakov, 153, 155 Kurosh, 74, 233 Lambek, 183, 236-237 Lie, 95 Loewy, 215 Maak, 12 Maass, 148 MacLane, S., 242 Mal'cev, 183 Miller, 154 Moser, 31

von Neumann, 230 Ore, 73, 183, 203 Plotkin, 240 Remak, 113 Riguet, 236-237 Schenkman, 238 Schreier, 59, 76, 124 Schur, 172 Speiser, 6, 116 Stone, 234 Sylow, 135-140 Van der Waerden, 108, 230 Wall. 181 Wielandt, 107, 144, 195, 234, 235, 245, 250 Witt, 104, 136, 163 Young, 29

INDEX

ABELIAN factor system, 161 abelian group, 9, 117ff., 142f. elementary, 142 abelian normal subgroup, maximal, 145 abundant factor group, 195ff. addition, 84 additive, 106 admissible, 45ff. algebra, 103 groups of, 84ff. all element, 68 alternating permutation group, 8 on five letters, 49 amalgamated subgroup, 231 ancestral relation, 32 anti-automorphism, 65 anti-commutative, 96 anti-homomorphism, 65, 186 anti-isomorphism, 65, 186 anti-projection, 70 anti-reduction, 218 ascending central series, 50, 140

ascending chain, 23 associative algebra, 103 associative law, 1, 20, 86, 94, 125 associative semi-ring, 93f. associative S-quasi-ring, 101 associativity, 1, 69, 94, 101, 124 automorphism, 47ff., 48, 52, 65, 250f. center, 52 inner. 48 normal, 52 outer, 48, 181 regular, 106 automorphism group, 48, 145f. regular, 106 automorphism tower, 245, 250f. axioms of group theory, 1 independence of, 9 BASIS, 67, 89, 99, 103 basis theorem, 52, 121ff., 141, 208 for abelian groups, 121ff. of lattice theory, 208

for p-groups, 141 binary relation, 236f. Birkhoff condition, 222 Boolean ring, 185, 234 bordering of matrix, 119 Burnside basis theorem, 141 CALCULUS of complexes, 19ff. cancellation law, 3, 73, 106 center automorphism, 52 center, of group, 26f., 27 of ring, 87 central, weakly, 238 central chain, 155 central factor group, 232 centralizer, 51 central operator, 52 central series, ascending, 50 descending, 157ff. chain, 22, 23, 57, 77, 155, 215 central, 155 factor of, 77 Loewy, 215 normal, 57, 77 refinement of, 77 characteristically simple group, 50 characteristic of module, 86 characteristic series, 60, 152 characteristic subgroup, 50f. class, of arbitrary group, 159 of conjugate elements, 26 of nilpotent group, 141 residue, 10, 87 unit residue, 33 of words, 219 class equation, 26 combination constant, 99 commutative, 9, 69 commutative law, 9, 20 commutative ring, 87 commutator, 78 higher, 82 commutator form, 82, 156, 157 commutator group, 78ff. higher, 79, 174 mutual, 81 p-, 158 Reidemeister, 156 complement, 206 complemented lattice, 206 complementation, 208ff. complete group, 48

complete lattice, 68 complete near-field. 107 complete near-ring, 107 complete poset, 68 complex, 19ff. normal, 169 component, 89, 199, 225 component representation, 110 composite group, 24, 109ff. composition factors, all cyclic, 80 composition series, 60 of p-group, 137 congruence, 10, 12, 13f., 24, 64, 85, 91 multiplicative, 24 normal, 13, 32, 64 of words, 219, 224 congruence root, 146 conjugate, 16, 17, 25, 26 consequence relation, 226 coset. 10 counting principle, 152 cyclic group, 15 cyclic notation, 7 DECOMPOSITION, direct. 111, 198ff. Remak, 113, 203 vector, 214 Wielandt, 235 decomposition operator, 111, 199 Dedekind element, 74, 190 degree, of finite extension, 90 of polynomial, 101 of representation, 39 denominator, 183 derivation of quasi-ring, 186 inner, 186 derivative of group, 78f. Desarguean projective geometry, 213 descending central series, 155ff. diagram, Hasse, 59 difference, 85 difference semi-group, 92 difference semi-ring, 94 difference set. 21 differentiation, formal, 186 dihedral group, 18 dimension, 213 of vector module, 89, 90 dimension function on lattices, 205 direct decomposition of lattice, 198-204 direct join, 198, 232 direct normal form, 226

direct product, 109ff., 206, 225 direct sum of modules, 121 directly indecomposable, 111 distributive law, 20, 21, 86, 105 distributive lattice, 209ff., 233f. division ring, 87 divisor, greatest common, 86, 91, 182 normal, 33 domain, dual, 186 of integrity, 184 multiplicative, 9, 33, 184 double chain condition, 59, 113 double module, 31 double transposition, 56 dual, 63, self-, 63, 65 dual domain, 186 ELEMENTARY abelian group, 142f. elementary divisor, 121 elementary ideal, 120 elementary transformation, 118, 218 endomorphism, 44 enumeration theorems, 152ff. equivalence, of factor systems, 127 of defining relations, 227 of matrices, 118 in poset, 62 of representations. 39 in semi-group, 182 in set with reduction, 223 even permutation, 8 exchange equation, 114 exponent of group, 108 exponential module, 85, 108 extension, 46, 104, 126f. finite, 90, 104 extension theory, 124ff., 161ff. FACTOR, 1, 57, 77, 80 composition. 80 of normal chain, 57, 77 factor group, 38, 195ff., 232 central, 232 maximal nilpotent, 159 factor lattice, 70 factor module, 85 factor ring, 87 factor semi-group, 91 factor system, 125 abelian, 161 equivalence of, 127 retracting, 128, 161

faithful representation of group, 39 field, 87, 88, 104 finite, locally, 246 finite algebra, 103 finite extension, 90, 104 finite group, 3 finite S-module, 89 finite nilpotent group, 143f. finite rotation group, 16 Fitting's lemma, 113 four elements, lemma on, 76 four group, 56 Frattini, 214, 215 Frobenius' theorem, 28 free group, 227 free product. 218 fully invariant subgroup, 46 functional notation, 5 GALOIS field, 104f. game, 230 generator, free group with, 227 greatest common divisor. 86 group, 1 (see also: abelian, abundant, complete, etc.) of an algebra, 84ff. groupoid, 31, 181 Grün's theorem, 170 (5, 6)-system. 164 half field, 184 halfgroup, 183 halfmodule, 92 halfring, 95 Hamiltonian group, 160 Hasse diagram, 59 hexagon lattice, 71 Hirsch radical, 239f. holomorph of group, 53ff., 107 homomorphic mapping, 35, 63, 87 homomorphism, 35ff., 63, 64, 91, 217 homomorphy, 35, 63 hull, subnormal, 192 hypercomplex system, 103 ICOSAHEDRAL group, 19 ideal, 86, 94 elementary, 120 order. 123 idempotent, 69, 182 identity, 1, 2, 7, 103 imprimitive, 42, 181 incidence matrix, 13

262

Index

inclusion, rule of, 73 indecomposable, directly, 111 indecomposable lattice, 198 independence, linear, 89 independence of group axioms, 9 index. 10 inner automorphism, 48 inner derivation, 186 integral domain, 184 intersection, of complexes, 20 of Sylow p-groups, 138 intransitive 40 invariance, Kurosh, 74 inverse, 2, 3, 5, 21, 85 inversion, 8 irreducible, join-, 233 under binary operation, 221 irreducible lattice, 213 isomorphism, 37, 63, 64, 65, 87, 127, 227 isomorphism problem, 227 isomorphism theorem, 38, 39 isomorphy, 37f. isotonic. 64 **JACOBI** identity, 96 ioin, 68, 69, 198, 232 join-irreducible, 233 Jordan ring, 95 Jordan theorem, 55, 57, 76 KERNEL, 66, 91 Klein four group, 56 Kurosh invariance, 74 LATTICE, 68, 69 complemented, 206 complete, 68 decomposition of, 198ff. distributive, 209ff., 233f. factor. 70 irreducible, 213 MD-, 202 modular, 190 n-dimensional, 206 sub-, 70

subnormal, 193

left congruence, 12

left equivalent, 182

left divisor, 182

left coset, 10

least common multiple, 86

left distributive law. 86

left ideal, 86, 94 left identity, 1 left representative function, 12 left representative system, 12 left residue class, 12 left scalar, 97 letter, 6 Lie algebra, 103 Lie multiplication, 95 Lie-ring, 95, 96 linear combination, 89, 99, 100 linear expression, 82 linear group, general, 231 special, 232 linear transformation, 98, 101, 103 matrix of, 102, 103 local finiteness, 246 local P-group, 239 locally nilpotent group, 239f., 241, 242, 246 Loewy series, 215 lower normal series, 192 MAPPING, 4, 35, 36, 37, 47, 63 matrix, 13, 102, 231 normal, 115 bordering of, 118 diagonal, 120 equivalent, 118 incidence, 13 relation, 117 matrix ring, 102 matrix unity, 103 maximal condition, 60, 70, 239 maximal nilpotent factor group, 159 maximal normal subgroup, 145 maximal p-factor group, 159 maximal subgroup, 10 maximal submodule, 86 maximum theorem, 22 m(b, c), 190MD-lattice, 202 meet, 66, 69 meromorphism, 47 meromorphy, 47 metabelian group, k-step, 79 metacyclic group, 174 minimal condition, 60 minimal element in poset, 221 minimal subgroup, 10 modular lattice. 190 modular law, 190, 233

module, 84 double, 31 exponential, 85, 108 factor, 85 finite, 89 proper. 88 quotient, 186 S-, 88 semi-, 92 sub-, 85 vector, 89 monomial representation, 166 morphism, 237 multiplication, 1, 3, 4, 94, 95, 96, 125, 240 inversion of, 2 multiplicative congruence relation 24 multiplicative domain, 9, 33 admissible, 45 ordered, 184 multiply transitive group, 43, 44 mutual commutator group, 81 NATURAL homomorphism, 64, 91, 181 natural isomorphism, 64 near-field, 106, 107 complete, 107 near-ring, 106ff. complete, 107 negative, 91 nilpotent group, 141, 143f., 159 nilradical, 238 non-commutative field, 87 non-trivial subgroup, 10, 24 normal chain, 57 minimum length of, 190 normal complex, 169 normal congruence, 13 normal direct join, 198 normal divisor, 33, 91 normal form, direct, 226 normal group, 23 p-, 171 normal mapping, 115 normal matrix, 13 normal multiplication table, 4, 29 normal operator, 52, 200 normal series, 59, 60 lower, 192 normal subgroup, 23 maximal abelian, 145 normalizer, 26, 27 normally persistent, 245f.

null element, 68 OCTAHEDRAL group, 18 odd permutation, 8 one-headed group, 234f. operator, 44 additive. 106 central, 52 on cyclic groups, 47 decomposition, 111, 199 extension of. 46 normal, 52, 200 product of two, 44 sum of two, 106 operator domain, common, 45 operator homomorphy, 45 order, of group, 3 of element, 15 of permutation, 16 order ideal, 123f., 176 ordered group, ring, etc., 184, 185 ordering, of quasi-group, etc., 184, 185 outer automorphism, 181 **PARENTHESIZATION**, 9, 85 partially ordered set. 62 p-commutator group, 158 pentagon lattice, 71 perfect group, 159 periodic group, 241, 246 permutation, 5, 27 even. 8 odd. 8 order of, 16 regular, 41 permutation group, 4ff., 6, 40ff. alternating, 8 imprimitive, 181 intransitive, 40 primitive, 42 regular, 6 symmetric, 6 transitive, 40 multiply, 43 persistent, normally, 245f. subnormally, 246 p-factor commutator group, 158 p-factor group, maximal, 159 p-group, 135 P-group, 246 p-normal group, 171 point, 213, 234

pole. 16ff. polyhedral conditions, 183 polyhedral group, 19 polyhedron, abstract, 183 polynomial domain, 101 poset. 62 complete, 68 dual. 63 positive element, 185 power, of complex, 29 of semi-ring, 185 power rules, 2, 80f. prime field, 88 prime residue class, 145 primitive congruence root, 146 primitive representation, 42 primitive submodule, 187 principal ideal theorem, 177ff. principal series, of group, 60 of p-group, 140 product. 1, 2, 21, 86, 94, 95, 96, 98, 102, 106, 110, 125, 217, 218, 224, 231 of complexes, 21 direct, 110, 206, 225 free, 218, 220 of matrix, 102 in near-ring, 106 over semi-groups, 217 defined by relations, 224 with amalgamated subgroups, 231 in semi-ring, 94 projection, 70, 73 projective, 72 projectively related, 188, 189 projective geometry, 213 projectivity, 188, 189, 232 proper S-module, 88 proper subgroup, 10 QUASI-RING, 95, 99, 185 ordered, 185 quaternion group, 146, 147, 170 generalized, 147 quotient field, 184 quotient group, 183 quotient module, 186 quotient ring, 184, 187 quotient semi-group, 184 quotient semi-ring, 184 RADICAL, 181, 182, 239 rank. 241f.

rectangle rule, 4 reduction, 218, 221, 222 reduction principle, 222, 225ff. refinement, 57, 77, 188, 198 proper. 59 reflexivity of congruence, 13 Reidemeister group, 156 regular, 6, 41, 237 relation matrix, 117 remainder class, 10 Remak decomposition, 113, 203, 214 representation (in permutations), 39, 40, 110 degree of, 39 equivalent, 39 faithful. 39 imprimitive, 42 intransitive, 40 monomial, 166 primitive. 42 regular, 41 transitive, 40 representative, 11, 14 common system of, 12 residue class, 10, 87 prime, 145 unit. 33 residue system, 14 retracting factor system, 128 right congruence, 10 right coset. 10 right distributive law, 86 right divisor, 182 right equivalent, 182 right ideal. 86, 94 right representative function, 11 right scalar, 97 right unit, 2 ring, 86f. (see also, quasi-, etc.) of linear transformations, 102 Boolean, 185, 234 rotation group, 16ff. SCALAR, 97 self-dual, 63, 65 semi-group, 1, 90ff., 225, 235 difference, 92 factor, 91 semi-module, 92 semi-ring, 93 associative, 93f. difference, 94

ordered, 185 proper. 98 S-, 98 semi-simple group, 214, 235 series, 50, 60 ascending central, 50, 140, 155ff. characteristic, 60, 152 composition, 60, 137 Frattini, 215 Loewy, 215, 234 normal, 59, 192 principal, 60 simple group, 24, 50, 111 skew field, 87 S-module, 88, 89 solvable group, 79, 162f., 181 splitting group, 133 S-quasi-ring, 99, 101 S-ring. 97 S-semi-ring, 98 stem, 107 structure, 62, 68 subdomain, 45, 46 subgroup, 10ff., 46, 50, 51 admissible, 46 characteristic, 50 fully invariant, 46 generated by complex, 22 maximal, 22 non-trivial. 10 normal, 23 proper, 10 subinvariant, 190 sublattice, 70 submodule, 85, 86 subnormal element, 190 subnormal hull, 192 subnormal lattice, 193 subnormal subgroup, 191ff., 245ff. subnormally persistent, 246 subring, 95 sub-semigroup, 92 sub-semimodule, 92 sub-semiring, 93 substitution principle, 83 subtrahend, 92 sum, of complexes, 20 direct. 121

of matrices, 102 in module, 84 of operators, 105 of several modules, 86 vector, 212, 213 Sylow p-group, 135 maximal intersection of, 138 symmetric permutation group, 6 composition series of, 61 symmetry of congruence, 13 system of representatives, 11 system of transitivity, 25 TABLE, multiplication, 3, 4 65 tetrahedral group, 18 three-cycle, 7 torsion free, 186, 241 torsion subgroup, 241 torsion submodule, 187 transfer, 167, 252 transferred group, 168 transformation. 26 elementary, 118, 218 linear, 98, 101, 103 transitive, 40 multiply, 43, 44 transitivity of congruence, 14 transitivity system, 25 translation matrix, 231 transposition. 7 two-sided ideal, 86, 94 type, 82, 143 UNIT. 1. 89, 182 VECTOR, 89 vector decomposition, 214 vector sum, 212, 213, 233 vector S-module, 89 WEAKLY CENTRAL element, 238 weight, of commutator, 82 Wielandt decomposition, 235 word, 218ff. inverse, 226 irreducible, 220 word problem, 220, 229, 230 ZERO element, 90, 91, 103, 182





A CATALOG OF SELECTED DOVER BOOKS IN SCIENCE AND MATHEMATICS

QUALITATIVE THEORY OF DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, V.V. Nemytskii and V.V. Stepanov. Classic graduate-level text by two prominent Soviet mathematicians covers classical differential equations as well as topological dynamics and ergodic theory. Bibliographies. 523pp. 5% x 8%. 659542 Pa. \$14.95

MATRICES AND LINEAR ALGEBRA, Hans Schneider and George Phillip Barker. Basic textbook covers theory of matrices and its applications to systems of linear equations and related topics such as determinants, eigenvalues and differential equations. Numerous exercises. 432pp. 5% x 8%. 660141 Pa. \$10.95

QUANTUM THEORY, David Bohm. This advanced undergraduate-level text presents the quantum theory in terms of qualitative and imaginative concepts, followed by specific applications worked out in mathematical detail. Preface. Index. 6559p. 559690 Pa. \$14.95

ATOMIC PHYSICS (8th edition), Max Born. Nobel laureate's lucid treatment of kinetic theory of gases, elementary particles, nuclear atom, wave-corpuscles, atomic structure and spectral lines, much more. Over 40 appendices, bibliography. 495pp. 559844 Fa, \$13.95

ELECTRONIC STRUCTURE AND THE PROPERTIES OF SOLIDS: The Physics of the Chemical Bond, Walter A. Harrison. Innovative text offers basic understanding of the electronic structure of covalent and ionic solids, simple metals, transition metals and their compounds. Problems. 1980 edition. 582pp. 6k x 9K. 66021 + R. \$16.95

BOUNDARY VALUE PROBLEMS OF HEAT CONDUCTION, M. Necati Özisk. Systematic, comprehensive treatment of modern mathematical methods of solving problems in heat conduction and diffusion. Numerous examples and problems. Selected references. Appendices. 5059p. 5% x 8%. 65990-09 Pa. \$12.95

A SHORT HISTORY OF CHEMISTRY (3rd edition), J.R. Partington. Classic exposition explores origins of chemistry, alchemy, early medical chemistry, nature of atmosphere, theory of valency, laws and structure of atomic theory, much more. 428pp. 5% x 8%. (Available in U.S. only)

A HISTORY OF ASTRONOMY, A. Pannekoek. Well-balanced, carefully reasoned study covers such topics as Ptolemaic theory, work of Copernicus, Kepler, Newton, Eddington's work on stars, much more. Illustrated. References. 521pp. 5% x 8%. 659941 Pa. \$12.52

PRINCIPLES OF METEOROLOGICAL ANALYSIS, Walter J. Saucier. Highly respected, abundantly illustrated classic reviews atmospheric variables, hydrostatics, static stability, various analyses (scalar, cross-section, isobaric, isentropic, more). For intermediate meteorology students. 454pp. 6% x 9%.

RELATIVITY, THERMODYNAMICS AND COSMOLOGY, Richard C. Tolman. Landmark study extends thermodynamics to special, general relativity; also applications of relativistic mechanics, thermodynamics to cosmological models. 50383 Pt. \$13.95

APPLIED ANALYSIS, Cornelius Lanczos. Classic work on analysis and design of finite processes for approximating solution of analytical problems. Algebraic equations, matrices, harmonic analysis, quadrature methods, much more. 559pp. 5% x 8%. 65565-X Pa. \$13.95

INTRODUCTION TO ANALYSIS, Maxwell Rosenlicht. Unusually clear, accessible coverage of set theory, real number system, metric spaces, continuous functions, Riemann integration, multiple integrals, more. Wide range of problems. Undergraduate level. Bibliography. 254 pp. 5% x 8%. 65038-3 Pa. \$8,95

INTRODUCTION TO QUANTUM MECHANICS With Applications to Chemistry, Linus Pauling & E. Bright Wilson, Jr. Classic undergraduate text by Nobel Prize winner applies quantum mechanics to chemical and physical problems. Numerous tables and figures enhance the text. Chapter bibliographies. Appendices. Index. 66Byp. 5% x 8%.

ASYMPTOTIC EXPANSIONS OF INTEGRALS, Norman Bleistein & Richard A. Handelsman. Best introduction to important field with applications in a variety of scientific disciplines. New preface. Problems. Diagrams. Tables. Bibliography. Index. 448pp. 54 x 8%.

MATHEMATICS APPLIED TO CONTINUUM MECHANICS, Lee A. Segel. Analyzes models of fluid flow and solid deformation. For upper-level math, science and engineering students. 608pp. 5% x 8%. 65369-2 Pa. \$14.95

ELEMENTS OF REAL ANALYSIS, David A. Sprecher. Classic text covers fundamental concepts, real number system, point sets, functions of a real variable, Fourier series, much more. Over 500 exercises. 352pp. 5% x 8%. 65385-4 Pa. \$11.95

PHYSICAL PRINCIPLES OF THE QUANTUM THEORY, Werner Heisenberg. Nobel Laureate discusses quantum theory, uncertainty, wave mechanics, work of Dirac, Schroedinger, Compton, Wilson, Einstein, etc. 184pp. 5% x 8%.

60113-7 Pa. \$6.95

INTRODUCTORY REAL ANALYSIS, A.N. Kolmogorov, S.V. Fomin. Translated by Richard A. Silverman. Self-contained, evenly paced introduction to real and functional analysis. Some 350 problems. 403pp. 5% x 8%. 61226-0 Pa. \$10.95

PROBLEMS AND SOLUTIONS IN QUANTUM CHEMISTRY AND PHYSICS, Charles S. Johnson, Jr. and Lee G. Pedersen. Unusually varied problems, detailed solutions in coverage of quantum mechanics, wave mechanics, angular momentum, molecular spectroscopy, scattering theory, more. 280 problems plus 139 supplementary exercise. 430pp. 65 x 93.

ASYMPTOTIC METHODS IN ANALYSIS, N.G. de Bruijn. An inexpensive, comprehensive guide to asymptotic methods-the pioneering work that teaches by explaining worked examples in detail. Index. 224 pp. 5% x 8%. 64221-6 Pa. \$7.95

OPTICAL RESONANCE AND TWO-LEVEL ATOMS, L. Allen and J. H. Eberly. Clear, comprehensive introduction to basic principles behind all quantum optical resonance phenomena. 53 illustrations. Preface. Index. 256pp. 54 x 84.

65533-4 Pa. \$8.95

COMPLEX VARIABLES, Francis J. Flanigan. Unusual approach, delaying complex algebra till harmonic functions have been analyzed from real variable viewpoint. Includes problems with answers. 364pp. 5% x 8%. 61388-7 Pa. \$9.95

ATOMIC SPECTRA AND ATOMIC STRUCTURE, Gerhard Herzberg. One of best introductions; especially for specialist in other fields. Treatment is physical rather than mathematical. 80 illustrations. 2570p. 5% x 8%. 60115-3 PA. \$7.95

APPLIED COMPLEX VARIABLES, John W. Dettman. Step-by-step coverage of fundamentals of analytic function theory-plus lucid exposition of five important applications: Potential Theory; Ordinary Differential Equations; Fourier Transforms; Laplace Transforms; Asymptotic Expansions. 66 figures. Exercises at chapter ends. 512pp. 57 x 8%.

ULTRASONIC ABSORPTION: An Introduction to the Theory of Sound Absorption and Dispersion in Gases, Liquids and Solids, A.B. Bhatia. Standard reference in the field provides a clear, systematically organized introductory review of fundamental concepts for advanced graduate students, research workers. Numerous diagrams. Bibliography. 440pp. 5% x 8%.

UNBOUNDED LINEAR OPERATORS: Theory and Applications, Seymour Goldberg, Classic presents systematic treatment of the theory of unbounded linear operators in normed linear spaces with applications to differential equations. Bibliography, 1999p. 5% x 8%.

LIGHT SCATTERING BY SMALL PARTICLES, H.C. van de Hulst. Comprehensive treatment including full range of useful approximation methods for researchers in chemistry, meteorology and astronomy. 44 illustrations. 470pp. 5% x 8%. 64228.45 Pa. \$12.95

CONFORMAL MAPPING ON RIEMANN SURFACES, Harvey Cohn. Lucid, insightful book presents ideal coverage of subject. 334 exercises make book perfect for self-study. 55 figures. 352pp. 5% × 8%.

OPTICKS, Sir Isaac Newton. Newton's own experiments with spectroscopy, colors, lenses, reflection, refraction, etc., in language the layman can follow. Foreword by Albert Einstein. 532pp. 5% x 8%. 60205-2 Pa. 412.95

GENERALIZED INTEGRAL TRANSFORMATIONS, A.H. Zemanian. Graduatelevel study of recent generalizations of the Laplace, Mellin, Hankel, K. Weierstrass, convolution and other simple transformations. Bibliography. 320pr. 5% x 8%.

65375-7 Pa. \$8.95

THE ELECTROMAGNETIC FIELD, Albert Shadowitz. Comprehensive undergraduate text covers basics of electric and magnetic fields, builds up to electromagnetic theory. Also related topics, including relativity. Over 900 problems. 768pp. 56560-9 Pa. \$18.95

FOURIER SERIES, Georgi P. Tolstov. Translated by Richard A. Silverman. A valuable addition to the literature on the subject, moving clearly from subject to subject and theorem to theorem. 107 problems, answers. 3306p. 5% x 8%. 63317.9 Pa. 89,95

THEORY OF ELECTROMAGNETIC WAVE PROPAGATION, Charles Herach Papas. Graduate-level study discusses the Maxwell field equations, radiation from wire antennas, the Doppler effect and more. xiii + 244pp. 5% x 8%. 65678-0 Pa. \$6.95

DISTRIBUTION THEORY AND TRANSFORM ANALYSIS: An Introduction to Generalized Functions, with Applications, A.H. Zemanian. Provides basics of distribution theory, describes generalized Fourier and Laplace transformations. Numerous problems. 3849, p. 5% x 8%. 65479-6 Fa. \$11.95

THE PHYSICS OF WAVES, William C. Elmore and Mark A. Heald. Unique overview of classical wave theory. Acoustics, optics, electromagnetic radiation, more. Ideal as classroom text or for self-study. Problems. 477p. 5% x 8%.

64926-1 Pa. \$13.95

CALCULUS OF VARIATIONS WITH APPLICATIONS, George M. Ewing, Applications-oriented introduction to variational theory develops insight and promotes understanding of specialized books, research papers. Suitable for advanced undergraduate/graduate students as primary, supplementary text. 352pp. 5X x 8%. 648567 Fn x \$9.95

A TREATISE ON ELECTRICITY AND MAGNETISM, James Clerk Maxwell. Important foundation work of modern physics. Brings to final form Maxwell's theory of electromagnetism and rigorously derives his general equations of field theory. 1084pp. 5% x 8%. 60636-8, 60637-6 Pa., Two-vol. set \$25.90

AN INTRODUCTION TO THE CALCULUS OF VARIATIONS, Charles Fox. Graduate-level text covers variations of an integral, isoperimetrical problems, least action, special relativity, approximations, more. References. 2799, 5% × 8%.

65499-0 Pa. \$8.95

HYDRODYNAMIC AND HYDROMAGNETIC STABILITY, S. Chandrasekhar. Lucid examination of the Rayleigh-Benard problem; clear coverage of the theory of instabilities causing convection. 704pp. 5% x 8%. 64071-X Ra \$14.95

CALCULUS OF VARIATIONS, Robert Weinstock. Basic introduction covering isoperimetric problems, theory of elasticity, quantum mechanics, electrostatics, etc. Exercises throughout. 326pp. 5% x 8%. 63069-2 Pa. \$9.95

DYNAMICS OF FLUIDS IN POROUS MEDIA, Jacob Bear. For advanced students of ground water hydrology, soil mechanics and physics, drainage and irrigation engineering and more. 335 illustrations. Exercises, with answers. 784pp. 68, 98, 65675-6 Pa. \$19,39

NUMERICAL METHODS FOR SCIENTISTS AND ENGINEERS, Richard Hamming, Classic text stresses frequency approach in coverage of algorithms, polynomial approximation, Fourier approximation, exponential approximation, other topics. Revised and enlarged 2nd edition. 72(hp. 5% x 8%. 65241-6 Pa. \$15.95

THEORETICAL SOLID STATE PHYSICS; Vol. 1: Perfect Lattices in Equilibrium; Vol. II: Non-Equilibrium and Disorder, William Jones and Norman H. March. Monumental reference work covers fundamental theory of equilibrium properties of perfect crystalline solids, non-equilibrium properties, defects and disordered systems. Appendices. Problems. Preface. Diagrams. Index. Bibliography. Total of 1,301pp. 5% x 8%. Two volumes. Vol. 1: 6501054 Pa. \$16.95 Vol. 1: 6501054 Pa. \$16.95

OPTIMIZATION THEORY WITH APPLICATIONS, Donald A. Pierre. Broad spectrum approach to important topic. Classical theory of minima and maxima, calculus of variations, simplex technique and linear programming, more. Many problems, examples. 640pp. 5% × 8%. 65205.7 K as §6.5

THE CONTINUUM: A Critical Examination of the Foundation of Analysis, Hermann Weyl. Classic of 20th-century foundational research deals with the conceptual problem posed by the continuum. 156pp. 5% x 8%. 67982-9 Pa. \$6.95

ESSAYS ON THE THEORY OF NUMBERS, Richard Dedekind. Two classic essays by great German mathematician: on the theory of irrational numbers; and on transfinite numbers and properties of natural numbers. $115p_{c}$ 3% x 8%.

21010-3 Pa. \$5.95

THE FUNCTIONS OF MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS, Harry Hochstadt. Comprehensive treatment of orthogonal polynomials, hypergeometric functions, Hill's equation, much more. Bibliography. Index. 3222p. 5% x 8%. 65214-9 Pa. \$9.95

NUMBER THEORY AND ITS HISTORY, Oystein Ore. Unusually clear, accessible introduction covers counting, properties of numbers, prime numbers, much more. Bibliography. 380pp. 5% x 8%.

THE VARIATIONAL PRINCIPLES OF MECHANICS, Cornelius Lanczos. Graduate level coverage of calculus of variations, equations of motion, relativistic mechanics, more. First inexpensive paperbound edition of classic treatise. Index. Bibliography. 418pp. 5% x 8%. 650677 Pa. \$12.95

MATHEMATICAL TABLES AND FORMULAS, Robert D. Carmichael and Edwin R. Smith. Logarithms, sines, tangents, trig functions, powers, roots, reciprocals, exponential and hyperbolic functions, formulas and theorems. 269pp. 5% x 8%. 6011-0 Pa \$6.95

THEORETICAL PHYSICS, Georg Joos, with Ira M. Freeman. Classic overview covers essential math, mechanics, electromagnetic theory, thermodynamics, quantum mechanics, nuclear physics, other topics. First paperback edition. xxiii + 885pp. 5% x 8%.

ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, Morris Tenenbaum and Harry Pollard. Exhaustive survey of ordinary differential equations for undergraduates in mathematics, engineering, science. Thorough analysis of theorems. Diagrams. Bibliography. Index. 818p. 5% x 8%. 649407 Pa. \$18.95

STATISTICAL MECHANICS: Principles and Applications, Terrell L. Hill. Standard text covers fundamentals of statistical mechanics, applications to fluctuation theory, imperfect gases, distribution functions, more. 448pp. 5% x 8%.

65390-0 Pa. \$11.95

ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS AND STABILITY THEORY: An Introduction, David A. Sánchez. Brief, modern treatment. Linear equation, stability theory for autonomous and nonautonomous systems, etc. 164pp. 5% x 8%.

63828-6 Pa. \$6.95

THIRTY YEARS THAT SHOOK PHYSICS: The Story of Quantum Theory, George Gamow. Lucid, accessible introduction to influential theory of energy and matter. Careful explanations of Dirac's anti-particles, Bohr's model of the atom, much more. 12 plates. Numerous drawings. 240pp. 5% x 8%. 24895-X Pa \$7.95

THEORY OF MATRICES, Sam Perlis. Outstanding text covering rank, nonsingularity and inverses in connection with the development of canonical matrices under the relation of equivalence, and without the intervention of determinants. Includes servicises. 237pp. 5% x 8%. 66810-X Pa. \$8.95

GREAT EXPERIMENTS IN PHYSICS: Firsthand Accounts from Galileo to Einstein, edited by Morris H. Shamos. 25 crucial discoveries: Newton's laws of motion, Chadwick's study of the neutron, Hertz on electromagnetic waves, more. Original accounts clearly annotated. 370pp. 5% x 8%. 223465 Pa \$10.95

INTRODUCTION TO PARTIAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS WITH APPLICATIONS, E.C. Zachmanogiou and Dale W. Thoe. Essentials of partial differential equations applied to common problems in engineering and the physical sciences. Problems and answers. 416pp. 5% x 8%. 65251-3 Pa. \$11.95

BURNHAM'S CELESTIAL HANDBOOK, Robert Burnham, Jr. Thorough guide to the stars beyond our solar system. Exhaustive treatment. Alphabetical by constellation: Andromeda to Cetus in Vol. 1; Chamaeleon to Orion in Vol. 2; and Pavo to Vulpecula in Vol. 3. Hundreds of illustrations. Index in Vol. 3. 2,000pp. 6k x 9k. 23657X, 235688, 236730 Pa., Three-vol. est \$44.85

CHEMICAL MAGIC, Leonard A. Ford. Second Edition, Revised by E. Winston Grundmeier. Over 100 unusual stunts demonstrating cold fire, dust explosions, much more. Text explains scientific principles and stresses afety precautions. 128pp. 5% x 8%. 67628-5 Pa. \$5.95

AMATEUR ASTRONOMER'S HANDBOOK, J.B. Sidgwick. Timeless, comprehensive coverage of telescopes, mirrors, lenses, mountings, telescope drives, micrometers, spectroscopes, more. 189 illustrations. 576pp. 5% x 8%. (Available in U.S. only) 24034-7 Pa. \$11.95

SPECIAL FUNCTIONS, N.N. Lebedev. Translated by Richard Silverman. Famous Russian work treating more important special functions, with applications to specific problems of physics and engineering. 38 figures. 308pp. 5% x 8% . 60624 + PA . \$9.95

OBSERVATIONAL ASTRONOMY FOR AMATEURS, J.B. Sidgwick. Mine of useful data for observation of sun, moon, planets, asteroids, aurorae, meteors, comets, variables, binaries, etc. 39 illustrations. 384pp. 5% x 8%. (Available in U.S. ouly) 24033-9 Pa. \$8.95

INTEGRAL EQUATIONS, F.G. Tricomi. Authoritative, well-written treatment of extremely useful mathematical tool with wide applications. Volterra Equations, Fredholm Equations, much more. Advanced undergraduate to graduate level. Exercises. Bibliography. 238pp. 5% x 8%. 64828-1 Pa. \$8.95

POPULAR LECTURES ON MATHEMATICAL LOGIC, Hao Wang. Noted logcian's lucid treatment of historical developments, set theory, model theory, recursion theory and constructivism, proof theory, more. 3 appendixes. Bibliography. 1981 edition. ix + 283pp. 5% x 8%. 67632-37 a. \$8.95

MODERN NONLINEAR EQUATIONS, Thomas L. Saaty. Emphasizes practical solution of problems; covers seven types of equations. "... a welcome contribution to the existing literature..."-Math Reviews. 4900p. 5% x 8%. 64232-1 Pa. \$13.95

FUNDAMENTALS OF ASTRODYNAMICS, Roger Bate et al. Modern approach developed by U.S. Air Force Academy. Designed as a first course. Problems, exercises. Numerous illustrations. 455pp. 5% x 8%. 60061-0 Pa. § 10.95

INTRODUCTION TO LINEAR ALGEBRA AND DIFFERENTIAL EQUA-TIONS, John W. Detman. Excellent text covers complex numbers, determinants, orthonormal bases, Laplace transforms, much more. Exercises with solutions. Undergraduate level. 416pp. 5% x 8%.

INCOMPRESSIBLE AERODYNAMICS, edited by Bryan Thwaites. Covers theoretical and experimental treatment of the uniform flow of air and viscous fluids past two-dimensional aerofoils and three-dimensional wings; many other topics. 6549b. 55 x 8 %.

INTRODUCTION TO DIFFERENCE EQUATIONS, Samuel Goldberg. Exceptionally clear exposition of important discipline with applications to sociology, psychology, economics. Many illustrative examples; over 250 problems. 260pp. 5% x 8%. 650847 Pa \$8,95

LAMINAR BOUNDARY LAYERS, edited by L. Rosenhead. Engineering classic covers steady boundary layers in two- and three- dimensional flow, unsteady boundary layers, stability, observational techniques, much more. 708pp. 5% x 8%.

65646-2 Pa. \$18 95

LECTURES ON CLASSICAL DIFFERENTIAL GEOMETRY, Second Edition, Dirk J. Struik. Excellent brief introduction covers curves, theory of surfaces, fundamental equations, geometry on a surface, conformal mapping, other topics. Problems. 240pp. 5% x 8%.

GEOMETRY OF COMPLEX NUMBERS, Hans Schwerdtfeger. Illuminating, widely praised book on anafytic geometry of circles, the Moebius transformation, and two-dimensional non-Euclidean geometries. 2009.p. 5% x 8%, 63830.8 Pa. \$8.95

MECHANICS, J.P. Den Hartog. A classic introductory text or refresher. Hundreds of applications and design problems illuminate fundamentals of trusses, loaded beams and cables, etc. 334 answered problems. 462pp. 5% x 8% 60754-2 pr. §11.95

TOPOLOGY, John G. Hocking and Gail S. Young. Superb one-year course in classical topology. Topological spaces and functions, point-set topology, much more. Examples and problems. Bibliography. Index. 384pp. 5% x 8%. o556764 Pa. \$10.95

STRENGTH OF MATERIALS, J.P. Den Hartog. Full, clear treatment of basic material (tension, torsion, bending, etc.) plus advanced material on engineering methods, applications. 350 answered problems. 3230p. 5% x 8%. 607550 Pa. \$9.95

ELEMENTARY CONCEPTS OF TOPOLOGY, Paul Alexandroff. Elegant, intuitive approach to topology from set-theoretic topology to Betti groups; how concepts of topology are useful in math and physics. 25 figures. S7pt. 5% x 8%.

60747-X Pa. \$3.95

ADVANCED STRENGTH OF MATERIALS, J.P. Den Hartog. Superbly written advanced text covers torsion, rotating disks, membrane stresses in shells, much more. Many problems and naswers. 388pp. 5% x 8%. 654079 Pa. \$10.95

COMPUTABILITY AND UNSOLVABILITY, Martin Davis. Classic graduatelevel introduction to theory of computability, usually referred to as theory of recurrent functions. New preface and appendix. 288pp. 5% x 8%.

GENERAL CHEMISTRY, Linus Pauling. Revised 3rd edition of classic first-year text by Nobel laureate. Atomic and molecular structure, quantum mechanics, statistical mechanics, thermodynamics correlated with descriptive chemistry. Problems. 9292p. 54: 84:. 65622-5 Pa. \$10.95

AN INTRODUCTION TO MATRICES, SETS AND GROUPS FOR SCIENCE STUDENTS, G. Stephenson. Concise, readable text introduces sets, groups, and most importantly, matrices to undergraduate students of physics, chemistry, and engineering. Problems. 164pp. 54 x 8%. 650774 Pa. \$295

THE HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OF CHEMISTRY, Henry M. Leicester. Evolution of ideas, not individual biography. Concentrates on formulation of a coherent set of chemical laws. 260pp. 5% x 8%.

THE PHILOSOPHY OF MATHEMATICS: An Introductory Essay, Stephan Körner, Surveys the views of Plato, Aristotle, Leibniz & Kant concerning propositions and theories of applied and pure mathematics. Introduction. Two appendices., Index. 1989p. 5% x 8%. 25048-2 Pa. \$8.95

THE DEVELOPMENT OF MODERN CHEMISTRY, Aaron J. Ihde. Authoritative history of chemistry from ancient Greek theory to 20th-century innovation. Covers major chemists and their discoveries. 209 illustrations. 14 tables. Bibliographies. Indices. Appendices. 851pp. 5% x 8%. 64235-6 Pa. \$18.95

CATALYSIS IN CHEMISTRY AND ENZYMOLOGY, William P. Jencks. Exceptionally clear coverage of mechanisms for catalysis, forces in aqueous solution, carbonyl- and acyl-group reactions, practical kinetics, more. 864pp. 5% x 8%. 65460-5 Pa. \$19.95

PROBABILITY: An Introduction, Samuel Goldberg, Excellent basic text covers set theory, probability theory for finite sample spaces, binomial theorem, much more. 360 problems. Bibliographies. 322pp. 5% x 8%. 65225-1 Pa. \$10.95

LIGHTNING, Martin A. Uman. Revised, updated edition of classic work on the physics of lightning. Phenomena, terminology, measurement, photography, spectroscopy, thunder, more. Reviews recent research. Bibliography. Indices. 320pp. 54 x 8%.

PROBABILITY THEORY: A Concise Course, Y.A. Rozanov. Highly readable, selfcontained introduction covers combination of events, dependent events, Bernoulli trials, etc. Translation by Richard Silverman. 148pp. 5% x 8%. 63544-9 Pa. \$795

AN INTRODUCTION TO HAMILTONIAN OPTICS, H. A. Buchdahl. Detailed account of the Hamiltonian treatment of aberration theory in geometrical optics. Many classes of optical systems defined in terms of the symmetries they possess. Problems with detailed solutions. 1970 edition. xv + 360pp. 5% x 8%.

67597-1 Pa. \$10.95

STATISTICS MANUAL, Edwin L. Crow, et al. Comprehensive, practical collection of classical and modern methods prepared by U.S. Naval Ordnance Test Station. Stress on use. Basics of statistics assumed. 288pp. 5% x 8%.

DICTIONARY/OUTLINE OF BASIC STATISTICS, John E. Freund and Frank J. Williams. A clear concise dictionary of over 1,000 statistical terms and an outline of statistical formulas covering probability, nonparametric tests, much more. 208pp. 5 % x 8 %.

STATISTICAL METHOD FROM THE VIEWPOINT OF QUALITY CON-TROL, Walter A. Shewhart. Important text explains regulation of variables, uses of statistical control to achieve quality control in industry, agriculture, other areas. 92pp. 5% x 8%. 652327 Pa \$7.95

METHODS OF THERMODYNAMICS, Howard Reiss. Outstanding text focuses on physical technique of thermodynamics, typical problem areas of understanding, and significance and use of thermodynamic potential. 1965 edition. 238pp. 5% x 8%. 63445-3 Pa. \$8,9.5

STATISTICAL ADJUSTMENT OF DATA, W. Edwards Deming. Introduction to basic concepts of statistics, curve fitting, least squares solution, conditions without parameter, conditions containing parameters. 26 exercises worked out. 271p. 5% x 8%. 64685-8 Pa. \$9.95

TENSOR CALCULUS, J.L. Synge and A. Schild. Widely used introductory text covers spaces and tensors, basic operations in Riemannian space, non-Riemannian spaces, etc. 324pp. 5% x 8%.

CHALLENGING MATHEMATICAL PROBLEMS WITH ELEMENTARY SOLUTIONS, A.M. Yagiom' and I.M. Yagiom. Over 170 challenging problems on probability theory, combinatorial analysis, points and lines, topology, convex polygons, many other topics. Solutions. Total of 445pp. 5% x 6%. Two-vol. set.

Vol. I: 65536-9 Pa. \$7.95 Vol. II: 65537-7 Pa. \$7.95

FIFTY CHALLENGING PROBLEMS IN PROBABILITY WITH SOLUTIONS, Frederick Mosteller, Remarkable puzzlers, graded in difficulty, illustrate elementary and advanced aspects of probability. Detailed solutions. 88pp. 5% x 8%.

65355-2 Pa. \$4.95

EXPERIMENTS IN TOPOLOGY, Stephen Barr. Classic, lively explanation of one of the byways of mathematics. Klein bottles, Moebius strips, projective planes, map coloring, problem of the Koenigsberg bridges, much more, described with clarity and wit. 43 figures. 200p. 54 x 88.

RELATIVITY IN ILLUSTRATIONS, Jacob T. Schwartz. Clear nontechnical treatment makes relativity more accessible than ever before. Over 60 drawings illustrate concepts more clearly than text alone. Only high school geometry needed. Bibliography. 128pp. 6% x 94. 22965-X PA \$7.95

AN INTRODUCTION TO ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, Earl A. Coddington. A thorough and systematic first course in elementary differential equations for undergraduates in mathematics and science, with many exercises and problems (with answers). Index. 304pp. 54 x 8%. 65942-9 Fa, \$8.95

FOURIER SERIES AND ORTHOGONAL FUNCTIONS, Harry F. Davis. An incisive text combining theory and practical example to introduce Fourier series, orthogonal functions and applications of the Fourier method to boundary-value problems. 570 exercises. Answers and notes. 416pp. 58 x 88. 659739 Pa. \$11.95

AN INTRODUCTION TO ALGEBRAIC STRUCTURES, Joseph Landin. Superb self-contained text covers "abstract algebra": sets and numbers, theory of groups, theory of rings, much more. Numerous well-chosen examples, exercises. 247pr. 5% x 8%. 65940-2 Pa. \$8.95

STARS AND RELATIVITY, Ya. B. Zel'dovich and I. D. Novikov. Vol. 1 of *Relativistic Astrophysics* by famed Russian scientists. General relativity, properties of matter under astrophysical conditions, stars and stellar systems. Deep physical insights, clear presentation. 1971 edition. References. 5444pp. 5% x 8%.

69424-0 Pa. \$14.95

Prices subject to change without notice.

Available at your book dealer or write for free Mathematics and Science Catalog to Dept. Gl, Dover Publications, Inc., 31 East 2nd St., Mineola, N.Y. 11501. Dover publishes more than 250 books each year on science, elementary and advanced mathematics, biology, music, art, literature, history, social sciences and other areas.


(continued from front flap)

ADVANCED CALCULUS, David V. Widder. (66103-2) \$13.95

LINEAR PROGRAMMING AND ECONOMIC ANALYSIS, Robert Dorfman, Paul A. Samuelson and Robert M. Solow. (65491-5) \$17,95

AN INTRODUCTION TO THE CALCULUS OF VARIATIONS, Charles Fox. (65499-0) \$8.95

APPLIED ANALYSIS, Cornelius Lanczos. (65656-X) \$16.95

TOPOLOGY, George McCarty. (65633-0) \$9.95

LECTURES ON CLASSICAL DIFFERENTIAL GEOMETRY (SECOND EDITION), Dirk J. Struik. (65609-8) \$9.95

CHALLENGING MATHEMATICAL PROBLEMS WITH ELEMENTARY SOLUTIONS, A.M. Yaglom and I.M. Yaglom. (65536-9, 65537-7) Two-volume set \$16.90

ASYMPTOTIC EXPANSIONS OF INTEGRALS, Norman Bleistein and Richard A. Handelsman. (65082-0) \$13.95

SOME THEORY OF SAMPLING, W. Edwards Deming. (64684-X) \$16.95

STATISTICAL ADJUSTMENT OF DATA, W. Edwards Deming, (64685-8) \$9.95

INTRODUCTION TO LINEAR ALGEBRA AND DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, John W. Dettman. (65191-6) \$11.95

CALCULUS OF VARIATIONS WITH APPLICATIONS, George M. Ewing. (64856-7) \$9.95

INTRODUCTION TO DIFFERENCE EQUATIONS, Samuel Goldberg. (65084-7) \$8.95 PROBABILITY: AN INTRODUCTION, Samuel Goldberg. (65252-1) \$10.95 GROUP THEORY, W. R. Scott. (65377-3) \$14.95

AN INTRODUCTION TO LINEAR ALGEBRA AND TENSORS, M.A. Akivis and V.V. Goldberg. (63545-7) \$8.95

NON-EUCLIDEAN GEOMETRY, Roberto Bonola. (60027-0) \$11.95

INTRODUCTION TO NONLINEAR DIFFERENTIAL AND INTEGRAL EQUATIONS, H.T. Davis. (60971-5) \$13.95

FOUNDATIONS OF MODERN ANALYSIS, AVINET Friedman. (64062-0) \$9.95 DIFFERENTIAL GEOMETRY, Heinrich W. Guggenheimer. (63433-7) \$11.95 ORDINARY DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS, E.L. Ince. (60349-0) \$13.95 LE ALGEBRAS, Nathan Jacobson. (63832-4) \$9.95

Paperbound unless otherwise indicated. Prices subject to change without notice. Available at your book dealer or write for free catalogues to Dept. 23, Dover Publications, Inc., 31 East 2nd Street, Mineola, N.Y. 11501. Please indicate field of interest. Each year Dover publishes over 200 books on fine art, music, crafts and needlework, antiques, languages, literature, children's books, chess, cookery, nature, anthropology, science, mathematics, and other areas.

Manufactured in the U.S.A.

THE THEORY OF GROUPS Hans J. Zassenhaus

Group theory represents one of the most fundamental elements of mathematics. Indispensable in nearly every branch of the field, concepts from the theory of groups also have important applications beyond mathematics, in such areas as quantum mechanics and crystallography.

Hans J. Zassenhaus, a pioneer in the study of group theory, has designed this useful, well-written graduate-level test to acquaint the reader with group-theoretic methods and to demonstrate their usefulness as tools in the solution of mathematical and physical problems. Starting with an exposition of the fundamental concepts of group theory, including an investigation of axioms, the calculus of complexes, and a theorem of Frobenius, the author moves on to a detailed investigation of the concept of homomorphic mapping, along with an examination of the structure and construction of composite groups from simple components. The elements of the theory of *p*-groups receive a coherent treatment, and the volume concludes with an explanation of a method by which solvable factor groups may be split off from a finite group.

Many of the proofs in the text are shorter and more transparent than the usual, older ones, and a series of helpful appendixes presents material new to this edition. This material includes an account of the connections between lattice theory and group theory, and many advanced exercises illustrating both lattice-theoretical ideas and the extension of group-theoretical concepts to multiplicative domains.

Unabridged Dover (1999) republication of the Second Edition, originally published by Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1958. Prefaces to the First and Second Editions. Appendixes. Frequently Used Symbols. Bibliography. Author Index. Index. 288pp. 64 x 9%. Paperbound.

ALSO AVAILABLE

GROUP THEORY, W. R. Scott, 512pp. 5% x 8%, 65377-3 Pa. \$14.95 A COURSE IN GROUP THEORY, John S. Rose, 310pp. 5% x 8%, 68194-7 Pa. \$8.95

Free Dover Mathematics and Science Catalog (59065-8) available upon request.

ISBN 0-486-40922-8

Cover

design by Jeff A. Mer

\$12.95 IN USA